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THE ATTACHED PROSPECTUS IS AVAILABLE ONLY TO INVESTORS WHO ARE EITHER: (1) 

QIBS (AS DEFINED BELOW) UNDER RULE 144A; OR (2) OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES 
 

IMPORTANT: You must read the following before continuing. The following applies to the attached 
prospectus (the "Prospectus") relating to SmartCraft ASA (the "Company"). You are advised to read this 
carefully before reading, accessing or making any other use of the Prospectus. In accessing the 
Prospectus, you agree to be bound by the following terms and conditions, including any modifications 
to them any time you receive any information from us as a result of such access. You acknowledge that 
this electronic transmission and the delivery of the attached Prospectus is intended for you only and you 
agree you will not forward this electronic transmission or the attached Prospectus to any other person.   

THE SHARES IN THE COMPANY HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S. 
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT"), OR WITH ANY SECURITIES 
REGULATORY AUTHORITY OF ANY STATE OF THE UNITED STATES, OR UNDER THE APPLICABLE 
SECURITIES LAWS OF AUSTRALIA, CANADA, THE HONG KONG SPECIAL ADMINISTRATIVE REGION OF 
THE PEOPLE'S REPUBLIC OF CHINGE ("HONG KONG") OR JAPAN. SUBJECT TO CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS, 
THE SHARES MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD WITHIN AUSTRALIA, CANADA, HONG KONG, JAPAN OR 
THE UNITED STATES. 

THE ATTACHED PROSPECTUS MAY NOT BE FORWARDED OR DISTRIBUTED TO ANY OTHER PERSON AND 
MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED IN ANY MANNER WHATSOEVER. ANY FORWARDING, DISTRIBUTION OR 
REPRODUCTION OF THIS DOCUMENT IN WHOLE OR IN PART IS UNAUTHORISED. FAILURE TO COMPLY 
WITH THIS DIRECTIVE MAY RESULT IN A VIOLATION OF THE SECURITIES ACT OR THE APPLICABLE 
LAWS OF OTHER JURISDICTIONS. 

This electronic transmission and the attached Prospectus are only addressed to persons in Norway, 
Sweden and persons in any other member states of the European Economic Area (the "EEA") who are 
qualified investors within the meaning of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament 
("Qualified Investors"). In addition, in the United Kingdom, this electronic transmission and the attached 
Prospectus are only addressed to Qualified Investors who (i) are persons who have professional 
experience in matters relating to investments falling within article 19(5) of the Financial Services and 
Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005, as amended (the "Order"), (ii) are persons who 
are high net worth entities falling within article 49(2)(a) to (d) of the Order or (iii) are other persons to 
whom they may otherwise lawfully be communicated (all such persons together being referred to as 
"Relevant Persons"). This electronic transmission and the attached document must not be acted or relied 
on (i) in the United Kingdom, by persons who are not Relevant Persons or (ii) in any member state of 
the EEA, other than Norway and Sweden, by persons who are not Qualified Investors.   

Confirmation of your Representation: This electronic transmission and the attached Prospectus are 
delivered to you on the basis that you are deemed to have represented to the Company and the 
Managers that: (i) you have understood and agree to the terms set out herein; (ii) you consent to 
delivery of such Prospectus by electronic transmission; and (iii) you are any of the following (a) a person 
in Norway or Sweden, (b) a QIB acting on your own behalf or behalf of another QIB, (c) a person in a 
member state of the EEA, other than Norway and Sweden, who is a Qualified Investor and/or a Qualified 
Investor acting on behalf of Qualified Investors or Relevant Persons, (d) a person in the United Kingdom 
who is a Relevant Person and/or a Relevant Person acting on behalf of Relevant Persons or Qualified 
Investors, or (e) you are an institutional investor that is otherwise eligible to receive this electronic 
transmission and the attached document in accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which you 
are located.   



  

You are reminded that the Prospectus has been delivered to you on the basis that you are a person into 
whose possession the Prospectus may be lawfully delivered in accordance with the laws of the 
jurisdiction in which you are located and you may not, nor are you authorised to, deliver or disclose the 
contents of the Prospectus to any other person.  

The Prospectus has been sent to you in an electronic form. You are reminded that documents transmitted 
via this medium may be altered or changed during the process of electronic transmission and, 
consequently, none of the Company, the Managers nor any of their respective affiliates accepts any 
liability or responsibility whatsoever in respect of any difference between the Prospectus distributed to 
you in electronic format and the hard copy version available to you on request.   

Restriction: Nothing in this electronic transmission or the attached Prospectus constitutes, and this 
electronic transmission and the attached Prospectus may not be used in connection with, an offer of 
securities for sale to persons other than the specified categories of buyers described above and to whom 
it is addressed to and access has been limited so that it shall not constitute a general solicitation.  

The Managers and any of their respective affiliates accordingly disclaim all and any liability whether 
arising in tort, contract or otherwise which they might otherwise have in respect of such document or 
any such statement. No representation or warranty, express or implied, is made by any of the Managers 
or any of their respective affiliates as to the accuracy or completeness of the information set out in this 
document or the Prospectus.   

The Managers are acting exclusively for the Company and the Selling Shareholders and no one else in 
connection with the Listing. They will not regard any other person (whether or not a recipient of this 
document) as their respective clients in relation to the Listing and will not be responsible to anyone 
other than the Company and the Selling Shareholders for providing the protections afforded to their 
respective clients nor for giving advice in relation to the Listing or any transaction or arrangement 
referred to herein.  

You are responsible for protecting against viruses and other destructive items. Your use of this electronic 
transmission is at your own risk and it is your responsibility to take precautions to ensure that it is free 
from viruses and other items of a destructive nature. 
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SMARTCRAFT ASA 

(A public limited liability company incorporated under the laws of Norway) 

Initial public offering of up to 67,977,528 shares with an offer price of NOK 17.80 per share 

Listing of the Company's shares on Oslo Børs 

This prospectus (the "Prospectus") has been prepared in connection with the initial public offering (the "Offering") of ordinary shares in SmartCraft ASA, a 
public limited liability company incorporated under the laws of Norway (the "Company" and, together with its consolidated subsidiaries, the "Group" or 
"SmartCraft"), and the related listing (the "Listing") on Oslo Børs, a stock exchange operated by Oslo Børs ASA ("Oslo Børs") of the Company's ordinary 
shares, each with a par value of NOK 0.01 (the "Shares" as further described below). The Offering comprises 28,089,888 new ordinary Shares to be issued by 
the Company, raising gross proceeds of approximately NOK 500 million (the "New Shares") and up to 33,707,865 existing ordinary Shares (the "Sale Shares") 
offered by existing shareholders of the Company (the "Selling Shareholders") as described in Section 14 "Selling Shareholders". The New Shares, the Sale 
Shares and, unless the context indicates otherwise, the Additional Shares (as defined below) are referred to herein as the "Offer Shares". 

The Offering consists of: (i) a private placement to (a) institutional and professional investors in Norway, (b) investors outside Norway and the United States of 
America (the "U.S." or the "United States"), subject to applicable exemptions from applicable prospectus and registration requirements, and (c) "qualified 
institutional buyers" ("QIBs") in the United States as defined in, and in reliance on, Rule 144A ("Rule 144A") or another available exemption under the U.S. 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "U.S. Securities Act") (the "Institutional Offering"), (ii) a retail offering to the public in Norway (the "Retail 
Offering") and (iii) an offering to Eligible Employees, as such term is defined in Section 18.6 "The Employee Offering" (the "Employee Offering"). All offers 
and sales in the United States will be made only to QIBs in reliance on Rule 144A or pursuant to another available exemption from, or in transactions not subject 
to, the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act. All offers and sales outside the United States will be made in compliance with Regulation S under 
the U.S. Securities Act ("Regulation S"). 

ABG Sundal Collier ASA ("ABGSC") and Carnegie AS ("Carnegie") are acting as joint global coordinators and joint bookrunners in the Offering and Joh. 
Berenberg, Gossler & Co. KG ("Berenberg", and together with ABGSC and Carnegie, the "Managers") is acting as joint bookrunner in the Offering. The 
Managers may elect to over-allot a number of additional Shares equalling up to 10% of the final number of Sale Shares and New Shares sold in the Offering 
(the "Additional Shares"). In this respect, Valedo Partners III AB is expected to grant ABGSC (the "Stabilization Manager"), on behalf of the Managers, an 
option to borrow a number of Shares equal to the number of Additional Shares in order to facilitate such over-allotment (the "Borrowing Option"). The 
Stabilization Manager, on behalf of the Managers, is expected to be granted an option by the Company to purchase a number of new Shares to be issued by the 
Company equal to the number of Additional Shares at a price per Share equal to the Offer Price (the "Greenshoe Option"), exercisable, in whole or in part, 
within a 30-day period commencing at the time at which trading in the Shares commences on Oslo Børs, expected to be on or about 24 June 2021, on the terms 
and subject to the conditions described in this Prospectus. 

The price at which the Offer Shares will be sold in the Institutional Offering, the Retail Offering and the Employee Offering is NOK 17.80 (the "Offer Price"). 
The final number of Offer Shares will be determined following a bookbuilding process and will be set by the Company and the Selling Shareholders, in consultation 
with the Managers. The number of Offer Shares sold in the Offering, is expected to be announced through a stock exchange notice on or about 22 June 2021. 
The offer period for the Institutional Offering (the "Bookbuilding Period") will commence at 09:00 hours (Central European Summer Time, "CEST") on 15 
June 2021, and close at 14:00 hours (CEST) on 22 June 2021. The application period for the Retail Offering (the "Application Period") will commence at 09:00 
hours (CEST) on 15 June 2021 and close at 16:00 hours (CEST) on 22 June 2021. The application period for the Employee Offering (the "Employee Application 
Period") will commence at 09:00 hours (CEST) on 15 June 2021 and close at 15:00 hours (CEST) on 22 June 2021. The Bookbuilding Period, the Application 
Period and/or the Employee Application Period may, at the Company's and the Selling Shareholders' sole discretion, in consultation with the Managers and for 
any reason, be extended beyond the set times, but will in no event be extended beyond 14:00 hours (CEST) on 28 June 2021. 

The Shares are, and the New Shares will be, registered in the Norwegian Central Securities Depository (the "VPS") in book-entry form. All Shares will rank in 
parity with one another and carry one vote per Share. Except where the context otherwise requires, references in this Prospectus to the Shares will be deemed 
to include the Offer Shares. 

Investing in the Offer Shares involves a high degree of risk. Prospective investors should read the entire Prospectus and, in particular, consider 
Section 2 "Risk factors" beginning on page 11 when considering an investment in the Company. 

The Shares have not been, and will not be, registered under the U.S. Securities Act or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or 
other jurisdiction in the United States, and are being offered and sold: (i) in the United States only to persons who are QIBs in reliance on Rule 
144A or another available exemption from registration requirements under the U.S. Securities Act; and (ii) outside the United States in 
compliance with Regulation S. Prospective investors are hereby notified that any seller of the Offer Shares may be relying on the exemption 
from the provisions of Section 5 of the U.S. Securities Act provided by Rule 144A. The distribution of this Prospectus and the offer and sale of 
the Offer Shares may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. Persons in possession of this Prospectus are required by the Company, the 
Selling Shareholders and the Managers to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions. Any failure to comply with these 
regulations may constitute a violation of the securities law of any such jurisdiction. See Section 19 "Selling and transfer restrictions". 

Prior to the Offering, the Shares have not been publicly traded. The Company will on or about 16 June 2021 apply for the Shares to be admitted for trading and 
listing on Oslo Børs and completion of the Offering is subject to the approval of the listing application by Oslo Børs, the satisfaction of the listing conditions set 
by Oslo Børs and certain other conditions as further elaborated in Section 18.16 "Conditions for completion of the Offering – Listing and trading of the Offer 
Shares". The Shares will be eligible for clearing through the facilities of Oslo Børs. 

The due date for the payment of the Offer Shares in the Retail Offering and the Employee Offering is expected to be on or about 24 June 2021, while it is 
expected to be on or about 25 June 2021 in the Institutional Offering. Delivery of the Offer Shares in the Institutional Offering is expected to take place on or 
about 25 June 2021 through the facilities of the VPS. Delivery of the Offer Shares in the Retail Offering and the Employee Offering is expected to take place on 
or about 28 June 2021 through the facilities of the VPS. Trading in the Shares on Oslo Børs is expected to commence on or about 24 June 2021, under the ticker 
code "SMCRT". If closing of the Offering does not take place on such date or at all, the Offering may be withdrawn, resulting in all applications for Offer Shares 
being disregarded, any allocations made being deemed not to have been made and any payments made being returned without any interest or other 
compensation. All dealings in the Shares prior to settlement and delivery are at the sole risk of the parties concerned. 

Joint Global Coordinators and Joint Bookrunners 

ABG Sundal Collier ASA Carnegie AS 

Joint Bookrunner 

Joh. Berenberg, Gossler & Co. KG 

The date of this Prospectus is 14 June 2021
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION 

This Prospectus has been prepared in connection with the Offering of the Offer Shares and the Listing of the Shares on Oslo Børs. 

This Prospectus has been prepared to comply with the Norwegian Securities Trading Act of 29 June 2007 no. 75, as amended (the "Norwegian Securities 
Trading Act") and related secondary legislation, including Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 June 2017 on the 
prospectus to be published when securities are offered to the public or admitted to trading on a regulated market, and repealing Directive 2003/71/EC1, as 
amended, and as implemented in Norway in accordance with Section 7-1 of the Norwegian Securities Trading Act (the "EU Prospectus Regulation"). This 
Prospectus has been prepared solely in the English language. This Prospectus has been approved by the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway (Nw.: 
Finanstilsynet) (the "Norwegian FSA"), as competent authority under the EU Prospectus Regulation. The Norwegian FSA only approves this Prospectus as 
meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed by the EU Prospectus Regulation, and such approval should not be considered 
as an endorsement of the issuer or the quality of the securities that are the subject of this Prospectus. Investors should make their own assessment as to the 
suitability of investing in the securities. 

For definitions of certain other terms used throughout this Prospectus, see Section 21 "Definitions and glossary". 

The information contained herein is current as at the date hereof and is subject to change, completion and amendment without notice. In accordance with Article 
23 of the EU Prospectus Regulation, significant new factors, material mistakes or material inaccuracies relating to the information included in this Prospectus, 
which may affect the assessment of the Offer Shares and which arises or is noted between the time when the Prospectus is approved by the Norwegian FSA and 
the listing of the Shares on Oslo Børs, will be mentioned in a supplement to this Prospectus without undue delay. Neither the publication nor distribution of this 
Prospectus, nor the sale of any Offer Share, shall under any circumstances imply that there has been no change in the Group's affairs or that the information 
herein is correct as at any date subsequent to the date of this Prospectus. 

No person is authorized to give information or to make any representation concerning the Group or the Selling Shareholders or in connection with the Offering 
or the sale of the Offer Shares other than as contained in this Prospectus. If any such information is given or made, it must not be relied upon as having been 
authorized by the Company, the Selling Shareholders or the Managers or by any of the affiliates, representatives, advisors or selling agents of any of the 
foregoing. 

The distribution of this Prospectus and the offer and sale of the Offer Shares in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. This Prospectus 
does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation to purchase, any of the Offer Shares in any jurisdiction in which such offer or sale would be 
unlawful. Neither this Prospectus nor any advertisement or any other offering material may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction 
except under circumstances that will result in compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Persons in possession of this Prospectus are 
required to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions. In addition, the Shares are subject to restrictions on transferability 
and resale and may not be transferred or resold except as permitted under applicable securities laws and regulations. Investors should be 
aware that they may be required to bear the financial risks of this investment for an indefinite period of time. Any failure to comply with these 
restrictions may constitute a violation of applicable securities laws. See Section 19 "Selling and transfer restrictions". 

This Prospectus and the terms and conditions of the Offering as set out herein and any sale and purchase of Offer Shares hereunder shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with Norwegian law. The courts of Norway, with Oslo as legal venue, shall have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute which may 
arise out of or in connection with the Offering or this Prospectus. 

In making an investment decision, prospective investors must rely on their own examination, and analysis of, and enquiry into the Group and 
the terms of the Offering, including the merits and risks involved. None of the Company, the Selling Shareholders or the Managers, or any of their 
respective representatives or advisers, is making any representation to any offeree or purchaser of the Offer Shares regarding the legality of an investment in 
the Offer Shares by such offeree or purchaser under the laws applicable to such offeree or purchaser. Each investor should consult with his or her own advisors 
as to the legal, tax, business, financial and related aspects of a purchase of the Offer Shares. 

All Sections of the Prospectus should be read in context with the information included in Section 4 "General information". 

NOTICE TO INVESTORS IN THE UNITED STATES 

The Offer Shares have not been recommended by any United States federal or state securities commission or regulatory authority. Furthermore, the foregoing 
authorities have not passed upon the merits of the Offering or confirmed the accuracy or determined the adequacy of this Prospectus. Any representation to the 
contrary is a criminal offense under the laws of the United States.  

The Offer Shares have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act, or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or other 
jurisdiction in the United States for offer or sale as part of their distribution and may not be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred within the United 
States except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and in compliance with 
any applicable state securities laws.  

Accordingly, the Offer Shares are being offered and sold: (i) in the United States only to QIBs in reliance on Rule 144A or pursuant to another available exemption 
from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and (ii) outside the United States in compliance with Regulation S. For certain restrictions on the 
sale and transfer of the Offer Shares, see Section 19.2.1 "United States".  

Prospective investors are advised to consult legal counsel prior to making any offer, resale, pledge or other transfer of the Offer Shares, and 
are hereby notified that sellers of Offer Shares may be relying on the exemption from the provisions of Section 5 of the U.S. Securities. See 
Section 19 "Selling and transfer restrictions". 

In the United States, this Prospectus is being furnished on a confidential basis solely for the purposes of enabling a prospective investor to consider purchasing 
the particular securities described herein. The information contained in this Prospectus has been provided by the Company and other sources identified herein. 
Distribution of this Prospectus to any person other than the offeree specified by the Managers or their representatives, and those persons, if any, retained to 
advise such offeree with respect thereto, is unauthorized and any disclosure of its contents, without prior written consent of the Company, is prohibited. Any 
reproduction or distribution of this Prospectus in the United States, in whole or in part, and any disclosure of its contents to any other person is prohibited. This 
Prospectus is personal to each offeree and does not constitute an offer to any other person or to the public generally to purchase Offer Shares or subscribe for 
or otherwise acquire any Shares. 

NOTICE TO INVESTORS IN THE UNITED KINGDOM 

Offers of Offer Shares pursuant to the Offering are only being made to persons in the United Kingdom who are 'qualified investors' within the meaning of the 
UK version of the EU Prospectus Regulation (2017/1129/ EU) which is part of UK law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018. 

 
1 Means Directive 2003/71/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 4 November 2003 on the prospectus to be published when securities are offered 
to the public or admitted to trading and amending Directive 2001/34/EC. 
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This Prospectus is only being distributed to and is only directed at, and any investment or investment activity to which the document relates is available only 
to, and will be engaged in only with (i) persons falling within the definition of "investment professionals" in Article 19(5) of the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005, as amended (the "Order"), (ii) high net worth bodies, corporate, unincorporated associations and partnerships and 
trustees of high value trusts falling within Article 49(2)(a) to (d) of the Order, and/or (iii) other persons to whom such investment or investment activity may 
lawfully be communicated or caused to be communicated (all such persons together being referred to as "Relevant Persons"). The Offer Shares are only 
available to, and any invitation, offer or agreement to subscribe, purchase or otherwise acquire such Shares will be engaged in only with, Relevant Persons. Any 
person who is not a Relevant Person should not act or rely on this Prospectus or any of its contents. 

NOTICE TO INVESTORS IN THE EEA 

In any member state of the European Economic Area (the "EEA"), other than Norway (each a "Relevant Member State"), this communication is only addressed 
to and is only directed at persons who are "qualified investors" within the meaning of Article 2(e) of the EU Prospectus Regulation. The Prospectus has been 
prepared on the basis that all offers of Offer Shares outside Norway will be made pursuant to an exemption under the EU Prospectus Regulation from the 
requirement to produce a prospectus for offer of shares. Accordingly, any person making or intending to make any offer of Offer Shares which is the subject of 
the Offering contemplated in this Prospectus within any Relevant Member State should only do so in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Company 
or any of the Managers to publish a prospectus or pursuant to Article 1 of the EU Prospectus Regulation or a supplement prospectus pursuant to Article 23 of 
the EU Prospectus Regulation, in each case, in relation to such offer. Neither the Company, the Selling Shareholders nor the Managers have authorized, nor do 
they authorize, the making of any offer of Shares through any financial intermediary, other than offers made by Managers which constitute the final placement 
of Offer Shares contemplated in this Prospectus.  

Each person in a Relevant Member State other than, in the case of paragraph (a), persons receiving offers contemplated in this Prospectus in Norway, who 
receives any communication in respect of, or who acquires any Offer Shares under, the offers contemplated in this Prospectus will be deemed to have 
represented, warranted and agreed to and with the Managers and the Company that: 

a) it is a "qualified investor" within the meaning of Article 2(e) of the EU Prospectus Regulation; and 

b) in the case of any Offer Shares acquired by it as a financial intermediary, as that term is used in the EU Prospectus Regulation, (i) such Offer 
Shares acquired by it in the Offering have not been acquired on behalf of, nor have they been acquired with a view to their offer or resale to, 
persons in any Relevant Member State other than qualified investors, as that term is defined in the EU Prospectus Regulation, or in circumstances 
in which the prior consent of the Managers has been given to the offer or resale; or (ii) where such Offer Shares have been acquired by it on 
behalf of persons in any Relevant Member State other than qualified investors, the offer of those Offer Shares to it is not treated under the EU 
Prospectus Regulation as having been made to such persons. 

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an "offer to the public" in relation to any Offer Shares in any Relevant Member State means a communication 
to persons in any form and by any means presenting sufficient information on the terms of the Offering and the Offer Shares to be offered, so as to enable an 
investor to decide to acquire any Offer Shares. 

See Section 19 "Selling and transfer restrictions" for certain other notices to investors. 

INFORMATION TO DISTRIBUTORS 

Solely for the purposes of the product governance requirements contained within: (a) EU Directive 2014/65/EU on markets in financial instruments, as amended 
("MiFID II"); (b) Articles 9 and 10 of Commission Delegated Directive (EU) 2017/593 supplementing MiFID II; and (c) local implementing measures (together, 
the "MiFID II Product Governance Requirements"), and disclaiming all and any liability, which any "manufacturer" (for the purposes of the MiFID II Product 
Governance Requirements) may otherwise have with respect thereto, the Shares have been subject to a product approval process, which has determined that 
they each are: (i) compatible with an end target market of retail investors and investors who meet the criteria of professional clients and eligible counterparties, 
each as defined in MiFID II; and (ii) eligible for distribution through all distribution channels as are permitted by MiFID II (the "Target Market Assessment"). 
Notwithstanding the Target Market Assessment, distributors should note that: the price of the Shares may decline and investors could lose all or part of their 
investment; the Shares offer no guaranteed income and no capital protection; and an investment in the Shares is compatible only with investors who do not 
need a guaranteed income or capital protection, who (either alone or in conjunction with an appropriate financial or other adviser) are capable of evaluating the 
merits and risks of such an investment and who have sufficient resources to be able to bear any losses that may result therefrom. Conversely, an investment 
in the Shares is not compatible with investors looking for full capital protection or full repayment of the amount invested or having no risk tolerance, or investors 
requiring a fully guaranteed income or fully predictable return profile. 

The Target Market Assessment is without prejudice to the requirements of any contractual, legal or regulatory selling restrictions in relation to the Offering. 

For the avoidance of doubt, the Target Market Assessment does not constitute: (a) an assessment of suitability or appropriateness for the purposes of MiFID II; 
or (b) a recommendation to any investor or group of investors to invest in, or purchase, or take any other action whatsoever with respect to the Shares.  

Each distributor is responsible for undertaking its own Target Market Assessment in respect of the Shares and determining appropriate distribution channels. 

STABILIZATION 

In connection with the Offering, the Stabilization Manager (ABGSC), or its agents, on behalf of the Managers, may, in the event of over-allotment of Additional 
Shares, engage in transactions that stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the price of the Shares for up to 30 days from the commencement of trading of the 
Shares on Oslo Børs. Specifically, the Stabilization Manager may effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Offer Shares at a level 
higher than that which might otherwise prevail (provided that the aggregate number of Shares allotted does not exceed 10% of the final number of Sale Shares 
sold in the Offering), through buying Shares in the open market at prices equal to or lower than the Offer Price. However, stabilization action may not necessarily 
occur and may cease at any time. The Stabilization Manager and its agents are not required to engage in any of these activities and, as such, there is no 
assurance that these activities will be undertaken; if undertaken, the Stabilization Manager or its agents may end any of these activities at any time and they 
must be brought to an end at the end of the 30-day period mentioned above. Any stabilization action or over-allotment must be conducted by the Stabilization 
Manager in accordance with all applicable laws and rules and can be undertaken at the offices of the Stabilization Manager and on Oslo Børs. Stabilization may 
result in an exchange or market price of the Shares that is higher than might otherwise prevail, and the exchange or market price may reach a level that cannot 
be maintained on a permanent basis. Any stabilization activities will be conducted in accordance with Regulation (EU) No 596/2014 of the European Parliament 
and of the Council of 16 April 2014 on market abuse ("MAR") article 5 and the Commission Delegated Regulation 2016/1052 as implemented into Norwegian 
law by Section 3-1 of the Norwegian Securities Trading Act regarding buy-back programs and stabilization of financial instruments. Save as required by law or 
regulation, the Stabilization Manager does not intend to disclose the extent of any stabilization transactions under the Offering. 

ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES 

The Company is a public limited liability company incorporated under the laws of Norway. As a result, the rights of holders of the Shares will be governed by 
Norwegian law and the Company's articles of association (the "Articles of Association"). The rights of shareholders under Norwegian law may differ from the 
rights of shareholders of companies incorporated in other jurisdictions. The members of the Company's board of directors (the "Board Members" and the 



SMARTCRAFT ASA - PROSPECTUS 

(iv) 
 

"Board of Directors", respectively) and the members of the senior management of the Group (the "Executive Management") are not residents of the United 
States, and a substantial portion of the Company's assets are located outside the United States. As a result, it may be very difficult for investors in the United 
States to effect service of process on the Company, the Board Members and members of Executive Management in the United States or to enforce judgments 
obtained in U.S. courts against the Company or those persons, whether predicated upon civil liability provisions of federal securities laws or other laws of the 
United States (including any State or territory within the United States). 

The United States and Norway do not currently have a treaty providing for reciprocal recognition and enforcement of judgements (other than arbitral awards) 
in civil and commercial matters. Uncertainty exists as to whether courts in Norway will enforce judgments obtained in other jurisdictions, including the United 
States, against the Company or the Board Members or members of Executive Management under the securities laws of those jurisdictions or entertain actions 
in Norway against the Company or its Board Members or members of Executive Management under the securities laws of other jurisdictions. In addition, awards 
of punitive damages in actions brought in the United States or elsewhere may not be enforceable in Norway.  

Similar restrictions may apply in other jurisdictions.  

AVAILABLE INFORMATION 

The Company has agreed that, for so long as any of the Offer Shares are "restricted securities" within the meaning of Rule 144(a)(3) under the U.S. Securities 
Act, it will during any period in which it is neither subject to Sections 13 or 15(d) of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "U.S. Exchange 
Act"), nor exempt from such reporting requirements by complying with the information furnishing requirements of Rule 12g3-2(b) under the U.S. Exchange 
Act, provide to any holder or beneficial owners of Shares, or to any prospective purchaser designated by any such registered holder or beneficial owner, upon 
the request of such holder, beneficial owner or prospective purchaser, the information required to be provided by Rule 144A(d)(4) under the U.S. Securities Act. 
The Company is not currently subject to the periodic reporting and other information requirements of the U.S. Exchange Act.
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1 SUMMARY 

INTRODUCTION 

Warning ......................  This summary should be read as an introduction to the Prospectus. Any decision to invest 
in the securities should be based on a consideration of the Prospectus as a whole by the 
investor. An investment in the Shares involves inherent risk and the investor could lose 
all or part of its invested capital. Where a claim relating to the information contained in 
this Prospectus is brought before a court, the plaintiff investor might, under national law, 
have to bear the costs of translating the Prospectus before the legal proceedings are 
initiated. Civil liability attaches only to those persons who have tabled the summary 
including any translation thereof, but only where the summary is misleading, inaccurate 
or inconsistent, when read together with the other parts of the Prospectus, or where it 
does not provide, when read together with the other parts of the Prospectus, key 
information in order to aid investors when considering whether to invest in such securities. 

Securities ....................  From the time of Listing, the Company will have one class of shares in issue. The Shares 
are registered in book-entry form in the VPS and have ISIN NO 001 1008971. 

Issuer .........................  SmartCraft ASA, with registration number in the Norwegian Register of Business 
Enterprises (Nw:. Foretaksregisteret) 918 356 649 and Legal Entity Identifier ("LEI") 
5493008ELCGPWZHWUX47. 

The Company's registered office is located at Borgundfjordvegen 80, 6017 Ålesund, 
Norway, and its main telephone number at that address is +47 7017 8400. The Group's 
website can be found at www.smartcraftready.com. The Company is considered an offeror 
under the Prospectus Regulation, in addition to the offerors set out below. 

Offeror(s)  ...................  Shareholder LEI Contact details/address 

Valedo Partners III AB 549300OMB66J2MJ23B52 
Kungsbron 1, F7 11122 Stockholm, 
Sweden 

B. Ulstein AS 549300POEDMVCG7Y3V16 
Ramsvikvegen 61, 6012 Ålesund, 
Norway 

Armada Mezzanine 
Fund IV Ky 

743700L9ER78GBK8UM25 
Bernhardinkatu 5A 1, 00130 Helsinki, 
Finland 

Hanna Konyi  Åsvägen 19, 43363 Sävedalen, Sweden 
Knohultarn Småland 
AB 

549300TXWC7FRHI9BF16 Galtövägen 16, 35244 Växjö, Sweden 

Tjennsen AS 984500WB05054Q4BEA59 Hellerudveien 6B, 0672 Oslo, Norway 
Gustav Line (Line 
Invest AS) 

8945001N4MIL3L6JRI92 Løvenskiolds vei 6B, 1358 Jar, Norway 

Henrik Höiby  
Dagguden 17, 43491 Kungsbacka, 
Sweden 

Jonas Wånggren  
Mjösundet 239, 46397 Prässebo, 
Sweden 

Jörgen Sillerström  
Almekärrsvägen 193, 44339 Lerum, 
Sweden 

Origi AS 5493007A21MOWMJBAZ04 
Nedre Hatleholen 4, 6012 Ålesund, 
Norway 

Vinjevoll Invest AS 5493001EP6WYJ65IOC72 
Telegrafalleeen 5, 3510 Hønefoss, 
Norway 

Ters AS 5493002ZP8H39CGX6Z82 Nordenvegen 5, 6014 Ålesund, Norway 

Spijker AS 5493005PIOMDM9FCX225 
Høybyveien 11B, 3517 Hønefoss, 
Norway 

Atono Invest Oy 743700L4KIFY1LFPV180 Mielikintie 11C, 00750 Helsinki, Finland 

Tapio Capital Oy 743700EB37W21UYSRM62 
Granbackankuja 4, 02400 Kirkkonummi, 
Finland 

AHB Invest AS 549300IWXXSGO4O7SL34 
Co/A. Bødal, Lotunet, 6789 Loen, Stryn, 
Norway 

Puppo Capital Oy 984500BB2C2AYG1AC836 Koivuviita 12B 4, 02130 Espoo, Finland 
Hofseth Bygg og 
Eiendom AS 

549300KPXKFXZIZB2R90 
Kvernhusåkeren 10, 6016 Ålesund, 
Norway 

Lommelun Invest AS 549300L5K9H0UHDG3E04 Myrabakken 5B, 6010 Ålesund, Norway 
Jørgen Skårbrevik  Torvteigen 106A, 6009 Ålesund, Norway 
Antares Group AS 894500N35DPZW9PAJ318 Haukelibakken 17, 0775 Oslo, Norway 
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Matti Huusko  
Iso Roobertinkatu 30 A9, 00120 
Helsinki, Finland 

Pompa Capital Oy 743700C04U8QEWOFGM57 Seilimäki 16A 5, 02180 Espoo, Finland 

Magnus Buregård  
Tjäderkullevägen 45, 43492 Vallda, 
Sweden 

SKF Holding AS 549300MRK0UAU2G5JC74 Bergvegen 66, 6007 Ålesund, Norway 

Katja Widlund  
Videlundsgatan 3, 42165 Västra 
Frölunda, Sweden 

Anne K. Fossum  Liljevn. 9, 3520 Jevnaker, Norway 
Edb Partner AS 549300C3NXJGZKVMZH93 Trøanveien 5, 7125 Vanvikan, Norway 
Kristian Karlsen  Ådalsgata 9B, 3510 Hønefoss, Norway 
Gabriel Gherman  Ellakrogsvägen 2A, 18733 Täby, Sweden 
Hilde Brendefur 
Klakegg 

 
Hatlasvingen allé 1, 6016 Ålesund, 
Norway 

Martin Hollstrand  Lödings väg 1, 83797 Åre, Sweden 

Max Johansson  
Gibraltargatan 52, 41258 Gothenburg, 
Sweden 

Liv Ingrid Ruset  Tørlevegen 94, 6020 Ålesund, Norway 

Christine Elfving  
Sandmovägen 8, 46198 Trollhättan, 
Sweden 

Malin Linelöf  
Södra Sälöfjordsgatan 38, 41873 
Gothenburg, Sweden 

Saku Vuori  
Vattuniemenkuja 8A 19, 00210 Helsinki, 
Finland 

Jeanette Borg  
Södra Vägen 55, 41254 Gothunburg, 
Sweden 

Kajsa Andersson  
Armlängdsgatan 13, 42172 Västra 
Frölunda, Sweden 

 

Competent authority .....  The Norwegian FSA, with registration number 840 747 972 and registered address at 
Revierstredet 3, N-0151 Oslo, Norway, and with telephone number +47 22 93 98 00 has 
reviewed and, on 14 June 2021, approved this Prospectus. 

KEY INFORMATION ON THE ISSUER 

Who is the issuer of the securities? 

Corporate information ...  The Company is a public limited liability company organised and existing under the laws 
of Norway pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act. The Company was 
incorporated in Norway on 6 January 2017, and the Company's registration number in 
the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises is 918 356 649 and its LEI is 
5493008ELCGPWZHWUX47. 

Principal activities .........  Provider of software solutions to the construction industry.  

Major shareholders .......  Shareholders owning 5% or more of the Shares have an interest in the Company's share 
capital which is notifiable pursuant to the Norwegian Securities Trading Act. Pursuant to 
the Company's VPS register as at 11 June 2021, two shareholders held more than 5% of 
the Shares. 

# Shareholder 
No. of Ordinary 

Shares 

No. of 
Preference 

Shares 

Total 
percentage of 

Shares 

1 Valedo Partners III AB ...........  91,077,900 212,515,400 67.51% 

2 B. Ulstein AS ........................  14,400,000 33,600,000 10.67% 

Total ..........................................  105,477,900 246,115,400 78.18% 
 

Key managing directors .  The Executive Management consists of three individuals. The names of the members of 
the Executive Management and their respective positions are presented in the table 
below.  

Name Position 

Gustav Line ................................................  Chief Executive Officer 
Kjartan Bø ..................................................  Chief Financial Officer 
Christian Saleki ...........................................  Chief Technical Officer 
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Statutory auditor ..........  The Company's auditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers AS, with registration number 987 009 
713 in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises, and registered address at 
Dronning Eufemias gate 71, 0194 Oslo, Norway. 

What is the key financial information regarding the issuer? 

The financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2020, with comparable figures for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2019 (the IFRS Financial Statements) have been prepared in accordance with IFRS, while 
the financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 have been prepared in accordance with 
NGAAP (the NGAAP Financial Statements). The financial statements for the three months ended 31 March 2021, with 
comparable figures for the three months ended 31 March 2020 (the Interim Financial Statements) have been prepared 
in accordance with IFRS. The Company's consolidated financial statements for the financial years ended 31 December 
2020, 2019 and 2018 have been audited and are included in this Prospectus. 

The tables below set out key financial information extracted from the Company's unaudited consolidated financial 
statements for the three months period ended 31 March 2021 and audited consolidated financial statements for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2020 prepared in accordance with IFRS and the financial years ended 31 December 
2019 and 31 December 2018 prepared in accordance with NGAAP. 

Income statement 

In NOK thousand 

Three months ended 
31 March 

Year ended 
31 December 

2021 
IFRS 

(unaudited) 

2020 
IFRS 

(unaudited) 

2020 
IFRS 

(audited) 

2019 
IFRS 

(audited) 

2019 
NGAAP 

(audited) 

2018 
NGAAP 

(audited) 

Total revenue ...................  59,317 45,233 195,941 153,701 155,351 74,956 
Operating profit /loss ........  18,783 11,883 59,610 39,085 8,502 7,348 
Net profit / loss ................  11,644 6,743 39,140 27,540 (3,280) 620 

Financial position statement 

In NOK thousand 

As of 
31 March 

As of 
31 December 

2021 
IFRS 

(unaudited) 

2020 
IFRS 

(audited) 

2019 
IFRS 

(audited) 

2019 
NGAAP 

(audited) 

2018 
NGAAP 

(audited) 

Total assets ............................................  713,304 690,853 525,639 468,961 418,978 
Total equity ............................................   318,849 323,914 252,429 220,096 215,073 
Total liabilities .........................................  394,445 366,939 273,210 248,864 203,905 

Cash flow statement 

In NOK thousand 

Three months ended 
31 March 

Year ended 
31 December 

2021 
IFRS 

(unaudited) 

2020 
IFRS 

(unaudited) 

2020 
IFRS 

(audited) 

2019 
IFRS 

(audited) 

2019 
NGAAP 

(audited) 

2018 
NGAAP 

(audited) 
Net cash provided from 
operating activities ............  54,454 63,950 98,008 46,492 36,659 19,644 
Net cash used in investing 
activities ..........................  (4,675) (4,033) (85,066) (63,956) (66,561) (136,150) 
Net cash provided by (used 
in) financing activities ........  (2,935) (12,701) 33,225 28,483 41,294 104,473 

 

 

What are the key risks that are specific to the issuer? 

Material risk factors ......  • The solutions provided by the Group are subject to system failures, defects, errors 
and failure of interoperability 

• The Group outsources certain of its IT functions to third parties and an interruption 
or cessation of any such services could adversely affect the Group 
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• The Group relies on a limited number of suppliers for key elements of its operations, 
and a price inflation, change of contractual terms or cessation of any such services 
could adversely affect the Group 

• Volatile, negative or uncertain economic or political conditions may negatively affect 
the Group's operations and financial performance, including the impact of the Covid-
19 pandemic 

• The markets in which the Group competes are competitive, and the Group might not 
be able to compete effectively 

• The Group's success depends upon its management team and highly skilled IT 
professionals and the Group's ability to hire, attract, motivate, retain and train these 
personnel 

• The Group may not be sufficiently prepared to manage cyber threats that have the 
potential to significantly disrupt the Group's solutions 

• Acquisition of other businesses, software solutions and/or technologies may not be 
successful 

• The Group's results of operations could be negatively affected if the Group cannot 
adapt, expand and develop its services in response to changes in technology or 
customer demand 

• The Group is dependent on intellectual property and its methods of protecting its 
intellectual property may not be adequate 

• The Group's failure to comply with applicable data protection and privacy regulations 
could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business operations 

• The Group is exposed to claims and legal proceedings related to its intellectual 
property rights 

• The Group conducts its business in currencies other than its reporting currency, 
making its results of operations, financial position and future prospect vulnerable for 
currency fluctuations 

• The Group's profitability, operating results and working capital may fluctuate 
significantly 

• A number of factors could result in an impairment loss in the goodwill of the Group  

• The Group's growth strategy may require additional funding to acquire new 
businesses which may be difficult to obtain 

KEY INFORMATION ON THE SECURITIES 

What are the main features of the securities? 

Type, class and ISIN .....  All of the Shares are common shares in the Company and have been created under the 
Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act. The Shares are registered in book-entry form 
with the VPS and have ISIN NO 001 1008971. 

Currency, par value and 
number of securities .....  

The Shares will be traded in NOK on Oslo Børs. As at the date of this Prospectus, the 
Company's share capital is NOK 4,496,723, divided into 138,782,400 Ordinary Shares 
and 310,889,900 Preference Shares, each class with a par value of NOK 0.01. All the 
Shares have been created under the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act, and are 
validly issued and fully paid. 

On 25 May 2021, the Company's General Meeting resolved to redeem the Preference 
Shares. See Section 15.3 "Share capital and share capital history" for details. 

Rights attached to the 
securities .....................  

From the time of Listing, the Company will have one class of shares in issue, and in 
accordance with the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act, all shares in that class 
provide equal rights in the Company. Each of the Shares carries one vote. 

Transfer restrictions ......  The Shares are freely transferable. The Articles of Association do not provide for any 
restrictions on the transfer of Shares, or a right of first refusal upon transfer of the Shares. 
Share transfers are not subject to approval by the Board of Directors. 
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Dividend and dividend 
policy ..........................  

The Company's dividend policy is that the Company does not expect to pay any dividend 
in the short to medium term as the Company intends to use its profit for both organic 
and inorganic growth initiatives as well as product and technology innovation. The 
Company will in the future continuously evaluate its capital allocation and will prioritize 
organic growth investments and synergistic acquisitions over dividends if the Company 
expect that this will generate an attractive return on capital. 

Where will the securities be traded? 

The Company will on or about 16 June 2021 apply for Listing of its Shares on Oslo Børs. The Company currently 
expects commencement of trading in the Shares on Oslo Børs on or about 24 June 2021. The Company has not 
applied for admission to trading of the Shares on any other stock exchange, regulated market or a multi trading 
facility (MTF). 

What are the key risks that are specific to the securities? 

Material risk factors ......  • The Company will incur increased costs as a result of being a publicly traded company 

• The price of the Shares could fluctuate significantly, which could cause investors to 
lose a significant part of their investment 

• Future sales, or the possibility of future sales, including by the Selling Shareholders, 
of a substantial number of Shares may affect the market price of the Shares 

• Following the Offering, Valedo Partners III AB will continue to be a large shareholder 
and may control or otherwise influence important actions the Group takes 

KEY INFORMATION ON THE OFFER OF SECURITIES TO THE PUBLIC AND/OR THE ADMISSION TO TRADING 
ON A REGULATED MARKET 

Under which conditions and timetable can I invest in this security? 

Terms and conditions of 
the offering ..................  

The Offering consists of (i) an offer of 28,089,888 New Shares, each with a par value of 
NOK 0.01, to raise gross proceeds of approximately NOK 500 million and (ii) an offer of 
up to 33,707,865 Sale Shares, all of which are existing, validly issued and fully paid 
registered Shares with a par value of NOK 0.01 each, offered by the Selling Shareholders. 

The Offering consists of:  

• An Institutional Offering, in which Offer Shares are being offered to (a) 
institutional and professional investors in Norway, (b) investors outside Norway 
and the United States, subject to applicable exemptions from any prospectus 
and registration requirements, and (c) investors in the United States who are 
QIBs in transactions exempt from registration requirements under the U.S. 
Securities Act. The Institutional Offering is subject to a lower limit per 
application of NOK 2,000,000.  

• A Retail Offering, in which Offer Shares are being offered to the public in 
Norway subject to a lower limit per application of NOK 10,500 and an upper 
limit per application of NOK 1,999,999 for each investor. Investors who intend 
to place an order in excess of NOK 1,999,999 must do so in the Institutional 
Offering. Multiple applications by one applicant in the Retail Offering will be 
treated as one application with respect to the maximum application limit.  

• An Employee Offering, in which Offer Shares are being offered to the Eligible 
Employees and sold at the same price as in the Institutional Offering and the 
Retail Offering. There will be no discounts for Eligible Employees. The Employee 
Offering is subject to a lower limit per application of NOK 10,500 and an upper 
limit per application equal to the applicable Guaranteed Allocation for each 
Eligible Employee. Multiple applications by one applicant in the Employee 
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Offering will be treated as one application with respect to the maximum 
application limit and the guaranteed allocation. 

All offers and sales in the United States will be made only to QIBs in reliance on Rule 
144A or pursuant to another exemption from, or in transactions not subject to, the 
registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act. All offers and sales outside the United 
States will be made in compliance with Regulation S. 

The Managers may elect to over-allot a number of Additional Shares equalling up to 10% 
of the final number of Sale Shares and New Shares sold in the Offering. In this respect, 
Valedo Partners III AB is expected to grant to the Stabilization Manager (ABGSC), on 
behalf of the Managers, a Borrowing Option to borrow a number of Shares equal to the 
number of Additional Shares in order to facilitate such over-allotment. Further, the 
Company is expected to grant to the Stabilization Manager, on behalf of the Managers, a 
Greenshoe Option to purchase a number of new Shares to be issued by the Company up 
to the number of Additional Shares at a price per Share equal to the Offer Price in order 
to facilitate re-delivery of the borrowed Shares. 

The Offer Price at which the Offer Shares will be sold is NOK 17.80 per Offer Share.  

Timetable in the offering   The key dates in the Offering are set out below. Please note that the Company and the 
Selling Shareholders, in consultation with the Managers, reserve the right to extend the 
Bookbuilding Period for the Institutional Offering and the Application Period for the Retail 
Offering and the Employee Offering at any time and at their sole discretion. 

Bookbuilding Period commences ..............................  15 June 2021 at 09:00 hours (CEST) 
Bookbuilding Period ends ........................................  22 June 2021 at 14:00 hours (CEST) 
Application Period commences ................................  15 June 2021 at 09:00 hours (CEST) 
Application Period ends ..........................................  22 June 2021 at 16:00 hours (CEST) 
Employee Application Period commences ..................  15 June 2021 at 09:00 hours (CEST) 
Employee Application Period ends ............................  22 June 2021 at 15:00 hours (CEST) 
Accounts from which payment will be debited for 
applications in the Employee Offering and applications 
through the Nordnet webservice in the Retail Offering 
to be sufficiently funded .........................................  22 June 2021 at 15:00 hours (CEST) 
Allocation of the Offer Shares ..................................  On or about 22 June 2021 
Publication of the results of the Offering ...................  On or about 22 June 2021  
Distribution of allocation notes ................................  On or about 23 June 2021  
Registration of new share capital and issuance of the 
New Shares ..........................................................  On or about 23 June 2021 
Accounts from which payment will be debited for 
applications through the VPS online application system 
or the Retail Application Form in the Retail Offering to 
be sufficiently funded .............................................  On or about 23 June 2021 
Listing and commencement of trading in the Shares ..  On or about 24 June 2021 
Payment date in the Retail Offering and the Employee 
Offering................................................................  On or about 24 June 2021 
Payment date in the Institutional Offering ................  On or about 25 June 2021 
Delivery of the Offer Shares in the Institutional 
Offering................................................................  

 
On or about 25 June 2021 

Delivery of the Offer Shares in the Retail Offering and 
the Employee Offering ...........................................  On or about 28 June 2021 

 

Admission to trading .....  The Company will on or about 16 June 2021 apply for admission to trading of its Shares 
on Oslo Børs. It is expected that the board of directors of Oslo Børs will approve the listing 
application of the Company on 21 June 2021, conditional upon the Company raising gross 
proceeds of NOK 400 million from the sale of New Shares, obtaining a minimum of 500 
shareholders, each holding Shares with a value of more than NOK 10,000 and there being 
a minimum free float of the Shares of 25%. The Company expects that these conditions 
will be fulfilled through the Offering. 

The Company currently expects commencement of trading in the Shares on Oslo Børs on 
or about 24 June 2021. 

Distribution plan ...........  In the Institutional Offering, the Company and the Selling Shareholders, in consultation 
with the Managers, will determine the allocation of Offer Shares based on certain 
allocation principles. In the Retail Offering, allocation will be made on a pro rata basis 
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using the VPS automated simulation procedures or a similar procedure established by 
Nordnet for applications made electronically through the Nordnet webservice. In the 
Employee Offering, Eligible Employees being Primary Insiders will receive full allocation 
up to an amount of NOK 350,000 and all other Eligible Employees will receive full 
allocation up to an amount of NOK 25,000 (the Guaranteed Allocation). The Company, 
the Selling Shareholders and the Managers reserve the right to limit the total number of 
applicants to whom Offer Shares are allocated in order to keep the number of 
shareholders at an appropriate level, in which case the applicants to whom Offer Shares 
are allocated will be determined on a random basis by using the VPS automated 
simulation procedures and/or any other random allocation mechanism.  

Dilution .......................  Following completion of the Offering (excluding any over-allotments), the immediate 
dilution for the existing shareholders is expected to be approximately 16.8%, based on 
the assumption that the existing shareholders do not subscribe for any New Shares in the 
Offering. The existing shareholder's pre-emption right to subscribe for the New Shares 
will be deviated from.  

Total expenses of the 
Listing .........................  

The Company's total costs and expenses of, and incidental to, the Listing and the Offering 
are estimated to amount to approximately NOK 34 million (excluding any Additional 
Shares). No expenses or taxes will be charged by the Company or the Managers to the 
applicants in the Offering. 

Who is the offeror and/or the person asking for admission to trading? 

Brief description of the 
offeror(s) .....................  

The Company is the offeror of the New Shares in the primary Offering. The offeror of Sale 
Shares in the secondary Offering is the existing shareholders of the Company. Reference 
is made to "Issuer" and "Offeror" under the introduction above for corporate details about 
the offerors in the Offering. 

Why is this Prospectus being produced? 

Reasons for the 
offer/admission to 
trading ........................  

The Group believes that the Offering and the Listing will (i) enable the Group to pursue 
growth opportunities, (ii) enable the Selling Shareholders and their ultimate owners to 
partially monetize their respective shareholdings in the Company, optimize the 
Company's capital structure and allow for a liquid market for the Shares, (iii) diversify the 
shareholder base, increase liquidity and enable other investors to take part in the Group's 
future growth and value creation, (iv) enhance the Group's profile with investors, business 
partners, suppliers and customers and (v) further improve the ability of the Group to 
attract and retain key management and employees. 

Use of proceeds ............  The Company expects to receive net proceeds of approximately NOK 466 million from the 
sale of New Shares (excluding any Additional Shares). The Company intends to use parts 
of the net proceeds to pay the redemption amount for the Preference Shares, repay its 
outstanding loan facilities and pay for transaction costs. The remaining net proceeds will 
be used for general corporate purposes including future possible acquisitions. 

Underwriting ................  The Offering is not subject to any underwriting agreement. 

Conflicts of interest .......  The Managers or their affiliates have provided from time to time, and may provide in the 
future, financial advisory, investment and commercial banking services, as well as 
financing, to the Company and its affiliates in the ordinary course of business, for which 
they may have received and may continue to receive customary fees and commissions. 
The Managers do not intend to disclose the extent of any such investments or transactions 
otherwise than in accordance with any legal or regulatory obligation to do so. The 
Managers will receive a fee in connection with the Offering and, as such, have an interest 
in the Offering. In addition, the Selling Shareholders and the Company may, at their sole 
and absolute discretion, pay to the Managers an additional discretionary fee in connection 
with the Offering.  

The Selling Shareholders will receive the proceeds from the sale of Sale Shares. 
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2 RISK FACTORS 

An investment in the Company involves inherent risks. Prospective investors should carefully consider the risk factors 
and all information contained in this Prospectus, including the financial statements and related notes. The risks and 
uncertainties described in this Section 2 "Risk factors" are the material known risks and uncertainties faced by the Group 
as of the date hereof, and represents those risk factors that the Company believes to represent the most material risks 
for prospective investors when making their investment decision in the Company. An investment in the Company is 
suitable only for investors who understand the risks associated with this type of investment and who can afford to lose 
all or part of their investment. 

The risk factors included in this Section 2 "Risk factors" are presented in a limited number of categories, where each risk 
factor is placed in the category deemed most appropriate based on the nature of the risk it represents. Within each 
category the risk factors deemed most material for the Group, taking into account their potential negative effect for the 
Company and its subsidiaries and the probability of their occurrence, are set out first. This does not mean that the 
remaining risk factors are ranked in order of their materiality or comprehensibility, nor based on a probability of their 
occurrence. The absence of negative past experience associated with a given risk factor does not mean that the risks 
and uncertainties in that risk factor are not genuine and potential threats, and they should therefore be considered prior 
to making an investment decision. If any of the following risks were to materialize, either individually, cumulatively or 
together with other circumstances, it could have a material adverse effect on the Group and/or its business, results of 
operations, cash flows, financial condition and/or prospects, which may cause a decline in the value and trading price of 
the Shares, resulting in loss of all or part of an investment in the Shares. 

2.1 Risks related to the Group and its business and the industry in which it operates 

2.1.1 The solutions provided by the Group are subject to system failures, defects, errors and failure of 
interoperability  

The solutions provided by the Group are subject to failures, defects and errors in the Group's own systems, third party 
systems and its customers' information technology ("IT") infrastructure. Several circumstances may cause disruptions 
or outages, including equipment errors, software failures, natural disasters and cyberattacks. Cyberattacks also 
represent a broader risk to the Group's operations as described in Section 2.1.7. Although the Group aims to reduce this 
risk, inter alia, by continuously releasing new software updates and testing of its solutions, no software is error-free and 
despite the measures implemented by the Group, system errors have occurred, and will continue to occur.  

A system failure also represents a significant risk to the Group due to the fact that the Group's solutions work with a 
range of devices, operating systems and third-party systems. Updates or changes in any of these represent a potential 
risk of failure of interoperability and potential downtime for the customers. The customers may also experience downtime 
due to failures in the customers' own IT infrastructure. Most of the Group's software is hosted in public or private clouds 
to reduce application risk. However, the fact that the customer's IT infrastructure is outside the Group's control makes 
it difficult for the Group to limit this risk factor while at the same time it may cause a failure in the services provided by 
the Group.  

Any disruptions or outages in the services and solutions provided by the Group may result in the inability of the Group 
to deliver contractual services to its customers, potentially increasing customer Churn Rate and reducing the Group's 
revenue. With regards to errors and defects in the solutions and services provided by third parties, the Group generally 
do not have any responsibility towards the customers. However, it can be costly and time-consuming for the Group to 
defend any claims. In addition any such errors or defects could result in adverse customer reactions and negative 
publicity, as downtime is viewed negative from a customer perspective regardless of what party that carries the 
responsibility. 

2.1.2 The Group outsources certain of its IT functions to third parties and an interruption or cessation of any such 
services could adversely affect the Group 

The Group currently outsources to third-party suppliers certain IT functions that are key to its operations. These suppliers 
provide the Group with, among others, electronic invoicing, bank integrations and integrations with suppliers' price and 
article databases. Outsourcing these functions involves the risk of third-party service providers not performing to the 
Group's expectations, legal or contractual requirements, or not performing at all. Failure by these third-parties to meet 
their contractual, regulatory, confidentiality, or other obligations to the Group or its customers could result in material 
financial loss, higher costs, regulatory actions and reputational harm. Given the importance of these IT functions to the 
Group, this risk is of material and specific importance to the Group. Any interruptions in the Group's system could have 
a negative effect on the quality of products and services offered to the Group's customers and, as a result, on customer 
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demand. If customer demand for the Group's products decreases, the Group’s business, reputation, prospects, results 
of operations, cash flows and financial position could be materially and adversely affected. 

2.1.3 The Group relies on a limited number of suppliers for key elements of its operations, and a price inflation, 
change of contractual terms or cessation of any such services could adversely affect the Group  

The Group relies on a limited number of suppliers for key elements of its operations. For example, the Group hosts its 
solutions on the Microsoft platform Microsoft Azure and the Amazon platform Amazon Web Services ("AWS"). Although 
the Group continues to strengthen its position as an independent software vendor, Microsoft and Amazon are still in a 
position where they to a large extent control the price and terms on which their services are offered. The global vendors 
have historically increased the pricing of their platforms when the development of the platforms has been advanced, as 
their customers have a high switching cost. If any of the Group's suppliers materially and adversely changes the terms 
of their services, any such action could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, prospects, results of 
operations, cash flows and financial position. For instance, if Microsoft or Amazon materially increase their prices, the 
Group may not be able to fully pass down such price increase to its customers, thereby lowering its margin. 

The Group's ability to replace such suppliers may be limited and, as a result, the Group's business, prospects, results of 
operations, cash flows and financial position could be materially adversely affected. Given the above, in particular the 
limited number of suppliers that the Group relies on for key elements of its operations, this risk is material and of specific 
importance to the Group. 

2.1.4 Volatile, negative or uncertain economic or political conditions may negatively affect the Group's operations 
and financial performance, including the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic 

Global macroeconomic conditions affect the business of the Group's customers, which may have a consequential effect 
on their IT spending and on the demand for the Group's solutions and services. For example, a downturn in the rate of 
construction of new houses and buildings or renovation projects, either in the private or public sector, a decline in 
housing prices or a general reduction in consumer spending may lead to a reduced demand for the Group's solutions. In 
other words, volatile, negative or uncertain economic conditions in the Group's customers' markets, could undermine 
business confidence and cause the Group's customers to experience financial difficulties which may result in a reduction 
or deferral of their spending with the Group or putting pressure on the Group's pricing. Additionally, the cost of delivering 
the service may increase if the Group needs to change to a more expensive business operation to keep the services 
running.  

In addition, international, national or local political volatility could negatively impact, the Group. Volatile, negative or 
uncertain economic or political conditions may also adversely impact the Group's customers or the Group's employees 
and could therefore negatively affect the Group's business, results of operations, financial condition cash flow and/or 
prospects. 

Since the outbreak of Covid-19, the global economy has experienced a period of high uncertainty and as a result, the 
growth prospects for the global economy have weakened. Although the Group's financial position to date has not been 
significantly negatively affected by the covid-19 pandemic, no assurance can be given that the impact of Covid-19 will 
not increase as the pandemic continues to cause economic and social disruptions. 

2.1.5 The markets in which the Group competes are competitive, and the Group might not be able to compete 
effectively  

The Group operates in a competitive and rapidly changing global marketplace and competes with a variety of 
organizations that offer similar services to those offered by the Group. The Group's current competitors include, but are 
not limited to, (i) Holte, (ii) Hantverksdata and (iii) Admicom.  

The Group operates in a fast-moving technology sector. There is a risk that the Group fails to stay ahead of its 
competitors and deliver innovative solutions, which in turn may lead to the Group losing current customers and failing 
to attract new customers. The Nordic construction industry software market is fragmented with several small to medium-
sized players. Although the Group has a strategy to grow through acquisitions, it may not succeed while at the same 
time its competitors are successful in realising their growth strategy and thereby creating larger and stronger competitors 
than in today's more fragmented market. 

Even if the Group has potential offerings that address the market and customer needs, the Group's competitors may be 
more successful at selling similar services, including to the Group's current customers, or may offer more attractive 
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contractual terms or compete on pricing in a manner that the Group is not willing or able to match on a sustained basis 
in light of the Group's financial position, which may affect the Group's ability to obtain new business. 

2.1.6 The Group's success depends upon its management team and highly skilled IT professionals and the Group's 
ability to hire, attract, motivate, retain and train these persons  

The Group's success to date has depended to a significant extent upon, and the Group's future success will also depend 
upon, the Group's ability to attract and retain management team members who are able to challenge and progress 
today's technology and implement the Group's business strategy, and thereby further develop the Group's business. 
Further, the Group must attract, train and retain appropriate numbers of highly qualified IT professionals with diverse 
skills, including coders, software developers, software engineers and other senior technical personnel, in order to serve 
customer needs and grow the Group's business. In addition, if the Group expands into a new market, it needs skilled 
local sales force employees with critical know-how and expertise. 

The Group has experienced that there is a high market demand for highly qualified IT professionals in the Nordic region 
which makes it difficult to recruit or replace resources when required. In addition some of the experts employed in the 
Group have through their employment gained valuable industry knowledge to the extent that they are difficult to replace. 
If the Group is unable to retain its current employees and where necessary replace employees that are leaving the Group 
with new equally qualified employees, there is a risk that this impacts the Group's success negatively. 

In addition, the Group's competitors may actively seek to recruit management personnel and other key employees from 
the Group and may succeed in such efforts. The loss of any member of the Group's senior management or other key 
personnel may have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations and prospects. 

2.1.7 The Group may not be sufficiently prepared to manage cyber threats that have the potential to significantly 
disrupt the Group's solutions  

The Group and its customers may be subject to cyber-attacks, phishing attacks and other malicious activity from 
cybercriminals, hackers or other parties. Rapid changes in attack vectors make it difficult to prevent attacks and adapt 
to new threats. Since most of the Group's customer data is centralized in public clouds, the effect of a cyberattack could 
be particularly harmful if the data is lost, abused or customers are not able to access the solutions. For example, the 
Group has experienced cyber-attacks in the past, but managed to handle the attacks without severe consequences for 
the Group.  

Despite the fact that the Group's solutions are hosted in clouds with strong security levels and the Group's efforts to 
continuously monitor and assess its IT security organization to adapt to new threats, the Group will always be exposed 
to cyber threats. In addition, the Group's growth strategy may also imply that the Group will be required to use significant 
capital or other resources to protect against cyber threats and to alleviate problems caused by any attacks.  

If the Group is unable to protect its solutions and digital structure from cyber threats, this may materially and adversely 
affect the Group's business, results of operations, financial condition, cash flow and prospects.  

2.1.8 Acquisition of other businesses, software solutions and/or technologies may not be successful 

The Group has a strategy to grow through acquisitions to become a leader of its field of service offerings in the north-
western part of Europe. During 2017 - 2021, the Group has made in total six business acquisitions, including the 
acquisition of Bransjedata (2017) Bygglet (2018), El-info (2019), Rørweb (2019), Congrid (2020) and Homerun (2021). 
Such acquisitions involve significant challenges and risks, including that the acquisition fails to advance to the Group's 
business strategy, that the Group does not realize a satisfactory return on its investment, that it acquires unknown 
liabilities, or that it experiences difficulties in the integration of business systems and technologies, the integration and 
retention of new employees, or in the maintenance of key business and customer relationships in the existing business 
it acquires, or diversion of Management's attention from the Group's other business. Events as these may harm the 
Group's results of operations and financial conditions. The integration and consolidation of acquisitions requires 
substantial human, financial and other resources, including management time and attention.  

Any future acquisitions or investments could also involve the issuance of the Company's equity (potentially diluting the 
shareholding of existing shareholders), the incurrence of debt, contingent liabilities or amortization expenses, write-off 
of goodwill, intangibles, or acquired technology, or other increased cash and non-cash expenses, such as share option 
compensation. Any of the foregoing factors could harm the Group's financial condition or prevent it from achieving 
improvements in its financial condition and operating performance that otherwise could have been achieved by the Group 
without the acquisition(s).  
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2.1.9 The Group's results of operations could be negatively affected if the Group cannot adapt, expand and 
develop its services in response to changes in technology or customer demand 

The market in which the Group operates is characterized by rapid technological changes, frequent new product 
introductions, technology enhancements, increasingly sophisticated customer requirements and evolving industry 
standards. Consequently, the Group's future success depends on its ability to continue to provide, and further develop, 
market and implement high quality solutions that appear attractive and cost-efficient for its existing and new customers. 
This requires the Group to anticipate and respond to rapid and continuing changes in technology, industry developments 
and IT service and solution offerings by new market entrants in order to serve the evolving needs of the Group's 
customers.  

The Group's growth strategy through acquisition of other businesses is one of the ways in which the Group seeks to 
respond to these types of developments. If the Group does not adapt, expand and develop its services and solutions in 
response to changes in technology or customer demand, the Group's ability to develop and maintain a competitive 
advantage and continue to grow could be negatively affected, which could have an adverse effect on the Group's 
business, results of operations, financial position, cash flows and/or prospects.  

2.1.10 The Group is dependent on intellectual property and its methods of protecting its intellectual property may 
not be adequate 

The Group's business and business strategy are tied to its technology. Other than domain names and trademarks, the 
Group does not have any registered intellectual property rights and relies on a combination of trade secrets, 
confidentiality undertakings and other contractual provisions to protect its intellectual property rights. Protecting its 
intellectual property is key to the Group’s prospects and financial condition. The Group cannot give assurances that its 
measures for preserving the secrecy of its trade secrets and confidential information are sufficient to prevent others 
from obtaining that information. The Group may not have adequate remedies to preserve the trade secrets or to seek 
compensation for its loss should its employees breach their confidentiality agreements with the Group. In addition, the 
Group cannot give assurances that its trade secrets will provide the Group with any competitive advantage, as it may 
become known to or be independently developed by the Group's competitors, regardless of the success of any measures 
the Group may take to try to preserve their confidentiality. Any of these situations could adversely affect the Group's 
business, prospects, results of operations, cash flows and financial position. The realisation of any of these risks may 
have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 

2.2 Risks related to laws, regulation and litigation 

2.2.1 The Group's failure to comply with applicable data protection and privacy regulations could have a material 
adverse effect on the Group's business operations 

Although the Group processes limited personal data, the Group is nevertheless exposed to risks relating to data 
protection under a complex and evolving set of laws and regulations regarding data protection and privacy in various 
jurisdictions ("Data Protection Laws"), including but not limited to the General Data Protection Regulation (EU) 
2016/679 ("GDPR"). 

Any failure to comply with applicable Data Protection Laws and data privacy policies, privacy-related obligations or any 
compromise of security that results in an unauthorised release, transfer or use of personally identifiable information or 
other customer data, may result in governmental enforcement actions, litigation or public statements against the Group. 
In addition, any such failure to comply with applicable Data Protection Laws could also cause customers and collaborating 
partners to lose their trust in the Group and thus resulting in the Group losing a significant part of its good reputation.  

2.2.2 The Group is exposed to claims and legal proceedings related to its intellectual property rights  

There is a risk that the Group's intellectual property rights are infringed by third-parties, and there can be no assurance 
that the Group will successfully prevent or restrict infringing activities. The costs incurred in bringing or defending 
infringement actions may be substantial, regardless of the merits of the claim, and an unsuccessful outcome for the 
Group may result in royalties or damages payable and/or the Group being required to cease the use of infringing 
intellectual property rights.  

Because intellectual property constitutes a major part of the Group's business, its ability to be a strong competitor in 
the market it operates depends, amongst other things, on its ability to protect, register and enforce (as appropriate) its 
intellectual property rights. Pursuit of those who are reasonably believed to be infringing on the Group's intellectual 
property rights requires substantial financial resources, and the Group may not have the financial resources to pursue 
infringing activities when needed. If a suit is brought, there can be no assurances that the Group will prevail. The Group's 
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inability to protect its intellectual property rights and expenses related thereto may adversely impact the Group's 
operations, competitiveness, financial performance, reputation and future prospects. 

2.3 Risks related to financing and market risk 

2.3.1 The Group conducts its business in currencies other than its reporting currency, making its results of 
operations, financial position and future prospect vulnerable for currency fluctuations 

While the Group's reporting currency is Norwegian kroner (NOK), the Group operates within, and generates revenue 
from, other jurisdictions than Norway using currencies such as SEK and EUR. The Group does not hedge against foreign 
currency exposure. For the year ended 31 December 2020 more than 50% of the Group's revenue were generated from 
currencies other than the NOK. Based on exposure throughout the year and balances at the period-end, the Group 
assesses that fluctuations in NOK/SEK and NOK/EUR have significant impact on the financial reporting of financial assets 
and liabilities. Consequently, the Group is exposed to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates which may have an adverse 
effect on the Group's prospects, results of operations, cash flow and financial position. In addition, as the Group reports 
its consolidated results in NOK, the value of the NOK relative to its foreign subsidiaries' functional currencies will affect 
its consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of financial position when those subsidiaries' operating 
results are translated into NOK for reporting purposes. 

2.3.2 The Group's profitability, operating results and working capital may fluctuate significantly  

As the Group must commit to long-term investments while its subscription-based revenue is generated on a monthly 
basis and only possible to project with a high degree of certainty on a three-months basis (being the general notice 
period for cancelling a subscription), there is a risk that the Group is unable to generate the necessary revenue to 
capitalize on the investment costs. Failing to capitalize on investment costs may adversely affect the Group's prospects, 
results of operations, cash flow and financial position.  

The Company's subsidiaries Congrid Oy, and to a certain extent Cordel Norge AS, focus on larger customers where 
customer acquisition costs are higher and sales cycles are longer. Hence, costs occur long before any material revenue 
is generated and failing to win these prospects at a preferable rate or at all may adversely affect the Group's prospects, 
results of operations, cash flow and financial position. 

2.3.3 Risk related to impairment of intangible assets 

As at 31 March 2021, the Group's consolidated non-current assets amounted to NOK 568,674 which constituted 79.6% 
of the Group's total assets, including NOK 408,581 in goodwill. A number of factors, including the prevailing market 
conditions, the competitive situation of the Group or any failure to deliver high-quality solutions and services to 
customers could result in an impairment loss for the intangible assets of the Group. Any impairment loss recognized will 
have a material adverse effect on the Group's financial position and equity. 

2.3.4 The Group's growth strategy may require additional funding to acquire new businesses which may be 
difficult to obtain 

The Group may need to obtain additional funding for its future acquisitions, which together with a strong organic growth, 
is an important element in executing the Group's growth strategy. There is a risk that such financing may be unavailable 
on favourable terms when needed which could result in that the Group needs to use a larger portion of its cash from 
operations to make principal and interest payments on its future debt, reducing the funds that would otherwise be 
available for operations, future business opportunities and dividends to its shareholders. 

The Group's ability to service potential future debt will depend upon, amongst other things, its future financial and 
operating performance, which will be affected by prevailing economic conditions as well as financial, business, regulatory 
and other factors, some of which are beyond the control of the Group.  

If the Group's operating income is not sufficient to service its potential future indebtedness, or if uncertainties in the 
capital and credit markets restrict access to the capital required to conduct the Group's business, the Group will be 
forced to take action such as reducing or delaying its business activities, acquisitions, investments or capital 
expenditures, selling assets, restructuring or refinancing its debt or seeking additional equity capital, any of which could 
adversely impact the Group's results of operations, cash flow and financial condition. In addition, there can be no 
assurance that the Group will be able to affect any of these remedies on satisfactory terms, or at all.   
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2.4 Risks related to the Listing and the Shares  

2.4.1 The price of the Shares could fluctuate significantly, which could cause investors to lose a significant part of 
their investment 

The trading volume and price of the Shares could fluctuate significantly, which could cause investors to lose a significant 
part of their investment. Securities markets in general have been volatile in the past. Some of the factors that could 
negatively affect the Share price or result in fluctuations in the price or trading volume of the Shares include, for example, 
changes in the Company's actual or projected results of operations or those of its competitors, changes in earnings 
projections or failure to meet investors' and analysts' earnings expectations, investors' evaluations of the success and 
effects of the strategy described in the Prospectus, as well as the evaluation of the related risks, changes in general 
economic conditions, changes in shareholders and other factors. This volatility has had a significant impact on the market 
price of securities issued by many companies. Those changes may occur without regard to the operating performance 
of these companies. The price of the Shares may therefore fluctuate based upon factors that are not specific to the 
Company, and these fluctuations may materially affect the price of the Shares.  

2.4.2 Future sales, or the possibility of future sales, including by the Selling Shareholders, of a substantial number 
of Shares may affect the market price of the Shares 

The Company cannot predict what effect, if any, future sales of the Shares, or the availability of Shares for future sales, 
will have on the market price of the Shares. Sales of substantial amounts of the Shares in the public market following 
the Offering, including by the Selling Shareholders, or the perception that such sales could occur, may adversely affect 
the market price of the Shares, making it more difficult for holders to sell their Shares or the Company to sell equity 
securities in the future at a time and a price that is deemed appropriate. Although the Selling Shareholders, as of the 
date of this Prospectus, are subject to an agreement with the Managers that, subject to certain conditions and exceptions, 
restricts their ability to sell or transfer their Shares for a period of six to twelve months following the first day of Listing, 
the representatives of the Managers may, in their sole discretion and at any time, waive the restrictions on sales or 
transfers during this period. Additionally, following this period, all Shares owned by the Selling Shareholders will be 
eligible for sale or other transfers in the public market, subject to applicable securities laws restrictions. 

2.4.3 Following the Offering, Valedo Partners III AB will continue to be a large shareholder and may control or 
otherwise influence important actions the Group takes 

Upon the completion of the Offering, Valedo Partners III AB will continue to be the largest shareholder of the Company 
controlling at least 40.69% of the Shares if the Greenshoe Option is not exercised and at least 39.24% of the Shares if 
the Greenshoe Option is exercised in full. Valedo Partners III AB will be in a position to exercise considerable influence 
over all matters requiring shareholder approval. This concentration of share ownership could have the effect of delaying, 
postponing or preventing a change of control in the Company, and impact mergers, consolidations, acquisitions or other 
forms of combinations, which may or may not be desired by other shareholders. 
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3 RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE PROSPECTUS  

This Prospectus has been prepared in connection with the Offering described herein and the listing of the Shares on Oslo 
Børs.  

The Board of Directors of SmartCraft ASA accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Prospectus. The 
members of the Board of Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, the information contained in this 
Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and that the Prospectus contains no omission likely to affect its import. 

14 June 2021 

The Board of Directors of SmartCraft ASA 

____________________ ____________________ 

Gunnar Haglund 
Chairperson 

Allan Engström 
Board member 

____________________ ____________________ 

Carl Ivarsson 
Board member 

Christina Skogster Stange 
Board member 

____________________ ____________________ 

Marianne Bergmann Røren 
Board member 

Bernt Ulstein 
Board member 

 

____________________ 

Maria Danell 
Board member 
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4 GENERAL INFORMATION 

4.1 Other important investor information 

This Prospectus has been approved by the Norwegian FSA, as competent authority under the EU Prospectus Regulation. 
The Norwegian FSA only approves this Prospectus as meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and 
consistency imposed by the EU Prospectus Regulation, and such approval should not be considered as an endorsement 
of the issuer or the quality of the securities that are the subject of this Prospectus. Investors should make their own 
assessment as to the suitability of investing in the securities. 

The Company has furnished the information in this Prospectus. The Managers make no representation or warranty, 
express or implied, as to the accuracy, completeness or verification of the information set forth herein, and nothing 
contained in this Prospectus is, or shall be relied upon, as a promise or representation in this respect, whether as to the 
past or the future. The Managers disclaim, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any and all liability whether 
arising in tort, contract or otherwise, which they might otherwise be found to have in respect of this Prospectus or any 
such statement. 

The Managers are acting exclusively for the Company and the Selling Shareholders and no one else in connection with 
the Offering. They will not regard any other person (whether or not a recipient of this document) as their respective 
clients in relation to the Offering and will not be responsible to anyone other than the Company and the Selling 
Shareholders for providing the protections afforded to their respective clients nor for giving advice in relation to the 
Offering or any transaction or arrangement referred to herein. 

The information contained herein is current as of the date hereof and subject to change, completion and amendment 
without notice. In accordance with Article 23 of the Prospectus Regulation, significant new factors, material mistakes or 
material inaccuracies relating to the information included in this Prospectus, which may affect the assessment of the 
Offer Shares and which arises or is noted between the time when the Prospectus is approved by the Norwegian FSA and 
the listing of the Shares on Oslo Børs, will be mentioned in a supplement to this Prospectus without undue delay. Neither 
the publication nor distribution of this Prospectus, nor the sale of any Offer Shares, shall under any circumstance imply 
that there has not been any change in the Group's affairs or that the information herein is correct as of any date 
subsequent to the date of this Prospectus. 

No person is authorized to give information or to make any representation concerning the Group or in connection with 
the Offering or the sale of the Offer Shares other than as contained in this Prospectus. If any such information is given 
or made, it must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the Company, the Selling Shareholders or the Managers 
or by any of the affiliates, representatives, advisers or selling agents of any of the foregoing. 

Neither the Company, the Selling Shareholders or the Managers, or any of their respective affiliates, representatives, 
advisers or selling agents, is making any representation, express or implied, to any offeree or purchaser of the Offer 
Shares regarding the legality of an investment in the Offer Shares. Each investor should consult with his or her own 
advisors as to the legal, tax, business, financial and related aspects of a purchase of the Offer Shares. 

Investing in the Shares involves a high degree of risk. See Section 2 "Risk factors" beginning on page 11 and Section 
16.2 "Market value of the Shares". 

In connection with the Offering, each of the Managers and any of their respective affiliates, acting as an investor for its 
own account, may take up Offer Shares in the Offering and in that capacity may retain, purchase or sell for its own 
account such Offer Shares or related investments and may offer or sell such Offer Shares or other investments otherwise 
than in connection with the Offering. Accordingly, references in the Prospectus to Offer Shares being offered or placed 
should be read as including any offering or placement of Offer Shares to any of the Managers or any of their respective 
affiliates acting in such capacity. In addition, certain of the Managers or their affiliates may enter into financing 
arrangements (including swaps) with investors, and in connection with such arrangements the Managers (or their 
affiliates) may from time to time acquire, hold or dispose of Shares. None of the Managers intends to disclose the extent 
of any such investment or transactions otherwise than in accordance with any legal or regulatory obligation to do so. 

4.2 Presentation of financial and other information 

4.2.1 Introduction  

For the financial years up to and including 31 December 2019, the Company prepared its consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with Norwegian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("NGAAP"). The Company's 
consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2020, with comparable figures for the 
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financial year ended 31 December 2019, have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the EU ("IFRS"). Going forward, the Company will continue to prepare its consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS. Set out in note 29 of the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 
December 2020 is a further explanation of the first time adoption to IFRS, including the principal adjustments made by 
the Group in restating its NGAAP financial statements, including the statement of financial position as at 1 January 2019 
and the financial statements as of, and for, the year ended 31 December 2019. 

4.2.2 Historical financial information included in the Prospectus 

On 8 February 2021, the shareholders of the Company resolved to change the name of the Company from "Cordel 
Norden AS" to "SmartCraft AS". Further, on 25 May 2021, the shareholders of the Company resolved to convert the 
Company from a Norwegian private limited liability company to a Norwegian public limited liability company and changed 
its company name at the same time from "SmartCraft AS" to "SmartCraft ASA". Accordingly, the company name included 
in the IFRS Financial Statements, the NGAAP Financial Statements and the Interim Financial Statements (all of which 
are defined below) refer to the Company as "SmartCraft AS" or "Cordel Norden AS". 

The following financial information has been included in this Prospectus: 

• The Group's audited consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2020, with 
comparable audited figures for the year ended 31 December 2019, prepared in accordance with IFRS (the 
"IFRS Financial Statements"). The IFRS Financial Statements have been included in this Prospectus as 
Appendix B. The IFRS Financial Statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers AS ("PwC"), and 
their auditor's report has been included therein.  

• The Group's audited consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 
2018, prepared in accordance with NGAAP (the "NGAAP Financial Statements"). These NGAAP Financial 
Statements have been included in this Prospectus as Appendix B. The NGAAP Financial Statements have been 
audited by PwC, and their auditor's reports have been included therein.  

• The Group's unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial information as at and for the three months 
ended 31 March 2021, with comparable unaudited information for the same period in 2020 (the "Interim 
Financial Statements". The Interim Financial Statements have been included in this Prospectus as Appendix 
C. The Interim Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standard 
34 "Interim Financial Reporting" ("IAS 34") as adopted by the EU. The Interim Financial Statements have 
been reviewed by PwC under International Standards for Review Engagements 2410, and their report has 
been included therein.  

The IFRS Financial Statements and the NGAAP Financial Statements are together referred to herein as the "Financial 
Statements". The Financial Statements and the Interim Financial Statements are hereinafter jointly referred to as the 
"Financial Information". The Group presents its Financial Information in NOK (reporting currency).  

4.2.3 Alternative performance measures (APMs) 

In order to enhance investors' understanding of the Group's performance, the Company presents in this Prospectus 
certain alternative performance measures ("APMs") as defined by the European Securities and Markets Authority 
("ESMA"). 

An APM is defined as a financial measure of historical or future financial performance, financial position, or cash flows, 
other than a financial measure defined or specified in the applicable financial reporting framework (IFRS). The Company 
uses EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA Margin (%), Adjusted EBITDA – Capex margin (%), Annual Recurring 
Revenue ("ARR"), Recurring Revenue (%), Average Revenue Per Customer ("ARPC") and Churn Rate (%).  

The APMs presented herein are not measurements of performance under IFRS or other generally accepted accounting 
principles and investors should not consider any such measures to be an alternative to: (a) operating revenue or 
operating profit (as determined in accordance with IFRS or other generally accepted accounting principles), as a measure 
of the Group's operating performance; or (b) any other measures of performance under generally accepted accounting 
principles. The APMs presented herein may not be indicative of the Group's historical operating results, nor are such 
measures meant to be predictive of the Group's future results. The Company believes that the APMs presented herein 
are commonly reported by companies in the markets in which the Group competes and are widely used by investors in 
comparing performance on a consistent basis without regard to factors such as depreciation, amortization and 
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impairment, which can vary significantly depending upon accounting measures (in particular when acquisitions have 
occurred), business practice or non-operating factors. Accordingly, the Group discloses the APMs presented herein to 
permit a more complete and comprehensive analysis of its operating performance relative to other companies across 
periods, and of the Group's ability to service its debt. Because companies calculate the APMs presented herein differently, 
the Group's presentation of these APMs may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies. 

The following terms are used by the Group in definitions of APMs: 

• EBITDA: Is defined as operating income before depreciation of tangible and intangible non-current assets. 
EBITDA is a non-IFRS financial measure that the Group considers to be an APM, and this measure should not 
be viewed as a substitute for any IFRS financial measure. The Group has presented this APM because it 
considers it to be an important supplemental measure for prospective investors to understand the overall 
picture of profit generation in the Group's operating activities. 

• Adjusted EBITDA: Is defined as EBITDA adjusted for special operating items that distorts comparison, such 
as acquisition related expenses, listing preparation costs and other items which are special in nature compared 
to ordinary operational income and expenses. Adjusted EBITDA is a non-IFRS financial measure that the 
Group considers to be an APM, and this measure should not be viewed as a substitute for any IFRS financial 
measure. The Group has presented this APM because it considers it to be an important supplemental measure 
for prospective investors to understand the overall picture of profit generation in the Group's operating 
activities.   

• Adjusted EBITDA margin (%): Is defined as Adjusted EBITDA divided by sales, expressed as a percentage. 
Adjusted EBITDA margin is a non-IFRS financial measure that the Group considers to be an APM, and this 
measure should not be viewed as a substitute for any IFRS financial measure. The Group has presented this 
APM because it considers it to be an important supplemental measure for prospective investors to understand 
the overall picture of profit generation in the Group's operating activities.  

• Adjusted EBITDA – Capex margin (%): Is defined as Adjusted EBITDA – R&D capex divided by sales, 
expressed as a percentage. Adjusted EBITDA – Capex margin is a non-IFRS financial measure that the Group 
considers to be an APM, and this measure should not be viewed as a substitute for any IFRS financial measure. 
The Group has presented this APM because it considers it to be an important supplemental measure for 
prospective investors to understand the overall picture of profit generation in the Group's operating activities. 

• Annual Recurring Revenue ("ARR"): Is defined as the yearly subscription value of the Group's customer 
base at the end of the reporting period. The ARR metric only includes fixed price subscriptions. ARR is a non-
IFRS financial measure that the Group considers to be an APM, and this measure should not be viewed as a 
substitute for any IFRS financial measure. The Group has presented this APM because it considers it to be an 
important supplemental measure for prospective investors to understand the overall picture of revenue 
generation in the Group's operating activities. 

• Recurring Revenue (%): Is defined as subscription revenue generated over the historical period divided by 
sales for the same period, expressed as a percentage. Recurring Revenue includes both fixed price and 
transaction-based subscription revenues. Recurring Revenue is a non-IFRS financial measure that the Group 
considers to be an APM, and this measure should not be viewed as a substitute for any IFRS financial measure. 
The Group has presented this APM because it considers it to be an important supplemental measure for 
prospective investors to understand the overall revenue generation in the Group's operating activities. 

• Average Revenue Per Customer ("ARPC"): Is defined as the annualized monthly total operating revenue 
divided by the number of customers at the end of the month. The value of ARPC over a longer period is 
calculated using the average monthly ARPC over the period. ARPC is a non-IFRS financial measure that the 
Group considers to be an APM, and this measure should not be viewed as a substitute for any IFRS financial 
measure. The Group has presented this APM because it considers it to be an important supplemental measure 
for prospective investors to understand the overall picture of revenue generation in the Group's operating 
activities. 

• Churn Rate (%): Is a measure of loss of ARR on a rolling 12-month basis, expressed as a percentage of 
average monthly ingoing ARR for the same 12-month period. Churn Rate is a non-IFRS financial measure that 
the Group considers to be an APM, and this measure should not be viewed as a substitute for any IFRS 
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financial measure. The Group has presented this APM because it considers it to be an important supplemental 
measure for prospective investors to understand the overall picture of revenue generation in the Group's 
operating activities. 

Below is a reconciliation of EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA margin and Adjusted EBITDA – Capex margin 
for the Company on a consolidated basis as of and for the financial years ended 31 December 2020, 2019 and 2018, in 
all cases including the relevant eliminations. 

In NOK thousand 
Years ended 
31 December 

 
2020 

IFRS 

2019 

IFRS 

2018 

NGAAP 

Operating profit before financial items and tax ......  59,610 39,085 7,348 

Depreciation and amortization .....................................  17,053 12,500 14,564 

    

EBITDA ...................................................................  76,663 51,585 21,912 

Adjusted for:     

- Restructuring / IPO-readiness ...................................  5131 - 3,0242 

- Expenses related to acquisitions ................................  3,1063 1,6274  

- Other special operating items ...................................  6525 2,1086 - 

    

Adjusted EBITDA ....................................................  80,934 55,320 24,937 

    
Adjusted EBITDA ....................................................  80,934 55,320 24,937 
Divided by:    

- Total operating revenue ...........................................  195,941 153,701 74,956 

    

Adjusted EBITDA margin (%) .................................  41% 36% 33% 

    
Adjusted EBITDA ....................................................  80,934 55,320 24,937 
Less:    

- Capitalized R&D ......................................................  11,5797 8,4937 1,2008 

Divided by:    

- Total operating revenue ...........................................  195,941 153,701 74,956 

    

Adjusted EBITDA – R&D Capex margin (%) .............  35% 30% 32% 

    
1 Included in the line "Other operating expenses" in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income included in the IFRS Financial Statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2020.  

2 Included in the lines "Payroll and related expenses" and "Other operating expenses" in the consolidated statement of income included in the 
NGAAP Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018. 

3 Represents the line "Transaction costs on acquisitions" in note 21 of the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020. 

4 Represents the line "Transaction costs on acquisitions" in the comparable figures for the year ended 31 December 2019 in note 21 of the Financial 
Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020. 

5 Included in the line "Other operating expenses" in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income included in the IFRS Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2020.  

6 Included in the line "Other operating expenses" in the comparable figures for the year ended 31 December 2019 in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income included in the IFRS Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020. 

7 Represents the line "Payments for software development costs" in the consolidated statement of cash flows included in the IFRS Financial 
Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 with comparable figures for the year ended 31 December 2019. 

8 Represents the line "Research and development" in the consolidated statement of financial position in the NGAAP Financial Statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2018.  

Below is an overview of the historical ARR, Recurring Revenue, ARPC and Churn Rate for the financial years ended 31 
December 2020, 2019 and 2018. 
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Amounts in NOK thousand 
Years ended 
31 December 

 2020 2019 2018 

    
ARR ..........................................................................  204,589 144,740 106,524 

    
Recurring Revenue ...................................................  93.0% 89.5% 78.9% 

    
ARPC.........................................................................  23,063 24,446 48,768 

    
Churn Rate ...............................................................  6.2% 6.5% -1 

 

1 No data available for the financial year ended 31 December 2018. 

4.2.4 Industry and market data 

In this Prospectus, the Company has used industry and market data from independent industry publications and market 
research, including a report from Arthur D. Little AB ("Arthur D. Little") – Market Analysis, April 2021. Arthur D. Little 
is a public limited liability consultancy firm incorporated under the laws of Sweden and having its registered office at 
Kungsgatan 12-14, 10725, Stockholm. The report has been prepared independently for the Company and is not publicly 
available. Arthur D. Little does not have any material interest in the Company. Information derived from the report has 
been included in this Prospectus with the consent of Arthur D. Little. While the Company has compiled, extracted and 
reproduced industry and market data from external sources, the Company has not independently verified the correctness 
of such data. Unless otherwise indicated, such information reflects the Company’s estimates based on analysis of multiple 
sources, including data compiled by professional organisations, consultants and analysts and information otherwise 
obtained from other third-party sources, such as annual financial statements and other presentations published by listed 
companies operating within the same industry as the Company may do in the future. Unless otherwise indicated in the 
Prospectus, the basis for any statements regarding the Company’s competitive position in the future is based on the 
Company's own assessment and knowledge of the potential market in which it operates. 

The Company confirms that where information has been sourced from a third-party, such information has been 
accurately reproduced and that as far as the Company is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by 
that third-party, no facts have been omitted that would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. 
Where information sourced from third parties has been presented, the source of such information has been identified, 
however, source references to websites shall not be deemed as incorporated by reference to this Prospectus. 

Industry publications or reports generally state that the information they contain has been obtained from sources 
believed to be reliable, but the accuracy and completeness of such information are not guaranteed. The Company has 
not independently verified and cannot give any assurances as to the accuracy of market data contained in this Prospectus 
that was extracted from these industry publications or reports and reproduced herein. Market data and statistics are 
inherently predictive and subject to uncertainty and not necessarily reflective of actual market conditions. Such statistics 
are based on market research, which itself is based on sampling and subjective judgments by both the researchers and 
the respondents, including judgments about what types of products and transactions should be included in the relevant 
market. 

The Company cautions readers not to place undue reliance on the above mentioned data. Unless otherwise indicated in 
the Prospectus, any statements regarding the Group's competitive position are based on the Company's own assessment 
and knowledge of the market in which it operates. 

As a result, readers should be aware that statistics, data, statements and other information relating to markets, market 
sizes, market shares, market positions and other industry data in this Prospectus (and projections, assumptions and 
estimates based on such information) may not be reliable indicators of the Company's future performance and the future 
performance of the industry in which it operates. Such indicators are necessarily subject to a high degree of uncertainty 
and risk due to the limitations described above and to a variety of other factors, including those described in Section 2 
"Risk factors" and elsewhere in this Prospectus. 
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4.2.5 Other information  

In this Prospectus, all references to "NOK" are to the lawful currency of Norway, all references to "SEK" are to the lawful 
currency of Sweden and all references to "EUR" are to the lawful common currency of the EU member states who have 
adopted the Euro as their sole national currency.  

4.2.6 Rounding 

Certain figures included in this Prospectus have been subject to rounding adjustments (by rounding to the nearest whole 
number or decimal or fraction, as the case may be). Accordingly, figures shown for the same category presented in 
different tables may vary slightly. As a result of rounding adjustments, the figures presented may not add up to the total 
amount presented. 

4.2.7 Exchange rates 

The table below sets forth, for the previous five years as indicated, information regarding the average, high and low, 
reference rates for NOK, expressed in NOK per EUR, in each case rounded to the nearest four decimal places, based on 
the daily exchange rate announced by the Central Bank of Norway: 

Financial year Average High Low Period end 

2016 .....................................................................  9.2899 9.7085 8.9175 9.0863 

2017 .....................................................................  9.3271 9.9738 8.8070 9.8403 

2018 .....................................................................  9.5962 9.9738 9.4145 9.9483 

2019 .....................................................................  9.8527 10.2748 9.5778 9.8638 

2020 .....................................................................  10.7207 12.3165 9.8315 10.4703 

The table below sets forth, for the previous five years as indicated, information regarding the average, high and low, 
reference rates for NOK, expressed in NOK per SEK, in each case rounded to the nearest two decimal places, based on 
the daily exchange rate announced by the Central Bank of Norway: 

4.3 Cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements 

This Prospectus includes forward-looking statements that reflect the Company's current views with respect to future 
events and financial and operational performance. These forward-looking statements may be identified by the use of 
forward-looking terminology, such as the terms "anticipates", "assumes", "believes", "can", "could", "estimates", 
"expects", "forecasts", "intends", "may", "might", "plans", "should", "projects", "will", "would" or, in each case, their 
negative, or other variations or comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements as a general matter are all 
statements other than statements as to historic facts or present facts and circumstances. They appear in the following 
Sections in this Prospectus, Section 6 "Dividends and dividend policy", Section 7 "Industry and market overview", Section 
8 "Business of the Group" and Section 11 "Operating and financial review", and include statements regarding the 
Company's intentions, beliefs or current expectations concerning, among other things, financial strength and position of 
the Group, operating results, liquidity, prospects, growth, the implementation of strategic initiatives, as well as other 
statements relating to the Group's future business development and financial performance, and the industry in which 
the Group operates, such as but not limited to the Group's expansion in existing and entry into new markets in the 
future. 

Prospective investors are cautioned that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and that 
the Group's actual financial position, operating results and liquidity, and the development of the industry and potential 
market in which the Group may operate in the future, may differ materially from those made in, or suggested by, the 
forward-looking statements contained in this Prospectus. The Company cannot guarantee that the intentions, beliefs or 
current expectations upon which its forward-looking statements are based will occur. 

Financial year Average High Low Period end 

2016 .....................................................................  98.16 105.21 91.17 95.12 

2017 .....................................................................  96.80 100.22 94.03 99.96 

2018 .....................................................................  93.59 99.46 90.14 97.01 

2019 .....................................................................  93.06 97.04 90.61 94.42 

2020 .......................................................................................................  102.26 110.71 93.48 104.35 
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By their nature, forward-looking statements involve, and are subject to, known and unknown risks, uncertainties and 
assumptions as they relate to events and depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in the future. Because of 
these known and unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the outcome may differ materially from those set out 
in the forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause those differences include, but are not limited to: 

• The Group's failure to properly implement its strategy and failure to reach its strategic objectives, including 
to grow the number of paying customers of the Group's offerings; 

• The competitive nature of the business the Group operates in and the competitive pressure and changes to 
the competitive environment in general, including the technological changes and new products and services 
that are introduced into the Group's markets and industry; 

• The Group's failure to properly integrate acquired companies and future potential acquired companies; 

• The Group's failure to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel; 

• The Group may be subject to cyber-crime, and the Group's IT systems and infrastructure may experience 
system failure, effects or errors; 

• The Group may be involved in legal proceedings relating to infringement of intellectual property rights; and 

• The Group may experience a damage of its reputation and business relationships. 

The risks that are currently known to the Company and which could affect the Group's future results and could cause 
results to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements are discussed in Section 2 "Risk 
factors". 

The information contained in this Prospectus identifies additional factors that could affect the Group's financial position, 
operating results, cash flows, liquidity and performance. Prospective investors are urged to read all Sections of this 
Prospectus for a more complete discussion of the factors that could affect the Group's future performance and the 
industry in which the Group operates when considering an investment in the Company. 

These forward-looking statements speak only as at the date on which they are made. The Company undertakes no 
obligation to publicly update or publicly revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, 
future events or otherwise. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to the Company or 
to persons acting on the Company's behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements referred 
to above and contained elsewhere in this Prospectus. 
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5 REASONS FOR THE OFFERING AND THE LISTING 

The Company believes the Offering and the Listing will: 

• enable the Group to pursue growth opportunities; 

• enable the Selling Shareholders and their ultimate owners to partially monetize their respective shareholdings 
in the Company, optimize the Company's capital structure, and allow for a liquid market for the Shares; 

• diversify the shareholder base, increase liquidity and enable other investors to take part in the Group's future 
growth and value creation; 

• enhance the Group's profile with investors, business partners, suppliers and customers; and 

• further improve the ability of the Group to attract and retain key management and employees. 

The gross proceeds from the sale of the New Shares in the Offering will amount to approximately NOK 500 million 
(excluding any Additional Shares). The net proceeds (excluding any Additional Shares) are expected to amount to 
approximately NOK 466 million, based on estimated total transaction costs of approximately NOK 34 million related to 
the New Shares and other directly attributable costs in connection with the Listing and the Offering to be paid by the 
Company.  

At the Company's extraordinary general meeting held on 25 May 2021 it was resolved that all of the Company's 
Preference Shares shall be redeemed against a payment of NOK 208,972,978.15 to the preference shareholders. The 
Company will use the proceeds from the issuance of the New Shares to pay the redemption amount for the Preference 
Shares, repay the Group's loan facilities and pay its portion of transaction costs. The remaining net proceeds will be used 
for general corporate purposes, including acquisitions. 

The Company will not receive any proceeds from the sale of the Sale Shares. 
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6 DIVIDENDS AND DIVIDEND POLICY 

6.1 Dividend policy 

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board of Directors will take into 
account legal restrictions as set out in the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act (see Section 6.2 "Legal constraints 
on the distribution of dividends"), the Company's capital requirements, including capital expenditure requirements, its 
financial condition, general business conditions and any restrictions in the Company's borrowing arrangements or other 
contractual arrangements in place at the time. See Section 11.9 "Borrowings and other contractual obligations" for a 
description of the current restrictions in the Group's financing arrangements. 

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company has not paid any dividends. The Company believes that it will serve its 
shareholders best by investing for the long term and growing and developing the business. The Company's dividend 
policy is that the Company does not expect to pay any dividend in the short to medium term as the Company intends to 
use its profit for both organic and inorganic growth initiatives as well as product and technology innovation. The Company 
will in the future continuously evaluate its capital allocation and will prioritize organic growth investments and synergistic 
acquisitions over dividends if the Company expects that this will generate an attractive return on capital. 

6.2 Legal constraints on the distribution of dividends 

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount in the future, the Board of Directors 
must take into account applicable legal restrictions, as set out in the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act, the 
Company's capital requirements, including capital expenditure requirements, its financial condition, general business 
conditions and any restrictions that its contractual arrangements in place at the time of the dividend may place on its 
ability to pay dividends and the maintenance of appropriate financial flexibility. Except in certain specific and limited 
circumstances set out in the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act, the amount of dividends paid may not exceed the 
amount recommended by the Board of Directors. 

Dividends may be paid in cash or in some instances in kind. The Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act provides the 
following constraints on the distribution of dividends applicable to the Company: 

• Section 8-1 of the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act regulates what may be distributed as dividend, 
and provides that the Company may distribute dividends only to the extent that the Company after said 
distribution still has net assets to cover (i) the share capital and (ii) other restricted equity (i.e. the reserve 
for unrealized gains and the reserve for valuation of differences).  

• The calculation of the distributable equity shall be made on the basis of the balance sheet included in the 
approved annual accounts for the last financial year, provided, however, that the registered share capital as 
of the date of the resolution to distribute dividend shall be applied. Following the approval of the annual 
accounts for the last financial year, the General Meeting may also authorise the Board of Directors to declare 
dividends on the basis of the Company's annual accounts. Dividends may also be resolved by the General 
Meeting based on an interim balance sheet that has been prepared and audited in accordance with the 
provisions applying to the annual accounts and with a balance sheet date not further into the past than six 
months before the date of the General Meeting's resolution. 

• Dividends can only be distributed to the extent that the Company's equity and liquidity following the 
distribution are considered sound. 

Pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act, the time when an entitlement to dividend arises depends on 
what was resolved by the General Meeting when it resolved to issue new shares in the company. A subscriber of new 
shares in a Norwegian public limited company will normally be entitled to dividends from the time when the relevant 
share capital increase is registered with the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises. The Norwegian Public Limited 
Companies Act do not provide for any time limit after which entitlement to dividends lapses. Subject to various 
exceptions, Norwegian law provides a limitation period of three years from the date on which an obligation is due. There 
are no dividend restrictions or specific procedures for non-Norwegian resident shareholders to claim dividends. For a 
description of withholding tax on dividends applicable to non-Norwegian residents, see Section 17 "Taxation". 

6.3 Manner of dividend payments 

The Company's equity capital is denominated in Norwegian kroner and all dividends on the Shares will therefore be 
declared in Norwegian kroner. As such, investors whose reference currency is a currency other than the Norwegian krone 
may be affected by currency fluctuations in the value of the Norwegian krone relative to such investor's reference 
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currency in connection with a dividend distribution by the Company. Any future payments of dividends on the Shares to 
shareholders will be denominated in the currency of the bank account of the relevant shareholder, and will be paid to 
the shareholders through the VPS Registrar. Shareholders registered in the VPS who have not supplied the VPS with 
details of their bank account, will not receive payment of dividends unless they register their bank account details with 
the VPS Registrar. The exchange rate(s) that is applied when denominating any future payments of dividends to the 
relevant shareholder's currency will be the VPS Registrar's exchange rate on the payment date. Dividends will be credited 
automatically to the VPS registered shareholders' accounts, or in lieu of such registered account, at the time when the 
shareholder has provided the VPS Registrar with their bank account details, without the need for shareholders to present 
documentation proving their ownership of the Shares. Shareholders' right to payment of dividend will lapse three years 
following the resolved payment date for those shareholders who have not registered their bank account details with the 
VPS Registrar within such date. Following the expiry of such date, the remaining, not distributed dividend will be returned 
from the VPS Registrar to the Company. 
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7 INDUSTRY AND MARKET OVERVIEW 

7.1 Introduction 

The construction industry represents one of the largest industries in the world and the annual global construction spend 
is expected to reach approximately USD 17 trillion by 2025.2 Yet, the industry has been slow to adapt innovations in 
process and technology. The construction industry is in the early stages of digitalization and is among the 10% least 
digitalized industries.3 Traditionally, construction companies have stored physical copies of project documents in binders 
and boxes, while legacy software solutions have often not been user-friendly or lacked collaboration tools and integration 
capabilities. Further, the software solutions have only been accessible on desktop computers, while more recently 
developed software solutions have been made available on both smartphones, and tablets, to be used at both the 
construction site as well as in the office, and by all the parties involved in a construction project. 

The construction industry sees significant benefit from increased digitalization as the industry performs complex projects 
and has a substantial productivity uplift potential illustrated by the eightfold increase in construction cost compared to 
the consumer price index over the last decade. Further, a survey of Swedish HWS companies shows that construction 
workers within the HWS segment spend as little as 20% of their daily time on being productive. The remaining time is 
being spent on administrative and non-direct client tasks. 4  A construction process involves a large number of 
stakeholders, such as customers, contractors, sub-contractors, architects, and engineers. The tasks that these 
stakeholders handle involve financing, budgeting, designing, building, and maintaining commercial, residential, 
industrial, and infrastructure projects. To complete projects safely, on time and within budget, efficient collaboration 
between these stakeholders and across work streams is required, as well as the sharing of information in a timely and 
effective manner. 

The construction industry has a potential for increased utilization of digital solutions as less than 6% of construction 
companies today make full use of digital planning tools while 100% of construction companies believe they have not yet 
exhausted the potential unlocked by digital solutions.5 Further, construction companies are believed to be able to boost 
their productivity by 50% by using cloud solutions and real-time analysis.6 Technologies such as cloud computing, mobile 
networks, and smart devices are disrupting legacy approaches by making more extensive technology adoption 
significantly easier for the construction industry. 

The construction industry is expected to experience stable growth driven by favourable trends such as population growth, 
urbanization, and the need for ongoing maintenance. Population growth combined with ongoing urbanization is driving 
the demand for construction work, and maintenance and repairs of existing buildings and infrastructure contributes to 
increased construction spending. 

7.2 Total addressable market 

The market for construction industry software is large, growing and resilient to economic downturns. Arthur D. Little 
estimates that the size of SmartCraft’s Total Addressable Market ("TAM"), defined as SmartCraft’s current focus 
construction industry segments7 as well as adjacent construction industry segments across current geographies8, to 
amount to approximately NOK 10.5 billion in 2021. In terms of geography, Sweden constitutes the largest geographical 
segment of the TAM, followed by Norway. Together, the two geographical segments are estimated to make up more 
than 75% of the TAM in 2021.9 

Arthur D. Little estimates that SmartCraft’s TAM will grow with a Compound Annual Growth Rate ("CAGR") of 
approximately 12% from 2020 to 2025. At the same time, the underlying construction industry in the Nordics is expected 
to grow with a CAGR of approximately 3%.10 The market growth has shown to be resilient to economic downturn, 
illustrated by the approximately 0.3% year-over-year growth in the Nordic construction market in 2020, despite the 
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. In the same year, SmartCraft achieved a like-for-like growth of 23%. Further, the 

 
2 Source: The Business Research Company - Construction Global Market Report 2021: COVID-19 Impact and Recovery to 2030, January 
2021 
3 Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
4 Source: Svensk Byggtjänst, June 2020 
5 Source: Roland Berger - Digitization In The Construction Industry, August 2016 
6 Source: McKinsey Global Institute – The New Age Of Engineering And Construction Technology, July 2017 
7 Construction, electro and HWS 
8 Finland, Norway and Sweden 
9 Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
10 Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
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service, renovation and maintenance segment compensates for fluctuations in the new-build segment, resulting in overall 
stable growth for the construction industry. 

Of the TAM of approximately NOK 10.5 billion, approximately NOK 9 billion or 88% is underpenetrated as of today, with 
48% of SmartCraft’s potential customers currently not utilizing any industry-specific construction software solutions. 
The customers constituting the underpenetrated share of the market either use simpler general software tools or pen 
and paper.  

Figure 7.2.1 Estimated market size (NOK billion) 

 

Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
 

Figure 7.2.2 Estimated market size (NOK billion) and growth (2020E-2025E) 

 

Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
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7.3 SmartCraft's current market 

SmartCraft defines its Currently Penetrated Market ("CPM") to be revenue generated by companies within the Group’s 
currently served industry segments and geographies11. However, additional focus on adjacent industry segments, an 
expanded product offering and geographical expansion would increase SmartCraft’s current market. In 2021, 
SmartCraft’s CPM is estimated at approximately NOK 1.3 billion.12 SmartCraft had revenue of NOK 195.9 million for the 
year ended 31 December 2020 and Congrid Oy had revenue of NOK 23.4 million for the first 11 months of 2020, implying 
an estimated market share of approximately 16%, making SmartCraft the clear market leader13 (its closest competitor 
is estimated to hold a market share of 14%).14 Further, the Nordic market for construction software is highly fragmented 
with the three largest companies capturing a combined market share of approximately 34%. SmartCraft’s CPM is 
estimated to grow at a CAGR of approximately 15% from 2020 to 2025, driven by the increasing digitalization of the 
construction industry. The Nordic market is one of the most digitally mature markets globally with an average 
construction information and communications technology ("ICT") spend per employee of approximately NOK 20,000 
compared to approximately NOK 12,600 for North-Western European countries15.16 

SmartCraft’s focus industry segments are spread across its current geographical markets with different market 
characteristics. The Group’s offering in Norway primarily consists of solutions for the specialized construction industry 
segments such as Heating, Water and Sanitation ("HWS") and electricians. SmartCraft’s offering in Sweden primarily 
targets general contractors as well as electricians. The offering in Finland mainly targets general contractors. 

7.4 European expansion opportunity 

SmartCraft believes there is significant potential to expand into new geographic markets in Europe. SmartCraft has 
historically focused on Sweden, Norway and Finland, but believes the international opportunity is many times larger than 
the Group's TAM. The North-Western European market provides an additional market opportunity of approximately NOK 
60 billion. 17  The North-Western European countries have similar market characteristics as the Nordic countries, 
evidenced by accelerated digitalization of the society as well as the construction industry being characterised by strict 
regulatory requirements and high personnel costs in these countries. 

In terms of geography, Germany is the largest geographical segment of the North-Western European market with an 
estimated market size of approximately NOK 30 billion, followed by UK with an estimated market size of approximately 
NOK 18 billion. Together, Germany and UK make up more than 78% of SmartCraft’s additional North-Western European 
market opportunity. 

Figure 7.4.1: Estimated market size, breakdown by geography (NOK billion) 

 

Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 

 
11 Finland, Norway and Sweden 
12 Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
13 Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
14 Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
15 Austria, Denmark, Germany, Switzerland, The Netherlands, UK 
16 Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
17 Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
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7.5 Key drivers and trends 

The market for construction industry software, and SmartCraft in particular, benefits from several fundamental trends 
including productivity challenges, quality and safety, regulation and technical complexity, cloudification as well as 
sustainability. 

7.5.1 Productivity challenges 

Productivity challenges for the construction industry drive the need for increased utilization of software solutions. Gross 
value added per hour worked has for the construction industry in the European Union only increased by 5% (on an 
inflation-adjusted basis) since 1995, while the region as a whole has seen an uplift of more than 35% during the same 
time period with the manufacturing sector seeing an increase of approximately 80%. The lagging productivity gains drive 
construction industry stakeholders to look for opportunities to increase worker productivity, where the implementation 
of technological solutions plays a key role. 

7.5.2 Quality and safety 

There is an increased demand for vertical software solutions that enable effective quality and safety management on 
the construction site as well as analytics at the office. This is driven by governmental regulations continuously demanding 
higher standards and digital documentation requirements for the health and safety area, as well as quality assurance. 
Further, construction workers often operate with out-of-date or incomplete project information resulting in mistakes 
causing costly rework and delayed project timelines. Mistakes may also expose construction workers to safety risks, 
whereas the need for mobile collaboration solutions and real-time access to instructions, designs, documentation, and 
reporting is becoming increasingly critical for managing and optimizing the decentralized workforce that characterizes 
the industry. Software solutions can help construction companies to record, monitor, measure, evaluate and improve 
procedures in order to maximize compliance with safety regulations and quality specifications. Additionally, software 
solutions are important to identify, understand, and proactively address the causes of issues and perilous routines before 
they result in injuries or accidents. 

7.5.3 Regulation and technical complexity 

The construction industry experiences an increasing regulatory and technical complexity of construction projects also 
outside the area of quality and safety. For example, it is subject to local laws, regulations, and compliance standards to 
promote environmental sustainability. In addition, demand for greater innovation and planning has increased project 
management complexity, leading stakeholders to rely on contracts in order to regulate and allocate project risks, which 
in turn can lead to increased frequency of litigation. Software solutions that enable shared project information increase 
transparency and can reduce the frequency and cost of litigation. 

7.5.4 Cloudification 

The construction industry is experiencing a transformation driven by innovations in technology and increased pressure 
on the stakeholders in the construction process. Projects are executed on the construction site, which increases the need 
for mobile access to project data and remote communications. Further, the need for mobile collaboration solutions and 
real-time access to instructions, design, documentation, and reporting is becoming increasingly important for managing 
and optimizing a decentralized and mobile workforce. It is critical for construction software solutions to be accessible by 
project members from any location and on any internet-connected device. Further, the construction software solutions 
need to be integrated with other solutions, both general and industry-specific, in the market. 

7.5.5 Sustainability 

The buildings and construction sectors are responsible for approximately 40% of all carbon dioxide emissions in the 
world. To decarbonise the industry in order to achieve the United Nations ("UN") Sustainable Development Goals requires 
immediate action. To reach a net-zero carbon dioxide building stock by 2050, the International Energy Agency estimates 
that direct building carbon dioxide emissions need to decrease by 50% by 2030 and indirect building sector emissions 
to decrease by 60%.18 

Innovation and technological progress are key to finding lasting solutions to both economic and environmental 
challenges. Further, the construction industry needs to increase resource-use efficiency and increase the productivity, 

 
18 International Energy Agency 
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which is possible to achieve by using less building materials and transportations as well as by improvement of the 
planning and estimation processes.19 

It is the Company's view that the Group's solutions contribute to reducing the carbon footprint in several areas:  

• By helping to digitalize the construction sector, where manual processes using paper are replaced by solutions 
available on computers, smartphones and tablets; 

• By enhancing the coordination of projects leading to less travelling, which in turn contributes in reducing the 
global fuel consumption; 

• By providing solutions that give the users a continuous control of its materials, making it easier for the user 
to purchase the correct quantity of materials required in a project, thereby leading to less waste; and  

• By providing solutions that contribute to ensuring that the users of its solutions perform their projects in 
accordance with governing rules and regulations, reducing the re-work to a minimum, thereby reducing 
wasted materials, use of machinery and travelling.  

7.6 Competitive overview 

The Nordic market for construction industry software is highly fragmented with many small local/national providers. 
SmartCraft is a clear leader in the Group’s CPM with a market share of approximately 16%.20 The Group believes that 
SmartCraft is differentiated from its competitors in several ways, including (i) a pan-Nordic presence, (ii) a 
comprehensive software solution offering, and (iii) a deep and unique segment functionality.21 SmartCraft is the only 
software provider with a top-two position across all the Nordic countries the Group is present in. Further, the Group 
believes that it has a strong competitive edge in selected construction industry verticals and functionality given its 
modern and easy-to-use software solutions. 

Figure 7.6.1: Estimated market share, the Nordic market 

 

Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
 

 

 
19 Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
20 Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
21 Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
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Figure 7.6.2: Estimated market share, breakdown by geography 

 

Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
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8 BUSINESS OF THE GROUP 

8.1 Introduction to SmartCraft 

SmartCraft is a leading provider of mission-critical software to the construction industry.22 SmartCraft's vision is to 
become the leading provider of specialized digital solutions for construction companies in the North-Western part of 
Europe. The Group enables construction companies to increase their productivity, reduce the administrative burden and 
make it easier to comply with the ever-evolving landscape of applicable laws and regulations affecting the construction 
industry.  

SmartCraft provides its software solutions as a service ("SaaS"). The SaaS offering is module-based and includes a 
comprehensive offering of software solutions to (i) optimize project budgeting by enhancing sales and minimizing costs, 
(ii) enhance project execution by minimizing budget deviations and (iii) minimize project risk through full documentation 
and insight. 

SmartCraft's solutions are provided through four strong brands targeting various markets: 

• Cordel: One of the market leaders 23 within the Heating, Water and Sanitation segment, also strongly 
positioned within the electrician segment in Norway;  

• Bygglet: One of the market leaders24 within the Small and Medium-sized Enterprises ("SME") general 
construction segment in Sweden; 

• EL-VIS: One of the market leaders25 within the electrician segment in Sweden; and 

• Congrid: One of the market leaders26 within the general construction segment in Finland. 

In May 2021, SmartCraft announced the acquisition of Homerunbynet Oy ("Homerun"). Homerun is a Finland-based 
company that delivers digital tools for construction project communication, documentation and project management. 
With the acquisition, the management in SmartCraft foresees clear synergies. Homerun has a portfolio of project 
communication modules that fits with SmartCraft's offering in project management, adding a new dimension to their 
current offering and provides additional potential cross-selling opportunities. 

The SaaS offered by the Group is provided on a subscription basis. In general, after a 12 months non-terminable initial 
term, the customers' subscription turns evergreen where the subscription may be terminated by giving three months 
prior written notice. As of the date of this Prospectus, the Group had more than 9,000 customers and 95,000 users 
utilizing its software solutions. 

8.2 Competitive strengths 

8.2.1 Overview  

SmartCraft believes that the Group has the following competitive advantages and key strengths, which have contributed 
to, and are expected to continue to contribute to, the Group's ability to realize its strategic and financial goals: 

• Mission-critical cloud-based SaaS offering for the construction industry; 

• Market leader in a large market with significant untapped digitalization potential for its customers; 

• Clear strategic plan with multiple attractive levers for future organic growth; 

• Proven ability to drive consolidation and geographic expansion in a highly fragmented market; and 

• Outstanding financial track record underpinned by high sales growth and best-in-class cash generation. 

 
22 Company estimates 
23 Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
24 Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
25 Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
26 Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
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8.2.2 Mission-critical cloud-based SaaS offering for the construction industry 

There is an abundance of challenges faced by contractors during complex construction processes. Construction projects 
require collaboration between several stakeholders and information and documentation need to be shared in an efficient 
manner. SmartCraft believes that construction companies need solutions that are flexible, easy-to-use and cloud-friendly 
illustrated by the fact that construction workers within the HWS segment spend around 20% of their time on being 
productive.27 SmartCraft provides SME general and specialized contractors, which is the current main focus, with 
solutions that are designed to optimize project budgets, ensure strong project execution and minimize project risk. As a 
result, SmartCraft offers all-encompassing modular, easy-to-use solutions that streamline workflows from offer to 
invoice. Additionally, multiple third-party data sources flow into, and are deeply integrated with SmartCraft's solutions, 
including data from industry organisations, wholesalers/suppliers, regulatory bodies and third-party applications such as 
ERP and CRM systems. This ensures that SmartCraft becomes the central point of access for information in each 
workflow, and users can perform many of their day-to-day tasks without having to access other applications. This is 
evidenced by the high user engagement for the solutions. Approximately 80% of the users access and utilize the software 
on a daily basis.28 

The solutions are easy to implement with no start-up costs for the customers and a swift onboarding process, easy-to-
use with no technological expertise required for the customer. The modular approach enables SmartCraft's customers 
to upgrade and add additional features when they grow, increasing customer captivity for the solutions. Multiple modules 
are offered as tablet and mobile applications, allowing customers to access and record project data on the construction 
site. SmartCraft's powerful software solutions help customers increase productivity and collaboration, reduce cost 
overruns, improve health and safety and compliance. 

8.2.3 Market leader in a large market with significant untapped digitalization potential for its customers 

SmartCraft's TAM amounted to approximately NOK 10 billion in 2020. The construction industry is one of the least 
digitalized industries, evidenced by the low penetrated share of the TAM. Only NOK 1.3 billion or 12% of the TAM is 
currently served by SmartCraft or a competitor, representing the CPM. The CPM is expected to grow at an annual pace 
of approximately 15% between 2020 and 2025.29 Today, most construction companies and craftsmen either use simple 
general software tools or pen and paper, and approximately 50% of potential customers currently have no industry-
specific software solution.30 SmartCraft sees huge adoption potential in the market given the high customer value created 
by the software compared to the software's monthly cost for the customers. At the same time, SmartCraft believes its 
current markets represent attractive geographies where accelerating digital maturity is imminent compared to other 
countries, driven by the regulatory environment, cloud maturity, underlying construction market growth and willingness 
to adopt new digital tools.  

SmartCraft operates across Sweden, Norway and Finland, and holds a market leading position with approximately 16% 
market share31. The company has podium market positions in each of its respective geographical markets, being the 
largest player in Norway and the second largest player in Sweden and Finland. SmartCraft provides a one-stop offering 
for its customers with modern and easy-to-use solutions covering the full value chain for construction companies. With 
its unique domain expertise32, SmartCraft has built deep functionality tailored to construction industry verticals such as 
general contractors, HWS and electricians. The abovementioned traits affirm SmartCraft's belief that it is well positioned 
to capitalize on the fragmented and underpenetrated market and grow its relative market share faster than its 
competitors. 

8.2.4 Clear strategic plan with multiple attractive levers for future organic growth 

The Group aims to deliver strong organic growth by continuing to capitalize on its market leading position33 in an 
underpenetrated market which is in an early phase of digital adoption. SmartCraft also works strategically to increase 
spend per existing customer, offering a customer journey that follows the growth of its customers. SmartCraft has strong 
historical success of increasing revenue per customer through selling additional user seats, integrations and features. 
The ARR per customer has grown from approximately NOK 17,800 for the year ended 31 December 2019 to 
approximately NOK 23,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020. At the same time, the Group sees a significant 

 
27 Svensk Byggtjänst – Byggbranschen och digitalisering 
28 Based on Cordel users 
29 Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
30 Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
31 Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
32 Company estimates 
33 Based on SmartCraft’s revenue of NOK 195.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 and Congrid Oy’s revenue of NOK 23.4 
million for the first 11 months of 2020. Arthur D. Little 2021 
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potential to capitalize on cross-selling SmartCraft's industry-specific solutions only offered in one country or to one target 
segment (e.g. HWS). SmartCraft believes the currently identified cross-selling initiatives represent a potential upside of 
approximately 50% to the current ARR of the Group. Finally, SmartCraft will continue to develop new features and 
functionalities towards existing customers in addition to adding new functionalities tailored towards specialty contractors 
where there exists no strong offering catering to their needs. Examples of new functionalities that are being evaluated 
are tender solutions and software for equipment management. 

SmartCraft believes it has a strong sales and marketing organisation in place and a proven go-to-market model that can 
effectively execute on the organic growth levers. In 2020, the sales team completed 2,719 sales meetings, of which 
55% resulted in a signed customer contract. In the corresponding year, SmartCraft estimated that the cost of acquiring 
a new customer was NOK 18 thousand, while the lifetime value of a customer was NOK 367 thousand, resulting in an 
LTV/CAC of 20 times.34   

8.2.5 Proven ability to drive consolidation and geographic expansion in a highly fragmented market 

The Group has a proven M&A strategy with a structured approach to identify, acquire, and integrate software solutions 
to realise growth potential and extract synergies. Since 2017, SmartCraft has successfully completed six acquisitions 
across three markets. SmartCraft believes the Group is well positioned to drive market consolidation given its first-
mover advantage, clear market leading position 35  and strong technology and domain expertise. An example of 
SmartCraft's strong M&A capability is the acquisition of the Bygglet Group in December 2018. Bygglet is a leading 
provider of SaaS solutions for SME general contractors in Sweden.36 The Group identified opportunities to accelerate 
growth and profitability through integrations with key industry organisations, expand and strengthen development 
capacity, optimize governance and more effectively integrate marketing and sales. For the year ended 31 December 
2018, Bygglet had an EBITDA margin of 18%, while the corresponding margin amounted to 33% for the year ended 31 
December 2020. This corresponds to an EBITDA margin expansion of 15 percentage points and a growth in EBITDA of 
225%, from SEK 8 million to SEK 26 million, over a period of only two years. 

In addition to M&A expansion in existing geographies, there is a significant opportunity for penetration of SmartCraft's 
solutions in North-Western Europe. SmartCraft has identified Germany, Switzerland, the Netherlands, Denmark, Austria 
and the UK as geographies that have similar market characteristics as the Group's existing markets, and where market 
dynamics are favourable for SmartCraft. Generally, digitalization is in an earlier phase in these markets compared to the 
Nordics and the markets are characterised by the proliferation of many small software companies. The construction 
industry in the abovementioned markets is characterised by increasing regulatory requirements and growing personnel 
costs, driving the need for digital tools to sustain and improve productivity. In addition, digitalization is accelerating in 
the broader societies of these countries, allowing for increased collaboration and automation through connected devices 
and applications.  

8.2.6 Outstanding financial track record underpinned by high sales growth and best-in-class cash generation 

SmartCraft has a track record of delivering strong sales growth with high cash conversion. SmartCraft's strong track 
record of sales growth has been realized by growth in number of customers, growth in ARR and low customer Churn 
Rate. The Group's customer base increased by 10% year-over-year from 8,100 for the year ended 31 December 2019 
to 8,900 for the year ended 31 December 2020. During the same period, the Group has increased ARR by 41% year-
over-year, from approximately NOK 145 million to approximately NOK 205 million. For the year ended 31 December 
2020, SmartCraft reported an ARPC of approximately NOK 23,000. As a result of strong organic growth and M&A, 
SmartCraft recorded a revenue CAGR of 71% from the year ended 31 December 2018 to the year ended 31 December 
2020 when including full-year contribution of the company Congrid Oy acquired in 2020. The aggregate revenue for all 
companies now embedded in SmartCraft has increased from NOK 45 million in 2010 to NOK 219 million in 2020, 
representing a CAGR of 17%. Like-for-like growth increased from 15% for the year ended 31 December 2019 to 23% 
for the year ended 31 December 2020, while the share of Recurring Revenue increased from 78.9% to 93.0% between 
2018 and 2020. The Company reported a Churn Rate of approximately 6% for the year ended 31 December 2020. 

The Group has a scalable business model with strong operating leverage. As a result, SmartCraft has delivered 
sustainable, highly profitable growth. SmartCraft increased the adjusted EBITDA margin from 33% for the year ended 
31 December 2018 to 41% for the year ended 31 December 2020. Further, the Group's business model enables low 
fixed investment requirements and an attractive working capital dynamic. For the year ended 31 December 2020, R&D 

 
34 Calculated as weighted average of LTV and CAC for Cordel, Bygglet and EL-VIS solutions during 6-month period ending in February 
2021.  
35 Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
36 Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
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capex was approximately 6% of revenue while net working capital amounted to negative 33% of revenue. SmartCraft's 
business model is highly cash generative, demonstrated by cash conversion of 110% for the year ended 31 December 
2020. 

SmartCraft believes that the low Churn Rate and high Recurring Revenue show that SmartCraft benefits from excellent 
customer retention and predictable revenues, which are key drivers of SmartCraft's growth and market leading 
position 37 . In addition, SmartCraft benefits from a highly diversified customer base, with the largest customer 
representing 0.7% of the Group's ARR for the year ended 31 December 2020, while the average customer accounts for 
only 0.01% of SmartCraft's ARR for the year ended 31 December 2020. 

For the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the newly acquired subsidiary Homerun had a lower EBITDA margin 
than the Group. However, SmartCraft expects Homerun to deliver a mid-teens EBITDA margin in 2021 and to increase 
its EBITDA margin to SmartCraft level over time. For a description of the Group's acquisition of Homerun, see Section 
11.12 "Significant changes".  

8.3 Strategy 

SmartCraft has a clear strategy to ensure sustained capital efficiency and profitable growth for the Group. SmartCraft's 
strategic plan is focused on the five themes below. 

8.3.1 Continue to capitalize on the market leading position and underpenetrated Nordic market 

SmartCraft believes that it is ideally positioned to capitalize on the underpenetrated market which is expected to grow 
12% annually in the period from 2020 to 202538. The Group has a track record of growing faster than the market, with 
a compounded average like-for-like rate of 19% from 2018 to 2020. SmartCraft believes its go-to-market model is highly 
efficient with a strong sales and marketing setup, evidenced by an LTV/CAC of 20 times.39 This factor, combined with a 
leading market position, strong local brands and a mission-critical software offering will enable SmartCraft to continue 
to grow and gain market share over time.  

8.3.2 Up-sell and price optimization 

The Group intends to expand its user base with existing customers and up-sell of additional modules, integrations and 
industry-specific solutions. With more than 9,000 customers and 95,000 users, there is strong inherent revenue potential 
by further increasing average spend per customer. The Group has dedicated customer success teams that consist of 
solution experts who help customers to maximize the value of their solutions and work as trusted advisors for the 
customers. The department is also upselling functionalities to customers to realize the full potential of SmartCraft's 
offering for each customer. Detailed customer journeys offer the sales teams proven templates that lead to highly 
efficient sales conversion rates. Given SmartCraft's large customer base and M&A track record, price optimisation 
provides a key opportunity to effectively monetize existing customers. SmartCraft's main business model is SaaS paid 
per user. In addition, a smaller portion of the Group's revenue relates to a transaction-based pricing model based on 
payment per project and invoice among others. SmartCraft believes there is growth potential in further harmonizing 
prices as well as in transitioning all customers to a full SaaS offering. By increasing the share of customers on the full 
SaaS business model, SmartCraft further increases the revenue per customer and the share of recurring revenues. 

8.3.3 Cross-selling 

SmartCraft believes there is a significant opportunity for cross-selling within the existing customer base on the back of 
successful acquisitions of complementary software solutions, typically offered in only one market or towards a specific 
specialty contractor vertical. There are multiple ongoing cross-selling initiatives across markets and verticals. For 
example, the Group believes there is a large opportunity to cross-sell the Bygglet solution to EL-VIS customers. Bygglet 
focuses on general contractors, but its offering is highly relevant for electricians. Today, only 250 of Bygglet's customers 
are electricians, while EL-VIS is used by more than 4,000 customers within the electrician segment. The cross-selling 
initiative is ongoing with joint marketing campaigns for the solutions and the initial market response has been highly 
positive. Based on the Group’s current initiatives, there is room to grow annual recurring revenue from the existing 
customer base by approximately 50% through further cross-selling.  

 
37 Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
38 Source: Arthur D. Little – Market Analysis, April 2021 
39 Based on the last six months with month end as of February 2021 
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8.3.4 Deepen and expand presence 

The Group intends to make continued investment in development of its offering. SmartCraft believes there is potential 
to expand the software solutions offering through additional modules, functionality and features, which in turn will 
strengthen its competitiveness and ability to attract new customers. SmartCraft's development strategy is based on two 
pillars. The first is to create new functionality that is tailored for specialty contractors where the Group currently has no 
presence and there is an opportunity for SmartCraft to offer attractive solutions that are believed to become commercially 
successful. The second is to add modules, functionality and features that are complementary to the customers' existing 
software. The Group has identified several attractive construction industry verticals such as machine contractors, heating 
and ventilation, and painters, all with similar characteristics as SmartCraft's existing focus industry segments. Further, 
examples of new functionalities that can easily be integrated to the SaaS solutions and create value for existing 
customers are tender solutions and software for equipment management. Finally, SmartCraft believes there are 
significant opportunities to monetize on the enormous amount of data that is generated within its software solutions, 
both for its customers and the industry. 

8.3.5 Execute on M&A strategy 

SmartCraft will continue to identify, evaluate and acquire companies with software solutions that add strategic value 
from a technology and product perspective and that are financially accretive. The market for construction industry 
software is characterised by many small companies focused on the local market with niche solutions. This creates 
excellent opportunities for SmartCraft to further strengthen its market position through acquisitions of selected solutions. 
SmartCraft has a proven structured approach to identify, acquire, and integrate targets to realise the growth potential 
and extract synergies, and conducted six acquisitions between 2017 and 2021.  

When identifying acquisitions, SmartCraft focuses on companies that meet the following criteria: (i) complementary 
solutions in existing and new markets, (ii) similar best-in-class solutions in new geographies, (iii) use acquired companies 
in new geographies as a bridgehead for existing portfolio solutions and (iv) potential to offer a combination of existing 
solutions to new geographical markets. Once a target is acquired, the company is integrated through alignment of 
financial reporting, optimization of organization and ongoing product development. Further growth potential is realized 
by development and execution of a strategy to extract revenue and cost synergies, alignment of product roadmaps to 
optimize sales potential together with a transformation to 100% SaaS model for those solutions that are not yet fully 
offered as SaaS at the time of acquisition. 

SmartCraft has a pipeline of potential acquisitions, both in new and existing markets, and the Group plans to continue 
to pursue 1-2 acquisitions annually. As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company has ongoing dialogues with 
approximately 20 targets in the Nordics and has screened over 50 targets in the DACH region40, where also a handful of 
dialogues are ongoing. 

8.4 History and important events 

The table below shows the Group's key milestones from its incorporation and to the date of this Prospectus: 

Year  Event 

1987 ...............  • System Konsult AS, developer of the Cordel solution, was founded in Ålesund, Norway 

1994 ...............  • The El-Info Group, developer of the EL-VIS solution, was founded in Växjö, Sweden 

2011 ...............  • The Bygglet Group was founded in Gothenburg, Sweden 

2013 ...............  • Congrid Oy was founded in Helsinki, Finland 

2017 ...............  • Valedo Partners III AB becomes majority owner in System Konsult AS, and System Konsult AS 
merges with its sales partner in Oslo, Bransjedata AS and changes its name to Cordel Norge 
AS 

• Cordel Norden AS is created as the holding company for the Group 

2018 ...............  • Gustav Line joins as chief executive officer of Cordel Norden AS 

• The Group acquires the Bygglet Group in December 2018 

2019 ...............  • Cordel Norge AS acquires Rørweb, a quality assurance solution for Norwegian HWS companies, 
from Rørentreprenørene Norge 

• The Group acquires the El-Info Group  

 
40 Austria, Germany and Switzerland 



SMARTCRAFT ASA - PROSPECTUS 

39 
 

Year  Event 

2020 ...............  • The Group acquires Congrid Oy 

2021 ...............  • The Group acquires Homerunbynet Oy 

2021 ...............  • Cordel Norden AS changes name to SmartCraft AS 

8.5 The solutions offered by the Group  

8.5.1 Overview 

The Group's solutions cover the vertical value chain and aim to (i) optimize project budgeting by enhancing sales and 
minimizing costs, (ii) enhance project execution by minimizing budget deviations, and (iii) minimize project risk through 
full documentation and insight. The software solutions are cloud-based accessible on desktop computers, smartphones, 
and tablets, to be used at both the construction site as well as in the office, and by all the parties involved in a 
construction project. 

 

8.5.2 SmartCraft's solutions to optimize project budgeting 

Planning 

The SmartCraft software solutions include the following tools in the planning stage of a project:  

• Tender calculation: A tool that calculates the hours and materials consumed in a project. The tender calculation 
provides for electronic exchange of tender information to make the calculations. The hours and materials are 
often calculated based on standard hierarchical structures applicable in various industries. 

• Risk analysis: A tool used to perform risk analysis on any deviations in material costs and hourly costs (tender 
total) in user-defined steps to determine the different earn-margins. 

• Resource planning: A tool that enables high-level planning of resources based on activities. Resources are 
calculated based on the number of people, working hours per day and the number of hours calculated in the 
project during tender calculations. 

• Price enquiry: A tool for making price enquiries to relevant suppliers and producers in order to minimize cost 
in a project. The tool integrates with the largest distributors and suppliers of materials to the HWS, electrician 
and construction segments.  

Contract 

The SmartCraft software solutions include the following tools related to the contract in a project: 

• Generate contract: A tool that generates a complete contract based on the tender contract, which comprises 
all standard provisions necessary in a contract as well as a detailed description of the scope of work.  

• Integrate CRM: A tool where deadlines and other important dates are implemented into a CRM-system, 
ensuring that the user has full control as a project moves forward. 

• Follow up contract: A tool for electronic signing of the final contract and an archive where the contract may 
be filed. 
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• Sub-contractors: A tool to manage and contact any subcontractors, ensuring that they are on schedule, 
ready to perform their work, as and when required. 

8.5.3 SmartCraft's solutions to enhance project execution 

Procurement 

The SmartCraft software solutions include the following tools in the procurement stage of a project: 

• Invoice management: A tool that enables the user to receive, review and debit incoming invoices correctly, 
ensuring complete control of the costs in all parts of a project. 

• Inventory control: A tool that gives the user continuous control of its stock, making it easier for the user to 
purchase the correct quantity of materials required in a project. 

• Ordering: A tool that enables the user to order the correct quantity of materials to a project or a specific part 
of a project. The tool also includes a mechanism to control any price variance ensuring that the user gets the 
right price on its orders. Possibility for electronic orders directly linked to wholesalers. 

• Purchasing planner: A tool to plan project procurements with set quantities of materials and the timing of the 
delivery. The tool ensures that the deliveries are labelled correctly upon arrival to the construction site.  

Project management  

The SmartCraft software solutions include the following tools for project management in a project: 

• Time & material: A tool that keeps track of, and control with, incurred working hours and material in a project. 
The solution is based on registrations from workers on site and electronic invoices received in the project. The 
dataset collected can be used as a basis for producing pay checks.  

• Field management: A tool to manage the staffing of personnel on various work streams during a project, as 
well as registration of hours, materials and documentation from personnel working on the project. The tool 
also comprises functions for handling the dialogue between the various parties involved in a project to keep 
track of, and ensure that everyone is informed of, matters to follow-up in the project. 

• Progress plan: A tool to control the progress of the project. The tool gives an assessment of remaining 
work/deliveries as well as detailed projections on the dates of completion of the project. 

• Invoice plan: A tool for scheduling of project invoicing. The scheduling may be customized, for example to 
suit the size of the project or the preferences of the client. The tool features the option to add supplementary 
work and corresponding invoicing when required, and handles any price increases on long-term projects.  

8.5.4 SmartCraft's solutions to minimize project risk 

Documentation 

The SmartCraft software solutions include the following tools related to the documentation in a project: 

• Accounting management: A tool that enables the user to control its customers and corresponding account 
receivables. The tool may also be integrated with the factoring companies' systems, and may produce 
payment reminders and calculate interest.    

• Regulatory integration: A tool that integrates with government systems to ease various government-controlled 
processes such as altinn.no and tax returns. The tool also encompasses integration with governmental 
electronic channels for the processing of applications, such as byggsøk.no. 

• Check list & QA: A tool for handling and registration of checklists and inspections in connection with the 
project. The checklists may be completed with written input as well as photos.  

• HR management: A tool for handling of health, safety and environment ("HSE") and personnel deviations as 
well as staffing on the project and any sub-projects.  
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Invoice & analysis 

The SmartCraft software solutions include the following tools related to invoicing and follow-up analysis in a project: 

• eInvoice: A tool for electronic invoicing in accordance with industry-specific standards and any governmental 
requirements, both with regards to the content and formatting of the invoices. 

• Profitability analysis: A tool that sets out the key figures of a completed project and any subprojects therein. 
This can be done on a project-by-project basis or across multiple projects. 

• Follow-up analysis: A tool for controlling that the work performed is completed in accordance with the 
applicable specifications and requirements, ensuring that the customer was satisfied and is a recurring 
customer. 

• Final document: A tool providing the end-customers with all documentation required in the finalisation of a 
project, including any operational instructions, drawings, spares, etc. This is also made available digitally for 
house owners through boligmappa.no. 

In addition to the solutions presented above, SmartCraft will through the recent acquisition of Homerun expand its 
current offering with 20 new modules, which can be categorized into the four broader categories of project management 
and document sharing, communication, additional sales and warranty work.   

8.6 Sustainability and social responsibility 

Sustainability and social responsibility are key priorities in SmartCraft's business. The Group mainly focuses its efforts 
within two of the United Nation's Sustainable Development Goals ("SDGs"): 

 

The buildings and construction sector constitutes approximately 40% of the global 
emissions41. Carbon dioxide emission levels increases as construction projects are prolonged 
with an increasing number of machine hours, building hours and building material waste. 
Through the adoption of digital tools such as those provided by SmartCraft, construction 
processes are shortened, and material waste is reduced.  

The UN 2030 target with respect to SDG no. 9 is to make industries sustainable, with 
increased resource efficiency and greater adoption of clean and environmentally sound 
technologies and industrial processes. 

SmartCraft's solutions increase the customers' resource efficiency through improved planning 
and estimation processes as well as improved management of the construction process itself. 

 

 

By 2050, two-thirds of all humanity, approximately 6.5 billion people, will be urban. The global 
building stock is set to double by 2050 and the steeply growing needs of new housing in city 
areas require the construction industry to transform in order to be able to meet demand. 
SmartCraft's solutions improve the customer's productivity, resulting in cost-efficient, 
sustainable construction and maintenance processes.  

The UN 2030 target with respect to SDG no. 11 is to ensure access for all to adequate, safe 
and affordable housing. Through SmartCraft's solutions, construction companies increase 
their productive output, contributing to better and more affordable housing for the many. 

8.7  Research and development 

The Group's research and development activities are critical to sustain its current growth momentum and its competitive 
differentiation. The Group invests significant resources in product development to improve its existing product and 
service offerings, and to develop new attractive solutions and features that meet the demand in the markets in which 
SmartCraft operates.  

 
41 Source: International Energy Agency (IEA). 
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As of 31 March 2021, the Group had 43 employees dedicated to software development. In 2020, SmartCraft's capitalized 
expenses related to research and development amounted to NOK 13.4 million before deductions for government grant 
(SkatteFunn) in the amount of NOK 1.8 million. 

8.8 Intellectual property rights 

The Group's success depends in part on its ability to maintain and protect its software technology and intellectual 
property that has been used and will continue to be used to develop the SmartCraft solutions. For this reason, the Group 
has a portfolio of intellectual property rights that includes trademarks, trade secrets, copyrights and domain names. 
SmartCraft does not own any patents or designs. 

The Group's primary trademarks are "SmartCraft", "Cordel", "EL-VIS", "Bygglet" and "Congrid". A third-party has 
registered "Congrid" as a trademark with the European Union Intellectual Property Office (EUIPO). SmartCraft therefore 
considers to rebrand "Congrid" under another trademark. SmartCraft does not consider a potential rebranding of 
"Congrid" to have any material negative impact on the business comprised by the "Congrid" trademark. As of the date 
of this Prospectus, none of the Group companies have any pending trademark applications, however, the trademark 
"Cordel" is currently registered in the name of the Company but will be reregistered from the Company to its subsidiary 
Cordel Norge AS. 

The Group is the sole owner of the proprietary source code for the software technology upon which the software solutions 
have been developed. The technology is based on Microsoft Windows technology, Java and Python. The software is 
continuously developed by the Group's internal software development resources. The SmartCraft solutions mainly use a 
cloud-based infrastructure hosted on the Microsoft Azure and the Amazon Web Services platforms. However, 
SmartCraft's legacy versions of its software solutions were offered on-premise, and as some of the Group's customers 
have not yet migrated to the cloud-version, these customers are still utilizing on-premise or ASP hosted solutions.  

The Group's proprietary software is protected by trade secrets and trademarks. The source code for the technology is 
treated strictly confidential and those who have access to the Group's source code are bound by confidentiality 
agreements in addition to the protection that applicable legislation provides. Development of the Group's proprietary 
source code is carried out by the Group's employees and these projects include development of new modules and 
integrations to the source code, as well as modifications and adaption of existing source code.  

In certain cases, the Group licenses intellectual property from third parties for use in its solutions, such as Microsoft 
Azure, Amazon Web Services, React and Devexpress.com. Furthermore, the Group uses certain third-party software 
integrations for the development of the content made available in the solutions. The group's right to use such third-
party intellectual property rights is governed by licensing agreements between the Group and the respective owners of 
such intellectual property. In this respect, the Group must in general rely on those third-parties to protect the intellectual 
property rights for which the Group has been granted license. 

While the ability to maintain and protect the Group's software technology and intellectual property rights is a key factor 
for the Group to succeed, and the Group in part is dependent on the protection of such technology and intellectual 
property rights, including the proprietary source code for the software solutions, the Company is of the opinion that its 
business is not materially dependent on any individual trademark, trade secret, copyright or license. 

8.9 Material contracts 

Neither the Company nor any other member of the Group has entered into any material contracts outside the ordinary 
course of business for the two years prior to the date of this Prospectus. Further, the Group has not entered into any 
other contract outside the ordinary course of business that contains any provision under which any member of the Group 
has any obligation or entitlement that is material to the Group as of the date of this Prospectus. 

8.10 Dependency on contracts, patents and licenses 

The Group has registered trademarks in and related to its brands, including word-marks and logos, and the proprietary 
software for the software solution is protected by trade secrets, all of which are currently in use by the Group as described 
above in Section 8.8 "Intellectual property rights". Except for the Group's ownership to its proprietary software and its 
trademarks, the Group's existing business and profitability is not dependent on any patents or licenses. 

It is the Company's opinion that the Group's existing business and profitability are not dependent upon any industrial, 
commercial or financial contracts. 
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8.11 Insurance 

The Group currently maintains insurance coverage of the type and in amounts that it believes to be customary in the 
industry, including liability insurance reflecting the Group's liability in customer contracts and damage insurance for key 
assets, all subject to certain limitations, deductibles and caps. The Executive Management, the general managers of the 
Company's subsidiaries and the Board of Directors are also covered by directors' and officers' liability insurance. 
However, no assurance can be given that the Group will not incur any damages that are not covered by its insurance 
policies or that exceed the coverage limits of such insurance policies. 

8.12 Property, plant and equipment and right of use assets 

SmartCraft's headquarters, located at Borgundfjordvegen 80, N-6017 Ålesund, Norway, are leased pursuant to a lease 
agreement that expires on 19 February 2024. The Group also leases other offices in Norway (Oslo and Hønefoss), 
Sweden (Göteborg, Nyköping, Malmö, Stockholm, Växjö and Mora) and Finland (Helsinki). The Group has not included 
any extension options in recognizing right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the IFRS Financial Statements, based on 
the high level of uncertainty regarding future needs. Other than the Group's leased offices, the Group does not have any 
material tangible fixed assets. Furthermore, there are no environmental issues that may affect the Group's utilisation of 
its leased offices. 

8.13 Regulatory overview 

The Group is subject to a number of EU and local laws and regulations that involve matters central to its business. These 
laws and regulations may involve privacy, data protection, intellectual property, competition, taxation or other subjects. 
The Group's processing of personal data is subject to the GDPR and local data protection laws. As a controller, the Group 
processes personal data regarding employees, representatives of customers and suppliers and end users of software. 
Furthermore, as a provider of SaaS for businesses, the Group processes an extensive amount of personal data on behalf 
of its customers as a data processor. The Group's processing as a data processor is covered by data processing 
agreements entered into with customers. As an operator of several websites using cookies, the Group is subject to the 
ePrivacy Directive 2002/58/EC and local laws implementing the directive. 

In addition, the Group is subject to labour and employment laws, health, safety, and environment laws, and other 
regulations and the Group's customers within the construction industry are subject to industry-specific regulations, and 
accordingly these customers' use of the Group's services is subject to industry regulation.  

Finally, the Group has an ambition to expand to new markets, and as such it will be subject to new and yet unknown 
laws and regulations. 

The Group monitors changes in laws and regulations on a regular basis, and the Company believes that it is in material 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.  

8.14 IT systems 

IT is essential to the Group's business and therefore the Group commits significant resources to maintain and optimise 
its IT infrastructure systems, related applications and security. As described in Section 8.8 the main part of the Group's 
software solutions use a cloud-based operation system with web-interfaces and the majority of the IT infrastructure 
needed to operate the SaaS, such as data centres (operating the serves) and network connectivity, is leased from the 
recognized global vendors Amazon Web Services and Microsoft Azure. These vendors ensure the continued running and 
availability of the Group's SaaS. The Group does not own or operate the data centres operating the servers or the 
servers, nor does it maintain the network connectivity, and do therefore not handle any of the physical environment 
relating to the Group's IT infrastructure, provided however that the Group has certain customers with servers hosted by 
Basefarm and operated by the Group.  

8.15 Legal proceedings 

From time to time, the Group may be involved in litigation, disputes and other legal proceedings arising in the normal 
course of its business. Neither the Company nor any other company in the Group, is, nor has been, during the course of 
the preceding 12 months involved in any legal, governmental or arbitration proceedings which may have, or have had 
in the recent past, significant effects on the Company's and/or the Group's financial position or profitability, and the 
Company is not aware of any such proceedings which are pending or threatened. 
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9 CAPITALISATION AND INDEBTEDNESS 

9.1 Introduction 
The information presented below should be read in conjunction with the other parts of this Prospectus, in particular 
Section 10 "Selected Financial and Other Information" and Section 11 "Operating and Financial Review", and the Financial 
Statements and Interim Financial Statements and the notes related thereto, included in Appendices B and C of this 
Prospectus. This Section provides information about the Company's unaudited consolidated capitalisation and net 
financial indebtedness on an actual basis as at 31 March 2021 and, in the "as adjusted" column, the Company's unaudited 
consolidated capitalisation and net financial indebtedness to give effect to the following adjustments as if the transactions 
(i) to (iv) had happened 31 March 2021: 

(i) Redemption in full of the Preference Shares, resulting in a reduction of share capital, additional paid-in capital 
and retained earnings; 

(ii) Repayment in full of the outstanding loan facilities as set out in Section 11.9 "Borrowings and other contractual 
obligations"; 

(iii) The acquisition of Homerun completed on 20 May 2021, as described in Section 11.12; and 

(iv) Net proceeds to the Company from the Offering (excluding any new Shares that may be issued pursuant to 
the Greenshoe Option). 

As a result of the transactions in (i) to (iv) above, the Company's share capital will, prior to issuance of any new Shares 
that may be issued pursuant to the Greenshoe Option, be NOK 1,672,093.66 consisting of 167,209,366 Shares, each 
with a par value of NOK 0.01. 

9.2 Capitalisation  

The table below sets out information about the Company's consolidated capitalisation as at 31 March 2021. 

In NOK thousand As at 31 
March 2021 

(unaudited) 

Adjustments 
for 

redemption of 
Preference 

Shares3 

(unaudited) 

Adjustments 
for repayment 

of loan 
facilities4 

(unaudited) 

Adjustments 
for the 

acquisition of 
Homerun5 

(unaudited) 

Adjustments 
for proceeds 

from the 
Offering6 

(unaudited) 

As adjusted 

(unaudited) 

       

Indebtedness       

Total current debt:       

Guaranteed .........  - - - - - - 

Secured1 ............  62,281 - (62,281) - - - 

Unguaranteed / 
Unsecured ..........  126,898 - - 11,959 - 138,857 

       

Total non-current 
debt:       

Guaranteed .........  - - - - - - 

Secured2 ............  169,318 - (169,318) - - - 

Unguaranteed / 
Unsecured ..........  35,958 - - - - 35,958 

Total 
indebtedness ....  394,455 - (231,599) 11,959 - 174,815 

       

Shareholders' 
equity       

Share capital .......  4,497 (3,109) - 3 281 1,672 

Additional paid-in 
capital ................  244,193 (152,336) - 5,997 465,719 563,573 



SMARTCRAFT ASA - PROSPECTUS 

45 
 

In NOK thousand As at 31 
March 2021 

(unaudited) 

Adjustments 
for 

redemption of 
Preference 

Shares3 

(unaudited) 

Adjustments 
for repayment 

of loan 
facilities4 

(unaudited) 

Adjustments 
for the 

acquisition of 
Homerun5 

(unaudited) 

Adjustments 
for proceeds 

from the 
Offering6 

(unaudited) 

As adjusted 

(unaudited) 

Other components 
of equity .............  (4,875) - - - - (4,875) 

Retained earnings  75,016 (53,528) - - - 21,488 

Total 
shareholders' 
equity ...............  318,831 (208,973) - 6,000 466,000 581,858 

Total 
capitalisation ....  713,286 (208,973) (231,599) 17,959 466,000 756,673 

 

1 The secured debt consists of the current portion of the Senior Facilities. See Section 11.9 "Borrowings and other contractual obligations" for a 
description of the Senior Facilities. The Senior Facilities are secured by first priority share pledges over the shares in Cordel Norge AS and Bygglet 
Holding AB as well as first priority charges over trade receivables and operating assets of Cordel Norge AS.  

2 The secured debt consists of the non-current portion of the Senior Facilities and the Junior Facility. See note 1 above for further information 
regarding the Senior Facilities. The Junior Facility is secured by second priority share pledges over the shares in Cordel Norge AS and Bygglet 
Holding AB as well as second priority charges over trade receivables and operating assets of Cordel Norge AS. 

3 Redemption in full of the Preference Shares by way of reduction of the share capital of NOK 3,108,899. The Company will use part of the net 
proceeds from the issuance of the New Shares to pay the redemption amount for the Preference Shares. 

4 Repayment of the outstanding principal amount under the Senior Facilities and the Junior Facility in full. The Company will use part of the net 
proceeds from the issuance of the New Shares to repay the Senior Facilities and the Junior Facility. 

5 The purchase price for the shares in Homerun was NOK 35,250 thousand of which (i) NOK 29,250 thousand was paid in cash at completion of the 
transaction and (ii) NOK 6,000 thousand was settled in vendor notes that the sellers will use as contribution in kind to subscribe for shares in the 
Company at the final Offer Price in the Offering, plus a potential earn-out consideration limited upwards to (i) EUR 0.5 million payable in 2022 and 
(ii) EUR 1.5 million payable in 2023. The adjustment of unguaranteed/unsecured current debt includes (i) NOK 4,413 thousand which is Homerun's 
unguaranteed/unsecured current debt, converted from EUR to NOK, at the point in time Homerun was consolidated into the Group and (ii) NOK 
7,546 thousand which is the fair value of the potential earn-out consideration. The adjustment in the share capital and additional paid in capital is 
based on the Offer Price.  

6 Offering proceeds from the sale of New Shares based on the Offer Price per Offer Share, with associated estimated costs incidental to, the Listing 
and the Offering, payable by the Company of NOK 34,000 thousand. 

9.3 Net financial indebtedness  

The table below sets out information about the Company's consolidated net financial indebtedness as at 31 March 2021. 

In NOK thousand As of 
31 March 

2021 
(unaudited) 

Adjustments 
for 

redemption 
of 

Preference 
Shares1 

(unaudited) 

Adjustments 
for 

repayment 
of loan 

facilities2 

(unaudited) 

Adjustments 
for the 

acquisition 
of Homerun3 

(unaudited) 

Adjustments 
for proceeds 

from the 
Offering4 

(unaudited)  

As adjusted 

(unaudited) 

Net indebtedness       

(A) Cash
 ............................ 123,768 (208,973) (231,599) (27,337) 466,000 121,859 

(B) Cash equivalents
 ............................ - - - - - - 

(C) Other current 
financial assets
 ............................ 17,251 - - - - 17,251 

(D) Liquidity 
(A)+(B)+(C)
 ............................ 141,019 (208,973) (231,599) (27,337) 466,000 139,110 

        

(E) Current financial 
debt (including debt 
instruments, but 
excluding current 
portion of non-
current financial 13,776 - - 11,959 - 25,735 
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In NOK thousand As of 
31 March 

2021 
(unaudited) 

Adjustments 
for 

redemption 
of 

Preference 
Shares1 

(unaudited) 

Adjustments 
for 

repayment 
of loan 

facilities2 

(unaudited) 

Adjustments 
for the 

acquisition 
of Homerun3 

(unaudited) 

Adjustments 
for proceeds 

from the 
Offering4 

(unaudited)  

As adjusted 

(unaudited) 

debt)
 ............................ 

(F) Current portion of 
non-current 
financial debt
 ............................ 62,281 - (62,281) - - - 

(G) Current financial 
indebtedness 
(E)+(F)
 ............................ 76,057 - (62,281) 11,959 - 25,735 

        

(H) Net current 
financial 
indebtedness (G)-
(D)
 ............................ (64,962) 208,973 169,318 39,296 (466,000) (113,375) 

        

(I) Non-current 
financial debt 
(excluding current 
portion and debt 
instruments)
 ............................ 169,318 - (169,318) - - - 

(J) Debt instruments
 ............................ - - - - - - 

(K) Non-current trade 
and other payables
 ............................ - - - - - - 

(L) Non-current 
financial 
indebtedness 
(I)+(J)+(K)
 ............................ 169,318 - (169,318) - - - 

        

(M) Total financial 
indebtedness 
(H)+(L)
 ............................ 104,356 208,973 - 39,296 (466,000) (113,375) 

 

1 Redemption in full of the Preference Shares by way of reduction of the share capital of NOK 3,108,899. The Company will use part the proceeds 
from the issuance of the New Shares to pay the redemption amount for the Preference Shares. 

2 Repayment of the outstanding principal amount under the Senior Facilities and the Junior Facility in full. The Company will use part of the net 
proceeds from the issuance of the New Shares to repay the Senior Facilities and the Junior Facility. See Section 11.9 "Borrowings and other 
contractual obligations" for a description of the loan facilities. 

3 The purchase price for the shares in Homerun was NOK 35,250 thousand of which (i) NOK 29,250 thousand was paid in cash at completion of the 
transaction and (ii) NOK 6,000 thousand was settled in vendor notes that the sellers will use as contribution in kind to subscribe for shares in the 
Company at the final Offer Price in the Offering, plus a potential earn-out consideration limited upwards to (i) EUR 0.5 million payable in 2022 and 
(ii) EUR 1.5 million payable in 2023. The adjustment of cash includes (i) NOK 1,913 thousand which is Homerun's cash, converted from EUR to 
NOK, at the point in time Homerun was consolidated into the Group and (ii) NOK -29,250 thousand which was the cash consideration paid upon 
completion of the transaction. The adjustment of current financial debt includes (i) NOK 4,413 thousand which is Homerun's current financial debt, 
converted from EUR to NOK, at the point in time Homerun was consolidated into the Group and (ii) NOK 7,546 thousand which is the fair value of 
the potential earn-out consideration.  

4 Offering proceeds from the sale of New Shares based on the Offer Price per Offer Share, with associated estimated costs incidental to, the Listing 
and the Offering, payable by the Company of NOK 34,000 thousand. 
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9.4 Working capital statement 

The Company is of the opinion that the working capital available to the Group is sufficient to meet the Group's present 
requirements for the period covering at least 12 months from the date of this Prospectus. The expected proceeds of the 
Offering have been included in the calculation of the Group's working capital. 

9.5 Contingent and indirect indebtedness 

The Group does not have any material contingent or indirect indebtedness as of the date of the Prospectus beyond that 
described in the tables above.  
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10 SELECTED FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION 

10.1 Presentation of Financial Information 

The following selected financial information has been extracted from the Financial Information. The financial statements 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2020, with comparable figures for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 
(the IFRS Financial Statements) have been prepared in accordance with IFRS, while the financial statements for the 
years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 have been prepared in accordance with NGAAP (the NGAAP Financial 
Statements). The financial statements for the three months ended 31 March 2021, with comparable figures for the three 
months ended 31 March 2020 (the Interim Financial Statements) have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. 

The selected consolidated financial information included herein should be read in connection with, and is qualified in its 
entirety by reference to, the Financial Statements and the Interim Financial Statements included in Appendix B and C of 
this Prospectus and should be read together with Section 11 "Operating and financial review". 

10.2 Summary of accounting policies and principles 

For information regarding accounting policies and the use of estimates and judgments, please refer to notes 3 and 4 of 
the Financial Statements, included in this Prospectus as Appendix B. 

10.3 Auditor 

The Company's independent auditor is PwC with business registration number 987 009 713, and business address at 
Dronning Eufemias gate 71, 0194, Oslo, Norway. The partners of PwC are members of The Norwegian Institute of Public 
Accountants (Nw.: Den Norske Revisorforening). PwC was elected as the Company's auditor on 3 March 2017, and has 
been the independent auditor of the Company since such date. 

The Financial Statements have been audited by PwC and their audit reports are included together with the Financial 
Statements in Appendix B. The Interim Financial Statements have been subject to a limited review and are included in 
Appendix C. PwC has not audited, reviewed or produced any report on any other information provided in this Prospectus. 

10.4 Consolidated statement of comprehensive income (IFRS) 

The table below sets out data from the Company's unaudited consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the 
three months period ended 31 March 2021, with comparable figures for the three months period ended 31 March 2020, 
prepared in accordance with IFRS, and from the Company's consolidated audited statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 December 2020, with comparable figures for the year ended 31 December 2019, prepared in 
accordance with IFRS. 

In NOK thousand 
Three months ended  

31 March 
Years ended 
31 December 

 2021 
IFRS 

(unaudited) 

2020 
IFRS 

(unaudited) 

2020 
IFRS 

(audited) 

2019 
IFRS 

(audited) 

Revenue from customers ........................................  59,317 45,233 195,941 153,701 

Total operating revenue .........................................  59,317 45,233 195,941 153,701 

     

Purchase of goods and services ...................................  5,054 4,148 19,523 19,167 

Payroll and related expenses .......................................  24,031 18,988 74,559 60,616 

Other operating expenses ...........................................  6,290 6,314 25,197 22,333 

Depreciation and amortization .....................................  5,160 3,900 17,053 12,500 

Total operating expenses .......................................  40,535 33,350 136,331 114,615 

     

Operating profit (loss) before financial items and tax 18,783 11,883 59,610 39,085 

Financial income ........................................................  2,943 4,386 8,029 2,808 

Financial expenses .....................................................  (7,342) (7,869) (15,201) (10,463) 

Financial income (expense), net .............................  (4,399) (3,483) (7,172) (7,656) 

Profit (loss) before tax ...........................................  14,384 8,400 52,438 31,430 

Tax expense .............................................................  2,740 1,657 13,298 3,889 

Profit (Loss) ...........................................................  11,644 6,743 39,140 27,540 



SMARTCRAFT ASA - PROSPECTUS 

49 
 

In NOK thousand 
Three months ended  

31 March 
Years ended 
31 December 

 2021 
IFRS 

(unaudited) 

2020 
IFRS 

(unaudited) 

2020 
IFRS 

(audited) 

2019 
IFRS 

(audited) 

     

Other comprehensive income      

Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss:     

Currency translation differences, net of tax ...................  (16,709) 12,646 15,787 (3,934) 

Total .......................................................................    15,787 (3,934) 

Total comprehensive income ..................................  (5,065) 19,389 54,927 23,606 

10.5 Consolidated statement of income (NGAAP) 

The table below sets out data from the Company's consolidated audited statement of income for the years ended 31 
December 2019 and 2018, prepared in accordance with NGAAP. 

In NOK thousand 
Years ended 
31 December 

 2019 
NGAAP 

(audited) 

2018 
NGAAP 

(audited) 

Revenue from customers ............................................   155,351 74.956 

Total operating revenue .........................................   155,351 74,956 

   

Purchase of goods and services ...................................  19,397 14,970 

Payroll and related expenses .......................................  66,598 28,860 

Depreciation and amortization .....................................  33,498 14,564 

Other operating expenses ...........................................   27,356 9,213 

Total operating expenses .......................................   146,849 67,608 

   

Operating profit before financial items and tax ......  8,502 7,348 

Other interest income ................................................  547 818 
Other financial income ...............................................  2,260 1,178 
Other interest expenses .............................................  (9,167) (4,779) 
Other financial expenses.............................................  (756) (121) 

Financial income (expense), net .............................   (7,116) (2,904) 

Profit before tax .....................................................  1,386 4,444 

Tax expense .............................................................  4,666 3,824 

Profit (Loss) ...........................................................  (3,280) 620 

10.6 Consolidated statement of financial position (IFRS) 

The table below sets out data from the Company's unaudited consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 
2021, with comparable figures as at 31 March 2020, prepared in accordance with IFRS, and from the Company's audited 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, with comparable figures as at 31 December 2019, 
prepared in accordance with IFRS. 
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In NOK thousand 
As at 

31 March 
As at 

31 December 

 

2021 
IFRS 

(unaudited) 

2020 
IFRS 

(unaudited) 

2020 
IFRS 

(audited) 

2019 
IFRS 

(audited) 

Assets     

Deferred tax assets ....................................................  - 278 - 278 

Goodwill ...................................................................   408,581 363,115 421,900 347,786 

Intangible assets .......................................................  140,798 110,709 146,977 100,437 

Right to use assets ....................................................  15,426 19,742 17,111 16,589 

Tangible assets .........................................................  3,869 5,203 4,353 4,447 

Total non-current assets .........................................   568,674 499,047 590,341 469,537 

     

Inventory .................................................................  144 64 55 64 

Other current assets ..................................................  3,466 2,026 4,032 3,045 

Other current financial assets ......................................  - - 69 - 

Accounts receivable ...................................................  17,251 16,670 16,454 13,022 

Cash and cash equivalents ..........................................   123,768 88,298 79,902 39,971 

Total current assets ................................................  144,630 107,057 100,512 56,102 

     

Total assets ............................................................  713,304 606,104 690,853 525,639 

     

Equity and liabilities      

Share capital .............................................................  4,497 4,396 4,497 4,380 

Share premium .........................................................  244,193 229,045 244,193 227,752 

Retained earnings ......................................................  75,016 30,975 63,371 24,231 

Other components of equity ........................................  (4,857) 8,712 11,853 (3,934) 

Total equity ............................................................  318,849 273,128 323,914 252,429 

     
Non-current financial liabilities ....................................  169,318 152,587 171,339 151,151 

Non-current lease liabilities .........................................  9,229 13,852 10,728 11,601 

Deferred tax liabilities ................................................  26,729 22,487 28,993 20,551 

Total non-current liabilities ....................................  205,276 188,925 211,060 183,303 

Current portion of deferred revenue .............................  68,668 71,906 41,627 29,882 

Current portion of lease liabilities ................................  5,948 5,600 6,047 4,665 

Accounts payable.......................................................  3,471 2,973 5,567 3,306 

Taxes payable ...........................................................  10,305 3,541 8,053 3,000 

Other current financial liabilities ..................................  62,281 29,240 64,877 29,720 

Other current liabilities ...............................................  38,505 30,792 29,709 19,334 

Total current liabilities ...........................................  189,179 144,051 155,879 89,907 

     

Total liabilities ........................................................  394,455 332,976 366,939 273,210 

     

Total equity and liabilities ......................................  713,304 606,104 690,853 525,639 

10.7 Consolidated statement of financial position (NGAAP) 

The table below sets out data from the Company's audited consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 
2019 and 2018, prepared in accordance with NGAAP. 
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In NOK thousand 
As at 

31 December 

 

2019 
NGAAP 

(audited) 

2018 
NGAAP 

(audited) 

Assets   

Non-current assets .................................................  - - 

Research and development .........................................  5,354 1,200 

Concessions, patents, licenses, trademarks etc .............  58,374 66,277 

Goodwill ...................................................................  344,685 307,460 

Intangible assets ....................................................  408,412 374,937 

Tangible assets .........................................................  4,447 2,386 

Total non-current assets .........................................  412,859 377,323 

   

Inventory .................................................................  64 470 

Accounts receivables ..................................................  13,022 10,646 

Other receivables ......................................................  3,045 1,960 

Cash and cash equivalents ..........................................   39,971 28,579 

Total current assets ................................................  56,102 41,655 

   

Total assets ............................................................  468,961 418,978 

   

Equity and liabilities    

Share capital .............................................................  4,380 4,183 

Share premium .........................................................  227,752 216,378 

Non-registered capital increase ...................................  810 - 

Other components of equity ........................................  (12,846) (5,488) 

Total equity ............................................................  220,096 215,073 

   
Deferred tax liabilities ................................................  11,865 11,820 

Other provisions ........................................................  900 - 

Total allowances for liabilities ................................  12,765 11,820 

Non-current financial liabilities ....................................  100,675 129,235 

Other non-current liabilities ........................................  50,476 - 

    

Total non-current liabilities ....................................  151,151 129,235 

Current financial liabilities ...........................................  28,560 17,481 

Accounts payable.......................................................  3,306 8,814 

Taxes payable ...........................................................  3,000 3,189 

Public duty payable ....................................................  9,011 3,202 

Other current liabilities ...............................................  41,071 30,165 

Total current liabilities ...........................................  84,948 62,851 

   

Total liabilities ........................................................  248,865 203,905 

   

Total equity and liabilities ......................................  468,961 418,978 

10.8 Consolidated statement of cash flows (IFRS) 

The table below sets out data from the Company's unaudited consolidated statement of cash flows for the three months 
period ended 31 March 2021, with comparable figures for the three months period ended 31 March 2020, prepared in 
accordance with IFRS, and from the Company's audited consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 
December 2020, with comparable figures for the year ended 31 December 2019, prepared in accordance with IFRS. 
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In NOK thousand 
Three months ended  

31 March 
Year ended 

31 December 

 

2021 
IFRS 

(unaudited) 

2020 
IFRS 

(unaudited) 

2020 
IFRS 

(audited) 

2019 
IFRS 

(audited) 

Operating activities     

Profit before tax .................................................................  14,384 6,743 52,438 31,430 

Paid taxes .........................................................................  (989) (1,194) (7,258) (7,189) 

Depreciation ......................................................................  2,448 1,857 8,310 5,373 

Amortisation of intangible assets ..........................................  2,712 2,043 8,743 7,126 

Accrued interest expense ....................................................  349 (480) (385) 170 

Items classified as investing or financing activities .................  2,935 3,921 16,101 13,032 

     

Working capital adjustments: ..............................................      

     

Changes in accounts receivable ...........................................  (797) (3,648) 182 (50) 

Changes in deferred revenue ...............................................  27,041 42,024 11,745 3,171 

Changes in accounts payable ...............................................  66 (333) 1,728 (3,421) 

Changes in all other working capital items .............................  6,306 13,018 6,405 (3,150) 

Net cash provided from operating activities ....................  54,454 63,950 98,008 46,492 

     
Investing activities     
Investments in tangible and intangible assets ........................  - (808) (1,280) (3,131) 

Payment for acquisitions .....................................................  - - (69,101) 1 (49,462)2 

Acquisition transaction costs ................................................  - - (3,106) (2,870) 

Payments for software development costs .............................  (4,675) (3,225) (11,579) (8,493) 

Net cash used in investing activities ...............................  (4,675) (4,033) (85,066) (63,956) 

     
Financing activities      
Cash proceeds from capital increases ...................................  - 500 500 7,764 

Cash proceeds from loan facilities ........................................  - - 60,000 50,000 

Down-payment on loan facilities ..........................................  - (9,280) (14,280) (16,470) 

Interest payments ..............................................................  (1,679) (2,435) (7,751) (7,868) 

Repayments of other borrowings ..........................................  - - - (1,406) 

Repayments of lease liabilities .............................................  (1,255) (1,486) (5,244) (3,538) 

     

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities .........  (2,935) (12,701) 33,225 28,483 

     
     

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ....  46,844 47,216 46,167 11,018 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period .............  77,868 38,395 38,395 26,951 

Foreign currency effects on cash and cash equivalents ............  (2,700) 1,423 (6,694) 426 

     

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period ..............  122,013 87,034 77,868 38,395 

  
1 Additionally, TNOK 15,248 were issued as a seller credit and subsequently the sellers converted the note into equity obtaining 100,246 Shares 

with a total nominal value of TNOK 100 + share premium of TNOK 15,148. 
2 Additionally, TNOK 4,616 were issued as a seller credit and subsequently the sellers converted the note into equity obtaining 79,203 Shares 

with a total nominal value of TNOK 79 + share premium of TNOK 4,537. 

10.9 Consolidated statement of cash flows (NGAAP) 

The table below sets out data from the Company's audited consolidated statement of cash flows for the years ended 31 
December 2019 and 2018, prepared in accordance with NGAAP. 



SMARTCRAFT ASA - PROSPECTUS 

53 
 

In NOK thousand 
Year ended 

31 December 

 

2019 
NGAAP 

(audited) 

2018 
NGAAP 

(audited) 

Operating activities   

Profit before tax .................................................................  1,386 4,444 

Paid taxes .........................................................................  (7,189) (5,796) 

Depreciation and amortization .............................................  33,498 14,564 

Change in inventory ...........................................................  406 (229) 

Change in trade receivables ................................................  (2,376) (6,611) 

Change in accounts payable ................................................  (5,508) 7,491 

Changes in other current receivables/liabilities  .....................  16,185 5,781 

Effect from change in exchange rates ...................................  257 - 

Net cash provided from operating activities ....................  36,659 19,644 

   
Investing activities    
Payment for acquisition of tangible assets .............................  (3,131) (538) 

Payment for acquisition of shares .........................................  (61,486) (134,412) 

Payment for acquisition of intangible assets ..........................  (1,944) (1,200) 

Net cash used in investing activities ...............................  (66,561) (136,150) 

   
Financing activities    
Down-payment on loan facilities ..........................................  (16,470) (30,500) 
Cash proceeds from new non-current debt ............................  50,000 50,000 
Net change in cash credit ....................................................  - 415 
Cash proceeds from capital increases ...................................  7,764 84,558 
   

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities .........  41,294 104,473 

   
   

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ....  11,392 (12,032) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period .............  28,579 40,611 

   

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period ..............  39,971 28,579 

10.10 Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

The table below sets out data from the Company's unaudited consolidated statement of changes in equity for the three 
months period ended 31 March 2021, and from the Company's consolidated statement of changes in equity for the years 
ended 31 December 2020, 2019 and 2018, prepared in accordance with IFRS and NGAAP, respectively. 

In NOK thousand 
Share capital 

Share 
premium 

Other 
components 

of equity 

Retained 
earnings / 

Other equity Total equity 

Total equity 1 January 2018 (NGAAP) 2,501 122,518 - (5,118) 119,902 

Profit / (-) loss for the period ...................................  - - - 620 620 

Capital increases 01.01 ...........................................  1,682 93,860 - - 95,542 

Corrections ............................................................  - - - (991) (991) 

Total equity 31 December 2018 (NGAAP) ............  4,183 216,378 - (5,488) 215,073 

Adjustments from NGAAP to IFRS .............................  - - - 2,179 2,179 

Total equity 1 January 2019 (IFRS) .....................  4,183 216,378 - (3,309) 217,252 

Profit / (-) loss for the period ...................................  - - - 27,540 27,540 

Other comprehensive income ...................................  - - (3,934) - (3,934) 
Capital increase 2019.03.20 .....................................  20 1,151 - - 1,170 



SMARTCRAFT ASA - PROSPECTUS 

54 
 

In NOK thousand 
Share capital 

Share 
premium 

Other 
components 

of equity 

Retained 
earnings / 

Other equity Total equity 

Capital increase 2019.05.08 .....................................  165 9,452 - - 9,617 

Capital increase 2019.07.11 .....................................  12 772 - - 784 

      

Total equity 31 December 2019 (IFRS) ...............  4,380 227,752 (3,934) 24,231 252,429 

Profit / (-) loss for the period ...................................  - - - 39,140 39,140 

Other comprehensive income ...................................  - - 15,787 - 15,787 
      

Capital increase 2020.01.22 .....................................  10 800 - - 810 

Capital increase 2020.03.02 .....................................  7 494 - - 500 

Capital increase 2020.12.30 .....................................  100 15,147 - - 15,248 

Total equity 31 December 2020 (IFRS) ...............  4,497 244,193 11,853 63,371 323,914 

Profit / (-) loss for the period ...................................  - - - 11,644 11,644 
Other comprehensive income ...................................  - - (16,709) - (16,709) 
Total equity 31 March 2021 (IFRS) .......................  4,497 244,193 (4,857) 75,016 318,849 

10.11 Segment information 

10.11.1 Introduction 

This section sets out an overview of the Group's total revenue and other income divided into the Group's reporting 
segments (i) specialized construction and (ii) general construction for the financial years ended 31 December 2020 and 
2019, and for the three months periods ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. The Group implemented the segment reporting 
in connection with the conversion to IFRS reporting with effect 1 January 2019. Consequently, no comparable numbers 
are available for the financial year ended 31 December 2018. An overview of revenue based on geography is also 
presented, where comparable numbers also for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 are included. 

10.11.2 Segment information 

The table below sets out revenue and EBITDA generated based on reporting segments for the three months periods 
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 and for the financial years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, derived from the Interim 
Financial Statements and from the IFRS Financial Statements. 

In NOK thousand 
Three months ended  

31 March 
Year ended 

31 December 

 

2021 
IFRS 

(unaudited) 

2020 
IFRS 

(unaudited) 

2020  
IFRS 

(audited) 

2019 
IFRS 

(audited) 

Revenue     
Specialized construction .......................  30,781 27,864 114,031 96,836 
General construction ...........................  28,536 17,368 81,910 56,865 

Total revenue ...................................  59,317 45,233 195,941 153,701 

EBITDA     
Specialized construction .......................  16,391 12,878 54,516 43,021 
General construction ...........................  9,903 4,152 30,035 17,147 

Total EBITDA ....................................  26,294 17,030 84,551 60,169 

10.11.3 Geographic information 

The table below sets out the revenue generated based on geography for the financial years ended 31 December 2020, 
2019 and 2018, derived from the Financial Statements. 
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In NOK thousand 
Year ended 

31 December 

 

2020  
IFRS 

(audited) 

2019 
IFRS 

(audited) 

2018 
NGAAP 

 (audited) 

Norway .................................................................................  85,831 79,479 74,956 

Sweden ................................................................................  107,728 74,222 - 

Finland .................................................................................  2,382 - - 

Total ...................................................................................  195,941 153,701 74,956 
 

 

 



SMARTCRAFT ASA - PROSPECTUS 

56 
 

11 OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW  

This operating and financial review should be read together with Section 4 "General information", Section 8 "Business 
of the Group", Section 10 "Selected financial and other information" and the Financial Information and related notes 
included in Appendix B and C of this Prospectus. The tables containing figures in this Section are extracted from the 
selected financial information from the financial statements stated in Section 10 "Selected financial and other 
information" above. 

The operating and financial review contains forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are not 
historical facts, but are rather based on the Company's current expectations, estimates, assumptions and projections 
about the Group's industry, business and future financial results. Actual results could differ materially from the results 
contemplated by these Forward-looking Statements because of several factors, including those discussed in Section 2 
"Risk factors" and Section 4.3 "Cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements", as well as other Sections of this 
Prospectus. 

11.1 Overview 

SmartCraft is a leading42 Nordic provider of mission-critical software as a service (SaaS) to the construction industry. 
SmartCraft is headquartered in Ålesund, Norway, with offices in Norway, Sweden and Finland. The Company, and 
consequently the Group, was founded 6 January 2017, and went under the name "Cordel Norden AS" until 8 February 
2021, when the shareholders of the Company resolved to change the name of the Company to "SmartCraft AS". As at 
31 December 2020 the Group had 146 employees across Norway, Sweden and Finland, and approximately 8,900 
customers.  

Since its creation, the Group has expanded its business both organically and through acquisitions. For further information 
on the recent acquisitions made by the Group see Section 11.3 "Key factors affecting the Group's result of operations 
and financial performance" and Section 11.8.1 "Principal historical investments". These acquisitions increased 
SmartCraft's market position, financial strength and operational capability. 

11.2 Reporting segments 

For financial purposes the Group has divided its business into two reporting segments. The operating units that form a 
natural reporting segment are:  

• Specialized construction. Specialized construction includes customers that provide specialized services within 
the construction industry, e.g. electricians, plumbers, etc.; and  

• General construction. General construction includes customers in the construction industry providing services 
not defined as specialized services. 

The Group implemented the segment reporting in connection with the conversion to IFRS reporting with effect from 1 
January 2019.  

11.3 Key factors affecting the Group's result of operations and financial performance 

The Group's operations and results of operations have been, and may continue to be, affected by a range of factors, 
including in particular: 

• Acquisitions: During 2017 – 2021, the Group has made in total six business acquisitions, including the 
acquisition of Bransjedata (2017), Bygglet (2018), El-info (2019) Rørweb (2019), Congrid (2020) and 
Homerun (2021). These successful acquisitions have had a substantial impact on the Group's result and 
financial performance and contributed to a large degree to the Group's growth. In addition to the Group's 
strategy of organic growth, the Group has a strategy to grow further through acquisitions to become a leader 
in its field of service offerings in the north-western part of Europe. Whether the Group will succeed in acquiring 
future businesses will affect the Company's result of operations and financial performance. 

• Trends within the software industry: Trends within the software industry can affect the overall level of 
demand for IT services and, accordingly, have an effect on the Group's sales. As technology has developed 
and become more sophisticated, there has been an increasing desire to incorporate software and IT within 
almost all business processes within all industries and this has increased demand for the types of services and 

 
42 Company estimates. 
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solutions the Group offers. At the same time, the Group operates in one of the least digitalized industries, and 
trends specifically related to the construction industry and these customers' willingness to acquire software 
services will have an impact on the Group's result of operations and financial performance.  

• Scalability: The scalability of the business of the Group is expected to have an effect on the Group's future 
profitability. The Group incurs only marginal costs to add new users. As a consequence, the revenue generated 
by each new paid subscription is largely converted to financial profit. Most of the Group's SaaS offerings are 
highly scalable, however, the SaaS offered by Bygglet AB is currently being upgraded to provide further long-
term scalability. The Group's ability to continuously be set for scaling of its business in such a way that the 
costs of adding new users are continued to be held at a minimum will have an impact on the Group's future 
profitability and financial performance.  

• Foreign currency effects: The Group operates within, and generates a substantial portion of its revenue 
from, other jurisdictions than Norway using currencies such as SEK and EUR. The Group does not hedge 
against foreign currency exposure. For the year ended 31 December 2020 more than 50% of the Group's 
revenue were generated from currencies other than NOK. Based on exposure throughout the year and 
balances at the period-end, the Group assess that fluctuations in NOK/SEK and NOK/EUR have had significant 
impact on the financial reporting of financial assets and liabilities. In addition, changes in the exchange rates 
between these currencies can also affect the Group's operations and financial position as a result of translation 
exchange rate effects. These effects arise because the financial results of the Group's subsidiaries are 
measured in the currency of the primary economic environment in which each subsidiary operates (its function 
currency). This effect is apparent by looking at the IFRS Financial Statements. For the financial year ended 
2020 currency translation differences net of tax amounted to 15,787 thousand compared to -3,934 thousand 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2019. 

• Supplier-cost variations: The Group relies on a limited number of suppliers for key elements of its 
operations. These suppliers are global vendors who to a large extent control the price and terms on which 
their services are offered. The global vendors have historically increased the pricing of their platforms when 
the development of the platforms has been advanced, with a high switching cost for their customers. For 
example, in 2021 Microsoft increased the price of the services provided to the Group by a significant amount. 
Any variations in the prices from the suppliers of the Group affect the Group's result of operations and financial 
impact. 

• General economic conditions: The level of IT spending by the Group's existing and potential customers is 
influenced by general economic conditions in the countries in which the Group operates. As many of the 
Group's customers are Nordic companies, economic conditions in the Nordics may affect the demand for the 
Group's solutions and services and the pricing it is able to agree on in respect of its contracts. Volatile, negative 
or uncertain economic conditions in the Group's customers' markets, for example a decline in the rate of 
construction of new houses and buildings or renovation projects, could undermine business confidence and 
cause the customers to experience financial difficulties which may result in an increased Churn Rate or putting 
pressure on the Group's pricing. 

• Growth of the construction industry SaaS market and demand for the Group's services: The demand 
for the Group's services is primarily driven by (i) the growth in number of customers using the Group's services 
including the Group's ability to retain existing customers and win new customer accounts and expand their 
use of the full range of software solutions offered by the Group, as well as (ii) the roll-out of new solutions. 
The Group's business and results of operations will depend on its ability to grow its business with existing 
customers and to continue to gain new customers. The Group believes it has a strong track record in retaining 
existing customers demonstrated by a 6% Churn Rate in 2020 and in gaining new customers demonstrated 
by an increase of customers by 10% year-over-year from 8,100 for the year ended 31 December 2019 to 
8,900 for the year ended 31 December 2020. 

• Continuous improvement of SmartCraft's offering: The Group believes that the quality of its offerings is 
an integral driver of its financial performance. The continuous improvement and expansion of the Group's 
offerings encourages new customers to subscribe and existing customers to remain as subscribers and 
potentially upgrading their subscriptions. The Group is constantly improving existing and developing new 
solutions in order to grow its user base. The Group continuously assesses options to expand and enhance its 
services either through own development, partnering with companies or through acquisitions. 
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11.4 Recent developments and trends 

Except as set out in Section 11.12 "Significant changes", the Group has not experienced nor does it have any information 
about significant changes compared to historical trends in production, sales, costs and selling prices, uncertainties, 
demands, commitments or events that are likely to have a material effect on the Group's prospects for the current 
financial year. Except for the information provided in Section 11.12 "Significant changes", the Group has not experienced 
any significant changes in the financial performance of the Group since 31 March 2021 and until the date of this 
Prospectus. 

11.5 Financial review of the Group's results of operations 

11.5.1 Results of operations for the three months period ended 31 March 2021 compared to the three months 
period ended 31 March 2020 

The table below summarises data of the Company's historical results of operations, and is extracted from the Company's 
unaudited consolidated Interim Financial Statements for the three months period ended 31 March 2021 with comparable 
figures for the three months period ended 31 March 2020. 

In NOK thousand 
Period ended 

31 March 

 2021 
IFRS 

2020 
IFRS 

Revenue from customers .................................................    59,317 45,233 

Total operating revenue ..............................................  59,317 45,233 

   

Purchase of goods and services ........................................  5,054 4,148 

Payroll and related expenses ............................................  24,031 18,988 

Other operating expenses ................................................  6,290 6,314 

Depreciation and amortization ..........................................  5,160 3,900 

Total operating expenses ............................................  40,535 33,350 

   

Operating profit (loss) before financial items and tax .  18,783 11,883 

Financial income .............................................................  2,943 4,386 

Financial expenses ..........................................................  (7,342) (7,869) 

Financial income (expense), net ..................................  (4,399) (3,483) 

Profit (loss) before tax ................................................  14,384 8,400 

Tax expense ..................................................................  2,740 1,657 

Profit (Loss) ................................................................  11,644 6,743 

11.5.1.1 Total operating revenue 

Total operating revenue for the three months period ended 31 March 2021 was NOK 59,317 thousand compared to NOK 
45,233 thousand for the three months period ended 31 March 2020, an increase of NOK 14,085 thousand, or 31.1%. 
The increase was primarily attributable to organic growth and acquisition. 

The Group acquired Congrid Oy in December 2020, increasing its recurring revenue base. In addition to the acquisition 
the Group had an organic growth of 16,8% driven by continuous new sales and upsell to existing customers, together 
with stable revenue from existing customers and low Churn Rate. 

11.5.1.2 Total operating expenses 

Total operating expenses for the three months period ended 31 March 2021 was NOK 40,535 thousand compared to 
NOK 33,350 thousand for the three months period ended 31 March 2020, an increase of NOK 7,185 thousand, or 21.5%. 
The increase was primarily attributable to investment in personnel and acquisition.  

In addition to the acquisition of Congrid Oy, in 2020 the Group invested in personnel in both development, operations 
and sales increasing its cost base for 2021. 
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11.5.1.3 Operating profit (loss) before financial items and tax 

Operating profit (loss) before financial items and tax for the three months period ended 31 March 2021 was NOK 18,783 
thousand compared to NOK 11,883 thousand for the three months period ended 31 March 2020, an increase of NOK 
6,900 thousand, or 58.1%. The increase was primarily attributable to the reasons described above. 

11.5.1.4 Net financial expense 

Net financial expense for the three months period ended 31 March 2021 was NOK 4,399 thousand compared to NOK 
3,483 thousand for the three months period ended 31 March 2020, an increase of NOK 916 thousand, or 26.3%. The 
increase was primarily attributable to the Group increasing its loan facility in November 2020 in relation with the 
acquisition of Congrid Oy. 

11.5.1.5 Tax expense 

Tax expense for the three months period ended 31 March 2021 was NOK 2,740 thousand compared to NOK 1,657 
thousand for the three months period ended 31 March 2020, an increase of NOK 1,083 thousand, or 65.4%. The increase 
was primarily attributable to the Group’s increased profit before tax increasing tax payables. 

11.5.1.6 Profit (Loss) 

As a result of the factors described above, the profit (loss) for the three months period ended 31 March 2021 was NOK 
11,644 thousand compared to NOK 6,743 thousand for the three months period ended 31 March 2020, an increase of 
NOK 4,901 thousand, or 72.7%. 

11.5.2 Results of operations for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 compared to the financial year ended 
31 December 2019 

The table below summarises data of the Group's historical results of operations, and is extracted from the Company's 
audited consolidated Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2020, with comparable figures for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2019. 

In NOK thousand 
Year ended 

31 December 

 2020 
IFRS 

2019 
IFRS 

Revenue from customers ....................................................   195,941 153,701 

Total operating revenue .................................................  195,941 153,701 

   

Purchase of goods and services ...........................................  19,523 19,167 

Payroll and related expenses ...............................................  74,559 60,616 

Other operating expenses ...................................................  25,197 22,333 

Depreciation and amortization .............................................  17,053 12,500 

Total operating expenses ...............................................  136,331 114,615 

   

Operating profit before financial items and tax ..............  59,610 39,085 

Financial income ................................................................  8,029 2,808 

Financial expenses .............................................................  (15,201) (10,463) 

Financial expense, net ....................................................  (7,172) (7,656) 

Profit before tax .............................................................  52,438 31,430 

Tax expense .....................................................................  13,298 3,889 

Profit ..............................................................................  39,140 27,540 

11.5.2.1 Total operating revenue 

Total operating revenue for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 was NOK 195,941 thousand compared to NOK 
153,701 thousand for the financial year ended 31 December 2019, an increase of NOK 42,240 thousand, or 27.5%. The 
increase was primarily attributable to organic growth, the full year effect of the acquisition of the EL-Info Group in April 
2019 and the acquisition of Congrid Oy in December 2020. 
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The organic growth was driven by sales and marketing, together with stable revenue from existing customers and low 
Churn Rate. In 2020, the Group adjusted its pricing and the price model for the EL-VIS solution. In addition, the changes 
in the NOK/SEK exchange rate further increased revenue growth. 

11.5.2.2 Total operating expenses 

Total operating expenses for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 was NOK 136,331 thousand compared to NOK 
114,615 thousand for the financial year ended 31 December 2019, an increase of NOK 21,716 thousand, or 18.9%. The 
increase was primarily attributable to increased payroll expenses, acquisitions and the changes in the NOK/SEK exchange 
rate. 

In both 2019 and 2020 the Group increased the number of employees in development, operations, and sales. The 
increase in payroll expenses is mainly due to the full year effects of employments in 2019 in addition to the employments 
in 2020. 

Depreciation and amortization increased as the Group capitalized research and development expenses, and increased 
value of intangible assets through acquisitions. 

With the acquisitions of new companies in 2019 and 2020, the Group's cost base increased, clearly visible in all expense 
categories. The significant fluctuations in the NOK affected the expenses further. 

11.5.2.3 Operating profit before financial items and tax 

Operating profit before financial items and tax for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 was NOK 59,610 thousand 
compared to NOK 39,085 thousand for the financial year ended 31 December 2019, an increase of NOK 20,525 thousand, 
or 52.5%. The increase was primarily attributable to the reasons described above. 

11.5.2.4 Net financial expense 

Net financial expense for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 was NOK 15,201 thousand compared to NOK 
10,463 thousand for the financial year ended 31 December 2019, a decrease of NOK 4,738 thousand, or 45.3%. The 
decrease was primarily attributable to the reduction in interest rate on the Group's loan facilities with basis in NIBOR. 

11.5.2.5 Tax expense 

Tax expense for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 was NOK 13,298 compared to NOK 3,889 thousand for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2019, an increase of NOK 9,409 thousand, or 241.9%. The increase was primarily 
attributable to deferred tax relating to identified intangible assets in acquisitions and the Group's increased profit before 
tax increasing tax payables. 

11.5.2.6 Profit 

As a result of the factors described above, the profit for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 was NOK 39,140 
thousand compared to NOK 27,540 thousand for the financial year ended 31 December 2019, an increase of NOK 11,600 
thousand, or 42.1%. 

11.5.3 Results of operations for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 compared to the financial year ended 
31 December 2018 

The table below summarises data of the Group's historical results of operations, and is extracted from the Company's 
audited consolidated Financial Statements for the financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. 

In NOK thousand 
Year ended  

31 December 

 2019 
NGAAP 

2018 
NGAAP 

Revenue from customers .................................................   155,351 74.956 

Total operating revenue ..............................................  155,351 74,956 

   

Purchase of goods and services ........................................  19,397 14,970 

Payroll and related expenses ............................................  66,598 28,860 

Depreciation and amortization ..........................................  33,498 14,564 
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In NOK thousand 
Year ended  

31 December 

 2019 
NGAAP 

2018 
NGAAP 

Other operating expenses ................................................  27,356 9,213 

Total operating expenses ............................................  146,849 67,608 

   

Operating profit before financial items and tax ...........  8,502 7,348 

Financial expense, net .................................................  (7,116) (2,904) 

Profit before tax ..........................................................  1,386 4,444 

Tax expense ..................................................................  4,666 3,824 

Profit (Loss) ................................................................  (3,280) 620 

11.5.3.1 Total operating revenue 

Total operating revenue for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 was NOK 155,351 thousand compared to NOK 
74,956 thousand for the financial year ended 31 December 2018, an increase of NOK 80,395 thousand, or 107.3%. The 
increase was primarily attributable to the acquisition of the Bygglet Group and the EL-Info Group. 

The Bygglet Group was acquired 31 December 2018, and did not contribute to the Group's revenue in 2018. The EL-Info 
Group was acquired 1 April 2019, and contributed to the Group's revenue for the remaining nine months of the year. 

Organic growth was driven by continued sales efforts, together with stable revenue from existing customers and low 
Churn Rate. 

11.5.3.2 Total operating expenses 

Total operating expenses for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 was NOK 146,849 thousand compared to NOK 
67,608 thousand for the financial year ended 31 December 2018, an increase of NOK 79,241 thousand, or 117.2%. The 
increase was primarily attributable to increased payroll expenses, and acquisitions. 

The Group acquired the Bygglet Group 31 December 2018 and the EL-Info Group 1 April 2019. The increase in payroll 
expenses and other operating expenses is mainly due to the acquisitions. In addition the Group increased the number 
of employees in development, operations, and sales, increasing payroll expenses further. 

Depreciation and amortization increased in relation to the acquisitions of the Bygglet Group and the EL-Info Group. 

11.5.3.3 Operating profit before financial items and tax 

Operating profit before financial items and tax for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 was NOK 8,502 thousand 
compared to NOK 7,348 thousand for the financial year ended 31 December 2018, an increase of NOK 1,154 thousand, 
or 15.7%. The increase was primarily attributable to the reasons above. 

11.5.3.4 Net financial expense 

Net financial expense for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 was NOK 7,116 thousand compared to NOK 2,904 
thousand for the financial year ended 31 December 2018, an increase of NOK 4,212 thousand, or 145%. The increase 
was primarily attributable to the increase of interest expense on loan facilities, and the changes in the NOK/SEK exchange 
rate.  

In relation to the acquisition of the Bygglet Group in December 2018 and the acquisition of the EL-Info Group in April 
2019, SmartCraft increased its loan facilities by NOK 100,000 thousand. 

11.5.3.5 Tax expense 

Tax expense for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 was NOK 4,666 thousand compared to NOK 3,824 thousand 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2018, an increase of NOK 842 thousand, or 22%. The increase was primarily 
attributable to the increase in taxable profit. 
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11.5.3.6 Profit (Loss) 

As a result of the factors described above, the loss for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 was NOK3,280 
thousand compared to a profit of NOK 620 thousand for the financial year ended 31 December 2018, a decrease of NOK 
3,900 thousand. 

11.6 Financial review of the Group's financial position 

11.6.1 Financial position as at 31 March 2021 compared to 31 December 2020 

The table below summarises data of the Group's historical financial position, and is extracted from the Company's 
unaudited consolidated Interim Financial Statements for the three months period ended 31 March 2021 and the audited 
consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020. 

 
In NOK thousand 

As at 31 March  
2021 
IFRS 

As at 31  
December 2020 

IFRS 

Total non-current assets ..................................................  568,674 590,341 
Total current assets ........................................................  144,630 100,512 
Total assets ...................................................................  713,304 690,853 
Total equity ...................................................................  318,849 323,914  
Total non-current liabilities ..............................................  205,276 211,060 
Total current liabilities .....................................................  189,179 155,879 
Total liabilities ................................................................  394,455 366,939 
Total equity and liabilities ................................................  713,304 690,853 

11.6.1.1 Total non-current assets 

Total non-current assets as at 31 March 2021 was NOK 568,674 thousand compared to NOK 590,341 thousand as at 31 
December 2020, a decrease of NOK 21,667 thousand, or 3.7%. The decrease was primarily attributable to the change 
in the NOK/SEK and NOK/EUR currency rates. As at 31 December 2020 the NOK/SEK rate was 1,0435 and the NOK/EUR 
rate was 10,4703. As at 31 March 2021 the NOK/SEK rate was 0,9763 and the NOK/EUR rate was 9,9975.  

11.6.1.2 Total current assets 

Total current assets as at 31 March 2021 was NOK 144,630 thousand compared to NOK 100,512 thousand as at 31 
December 2020, an increase of NOK 44,118 thousand, or 44%. The increase was primarily attributable to the up-front 
payment of subscriptions, increasing cash. Most of the Group’s revenue from the on-premise solutions has renewal in 
January. The on-premise revenue is continuously migrated to a SaaS solution, distributing the renewals through the 
year and evening out the cash flow.  

11.6.1.3 Total assets 

Total assets as at 31 March 2021 was NOK 713,304 thousand compared to NOK 690,853 thousand at 31 December 
2020, an increase of NOK 22,451 million, or 3.2%. The increase was primarily attributable to the factors above.  

11.6.1.4 Total equity 

Total equity as at 31 March 2021 was NOK 318,824 thousand compared to NOK 323,914 thousand as at 31 December 
2020, a decrease of NOK 5,484 thousand, or 1.60%. The decrease was primarily attributable to a decrease in the Group’s 
profit and the changes in currency rates.  

11.6.1.5 Total non-current liabilities 

Total non-current liabilities as at 31 March 2021 was NOK 205,576 thousand compared to NOK 211,060 thousand as at 
31 December 2020, a decrease of NOK 5,065 thousand, or 2.60%. The decrease was primarily attributable to the 
changes in currency rates.  

11.6.1.6 Total current liabilities 

Total current liabilities as at 31 March 2021 was NOK 189,179 thousand compared to NOK 155,879 thousand as at 31 
December 2020, an increase of NOK 33,300 thousand, or 21.4%. The increase was primarily attributable to increased 
deferred revenue and increased VAT liability, both relating to the invoiced 12-month subscription in January.  

11.6.1.7 Total liabilities 

Total liabilities as at 31 March 2021 was NOK 394,455 thousand compared to NOK 366,939 thousand as at 31 December 
2020, an increase of NOK 27,516 thousand, or 7.5%. The increase was primarily attributable to the factors above.  
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11.6.1.8 Total equity and liabilities 

The total equity and liabilities as at 31 March 2021 was NOK 713,304 thousand compared to NOK 690,853 thousand as 
at 31 December 2020, an increase of NOK 22,451 thousand, or 3.2%. The increase was primarily attributable to the 
factors above.  

11.6.2 Financial position as at 31 December 2020 compared to 31 December 2019 

The table below summarises data of the Group's historical financial position, and is extracted from the Company's audited 
consolidated Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2020, with comparable figures for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2019. 

In NOK 1,000 
As at  

31 December 

 2020 
IFRS 

2019 
IFRS 

Total non-current assets ..................................................  590,341 469,537 
Total current assets ........................................................  100,512 56,102 
Total assets ...................................................................  690,853 525,639 
Total equity ...................................................................  323,914  252,429 
Total non-current liabilities ..............................................  211,060 183,303  
Total current liabilities .....................................................  155,879 89,907 
Total liabilities ................................................................  366,939 273,210 
Total equity and liabilities ................................................  690,853 525,639 

11.6.2.1 Total non-current assets 

Total non-current assets as at 31 December 2020 was NOK 590,341 thousand compared to NOK 469,537 thousand as 
at 31 December 2019, an increase of NOK 120,804 thousand, or 25.7%. The increase was primarily attributable to 
goodwill and other intangible assets in relation to the acquisition of Congrid Oy, the capitalization of research and 
development expenses, and the change in NOK/SEK exchange rate. 

11.6.2.2 Total current assets 

Total current assets as at 31 December 2020 was NOK 100,512 thousand compared to NOK 56,102 thousand as at 31 
December 2019, an increase of NOK 44,410 thousand, or 79.2%. The increase was primarily attributable to cash 
generated from operating activities. 

In 2020, net cash generated from operating activities was NOK 98,008 thousand. This was partially used for the 
acquisition of Congrid Oy. 

11.6.2.3 Total assets 

Total assets as at 31 December 2020 was NOK 690,853 thousand compared to NOK 525,639 as at 31 December 2019, 
an increase of NOK 165,214 thousand, or 31.4%. The increase was primarily attributable to the factors above. 

11.6.2.4 Total equity 

Total equity as at 31 December 2020 was NOK 323,914 compared to NOK 252,429 thousand as at 31 December 2019, 
an increase of NOK 71,485 thousand, or 28.3%. The increase was primarily attributable to capital increases, retained 
profit, and the change in the NOK/SEK exchange rate. 

The parent company of the Group completed two share capital increases towards key employees, and one share capital 
increase in relation to the acquisition of Congrid Oy. 

11.6.2.5 Total non-current liabilities 

Total non-current liabilities as at 31 December 2020 was NOK 211,060 thousand compared to NOK 183,303 thousand 
as at 31 December 2019, an increase of NOK 27,757 thousand, or 15.1%. The increase was primarily attributable to the 
acquisition of Congrid Oy. 

In relation to the acquisition of Congrid Oy, the Group increased its non-current loan facility as partial payment for the 
shares. In addition, based on the identified value of intangible assets, deferred tax liability increased. 
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11.6.2.6 Total current liabilities 

Total current liabilities as at 31 December 2020 was NOK 155,879 thousand compared to NOK 89,907 thousand as at 
31 December 2019, an increase of NOK 65,972 thousand, or 73.4%. The increase was primarily attributable to the 
acquisition of Congrid Oy, and effects from operating activities. 

The Group increased current loan facilities as main payment for the shares in Congrid Oy. 

As the Group issues invoices in advance for intervals between 1 month and 12 months, deferred revenue is increasing 
with revenue growth. In connection with operating activities, liabilities as accounts payable, VAT and social security, and 
accrued holiday pay, are all increasing. In addition, the acquisition of Congrid Oy increased current liabilities further. 

11.6.2.7 Total liabilities 

Total liabilities as at 31 December 2020 was NOK 366,939 thousand compared to NOK 273,210 thousand as at 31 
December 2019, a decrease of NOK 93,729 thousand, or 34.3%. The decrease was primarily attributable to the factors 
above. 

11.6.2.8 Total equity and liabilities 

Total equity and liabilities as at 31 December 2020 was NOK 690,853 thousand compared to NOK 525,639 thousand as 
at 31 December 2019, an increase of NOK 165,214 thousand, or 31.4%. The increase was primarily attributable to the 
factors above. 

11.6.3 Financial position as at 31 December 2019 compared to 31 December 2018 

The table below summarises data of the Group's historical financial position, and is extracted from the Company's audited 
consolidated Financial Statements for the financial years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. 

In NOK thousand 
As at 

31 December 

 2019 
NGAAP 

2018 
NGAAP 

Total non-current assets ...............................................  412,859 377,323 

Total current assets .....................................................  56,102 41,655 

Total assets ................................................................  468,961 418,978 

Total equity ................................................................  220,096 215,073 

Total non-current liabilities ...........................................  163,916 141,054 

Total current liabilities ..................................................  84,948 62,851 

Total liabilities .............................................................  248,864 203,905 

Total equity and liabilities .............................................  468,961 418,978 

11.6.3.1 Total non-current assets 

Total non-current assets as at 31 December 2019 was NOK 412,859 thousand compared to NOK 377,323 thousand as 
at 31 December 2018, an increase of NOK 35,536 thousand, or 9.4%. The increase was primarily attributable to an 
increase of goodwill in relation to the acquisition of the EL-Info Group, and capitalization of research and development 
expenses.  

11.6.3.2 Total current assets 

Total current assets as at 31 December 2019 was NOK 56,102 thousand compared to NOK 41,655 thousand as at 31 
December 2018, an increase of NOK 14,447 thousand, or 34.7%. The increase was primarily attributable to the 
acquisition of the EL-Info Group, holding a large amount of cash at hand and account receivables. 

11.6.3.3 Total assets 

Total assets as at 31 December 2019 was NOK 468,961 thousand compared to NOK 418,978 thousand as at 31 December 
2018, an increase of NOK 49,982 thousand, or 11.9%. The increase was primarily attributable to the factors above 



SMARTCRAFT ASA - PROSPECTUS 

65 
 

11.6.3.4 Total equity 

Total equity as at 31 December 2019 was NOK 220,096 thousand compared to NOK 215,073 thousand as at 31 December 
2018, an increase of NOK 5,023 thousand, or 2.3%. The increase was primarily attributable to share capital increases 
and profit. 

The parent company of the Group completed two share capital increases towards key employees, and one share capital 
increase in relation to the acquisition of the EL-Info Group. 

11.6.3.5 Total non-current liabilities 

Total non-current liabilities as at 31 December 2019 was NOK 163,916 thousand compared to NOK 141,054 thousand 
as at 31 December 2018, an increase of NOK 22,862 thousand, or 16.2%. The increase was primarily attributable to the 
acquisition of the EL-Info Group. 

In relation to the acquisition of the EL-Info Group, the Group increased its non-current loan facility as main payment for 
the shares. 

The non-current loan facilities were reduced as a greater amount was to be repaid the next 12 months. 

11.6.3.6 Total current liabilities 

Total current liabilities as at 31 December 2019 was NOK 84,948 thousand compared to NOK 62,851 thousand as at 31 
December 2018, an increase of NOK 22,097 thousand, or 35.2%. The increase was primarily attributable to the 
acquisition of Congrid Oy, and effects from operating activities. 

The Group increased current loan facilities as a greater amount was to be repaid the next 12 months. 

As the Group issues invoices in advance for intervals between 1 month and 12 months, deferred revenue is increasing 
with revenue growth. In connection with operating activities, liabilities as accounts payable, VAT and social security, and 
accrued holiday pay, are all increasing. In addition, the acquisition of the EL-Info Group increased current liabilities 
further. 

11.6.3.7 Total liabilities 

Total liabilities as at 31 December 2019 was NOK 248,864 thousand compared to NOK 203,905 thousand as at 31 
December 2018, an increase of NOK 44,959 thousand, or 22.1%. The increase was primarily attributable to the factors 
above. 

11.6.3.8 Total equity and liabilities 

Total equity and liabilities as at 31 December 2019 was NOK 468,961 thousand compared to NOK 418,978 thousand as 
at 31 December 2018, an increase of NOK 49,983 thousand, or 11.9%. The increase was primarily attributable to the 
factors above. 

11.7 Liquidity and capital resources 

11.7.1 Sources and use of cash 

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of NOK 123,768 thousand available, compared to NOK 
88,298 thousand available as at 31 March 2020. The Group's primary source of liquidity is cash flow from operating 
activities, as well as available funding under bank borrowings. The Group's liquidity requirements are primarily driven 
by the Group's strategy to expand and improve the Group's offerings (including costs and investments related to 
acquisitions), working capital requirements, operating expenses and capital expenditures. The Group's expected liquidity 
needs for the 12 months following the date of this Prospectus primarily relate to these factors as the Group currently 
does not have any material investments in progress or any firm commitments in respect of any material investments 
(see Section 11.8.2 "Principal investments in progress and planned principal investments"). Although the Group's future 
financing requirements will depend on a number of factors, many of which are not foreseeable, the Group believes that 
its cash from operations and borrowing capacity will be sufficient to meet its requirements for the foreseeable future to 
fund its organic growth. 

The Group aims to fund its operations mainly through cash flow from operating activities, supplemented by borrowings 
to the extent needed. The Group also has a credit facility (line of credit) available to accommodate short-term financing 
requirements if needed. Management identifies, evaluates and manages the Group's financial risks in cooperation and 
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consultation with the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors provides guidance in respect of overall risk management, 
as well as policies regarding liquidity and credit risks. See also Section 11.11 "Financial risk management" for further 
information regarding the Group's financial risk management, including liquidity risks. 

The Group's ability to generate cash from its operations depends on its future performance, which in turn is dependent 
on numerous factors, such as, but not limited to, the number of customers and users, the Churn Rate, the ability to 
secure new customers, and other relevant factors, some of which are outside the Group's control. See Section 2 "Risk 
factors" for more information about the Group's risk profile and aspects of the Group's operations which may affect its 
ability to generate cash from its operations, or the level of cash generated. In this regard, other than certain management 
services invoiced by the Company to its subsidiaries, the Company can be viewed as a holding company with no activities 
of its own that directly generate operating income. As such, the Company is dependent on its capital raising ability and 
dividend payments from its operative subsidiaries to generate cash. 

The Group holds its cash in NOK, SEK and EUR. The Group does not use financial instruments for hedging purposes. 

11.7.2 Cash flows 

The table below summarises data of the Group's historical cash flow, and is extracted from the Company's unaudited 
consolidated Interim Financial Statements for the three months periods ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 and the 
Company's audited consolidated Financial Statements for the financial years ended 31 December 2020, 2019 and 2018. 

In NOK thousand 
Three months ended 

31 March 

As at 

31 December 

 

2021 

IFRS 

2020 

IFRS 

2020 

IFRS 

2019 

IFRS 

2019 

NGAAP 

2018 

NGAAP 

Net cash generated by operating activities ...  54,454 63,950 98,008 46,492 36,659 19,644 

Net cash used in investing activities ............  (4,675) (4,033) (85,066) (63,956) (66,561) (136,150) 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing 
activities..................................................  

(2,935) (12,701) 33,225 28,483 41,294 104,473 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents .....  46,844 47,216 46,167 11,018 11,392 (12,032) 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period1 .  122,013 87,034 77,868 38,359 39,971 28,579 

 

1 The change in cash and cash equivalents from the NGAAP 2019 to the IFRS 2019 is due to the IFRS accounts shows cash after tax deductions as 
opposed to the NGAAP accounts. 

11.7.2.1 Three months period ended 31 March 2021 compared to three months period ended 31 March 2020 

Net cash generated by operating activities 

Net cash generated by operating activities for the three months period ended 31 March 2021 was NOK 54,454 thousand 
compared to NOK 63,950 thousand for the three months period ended 31 March 2020, a decrease of NOK 9,496 
thousand, or 14.8%. The decrease was primarily attributable to the migration of revenue from on-premise to SaaS as 
described in Section 11.6.1.2.  

Net cash used in investing activities 

Net cash used in investing activities for the three months period ended 31 March 2021 was NOK 4,675 thousand 
compared to NOK 4,033 thousand for the three months period ended 31 March 2020, an increase of NOK 642 thousand, 
or 15.9%. The increase was primarily attributable to increased capitalized amount of development costs.  

 

 

 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 

Net cash used in financing activities for the three months period ended 31 March 2021 was NOK 2,935 thousand 
compared to NOK 12,701 thousand for the three months period ended 31 March 2020, a decrease of NOK 9,766 
thousand, or 15.9%. The decrease was primarily attributable to reduced repayments of loan facilities. 
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11.7.2.2 Financial year ended 31 December 2020 compared to the financial year ended 31 December 2019 

Net cash generated by operating activities 

Net cash generated by operating activities for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 was NOK 98,008 thousand 
compared to NOK 46,492 thousand for the financial year ended 31 December 2019, an increase of NOK 51,516 thousand, 
or 110.8%. The increase was primarily attributable to increased profit and changes in net working capital. The increase 
was connected to revenue growth, both organic and acquired.  

Net cash used in investing activities 

Net cash used in investing activities for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 was NOK 85,066 thousand compared 
to NOK 63,956 thousand for the financial year ended 31 December 2019, an increase of NOK 21,110 thousand, or 
33.0%. The increase was primarily attributable to the acquisition of the EL-Info Group in 2019 and Congrid Oy in 2020.  

Net cash provided by financing activities 

Net cash provided by financing activities for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 was NOK 33,225 thousand 
compared to NOK 28,483 thousand for the financial year ended 31 December 2019, an increase of NOK 4,742 thousand, 
or 16.6%. The increase was primarily attributable to the acquisition of Congrid Oy in 2020, as the Group increased its 
loan facilities as partial payment for the shares. 

11.7.2.3 Financial year ended 31 December 2019 compared to the financial year ended 31 December 2018 

Net cash generated by operating activities 

Net cash generated by operating activities for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 was NOK 36,659 thousand 
compared to NOK 19,644 thousand for the financial year ended 31 December 2018, an increase of NOK 17,015 thousand, 
or 86.6%. The increase was primarily attributable to increased profit and changes in net working capital. The increase 
was connected to revenue growth, both organic and acquired. Net working capital decreased as accounts payable and 
other items were paid in January 2019, primarily related to the acquisition of the Bygglet Group.  

Net cash used in investing activities 

Net cash used in investing activities for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 was NOK 66,561 thousand compared 
to NOK 136,150 thousand for the financial year ended 31 December 2018, a decrease of NOK 69,589 thousand, or 
51.1%. The decrease was primarily attributable to the acquisition of the Bygglet Group in 2018 and the EL-Info Group 
in 2019. 

Net cash provided by financing activities 

The net cash provided by financing activities for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 was NOK 41,294 thousand 
compared to NOK 104,473 thousand for the financial year ended 31 December 2018, a decrease of NOK 63,179 
thousand, or 60.5%. The decrease was primarily attributable to the acquisition of the EL-Info Group in 2019, as the 
Group increased its loan facilities as partial payment for the shares. 

11.8 Investments 

11.8.1 Principal historical investments 

The historical capital expenditure by the Group arises primarily from acquisitions:  

• On 31 December 2018, the Group acquired 100% of the shares in Bygglet Holding AB, including its subsidiary 
Bygglet AB. The acquisition was settled with NOK 131,371 thousand in cash and NOK 7,043 thousand in 
shares in the Company. 

• On 1 April 2019, the Company acquired 100% of the shares in El-Info i Växjö Holding AB, including its 
subsidiary El-Info i Växjö AB. The acquisition was settled with NOK 60,233 thousand in cash and NOK 4,616 
thousand in shares in the Company. 

• On 1 December 2020, the Company acquired 100% of the shares in Congrid Oy. The acquisition was settled 
with NOK 76,447 thousand in cash and NOK 15,311 thousand in shares in the Company. 

• For information concerning the Group's recent acquisition of Homerun completed on 20 May 2021, please see 
Section 11.12 "Significant changes". 
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In addition, the Group's research and development activities are critical to sustain its current growth momentum and its 
competitive differentiation. The Group has therefore invested significant resources in product development to improve 
its existing product and service offerings, and to develop new attractive solutions and features that meet the demand in 
the markets in which SmartCraft operates. The capitalized expenses related to research and development amounted to 
NOK 1,200 thousand for the financial year ended 31 December 2018, NOK 8,493 thousand for the financial year ended 
31 December 2019, NOK 13,418 thousand before deductions for government grant (SkatteFunn) in the amount of NOK 
1,839 thousand for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 and NOK 4,675 thousand for the three months period 
ended 31 March 2021. 

11.8.2 Principal investments in progress and planned principal investments  

As described above in Section 11.8.1 "Principal historical investments", the Group continuously invests in research and 
development to sustain its current growth momentum and its competitive differentiation. The budgeted research and 
development expense for 2021 is NOK 15,210 thousand. The research and development expense will be financed by 
cash flow from operating activities. 

Other than described above, the Group does not have any material investments in progress nor have any firm 
commitments already been made in respect of any material investments as at the date of this Prospectus. However, and 
as described in Section 11.7.1 "Sources and use of cash", the Group continuously evaluates complementary acquisition 
targets that can be added to either strengthening the Group's existing product offering or expanding into adjacent 
markets and which is also part of the Company's strategy as further described in Section 8.3 "Strategy". 

11.9 Borrowings and other contractual obligations 

11.9.1 Overview 

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Group has in place the financing arrangements as further described in Section 
11.9.1.1 to Section 11.9.1.3 below. 

11.9.1.1 Senior facilities 

The Company has entered into the following senior loan facility agreements with Sparebanken Møre (collectively, the 
"Senior Facilities"): 

• A loan facility with an outstanding principal amount of NOK 69,954,736 as of 31 March 2021. The facility falls 
due on 30 March 2022, and carries an interest rate of NIBOR 3-M plus 2.75% pro annum.  

• A loan facility with an outstanding principal amount of NOK 45,000,000 as of 31 March 2021. The facility falls 
due on 15 November 2023, and carries an interest rate of NIBOR-3M plus 2.75% pro annum.  

• A loan facility with an outstanding principal amount of NOK 40,000,000 as of 31 March 2021. The facility falls 
due on 28 June 2021, and carries an interest rate of NIBOR 3-M plus 2.75% pro annum. 

• A loan facility with an outstanding principal amount of NOK 20,000,000 as 31 March 2021. The facility falls 
due on 15 November 2025, and carries an interest rate of NIBOR 3-M plus 2.75% pro annum. 

The Senior Facilities and the Credit Facility (as defined below) are secured by first priority share pledges over the shares 
in Cordel Norge AS and Bygglet Holding AB as well as first priority charges over the trade receivables and operating 
assets of Cordel Norge AS. 

11.9.1.2 Junior facility 

The Company has entered into a loan facility agreement with Armada Mezzanine Fund IV KY with an outstanding principal 
amount of EUR 5,629,576 as of 31 March 2021 (the "Junior Facility"). The Junior Facility falls due on 19 April 2025, 
and carries a hybrid interest rate of: 

• 4% pro annum; and 

• EURIBOR plus 3.50% pro annum. The EURIBOR has a floor of 0.50%. 

The Junior Facility is secured by second priority share pledges over the shares in Cordel Norge AS and Bygglet Holding 
AB as well as second priority charges over the trade receivables and operating assets of Cordel Norge AS. 
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11.9.1.3 Credit facility 

The Company has a credit facility with Sparebanken Møre for an amount of NOK 13 million (the "Credit Facility"). The 
Credit Facility is subject to annual renewal based on the bank's assessment. The Credit Facility carries a quarterly 
commission of 0,25% of the granted credit limit and an interest rate of NIBOR 3-M plus 2.75% pro annum. 

The Credit Facility and the Senior Facilities are secured by the same security, i.e. first priority share pledges over the 
shares in Cordel Norge AS and Bygglet Holding AB as well as first priority charges over the trade receivables and 
operating assets of Cordel Norge AS. 

11.9.2 Financial and other covenants 

The Senior Facilities, the Junior Facility and the Credit Facilities provide for certain financial and other covenants, 
including but not limited to: 

• Total net leverage below 5.00x; 

• Equity ratio of minimum 40%; 

• Restrictions on the Group's ability to reduce the share capital, pay dividend, interests / instalments on any 
subordinated loan, or any other form of distribution or repayment to the owners or to make other forms of 
corporate changes which may negatively affect existing mortgages or the economical position of the Company, 
so as merger/demerger, liquidation or change of company type; 

• Restrictions related to material changes in ownership 43 , operation or of personnel character (board 
composition, management or auditor) in the Company or any of its subsidiaries, materially affecting the facility 
agreement;  

• Restrictions on incurring new debt, disposing of material assets or pledging assets to anyone else than the 
bank; and 

• Restrictions on acquisitions and on changing/ceasing the business operations of the Company.  

11.9.3 Re-payment of the loan facilities 

The Company intends to use approximately NOK 232 million of the net proceeds of the Offering to repay the Senior 
Facilities and the Junior Facility in full. For further information on the use of proceeds please see Section 5 "Reasons for 
the Offering and the Listing". 

11.9.4 Amended covenants and security under the Credit Facility 

By repaying the Senior Facilities and the Junior Facilities, the security will be released and the financial covenants will 
not apply, save for the charge over Cordel Norge AS' trade receivables which will continue to secure the Company's 
obligations under the Credit Facility.  

The lenders under the Senior Facilities, the Junior Facility and the Credit Facility have confirmed in separate consent- 
and release letters that no event of default will be triggered as a result of the Listing. 

11.10 Off-balance sheet arrangements 

The Group does not have any material off-balance sheet arrangements.  

11.11 Financial risk management 

See note 5 of the IFRS Financial Statements for an overview of the Group's financial risk management. 

11.12 Significant changes 

On 20 May 2021, the Company's subsidiary Congrid Oy acquired 100% of the shares in Homerun. The purchase price 
for the shares in Homerun was NOK 35,250 thousand of which (i) NOK 29,250 thousand was paid in cash at completion 

 
43 The Junior Facility Agreement contains a requirement that Valedo Partners III AB must hold directly or indirectly at least 50.1 percent 
of the outstanding shares and voting rights of the Company, and that the Company must hold 100 percent of the outstanding shares in 
the company "EL-Info i Växjö Holding AB".  
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of the transaction and (ii) NOK 6,000 thousand was settled in vendor notes that the sellers will use as contribution in 
kind to subscribe for shares in the Company at the final Offer Price in the Offering. In addition, the sellers may, subject 
to certain conditions, be entitled to an earn-out consideration limited upwards to (i) EUR 0.5 million payable in 2022 and 
(ii) EUR 1.5 million payable in 2023. 

Other than as described above, there have been no significant changes in the financial or trading position of the Group 
since 31 March 2021. 
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12 BOARD OF DIRECTORS, MANAGEMENT, EMPLOYEES AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

12.1 Introduction 

The General Meeting is the highest decision-making authority of the Company. All shareholders of the Company are 
entitled to attend and vote at General Meetings of the Company and to table draft resolutions for items to be included 
on the agenda for a General Meeting. 

The overall management of the Company is vested with the Board of Directors and the Executive Management. In 
accordance with Norwegian law, the Board of Directors is responsible for, among other things, supervising the general 
and day-to-day management of the Company's business, ensuring proper organisation, preparing plans and budgets for 
its activities, ensuring that the Company's activities, accounts and assets management are subject to adequate controls 
and undertaking investigations necessary to perform its duties. 

The Board of Directors has two sub-committees, which is the audit committee (see Section 12.9 "Audit committee" below 
for more information on this committee) and the remuneration committee (see Section 12.10 "Remuneration committee" 
below for more information on this committee). In addition, the Articles of Association provide for a nomination 
committee (see Section 12.11 "Nomination committee" below for more information on this committee). 

The Executive Management is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Company's operations in accordance 
with Norwegian law and instructions set out by the Board of Directors. Among other responsibilities, the Company's chief 
executive officer (the "CEO"), is responsible for keeping the Company's accounts in accordance with existing Norwegian 
legislation and regulations and for managing the Company's assets in a responsible manner. In addition, the CEO must 
according to Norwegian law brief the Board of Directors about the Company's activities, financial position and operating 
results at a minimum of one time per month. 

12.2 The Board of Directors 

12.2.1 Overview of the Board of Directors 

The Articles of Association provide that the Board of Directors shall consist of between three and nine board members, 
as elected by the Company's shareholders. The names, positions, current term of office of the Board Members as at the 
date of this Prospectus are set out in the table below, in addition to the number of Shares and options held by each 
Board Member. 

The Board of Directors is in compliance with the independence requirements of the Norwegian Code of Practice for 
Corporate Governance, last updated 17 October 2018 (the "Corporate Governance Code"), meaning that (i) the 
majority of the shareholder-elected members of the Board of Directors are independent of the Company's executive 
Management and material business contracts, (ii) at least two of the shareholder-elected members of the Board of 
Directors are independent of the Company's main shareholders (shareholders holding more than 10% of the Shares), 
and (iii) no members of the Company's executive Management are on the Board of Directors. All Board Members are 
independent of the Executive Management and material business contacts. Gunnar Haglund, Christina Skogster Stange, 
Marianne Bergmann Røren and Maria Danell are independent of the Company's main shareholders. 

The names and positions and current term of office of the Board Members as at the date of this Prospectus are set out 
in the table below. The Company's registered business address, Borgundfjordvegen, 6017 Ålesund, Norway, serves as 
business address for the members of the Board of Directors in relation to their directorship in the Company. 

Name Position Served since Term expires 

No. of 
Ordinary 
Shares 

No. of 
Preference 

Shares Options 

Gunnar Haglund1 Chairperson 2017 2023 1,004,800 1,344,400 No 

Bernt Ulstein2 Board Member 2017 2023 14,400,000 33,600,000 No 

Allan Engström Board Member 2017 2023 - - No 

Carl Ivarsson Board Member 2017 2023 - - No 

Christina Skogster Stange Board Member 2021 2023 - - No 

Marianne Bergmann Røren Board Member 2021 2023 - - No 

Maria Danell Board Member 2021 2023 - - No 

 

1 Gunnar Haglund served as a Board Member until he was elected as the Chairperson on 21 April 2021. Shares owned indirectly through 
Skarvhagen Förvaltning AB. 

2 Shares owned indirectly through B. Ulstein AS. 
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12.2.2 Brief biographies of the Board Members 

Set out below are brief biographies of the Board Members. The biographies include each Board Member's relevant 
management expertise and experience, an indication of any significant principal activities performed by them outside 
the Company and names of companies and partnerships of which a Board Member is or has been a member of the 
administrative management or supervisory bodies or partner in the previous five years (not including directorships and 
executive management positions in subsidiaries of the Company). 

Gunnar Haglund, Chairperson 

Gunnar Haglund was elected the chairperson of the Company on 21 April 2021. Mr. Haglund has worked for 28 years 
for the Ahlsell group. In the period from 1986 to 2014 he has held several leading positions. He was appointed the group 
CFO in 1989 and further worked as deputy CEO from 1999. Before his career in Ahlsell Mr. Haglund worked as CFO for 
El-Partner Grossist AB which is a subsidiary of Siemens. Mr. Haglund studied business at high school. 

Current directorships and senior management positions ...........  Aqua Floating Group AB (chairperson), Aqua Floating Group 
Holding AB 1 (board member), Aqua Floating Group Properties AB 
(board member), Pampas Marina Västervik AB (board member), 
AB Arona 1904 AB (chairperson), Skarvhagen Förvaltning AB 
(chairperson), Stora Ekholmen Kultur AB (chairperson), AB 
Sjöexpress Anders Vaernus (board member), and AB Bromma 
Chark (board member). 

Previous directorships and senior management positions last five 
years .................................................................................  Aqua Floating Group AB (board member) and Betongproduktion I 

Västervik AB (board member). 

Bernt Ulstein, Board Member 

Bernt Ulstein has served as a board member of the Company since 2017. Mr. Ulstein was the founder, together with Jan 
Olav Sandnes, of System Konsult AS (now Cordel Norge AS) in 1987. For most of the years, he has held the position of 
development manager. The last years he has had a more independent role as a consultant, mainly to support the 
development team at Cordel Norge AS. Before starting up with System Konsult AS, he worked for a couple of years as 
service engineer at Ulstein Propeller, a manufacturer of propulsion systems for ships. Mr. Ulstein holds an engineering 
degree of cybernetics and automation degree. In addition, he has an engineering degree of Microprocessor technology. 

Current directorships and senior management positions ...........  B. Ulstein AS (chairman). 

Previous directorships and senior management positions last five 
years .................................................................................  None. 

Allan Engström, Board Member 

Allan Engström has served as a board member of the Company since 2017. Mr. Engström is a partner at Valedo Partners. 
Before joining Valedo Mr. Engström worked in mergers & acquisitions at Merrill Lynch in London. He holds a Master of 
Science in Finance from Stockholm School of Economics. 

Current directorships and senior management positions ...........  Valedo Partners III AB (Partner), Klockstigen Holding AB (board 
member), Norva24 Holding AS board member), Norva24 AS 
(board member), Sefbo Holding AS (board member), Sefbo AS 
(board member), BeckSöndergaard ApS (board member), 
BeckSöndergaard Holding ApS (board member), 
BeckSöndergaard Sverige AB (deputy board member), Eltera 
Gruppen AS (board member) and Eltera Gruppen Norge AS 
(board member). 

Previous directorships and senior management positions last five 
years .................................................................................  OJ Holding Sweden AB (board member), Norva24 Sverige AB 

(chairperson) and A Söderlindh i Sverige AB (chairperson). 

Carl Ivarsson, Board Member 

Carl Ivarsson has served as a board member of the Company since 2017. Mr. Ivarsson is a partner at Valedo Partners. 
Before joining Valedo Mr. Ivarsson worked in mergers & acquisitions at Merrill Lynch in London. He Holds a Master of 
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Science in Finance from Stockholm School of Economics and a CEMS Master in International Management from the 
University of St. Gallen and Stockholm School of Economics.  

Current directorships and senior management positions ...........  Valedo Partners III AB, Rapunzel of Sweden Holding AB (Deputy 
board member), Rapunzel of Sweden AB (Deputy board member), 
Tåsjöberget AB (board member), Pincho Nation Group Holding AB 
(board member) and Pincho Nation Group AB (board member). 

Previous directorships and senior management positions last five 
years .................................................................................  Best Transport Holding AB (deputy board member), Best 

Transport Group AB (deputy board member), Aditro Logistics 
Holding AB (deputy board member), Aditro Logistics AB (deputy 
board member), Bindomatic Holding AB (deputy board member) 
and Bindomatic AB (deputy board member). 

Christina Skogster Stange, Board Member 

Christina Skogster Stange was elected as a Board Member of the Company on 21 April 2021. Ms. Stange is currently a 
division manager in the architecture and engineering consultancy company Sweco. She has more than 20 years of 
experience from the IT industry and consultancy. She holds university certificate in information processing and computer 
science from the University of Stockholm. 

Current directorships and senior management positions ...........  Sweco Sverige AB (division manager). 

Previous directorships and senior management positions last five 
years .................................................................................  Jeeves Information Systems AB (general manager). 

Marianne Bergmann Røren, Board Member 

Marianne Bergmann Røren was elected as a Board Member of the Company on 21 April 2021. Ms. Røren is currently the 
chief executive officer of the state-owned construction company Mesta. In addition to various directorships and senior 
management positions Ms. Røren has worked as an attorney-at-law with the law firms Thommessen, Wiersholm and 
Arthur Andersen. She holds a law-degree from the University of Oslo. 

Current directorships and senior management positions ...........  Mesta AS (chief executive officer), Entreprenørforeningen Bygg 
og Anlegg (EBA) (board member), Telenor ASA (corporate 
assembly), Storebrand ASA (board member), Røren Invest AS 
(deputy board member) and Lyngbøveien 164 AS (chairperson). 

Previous directorships and senior management positions last five 
years .................................................................................  Danske Bank (chief operating officer, Corporate and Institutions), 

Eksportfinans ASA (board member) and Telenor ASA (member of 
nomination committee). 

Maria Danell, Board Member 

Maria Danell was elected as a Board Member of the Company on 21 April 2021. Mrs. Danell has more than 15 years of 
experience in the software industry, including her current position in Peltarion serving as the chief operating officer and 
her previous positions in Microsoft where she spent more than 10 years working with cloud services in Sweden and Asia. 
Mrs. Danell holds an MSc in computer science from Stockholm University. 

Current directorships and senior management positions ...........  Peltarion AB (chief operating officer). 

Previous directorships and senior management positions last five 
years .................................................................................  Microsoft AB (sales manager). 

12.3 Management 

12.3.1 Overview of the Executive Management 

SmartCraft's Executive Management team consists of three individuals. The names of the members of the Executive 
Management and their respective positions, in addition to their holding of Shares and options in the Company, are 
presented in the table below.  

The Company's registered business address, Borgundfjordvegen 80, 6017 Ålesund, Norway, serves as business address 
for all members of the Executive Management in relation to their positions with the Company. 
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Name Position 
Held position 

since 
No. of Ordinary 

Shares 

No. of 
Preference 

Shares Options 

Gustav Line ...........  Chief Executive Officer 2018 2,770,7001 3,305,4001 No 

Kjartan Bø .............  Chief Financial Officer 2019 273,0002 532,9002 No 

Christian Saleki ......  Chief Technical Officer 2021 - - No 

 

1 Shares owned indirectly through Line Invest AS.  

2 Shares owned indirectly through KBI AS.  

12.3.2 Brief biographies of the members of the Executive Management 

Set out below are brief biographies of the members of the Executive Management. The biographies include the members 
of the Executive Management's relevant management expertise and experience, an indication of any significant principal 
activities performed by them outside the Company and names of companies and partnerships of which a member of the 
Executive Management is or has been a member of the administrative, management or supervisory bodies or partner 
the previous five years (not including directorships and executive management positions in subsidiaries of the Company). 

Gustav Line, Chief Executive Officer 

Gustav Line has extensive management experience with more than 25 years of experience in the software industry. 
Prior to joining SmartCraft, Mr. Line worked for ten years as the CEO of Compello AS. Before Compello, he worked six 
years for Microsoft Norway where he held leading positions as "Director Business Solutions" and "Director Information 
Worker". Mr. Line was also member of the governance team. Mr. Line entered the software industry in 1994, working 
as General Manager for a company which is now part of Visma. In 1999 he joined Navision which was acquired by 
Microsoft in 2002. Gustav holds a Bachelor of Science degree from University of Manchester Institute of Science and 
Technology (UMIST) and a master degree in International Banking and Financial Studies from Heriott-Watt University in 
Edinburgh. After his studies in the UK Gustav worked two years for a commercial bank in the city of London, passing the 
required "London Stock Exchange representative" exam. 

Current directorships and senior management positions ...........  Line Invest AS (chairperson). 

Previous directorships and senior management positions last five 
years .................................................................................  Compello AS (chief executive officer) and Cordel Norden AS 

(board member). 

Kjartan Bø, Chief Financial Officer  

Kjartan Bø has for the last 16 years worked in financial management, consulting and accounting. His experience includes 
several industries including software, real estate and finance, and both international and listed companies. Mr. Bø has 
acted as lead consultant for several successful start-ups and M&A's. Mr. Bø holds a Bachelor of Business Administration 
from BI Norwegian Business School, with a major in Business development. He is also a certified accountant.  

Current directorships and senior management positions ...........  KBI AS (chairperson) and KBI Financial Management AS 
(chairperson) 

Previous directorships and senior management positions last five 
years .................................................................................  None. 

Christian Saleki, Chief Technical Officer 

Christian Saleki is the newly recruited CTO of the Group who joined the Group on 1 June 2021. Prior to joining SmartCraft, 
Mr. Saleki worked in OPENPOS AB most recent as Chief Visionary Officer and earlier as the chief technical officer and 
project manager. Mr. Saleki holds an MSc in electronic engineering from Chalmers University of Technology and an MSc 
in International Business and Trade from University of Gothenburg. 

Current directorships and senior management positions ...........  OPENPOS AB (chief visionary officer). 

Previous directorships and senior management positions last five 
years .................................................................................  OPENPOS AB (chief technical officer), DaraLabs AB (chairman and 

partner) and G&C Consulting (co-founder).  
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12.4 Remuneration and benefits 

12.4.1 Remuneration of the Board of Directors 

Other than NOK 100,000 paid to Gunnar Haglund, no remuneration has been paid to the current Board of Directors for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2020. 

12.4.2 Remuneration of the Executive Management  

The table below sets out the remuneration of the Executive Management for the financial year ended 31 December 2020. 

In NOK thousand  

Name Position Salary Bonus Pension  Other  
Total 

remuneration 

Gustav Line ......................  CEO 1,769 652 36 4 2,462 

Kjartan Bø ........................  CFO 848 100 27 4 979 

Total ...............................  - 2,617 752 63 8 3,441 

12.4.3 Bonus schemes  

There is a bonus scheme in place for the CEO. A limit is set for the amount of bonus that can be achieved. The size of 
the bonus payment is dependent on the actual performance of the Group compared to a set of predefined targets. For 
the financial year ended 31 December 2020, a bonus was also paid to the chief financial officer. 

12.4.4 Share incentive schemes 

As at the date of this Prospectus, there are no share incentive schemes for employees of the Group or any other programs 
or arrangements involving employees in the Company's share capital. 

12.5 Benefits upon termination 

If the Company terminates Gustav Line's employment, he is entitled to six months' salary after a six months' termination 
period. Other than this, none of the Board Members, members of the Executive Management or any employees of the 
Group are entitled to benefits upon termination of their position. 

12.6 Loans and guarantees 

The Company has not granted any loans, guarantees or made any other similar commitments to any of its Board 
Members, members of the Executive Management or any employees. 

12.7 Employees 

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Group has 156 full-time employees. 

The table below shows the development in the Group's number of full-time employees by main category of activity for 
the three months ended 31 March 2021 and the financial years ended 31 December 2020, 2019 and 2018. 

Main category of activity 
As at 31  

March 2021 

As at 31 
December 

2020 

As at 31 
December 

2019 

As at 31 
December 

2018 

Management ....................................................  17 16 12 9 

Sales ..............................................................  32 34 29 8 

Marketing ........................................................  7 6 3 - 

Customer success .............................................  18 18 9 4 

Support ...........................................................  20 20 20 10 

Operations .......................................................  7 7 4 4 

Development ...................................................  44 44 30 14 

Total ..............................................................  145 145 107 49 

 

The table below shows the development in the Group's number of full-time employees by geographic location for the 
financial years ended 31 December 2020, 2019 and 2018. 
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Position 
As at 31 March 

2021 

As at 31 
December 

2020 

As at 31 
December 

2019 

As at 31 
December 

2018 

Norway ...........................................................  63 61 55 49 

Sweden ...........................................................  55 57 52 - 

Finland ............................................................  27 27 - - 

Total ..............................................................  145 145 107 49 

12.8 Pension and retirement benefits 

The pension plans in the Group comply with the pension legislation enacted in the respective countries. For the financial 
year ended 31 December 2020, the Group's pension expense related to defined contribution plans amounted to NOK 
3,707 thousand, see note 10 to the IFRS Financial Statements included in Appendix B to this Prospectus. The pension 
benefit amounted to NOK 36 thousand for the CEO and NOK 27 thousand for the CFO. The Board Members are not 
entitled to pension payments or related benefits from the Group.   

12.9 Audit committee 

The Board of Directors has, subject to and with effect from Listing, established an audit committee. The audit committee 
shall be composed of three Board Members who are appointed for a 2-year term. The appointed members of the audit 
committee are Gunnar Haglund (chair), Carl Ivarsson and Marianne Bergmann Røren. The composition of the Company's 
audit committee is fully compliant with the requirements for qualifications and competence in accounting and auditing 
set out in the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act. Furthermore, the composition is also compliant with the 
Corporate Governance Code. 

The primary purpose of the audit committee is to act as a preparatory and advisory committee for the Board of Directors 
in monitoring the Group's internal control of the risk management and financial reporting. This includes but is not limited 
to:  

• all critical accounting policies and practices; 

• quality, integrity and control of the Group's financial statements and reports; 

• compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; 

• qualifications and independence of the external auditors; and 

• performance of the internal audit function and external auditors. 

The audit committee reports and makes recommendations to the Board of Directors, but the Board of Directors retains 
responsibility for implementing such recommendations.  

12.10 Remuneration committee 

The Board of Directors has, subject to and with effect from the Listing, established a remuneration committee composed 
of three Board Members. The members of the remuneration committee shall be appointed for a 2-year term. The 
appointed members of the remuneration committee are Gunnar Haglund (chair), Allan Engström and Bernt Ulstein. The 
primary purpose of the remuneration committee is to assist the Board of Directors in matters relating to remuneration 
of the Executive Management, as well as reviewing recruitment policies, career planning and management development 
plans, and prepare matters relating to other material employment issues in respect of the Executive Management.  

The remuneration committee shall report and make recommendations to the Board of Directors, but the Board of 
Directors retains responsibility for implementing such recommendations.  

12.11 Nomination committee 

The Articles of Association provide for a nomination committee composed of between two and three members. The 
nomination committee will be subject to, and with effect from, the Listing consists of Arild Bødal (chair) and Ingeborg 
Aavatsmark. The members of the nomination committee are appointed until the Company's annual general meeting in 
2023. The nomination committee is responsible for (i) nominating candidates for the election of shareholder-elected 
board members and chairperson to the Board of Directors, (ii) for nominating members to the nomination committee 
and (iii) making recommendations for remuneration of these members. 
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12.12 Corporate governance 

The Company has, with effect from Listing, adopted and implemented a corporate governance regime which complies 
with the Corporate Governance Code.  

Neither the Board of Directors nor the General Meeting have adopted any resolutions which are deemed to have a 
material impact on the Group's corporate governance regime. 

12.13 Conflict of interests etc. 

No Board Member or member of the Executive Management has, or had, as applicable, during the last five years 
preceding the date of the Prospectus: 

• any convictions in relation to fraudulent offences; 

• received any official public incrimination and/or sanctions by any statutory or regulatory authorities (including 
designated professional bodies) or was disqualified by a court from acting as a member of the administrative, 
management or supervisory bodies of a company or from acting in the management or conduct of the affairs 
of any company; or 

• been declared bankrupt or been associated with any bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation in his or her 
capacity as a founder, member of the administrative body or supervisory body, director or senior manager of 
a company. 

To the Company's knowledge, there are currently no other actual or potential conflicts of interest between the Company 
and the private interests or other duties of any of the members of the Executive Management, the Board of Directors, 
including any family relationships between such persons. 
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13 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

This Section provides information about certain transactions which the Company is a party to with its related parties for 
the periods covered by the Financial Statements and up until the date of this Prospectus. For the purpose of the following 
disclosures of related party transactions, "related party transactions" are those transactions that are set out as such in 
accordance with the Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council. 

All transactions, agreements and business relations between the Company and its related parties are incurred on general 
market terms. 

B. Ulstein AS is wholly-owned by Bernt Ulstein and his family. B. Ulstein AS is the second largest shareholder in the 
Company. Bernt Ulstein was a full-time employee in one of the companies in the Group until 31 August 2019. Since 1 
September 2019, Bernt Ulstein has an hourly based consultancy contract. Bernt Ulstein is currently a member of the 
Board of Directors of the Company. 

Other than as set out above, the Group has not carried out any transactions with related parties for the financial years 
ended 31 December 2020, 2019 and 2018. The Group has neither carried out any related party transactions in the period 
following 31 December 2020. 
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14 SELLING SHAREHOLDERS 

14.1 Overview 

The Offering, as further described in Section 18 "Terms of the Offering", comprises, in addition to the New Shares, up 
to a total of 33,707,865 Sale Shares offered by the Selling Shareholders as set out in Section 14.2 "Shares offered by 
the Executive Management and other key employees", Section 14.3 "Shares offered by major shareholders" and Section 
14.4 "Shares offered by the other Selling Shareholders".  

The number of Sale Shares to be sold by each of the Selling Shareholders will be decided by the Selling Shareholders 
and the Company in consultation with the Managers.  

The Selling Shareholders have entered into lock-up undertakings in connection with the Offering. See Section 18.19 for 
further details. 

14.2 Shares offered by the Executive Management 

Name LEI 
Registered 

address 
Number of 

Shares held 

Up to number 
of Sale 
Shares 
offered 

Number of 
Shares held 

following 
the Offering1 

Percentage of 
issued share 

capital 
following the 

Offering2 

Gustav Line (Line 
Invest AS) 
 ..........................  

8945001N4MIL3L
6JRI92 

Løvenskiolds vei 
6B, 1358 Jar, 
Norway 

2,770,700 692,675 2,078,025 1.2% 

  
1 Assuming all offered Sale Shares are sold. 
2 Assuming that the Greenshoe Option is not exercised. 

14.3 Shares offered by major shareholders 

Name LEI 
Registered 

address 
Number of 

Shares held 

Up to number 
of Sale 
Shares 
offered 

Number of 
Shares held 

following 
the Offering1 

Percentage of 
issued share 

capital 
following the 

Offering2 

Valedo Partners III 
AB
 ..........................  

549300OMB66J2
MJ23B52 

Kungsbron 1, F7 
11122 
Stockholm, 
Sweden 

91,077,900 23,174,208 67,903,692 40.7% 

B. Ulstein AS
 .................  

549300POEDMVC
G7Y3V16 

Ramsvikvegen 
61, 6012 
Ålesund, Norway 

14,400,000 3,663,990 10,736,010 6.4% 

  
1 Assuming all offered Sale Shares are sold by the respective shareholders. 
2 Assuming that the Greenshoe Option is not exercised. 

14.4 Shares offered by the other Selling Shareholders 

Name LEI Registered address 
Number of Shares 

held 
Up to number of 

Sale Shares offered 

Armada Mezzanine Fund 
IV Ky
 .................................  

743700L9ER78GBK8UM25 
Bernhardinkatu 5A 1, 
00130 Helsinki, Finland 

2,596,800 660,739 

Hanna Konyi
 .................................  

 
Åsvägen 19, 43363 
Sävedalen, Sweden 

2,540,900 635,225 

Knohultarn Småland AB
 .................................  

549300TXWC7FRHI9BF16 
Galtövägen 16, 35244 
Växjö, Sweden 

2,397,500 239,750 

Tjennsen AS
 .................................  

984500WB05054Q4BEA59 
Hellerudveien 6B, 0672 
Oslo, Norway 

2,159,600 549,496 

Henrik Höiby
 .................................  

 
Dagguden 17, 43491 
Kungsbacka, Sweden 

1,252,400 318,665 

Jonas Wånggren
 .................................  

 
Mjösundet 239, 46397 
Prässebo, Sweden 

1,252,400 318,665 

Jörgen Sillerström
 .................................  

 
Almekärrsvägen 193, 
44339 Lerum, Sweden 

1,252,400 318,665 

Origi AS 5493007A21MOWMJBAZ04 Nedre Hatleholen 4, 6012 1,200,000 305,332 
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 .................................  Ålesund, Norway 
Vinjevoll Invest AS
 .................................  

5493001EP6WYJ65IOC72 
Telegrafalleeen 5, 3510 
Hønefoss, Norway 

1,069,900 272,229 

Ters AS
 .................................  

5493002ZP8H39CGX6Z82 
Nordenvegen 5, 6014 
Ålesund, Norway 

979,500 249,227 

Spijker AS 
 .................................  

5493005PIOMDM9FCX225 
Høybyveien 11B, 3517 
Hønefoss, Norway 

915,200 228,800 

Atono Invest Oy
 .................................  

743700L4KIFY1LFPV180 
Mielikintie 11C, 00750 
Helsinki, Finland 

729,500 182,375 

Tapio Capital Oy
 .................................  

743700EB37W21UYSRM62 
Granbackankuja 4, 02400 
Kirkkonummi, Finland 

729,500 185,616 

AHB Invest AS
 .................................  

549300IWXXSGO4O7SL34 
Co/A. Bødal, Lotunet, 
6789 Loen, Stryn, Norway 

824,800 209,865 

Puppo Capital Oy
 .................................  

984500BB2C2AYG1AC836 
Koivuviita 12B 4, 02130 
Espoo, Finland 

625,300 159,103 

Hofseth Bygg og 
Eiendom AS
 .................................  

549300KPXKFXZIZB2R90 
Kvernhusåkeren 10, 6016 
Ålesund, Norway 

720,000 183,199 

Lommelun Invest AS
 .................................  

549300L5K9H0UHDG3E04 
Myrabakken 5B, 6010 
Ålesund, Norway 

720,000 183,199 

Jørgen Skårbrevik
 .................................  

 
Torvteigen 106A, 6009 
Ålesund, Norway 

641,600 163,251 

Antares Group AS
 .................................  

894500N35DPZW9PAJ318 
Haukelibakken 17, 0775 
Oslo, Norway 

625,000 159,027 

Matti Huusko
 .................................  

 
Iso Roobertinkatu 30 A9, 
00120 Helsinki, Finland 

416,900 106,077 

Pompa Capital Oy
 .................................  

743700C04U8QEWOFGM57 
Seilimäki 16A 5, 02180 
Espoo, Finland 

416,900 106,077 

Magnus Buregård
 .................................  

 
Tjäderkullevägen 45, 
43492 Vallda, Sweden 

285,000 72,516 

SKF Holding AS
 .................................  

549300MRK0UAU2G5JC74 
Bergvegen 66, 6007 
Ålesund, Norway 

300,800 76,536 

Katja Widlund
 .................................  

 
Videlundsgatan 3, 42165 
Västra Frölunda, Sweden 

216,100 54,025 

Anne K. Fossum
 .................................  

 
Liljevn. 9, 3520 Jevnaker, 
Norway  

200,000 50,888 

Edb Partner AS
 .................................  

549300C3NXJGZKVMZH93 
Trøanveien 5, 7125 
Vanvikan, Norway 

120,000 30,533 

Kristian Karlsen
 .................................  

 
Ådalsgata 9B, 3510 
Hønefoss, Norway  

154,000 39,184 

Gabriel Gherman
 .................................  

 
Ellakrogsvägen 2A, 18733 
Täby, Sweden 

60,000 15,000 

Hilde Brendefur Klakegg
 .................................  

 
Hatlasvingen allé 1, 6016 
Ålesund, Norway 

120,000 30,000 

Martin Hollstrand
 .................................  

 
Lödings väg 1, 83797 Åre, 
Sweden 

60,000 15,266 

Max Johansson
 .................................  

 
Gibraltargatan 52, 41258 
Gothenburg, Sweden 

94,500 24,044 

Liv Ingrid Ruset
 .................................  

 
Tørlevegen 94, 6020 
Ålesund, Norway 

26,400 6,717 

Christine Elfving
 .................................  

 
Sandmovägen 8, 46198 
Trollhättan, Sweden 

50,000 12,722 

Malin Linelöf
 .................................   

Södra Sälöfjordsgatan 38, 
41873 Gothenburg, 
Sweden 

37,800 9,617 

Saku Vuori
 .................................  

 
Vattuniemenkuja 8A 19, 
00210 Helsinki, Finland 

10,400 2,646 

Jeanette Borg
 .................................  

 
Södra Vägen 55, 41254 
Gothunburg, Sweden 

9,300 2,366 

Kajsa Andersson
 .................................   

Armlängdsgatan 13, 
42172 Västra Frölunda, 
Sweden  

7,000 350 

     

Total   25,817,400 6,176,992 
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15 CORPORATE INFORMATION AND DESCRIPTION OF THE SHARE CAPITAL 

The following is a summary of certain corporate information and material information relating to the Shares and share 
capital of the Company and certain other shareholder matters, including summaries of certain provisions of the Articles 
of Association and applicable Norwegian law in effect as of the date of this Prospectus. The summary does not purport 
to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by the Articles of Association, included in Appendix A to this Prospectus, 
and applicable law. 

15.1 Company corporate information 

The Company's legal name is SmartCraft ASA and its commercial name is SmartCraft. The Company is a public limited 
liability company organised and existing under the laws of Norway pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited Companies 
Act. The Company was incorporated on 6 January 2017 and has its registered office at Borgundfjordvegen 80, 6017 
Ålesund, Norway. The Company's registration number in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises is 918 356 649 
and its LEI code is 5493008ELCGPWZHWUX47. 

The Shares have been created under the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act. The Shares are registered in book-
entry form with the VPS under ISIN NO 001 1008971. The Company's register of shareholders in the VPS is administrated 
by DNB Bank ASA, with registered business address at Dronning Eufemias gate 30, 0191 Oslo, Norway (the VPS 
Registrar).  

The Group's website can be found at www.smartcraftready.com and contain the relevant contact information for the 
Company. The information on the website is not incorporated by reference to this Prospectus, nor does it in any other 
manner constitute a part of this Prospectus. The main telephone number at the headquarter is +47 7017 8400. 

15.2 Legal structure 

The Company functions as the ultimate holding company of the Group. The Company is not an operative entity, and the 
Group's operations are thereby carried out through the Group's operating subsidiaries.  

The structure chart below sets out the Group's legal structure as at the date of this Prospectus: 

 
 
* All subsidiaries are 100% owned. 

The table below sets out brief information about the Company's direct and indirect subsidiaries at the date of this 
Prospectus: 

 
Company name Registered office Activity Shareholder Ownership 

Cordel Norge AS .........................  Borgundfjordvegen 80, 6017 
Ålesund, Norway 

Provider of software 
solutions 

SmartCraft ASA 100% 

Congrid Oy ................................  Vilhonkatu 6A, 00100 
Helsinki, Finland 

Provider of software 
solutions 

Smartcraft ASA 100% 

Homerunbynet Oy ......................  Kauppakatu 13 

74100 Lisalmi, Finland 

Provider of software 
solutions 

Congrid Oy 100% 

Bygglet Holding AB .....................  Von Utfallsgatan 1, 41505 
Gothenburg, Sweden 

Holding company SmartCraft ASA 100% 
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Company name Registered office Activity Shareholder Ownership 

Bygglet AB .................................  Von Utfallsgatan 1, 41505 
Gothenburg, Sweden 

Provider of software 
solutions 

Bygglet Holding AB 100% 

El-Info i Växjö AB .......................  Lineborgsplan 3, 35233 
Växjö, Sweden 

Provider of software 
solutions 

Bygglet Holding AB 100% 

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company is of the opinion that its holdings in all of its direct and indirect 
subsidiaries, as listed in the table above, are likely to have a significant effect on the assessment of the Company's own 
assets and liabilities, financial condition and profit or loss. 

15.3 Share capital and share capital history 

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company's share capital is NOK 4,496,723 divided into 138,782,400 Ordinary 
Shares and 310,889,900 Preference Shares, each class with a par value of NOK 0.01. All the Shares have been created 
under the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act and are validly issued and fully paid. 

On 25 May 2021, the Company's General Meeting resolved that the Company shall carry out a share capital reduction 
under which the Preference Shares shall be redeemed against a payment of NOK 208,972,978.15 to the holders of the 
Preference Shares, corresponding to the value of the Preference Shares as of 21 June 2021 pursuant to the Articles of 
Association. The redemption of the Preference Shares will lead to a reduction in the Company's share capital of NOK 
3,108,899, from NOK 4,496,723 to NOK 1,387,824 divided on 138,782,400 Ordinary Shares each having a par value of 
NOK 0.01. The resolution is conditional upon the resolution to issue the New Shares. The table below shows the 
development in the Company's share capital for the period from its incorporation to the date hereof: 

 
Date of resolution 

 
Type of 
change 

Change in 
share 
capital 
(NOK) 

Subscription 
price 

Ordinary 
Shares 

(NOK) 

Subscription 
Price 

Preference 
Shares 
(NOK) 

Par value 
(NOK) 

Total 
number of 
Ordinary 
Shares 

Total 
number of 
Preference 

Shares 

New share 
capital 
(NOK) 

6 January 2017 Incorporation - - - 1 30,000  30,000 
3 March 2017 Redemption 

of shares 
-30,000 - - 1 -30,000 - 0 

3 March 2017 Capital 
increase 

1,550,000 50 50 1 465,000 1,085,000 1,550,000 

3 March 20171 Capital 
increase 

917,100 50 50 1 759,560 1,707,540 2,467,100 

23 May 2017 Capital 
increase 

30,000 50 50 1 771,760 1,725,340 2,497,100 

24 August 2017 Capital 
increase 

4,000 50 50 1 772,960 1,728,140 2,501,100 

27 April 2018 Capital 
increase 

21,542 66.97 50 1 781,436 1,741,206 2,522,642 

29 June 2018 Capital 
increase 

15,943 66.97 50 1 793,393 1,745,192 2,538,585 

11 December 20182 Capital 
increase 

1,644,406 72.48 50 1 1,287,187 2,895,804 4,182,991 

20 February 2019 Capital 
increase 

19,631 72.48 50 1 1,295,581 2,907,041 4,202,622 

15 April 20193 Capital 
increase 

164,990 77.62 50 1 1,345,078 3,022,534 4,367,612 

12 June 2019 Capital 
increase 

12,059 77.62 50 1 1,351,623 3,028,048 4,379,671 

16 December 2019 Capital 
increase 

10,281 126.57 50 1 1,355,489 3,034,463 4,389,952 

3 February 2020 Capital 
increase 

6,525 126.57 50 1 1,357,759 3,038,718 4,396,477 

15 December 20204 Capital 
increase 

100,246 390.44 50 1 1,387,824 3,108,899 4,496,723 

25 May 2021 Share split 
(1:100) 

- - - 0.01 138,782,400 310,889,900 4,496,723 

Expected completed 
on 22 June 2021 

Redemption 
of Preference 
Shares 

- - - 0.01 138,782,400 - 1,387,824 

 
1 The subscription amount for 245,100 of the Ordinary Shares and 559,900 of the Preference Shares was settled by set off against receivables towards 

the Company in the amount of NOK 40,250,000. 
2 The subscription amount for 395,181 Ordinary Shares and 920,512 Preference Shares was settled by set off against a receivable towards the 

Company in the amount of NOK 74,668,618.88. The subscription amount for 37,236 Ordinary Shares and 86,886 Preference Shares was settled by 
transfer of shares in Bygglet Holding AB. 
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3 The subscription amount for 23,761 of the Ordinary Shares and 55,442 of the Preference Shares was settled by transferring a promissory note in the 
amount of NOK 4,616,428.82 to the Company. 

4 The subscription amount was settled by set off against a receivable towards the Company in the amount of NOK 15,247,628.60. 

During the period covered by the historical financial information, more than 10% of the Company's share capital has 
been paid for with assets other than cash. 

There are no share options or other right to subscribe for or acquire Shares in the Company. Neither the Company nor 
any of its subsidiaries directly or indirectly owns any Shares in the Company. 

15.4 Admission to trading 

The Company will on or about 16 June 2021 apply for admission to trading of its Shares, including the Offer Shares, on 
Oslo Børs, and the board of directors of Oslo Børs is expected to approve the listing application of the Company on or 
about 21 June 2021 subject to certain conditions being met. See Section 18.16 "Conditions for completing the Offering 
– Listing and trading of the Offer Shares". 

The Company currently expects commencement of trading in the Shares on Oslo Børs on or about 24 June 2021. The 
Company has not applied for admission to trading of the Shares on any other stock exchange or regulated market. 

15.5 Major shareholders 

Shareholders owning 5% or more of the Shares have an interest in the Company's share capital which is notifiable 
pursuant to the Norwegian Securities Trading Act. See Section 16.8 "Disclosure obligations" for a description of the 
disclosure obligations under the Norwegian Securities Trading Act. As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company had 
74 shareholders. An overview of shareholders holding 5% or more of the Shares of the Company as of the date of this 
Prospectus is set out below: 

# Shareholder 
No. of Ordinary 
Shares 

No. of Preference 
Shares 

Total percentage 
of Shares 

1 Valedo Partners III AB .............................................  91,077,900 212,515,400 67.51% 

2 B. Ulstein AS  .........................................................  14,400,000 33,600,000 10.67% 

 Total .....................................................................  105,477,900 246,115,400 78.18% 

There are no differences in voting rights between the shareholders. 

To the extent known to the Company, there are no persons or entities that, directly or indirectly, jointly or severally, 
exercise or could exercise control over the Company. The Company is not aware of any arrangements the operation of 
which may at a subsequent date result in a change of control of the Company. 

The Articles of Association do not contain any provisions that would have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing 
a change of control of the Company. The Shares have not been subject to any public takeover bids during the current 
or last financial year. 

15.6 Authorisations to acquire treasury shares 

In the extraordinary general meeting held on 25 May 2021, the Board of Directors was granted an authorization to 
repurchase the Company's own shares within a total nominal value of NOK 138,872, provided however that the 
authorization may not be used for an amount exceeding 10% of the Company's share capital following completion of the 
share capital increase carried out in connection with the Offering. The Board of Directors is authorized to acquire and 
sell own shares in the manner the Board of Directors deems appropriate, however, not by subscription of own shares. 
The highest amount that may be paid per share is NOK 100 and the lowest amount is NOK 1. The authorization is valid 
until the Company's general meeting in 2022, but in any case no longer than to and including 30 June 2022. 

15.7 Authorisation to increase the share capital and to issue Shares 

At the Company's extraordinary general meeting held on 25 May 2021, the Board of Directors was granted authorisations 
to increase the Company's share capital by (i) up to NOK 555,129 in order for the Board of Directors to be able to resolve 
the issuance of new Shares in connection with Offering and (ii) up to NOK 138,872 to be used to finance mergers and 
acquisitions. The authorisations are valid until the Company's annual general meeting in 2022, but no longer than to 
and including 30 June 2022.  
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The preferential rights of existing shareholders to subscribe for new Shares pursuant to section 10-4 of the Norwegian 
Public Limited Companies Act may be deviated from pursuant to the rules set out in section 10-5 of the Norwegian Public 
Limited Companies Act with respect to the existing authorisations mentioned above. 

15.8 Other financial instruments 

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries have issued any options, warrants, convertible loans, subordinated debt 
or other instruments or transferrable securities that would entitle a holder of any such instrument to subscribe for shares 
in the Company or its subsidiaries. 

15.9 Shareholder rights 

The Company will following the Listing have one class of Shares in issue, and in accordance with the Norwegian Public 
Limited Companies Act, all Shares in that class provide equal rights in the Company. Each of the Shares carries one 
vote. The rights attaching to the Shares at Listing are described in Section 15.10 "The Articles of Association" and Section 
15.11 "Certain aspects of Norwegian corporate law". 

15.10 The Articles of Association 

The General Meeting held on 25 May 2021 resolved certain changes to the share capital of the Company including 
redeeming the Preference Shares as further described in Section 15.3 "Share capital and share capital history". Following 
such redemption of the Preference Shares, the General Meeting also resolved to delete all regulations in the Articles of 
Association related to the Preference Shares, subject to the same conditions as for the redemption of the Preference 
Shares and becoming effective upon the registration of the share capital decrease related to the redemption of the 
Preference Shares with the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises expected on or about 22 June 2021. 

Below is a summary of provisions of the Articles of Association which will be in force upon the registration of the share 
capital decrease related to the redemption of the Preference Shares with the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises 
expected on or about 22 June 2021, as set out in Appendix A to this Prospectus.  

15.10.1  Objective of the Company 

Pursuant to section 3 of the Articles of Association, the objects of the Company are industry, trade and investments in 
shares and other assets in other companies and enterprises as well as all other activities related to this.  

15.10.2 Registered office 

The Company's registered office is in the municipality of Ålesund, Norway. 

15.10.3  Share capital and par value  

Pursuant to section 4 of the Articles of Association, the Company's share capital is NOK 1,387,824, divided into 
138,782,400 shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 0.01. The shares shall be registered with a central securities 
depository (the Norwegian Central Securities Depository (VPS)).  

15.10.4  Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors shall consist of between three and nine members, according to the decision of the general 
meeting. 

15.10.5  Restrictions on transfer of Shares 

The Articles of Association do not provide for any restrictions on the transfer of Shares, or a right of first refusal upon 
transfer of the Shares, nor does any such restrictions follow by applicable Norwegian law. Share transfers are not subject 
to approval by the Board of Directors. 

15.10.6  General meetings 

Documents concerning matters to be considered by the Company's general meeting, including documents which by law 
shall be included in or attached to the notice of the general meeting, do not need to be sent to the shareholders if such 
documents have been made available on the Company's website. A shareholder may nevertheless request that 
documents that relate to matters to be considered by the general meeting are sent to him/her. 

The annual general meeting shall consider the following matters: 

• Approval of the annual accounts and the annual report including distribution of dividends; and 
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• Other matters, which pursuant to law or the Articles of Association shall be considered by the general meeting. 

The Board of Directors may resolve that shareholders who want to participate at the general meeting have to notify to 
the Company about this by a deadline which shall not be less than five days prior to the general meeting. 

Shareholders may cast their votes in writing, including through electronic communication, in a period prior to the general 
meeting. The Board of Directors may establish guidelines for such advance voting. It must be stated in the notice of the 
general meeting which guidelines that have been set out. 

Documents concerning matters to be considered by the Company's general meeting, including documents which by law 
shall be included in or attached to the notice of the general meeting, do not need to be sent to the shareholders if such 
documents have been made available on the Company's website. A shareholder may nevertheless request that 
documents which relate to matters to be considered by the general meeting are sent to him/her. 

15.10.7 Nomination committee 

The Company shall have a nomination committee. See Section 12.11 "Nomination committee". 

15.11 Certain aspects of Norwegian corporate law 

General meetings 

Through the general meeting of shareholders, shareholders exercise supreme authority in a Norwegian public limited 
company. In accordance with Norwegian law, the annual general meeting of shareholders is required to be held each 
year on or prior to 30 June. Norwegian law requires that written notice of annual general meetings, which sets forth the 
date and time of, the venue for and the agenda of the general meeting, is sent to all shareholders with a known address 
no later than 21 days before the date of the annual general meeting of a Norwegian public limited liability company 
listed on a stock exchange or a regulated market shall be held, unless the articles of association stipulate a longer 
deadline. The latter is currently not the case for the Company. 

A shareholder may vote at the general meeting either in person or by proxy appointed at its own discretion. Pursuant to 
the Norwegian Securities Trading Act, a proxy voting form shall be appended to the notice of the general meeting of 
shareholders in a Norwegian public limited liability company listed on a stock exchange or a regulated market unless 
such form has been made available to the shareholders on the company's website and the notice calling the meeting 
includes all information the shareholders need to access the proxy voting forms, including the relevant internet address.  

Under Norwegian law a shareholder may only exercise rights that pertain to shareholders, including participation in 
general meetings of shareholders, when it has been registered as a shareholder in the register of shareholders 
maintained with the VPS. Unless the articles of association explicitly state that the right to attend and vote at a general 
meeting of shareholders may only be exercised by a shareholder if it has been entered into the register of shareholders 
five working days prior to the general meeting, all shareholders who are registered as such on the date of the general 
meeting have the right to attend and exercise its voting rights at that meeting. The Articles of Association stipulate that 
the Board of Directors may resolve that shareholders who want to participate at the general meeting have to notify to 
the Company about this by a deadline which shall not be less than three days prior to the general meeting. 

Apart from the annual general meeting of shareholders, extraordinary general meetings of shareholders may be held if 
the board of directors considers it necessary. An extraordinary general meeting of shareholders must also be convened 
if, in order to discuss a specified matter, the auditor or shareholders representing at least 5% of the share capital 
demands this in writing. The requirements for notice and admission to participate in the annual general meeting also 
apply to extraordinary general meetings. However, the annual general meeting of shareholders of a Norwegian public 
limited liability company may with a majority of at least two-thirds of the aggregate number of votes cast, as well as at 
least two-thirds of the share capital represented at the general meeting resolve that extraordinary general meetings 
may be convened with a 14 days' notice period until the next annual general meeting provided that the company has 
procedures in place allowing shareholders to vote electronically. This has currently not been resolved by the Company's 
General Meeting. 

Voting rights – amendments to the articles of association 

Each of the Company's Shares carries one vote. In general, decisions that shareholders of a Norwegian public limited 
liability company are entitled to make under Norwegian law or the articles of association may be made by a simple 
majority of the votes cast. In the case of elections or appointments, the person(s) who receive(s) the greatest number 
of votes cast are elected. However, as required under Norwegian law, certain decisions, including resolutions to waive 
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preferential rights to subscribe for shares in connection with any share issue in the company, to approve a merger or 
demerger of the company, to amend the articles of association, to authorize an increase or reduction in the share capital, 
to authorize an issuance of convertible loans or warrants by the company or to authorize the board of directors to 
purchase shares and hold them as treasury shares or to dissolve the company, must receive the approval of at least 
two-thirds of the aggregate number of votes cast as well as at least two-thirds of the share capital represented at a 
general meeting. Norwegian law further requires that certain decisions, which have the effect of substantially altering 
the rights and preferences of any shares or class of shares, receive the approval by the holders of such shares or class 
of shares as well as the majority required for amending the articles of association. 

Decisions that (i) would reduce the rights of some or all of the company's shareholders in respect of dividend payments 
or other rights to assets or (ii) restrict the transferability of the shares, require that at least 90% of the share capital 
represented at the general meeting in question vote in favour of the resolution, as well as the majority required for 
amending the articles of association. 

Only a shareholder registered as such in the VPS is entitled to vote for shares of a Norwegian public limited liability 
company listed on a stock exchange or regulated market. Beneficial owners of the shares who are registered in the name 
of a nominee are generally not entitled to vote under Norwegian law, nor is any person who is designated in the VPS 
register as the holder of such shares as a nominee. A nominee may not meet or vote for shares registered on a nominee 
account ("NOM-account"). A shareholder holding shares through a NOM-account must, in order to be eligible to register, 
meet and vote for such shares at the general meeting, transfer the shares from such NOM-account to an account in the 
shareholder's name. Such registration must appear from a transcript from the VPS at the latest five working days prior 
to the date of the relevant general meeting. 

There are no quorum requirements that apply to the general meeting of a Norwegian public limited liability company. 

Additional issuances, preferential rights and dilution 

If the Company issues any new Shares, including bonus share issues, the Articles of Association must be amended, 
which requires the same vote as other amendments to the Articles of Association. In addition, under Norwegian law, the 
shareholders have a preferential right to subscribe for new shares issued by the Company. Preferential rights may be 
derogated from by resolution in a General Meeting passed by the same vote required to amend the Articles of Association. 
A derogation of the shareholders' preferential rights in respect of bonus issues requires the approval of all outstanding 
Shares. Existing shareholders who do not participate in an issuance of new Shares, including bonus shares, will be 
diluted. 

The general meeting may, by the same vote as is required for amending the Articles of Association, authorize the Board 
of Directors to issue new shares, and to derogate from the preferential rights of shareholders in connection with such 
issuances. Such authorization may be effective for a maximum of two years, and the nominal value of the Shares to be 
issued may not exceed 50% of the registered nominal share capital when the authorization is registered with the 
Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises. 

Under Norwegian law, the Company may increase its share capital by a bonus share issue, subject to approval by the 
shareholders, by transfer from the Company's distributable equity and thus the share capital increase does not require 
any payment of a subscription price by the shareholders. Any bonus issues may be carried out either by issuing new 
shares to the Company's existing shareholders or by increasing the nominal value of the Company's outstanding Shares. 

Issuance of new shares to shareholders who are citizens or residents of the United States upon the exercise of 
preferential rights may require the Company to file a registration statement in the United States under United States 
securities laws. Should the Company in such a situation decide not to file a registration statement, the Company's U.S. 
shareholders may not be able to exercise their preferential rights. If a U.S. shareholder is ineligible to participate in a 
rights offering, such shareholder would not receive the rights at all and the rights would be sold on the shareholder's 
behalf by the Company. Shareholders in other jurisdictions outside Norway may be similarly affected if the rights and 
the new Shares being offered have not been registered with, or approved by, the relevant authorities in such jurisdiction. 
The Company has not filed a registration statement under the U.S. Securities Act in connection with the Listing or sought 
approvals under the laws of any other jurisdiction outside Norway in respect of any pre-emptive rights or the Shares, 
does not intend to do so and doing so in the future may be impractical and costly. To the extent that the Company's 
shareholders are not able to exercise their rights to subscribe for new shares nor receive nor trade such subscription 
rights, the value of their subscription rights will be lost and such shareholders' proportional ownership interests in the 
Company may be reduced. 
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Minority rights 

Norwegian law sets forth a number of protections for minority shareholders of the Company, including but not limited to 
those described in this paragraph and the description of General Meetings as set out above. Any of the Company's 
shareholders may petition Norwegian courts to have a decision of the Board of Directors or the Company's shareholders 
which has been made at the General Meeting declared invalid on the grounds that it unreasonably favours certain 
shareholders or third parties to the detriment of other shareholders or the Company itself. The Company's shareholders 
may also petition the courts to dissolve the Company as a result of such decisions to the extent particularly strong 
reasons are considered by the court to make necessary a dissolution of the Company. 

Non-controlling shareholders holding 5% or more of the Company's share capital have a right to demand in writing that 
the Board of Directors convene an extraordinary General Meeting to discuss or resolve specific matters. In addition, any 
of the Company's shareholders may in writing demand that the Company place an item on the agenda for any General 
Meeting as long as the Company is notified within seven days before the deadline for convening the General Meeting. If 
the notice has been issued when such a written demand is presented, a renewed notice must be issued if the deadline 
for issuing notice of the relevant general meeting has not expired. 

Rights of redemption and repurchase of Shares 

The share capital of the Company may be reduced by reducing the nominal value of the Shares or by cancelling Shares. 
Such a decision requires the approval of at least two-thirds of the aggregate number of votes cast and at least two-
thirds of the share capital represented at a General Meeting. Redemption of individual Shares requires the consent of 
the holders of the Shares to be redeemed. 

The Company may purchase its own Shares provided that the Board of Directors has been granted an authorization to 
do so by a General Meeting with the approval of at least two-thirds of the aggregate number of votes cast and at least 
two-thirds of the share capital represented at the meeting. The aggregate nominal value of treasury shares so acquired, 
and held by the Company must not exceed 10% of the Company's share capital, and treasury shares may only be 
acquired if the Company's distributable equity, according to the latest adopted balance sheet, exceeds the consideration 
to be paid for the shares. The authorization by the General Meeting cannot be granted for a period exceeding two years. 

Shareholder vote on certain reorganisations 

A decision of the Company's shareholders to merge with another company or to demerge requires a resolution by the 
General Meeting passed by at least two-thirds of the aggregate votes cast and at least two-thirds of the share capital 
represented at the General Meeting. A merger plan or demerger plan signed by the Board of Directors along with certain 
other required documentation, would have to be sent to all of the Company's shareholders, or if the Articles of Association 
so stipulate, made available to the shareholders on the Company's website, at least one month prior to the General 
Meeting to pass upon the matter. 

Liability of the members of the Board of Directors 

Members of the Board of Directors owe a fiduciary duty to the Company and its shareholders. Such fiduciary duty requires 
that the Board Members act in the best interests of the Company when exercising their functions and exercise a general 
duty of loyalty and care towards the Company. Their principal task is to safeguard the interests of the Company.  

Members of the Board of Directors may each be held liable for any damage they negligently or wilfully cause the 
Company. Norwegian law permits the General Meeting to discharge a Board Member from liability, but such discharge 
is not binding on the Company if substantially correct and complete information was not provided at the relevant General 
Meeting passing upon the matter. If a resolution to discharge the Board Members from liability or not to pursue claims 
against such a person has been passed by the General Meeting with a smaller majority than that required to amend the 
Articles of Association, shareholders representing more than 10% of the share capital or, if there are more than 100 
shareholders, more than 10% of the shareholders may pursue the claim on the Company's behalf and in its name. The 
cost of any such action is not the Company's responsibility but can be recovered from any proceeds the Company 
receives as a result of the action. If the decision to discharge any of the Board Members from liability or not to pursue 
claims against the Board Members is made by such a majority as is necessary to amend the Articles of Association, the 
minority shareholders of the Company cannot pursue such claim in the Company's name. 

Civil proceedings against the Company in jurisdictions other than Norway 
Investors shall note that they may be unable to recover losses in civil proceedings in jurisdictions other than Norway. 
The Company is a public limited liability company organized under the laws of Norway. A majority of the Board Members 
and all of the members of the Executive Management reside in Norway and Sweden. As a result, it may not be possible 
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for investors to effect service of process in other jurisdictions upon such persons or the Company, to enforce against 
such persons or the Company judgments obtained in non-Norwegian courts, or to enforce judgments on such persons 
or the Company in other jurisdictions. 

Indemnification of Board Members 

Neither Norwegian law nor the Articles of Association contains any provision concerning indemnification by the Company 
of the Board of Directors. The Company is permitted to purchase insurance for the Board Members against certain 
liabilities that they may incur in their capacity as such. 

Distribution of assets on liquidation  

Under Norwegian law, the Company may be wound-up by a resolution of the Company's shareholders at a General 
Meeting passed by at least two-thirds of the aggregate votes cast and at least two-thirds of the share capital represented 
at that meeting. In the event of liquidation, the Shares rank equally in the event of a return on capital. 

15.12 Shareholders agreement 

To the Company's knowledge, there are no shareholders' agreements related to the Shares that will be effective upon 
the Listing.
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16 SECURITIES TRADING IN NORWAY 

Set out below is a summary of certain aspects of securities trading in Norway and the possible implications of owning 
tradable securities on the Oslo Stock Exchange. The summary is based on the rules and regulations in force in Norway 
as at the date of this Prospectus, which may be subject to changes occurring after such date. This summary does not 
purport to be a comprehensive description of securities trading in Norway. Investors who wish to clarify aspects of 
securities trading in Norway should consult with and rely upon their own advisors. 

16.1 Introduction 

The Oslo Stock Exchange was established in 1819 and offers the only regulated market for securities trading in Norway. 
Oslo Børs ASA is 100% owned by Euronext Nordics Holding AS, a holding company established by Euronext N.V following 
its acquisition of Oslo Børs VPS Holding ASA in June 2019. Euronext owns seven regulated markets across Europe, 
including Amsterdam, Brussels, Dublin, Lisbon, London, Oslo and Paris.  

16.2 Market value of the Shares 

The market value of all shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange, including the Shares, may fluctuate significantly, which could 
cause investors to lose a significant part of their investment. The market value of listed shares could fluctuate 
significantly in response to a number of factors beyond the respective issuer's control, including quarterly variations in 
operating results, adverse business developments, changes in financial estimates and investment recommendations or 
ratings by securities analysts, announcements by the respective issuer or its competitors of new product and service 
offerings, significant contracts, acquisitions or strategic relationships, publicity about the issuer, its products and services 
or its competitors, lawsuits against the issuer, unforeseen liabilities, changes in management, changes to the regulatory 
environment in which the issuer operates or general market conditions. 

Furthermore, future issuances of shares or other securities may dilute the holdings of shareholders and could materially 
affect the price of the shares. Any issuer, including the Company, may in the future decide to offer additional shares or 
other securities to finance new capital-intensive projects, in connection with unanticipated liabilities or expenses or for 
any other purposes, including for refinancing purposes. There are no assurances that any of the issuers on the Oslo 
Stock Exchange will not decide to conduct further offerings of securities in the future. Depending on the structure of any 
future offering, certain existing shareholders may not have the ability to purchase additional equity securities. If a listed 
company raises additional funds by issuing additional equity securities, the holdings and voting interests of existing 
shareholders could be diluted, and thereby affect the share price. 

16.3 Trading and settlement 

Trading of equities on the Oslo Stock Exchange is carried out in Euronext's electronic trading system Optiq®. This trading 
system is in use by all markets operated by Euronext. 

Official trading on the Oslo Stock Exchange takes place between 09:00 hours (CET/CEST) and 16:20 hours (CET/CEST) 
each trading day, with pre-trade period between 07:15 hours (CET/CEST) and 09:00 hours (CET/CEST), a closing auction 
from 16:20 hours (CET/CEST) to 16:25 hours (CET/CEST) and a trading at last period from 16:25 hours (CET/CEST) to 
16:30 hours (CET/CEST). Reporting of Off-Book On Exchange trades can be done from 07:15 hours (CET/CEST) to 18:00 
hours (CET/CEST). 

The settlement period for trading on the Oslo Stock Exchange is two trading days (T+2). This means that securities will 
be settled on the investor's account in VPS two days after the transaction, and that the seller will receive payment after 
two days. 

The Oslo Stock Exchange offers an interoperability model for clearing and counterparty services for equity trading 
through LCH Limited, EuroCCP and SIX X-Clear. 

Investment services in Norway may only be provided by Norwegian investment firms holding a license under the 
Norwegian Securities Trading Act, branches of investment firms from an EEA member state or investment firms from 
outside the EEA that have been licensed to operate in Norway. Investment firms in an EEA member state may also 
provide cross-border investment services into Norway. 

It is possible for investment firms to undertake market-making activities in shares listed in Norway if they have a license 
to this effect under the Norwegian Securities Trading Act, or in the case of investment firms in an EEA member state, a 
license to carry out market-making activities in their home jurisdiction. Such market-making activities will be governed 
by the regulations of the Norwegian Securities Trading Act relating to brokers' trading for their own account. However, 
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such market-making activities do not as such require notification to the Norwegian FSA or the Oslo Stock Exchange 
except for the general obligation of investment firms that are members of the Oslo Stock Exchange to report all trades 
in stock exchange listed securities. 

16.4 Information, control and surveillance 

Under Norwegian law, the Oslo Stock Exchange is required to perform a number of surveillance and control functions. 
The Surveillance and Corporate Control unit of the Oslo Stock Exchange monitors all market activity on a continuous 
basis. Market surveillance systems are largely automated, promptly warning department personnel of abnormal market 
developments. 

The Norwegian FSA controls the issuance of securities in both the equity and bond markets in Norway and evaluates 
whether the issuance documentation contains the required information and whether it would otherwise be unlawful to 
carry out the issuance. 

Under Norwegian law, a company that is listed on a Norwegian regulated market, or has applied for listing on such 
market, must promptly release any inside information directly concerning the company. Inside information means precise 
information about financial instruments, the issuer thereof or other matters which are likely to have a significant effect 
on the price of the relevant financial instruments or related financial instruments, and which are not publicly available 
or commonly known in the market. A company may, however, delay the release of such information in order not to 
prejudice its legitimate interests, provided that it is able to ensure the confidentiality of the information and that the 
delayed release would not be likely to mislead the public. The Oslo Stock Exchange may levy fines on companies violating 
these requirements. 

16.5 The VPS and transfer of Shares 

The Company's principal share register is operated through the VPS. The VPS is the Norwegian paperless centralized 
securities register. It is a computerized book-keeping system in which the ownership of, and all transactions relating to, 
Norwegian listed shares must be recorded. The VPS and Oslo Børs ASA are both wholly-owned by Euronext Nordics 
Holding AS. 

All transactions relating to securities registered with the VPS are made through computerized book entries. No physical 
share certificates are, or may be, issued. The VPS confirms each entry by sending a transcript to the registered 
shareholder irrespective of any beneficial ownership. To give effect to such entries, the individual shareholder must 
establish a share account with a Norwegian account agent. Norwegian banks, Norges Bank (being, Norway's central 
bank), authorized securities brokers in Norway and Norwegian branches of credit institutions established within the EEA 
are allowed to act as account agents. 

As a matter of Norwegian law, the entry of a transaction in the VPS is prima facie evidence in determining the legal 
rights of parties as against the issuing company or any third party claiming an interest in the given security. A transferee 
or assignee of shares may not exercise the rights of a shareholder with respect to such shares unless such transferee or 
assignee has registered such shareholding or has reported and shown evidence of such share acquisition, and the 
acquisition is not prevented by law, the relevant company's articles of association or otherwise. 

The VPS is liable for any loss suffered as a result of faulty registration or an amendment to, or deletion of, rights in 
respect of registered securities unless the error is caused by matters outside the VPS' control which the VPS could not 
reasonably be expected to avoid or overcome the consequences of. Damages payable by the VPS may, however, be 
reduced in the event of contributory negligence by the aggrieved party. 

The VPS must provide information to the Norwegian FSA on an ongoing basis, as well as any information that the 
Norwegian FSA requests. Further, Norwegian tax authorities may require certain information from the VPS regarding 
any individual's holdings of securities, including information about dividends and interest payments. 

16.6 Shareholder register – Norwegian law 

Under Norwegian law, shares are registered in the name of the beneficial owner of the shares. Beneficial owners of the 
Shares that are registered in a nominee account (such as through brokers, dealers or other third parties) may not be 
able to vote for such Shares unless their ownership is re-registered in their names with the VPS prior to any general 
meeting. As a general rule, there are no arrangements for nominee registration and Norwegian shareholders are not 
allowed to register their shares in the VPS through a nominee. However, foreign shareholders may register their shares 
in the VPS in the name of a nominee (bank or other nominee) approved by the Norwegian FSA. An approved and 
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registered nominee has a duty to provide information on demand about beneficial shareholders to the company and to 
the Norwegian authorities. In case of registration by nominees, the registration in the VPS must show that the registered 
owner is a nominee. A registered nominee has the right to receive dividends and other distributions, but cannot vote in 
general meetings on behalf of the beneficial owners. There is no assurance that beneficial owners of the Shares will 
receive the notice of any general meeting in time to instruct their nominees to either effect a re-registration of their 
Shares or otherwise vote for their Shares in the manner desired by such beneficial owners. See Section 15.11 "Certain 
aspects of Norwegian corporate law" under the subheading "Voting rights – amendments to the articles of association" 
for more information on nominee accounts. 

16.7 Foreign investment in shares listed in Norway 

Foreign investors may trade shares listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange through any broker that is a member of the Oslo 
Stock Exchange, whether Norwegian or foreign. 

Foreign investors are to note that the rights of holders of listed shares of companies incorporated in Norway are governed 
by Norwegian law and by the respective company's articles of association. These rights may differ from the rights of 
shareholders in other jurisdictions. In particular, Norwegian law limits the circumstances under which shareholders of 
Norwegian companies may bring derivative actions. For instance, under Norwegian law, any action brought by a company 
in respect of wrongful acts committed against such company will be prioritised over actions brought by shareholders 
claiming compensation in respect of such acts. In addition, it may be difficult to prevail in a claim against such company 
under, or to enforce liabilities predicated upon, securities laws in other jurisdictions. See Section 15.11 "Certain aspects 
of Norwegian corporate law" for more information.  

16.8 Disclosure obligations 

If a person's, entity's or consolidated group's proportion of the total issued shares and/or rights to shares in a company 
listed on a regulated market in Norway (with Norway as its home state, which will be the case for the Company) reaches, 
exceeds or falls below the respective thresholds of 5%, 10%, 15%, 20%, 25%, 1/3, 50%, 2/3 or 90% of the share 
capital or the voting rights of that company, the person, entity or group in question has an obligation under the 
Norwegian Securities Trading Act to notify the Oslo Stock Exchange and the issuer immediately. The same applies if the 
disclosure thresholds are passed due to other circumstances, such as a change in the company's share capital. 

16.9 Insider trading 

According to Norwegian law, subscription for, purchase, sale or exchange or other acquisition or disposal of financial 
instruments that are listed, or subject to the application for listing, on a Norwegian regulated market, or incitement to 
such dispositions, must not be undertaken by anyone who has inside information, as defined in Article 7 of Regulation 
(EU) No 596/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 April 2014 on market abuse, and as implemented 
in Norway in accordance with Section 3-1 of the Norwegian Securities Trading Act. The same applies to the entry into, 
purchase, sale or exchange of options or futures/forward contracts or equivalent rights whose value or price either 
depends on or has an effect on the price or value of such financial instruments, or incitement to such dispositions. 

16.10 Mandatory offer requirement 

The Norwegian Securities Trading Act requires any person, entity or consolidated group that becomes the owner of 
shares representing more than one-third of the voting rights of a company listed on a Norwegian regulated market (with 
the exception of certain foreign companies) to, within four weeks, make an unconditional general offer for the purchase 
of the remaining shares in that company. A mandatory offer obligation may also be triggered where a party acquires the 
right to become the owner of shares that, together with the party's own shareholding, represent more than one-third of 
the voting rights in the company and the Oslo Stock Exchange decides that this is regarded as an effective acquisition 
of the shares in question.  

The mandatory offer obligation ceases to apply if the person, entity or consolidated group sells the portion of the shares 
that exceeds the relevant threshold within four weeks of the date on which the mandatory offer obligation was triggered.  

When a mandatory offer obligation is triggered, the person subject to the obligation is required to immediately notify 
the Oslo Stock Exchange and the company in question accordingly. The notification is required to state whether an offer 
will be made to acquire the remaining shares in the company or whether a sale will take place. As a rule, a notification 
to the effect that an offer will be made cannot be retracted. The offer and the offer document required are subject to 
approval by the Oslo Stock Exchange before the offer is submitted to the shareholders or made public. 
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The offer price per share must be at least as high as the highest price paid or agreed by the offeror for the shares in the 
six-month period prior to the date the threshold was exceeded. If the acquirer acquires or agrees to acquire additional 
shares at a higher price prior to the expiration of the mandatory offer period, the acquirer is obliged to restate its offer 
at such higher price. A mandatory offer must be in cash or contain a cash alternative at least equivalent to any other 
consideration offered. 

In case of failure to make a mandatory offer or to sell the portion of the shares that exceeds the relevant threshold 
within four weeks, the Oslo Stock Exchange may force the acquirer to sell the shares exceeding the threshold by public 
auction. Moreover, a shareholder who fails to make an offer may not, as long as the mandatory offer obligation remains 
in force, exercise rights in the company, such as voting in a general meeting, without the consent of a majority of the 
remaining shareholders. The shareholder may, however, exercise his/her/its rights to dividends and pre-emption rights 
in the event of a share capital increase. If the shareholder neglects his/her/its duty to make a mandatory offer, the Oslo 
Stock Exchange may impose a cumulative daily fine that runs until the circumstance has been rectified. 

Any person, entity or consolidated group that owns shares representing more than one-third of the votes in a company 
listed on a Norwegian regulated market (with the exception of certain foreign companies) is obliged to make an offer to 
purchase the remaining shares of the company (repeated offer obligation) if the person, entity or consolidated group 
through acquisition becomes the owner of shares representing 40%, or more of the votes in the company. The same 
applies correspondingly if the person, entity or consolidated group through acquisition becomes the owner of shares 
representing 50% or more of the votes in the company. The mandatory offer obligation ceases to apply if the person, 
entity or consolidated group sells the portion of the shares which exceeds the relevant threshold within four weeks of 
the date on which the mandatory offer obligation was triggered. 

Any person, entity or consolidated group that has passed any of the above mentioned thresholds in such a way as not 
to trigger the mandatory bid obligation, and has therefore not previously made an offer for the remaining shares in the 
company in accordance with the mandatory offer rules is, as a main rule, obliged to make a mandatory offer in the event 
of a subsequent acquisition of shares in the company. 

16.11 Compulsory acquisition 

Pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act and the Norwegian Securities Trading Act, a shareholder who, 
directly or through subsidiaries, acquires shares representing 90% or more of the total number of issued shares in a 
Norwegian public limited liability company, as well as 90% or more of the total voting rights, has a right, and each 
remaining minority shareholder of the company has a right to require such majority shareholder, to effect a compulsory 
acquisition for cash of the shares not already owned by such majority shareholder. Through such compulsory acquisition 
the majority shareholder becomes the owner of the remaining shares with immediate effect. 

If a shareholder acquires shares representing more than 90% of the total number of issued shares, as well as more than 
90% of the total voting rights, through a voluntary offer in accordance with the Securities Trading Act, a compulsory 
acquisition can, subject to the following conditions, be carried out without such shareholder being obliged to make a 
mandatory offer: (i) the compulsory acquisition is commenced no later than four weeks after the acquisition of shares 
through the voluntary offer, (ii) the price offered per share is equal to or higher than what the offer price would have 
been in a mandatory offer, and (iii) the settlement is guaranteed by a financial institution authorised to provide such 
guarantees in Norway. 

A majority shareholder who effects a compulsory acquisition is required to offer the minority shareholders a specific 
price per share, the determination of which is at the discretion of the majority shareholder. However, where the offeror, 
after making a mandatory or voluntary offer, has acquired more than 90% of the voting shares of a company and a 
corresponding proportion of the votes that can be cast at the general meeting, and the offeror pursuant to Section 4-25 
of the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act completes a compulsory acquisition of the remaining shares within three 
months after the expiry of the offer period, it follows from the Norwegian Securities Trading Act that the redemption 
price shall be determined on the basis of the offer price for the mandatory/voluntary offer unless specific reasons indicate 
another price. 

Should any minority shareholder not accept the offered price, such minority shareholder may, within a specified deadline 
of not less than two months, request that the price be set by a Norwegian court. The cost of such court procedure will, 
as a general rule, be the responsibility of the majority shareholder, and the relevant court will have full discretion in 
determining the consideration to be paid to the minority shareholder as a result of the compulsory acquisition.  
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Absent a request for a Norwegian court to set the price or any other objection to the price being offered, the minority 
shareholders would be deemed to have accepted the offered price after the expiry of the specified deadline. 

16.12 Foreign exchange controls 

There are currently no foreign exchange control restrictions in Norway that would potentially restrict the payment of 
dividends to a shareholder outside Norway, and there are currently no restrictions that would affect the right of 
shareholders of a company that has its shares registered with the VPS who are not residents in Norway to dispose of 
their shares and receive the proceeds from a disposal outside Norway. There is no maximum transferable amount either 
to or from Norway, although transferring banks are required to submit reports on foreign currency exchange transactions 
into and out of Norway into a central data register maintained by the Norwegian customs and excise authorities. The 
Norwegian police, tax authorities, customs and excise authorities, the National Insurance Administration and the 
Norwegian FSA have electronic access to the data in this register. 
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17 TAXATION 

Set out below is a summary of certain Norwegian tax matters related to an investment in the Company. The summary 
regarding Norwegian taxation is based on the laws in force in Norway as at the date of this Prospectus, which may be 
subject to any changes in law occurring after such date. Such changes could possibly be made on a retrospective basis.  

The following summary does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all the tax considerations that may be 
relevant to a decision to purchase, own or dispose of the shares in the Company. Shareholders who wish to clarify their 
own tax situation should consult with and rely upon their own tax advisors. Shareholders resident in jurisdictions other 
than Norway and shareholders who cease to be resident in Norway for tax purposes (due to domestic tax law or tax 
treaty) should specifically consult with and rely upon their own tax advisors with respect to the tax position in their 
country of residence and the tax consequences related to ceasing to be resident in Norway for tax purposes. 

Please note that for the purpose of the summary below, a reference to a Norwegian or non-Norwegian shareholder refers 
to the tax residency rather than the nationality of the shareholder. 

The tax legislation in the Company's jurisdiction of incorporation and the tax legislation in the jurisdictions in which the 
shareholders are resident for tax purposes may have an impact on the income received from shares in the Company. 

17.1 Norwegian taxation 

17.1.1 Taxation of dividends  

Norwegian Personal Shareholders 

Dividends distributed by the Company to shareholders who are individuals resident in Norway for tax purposes 
("Norwegian Personal Shareholders") are taxable in Norway for such shareholders currently at an effective tax rate 
of 31.68% to the extent the dividend exceeds a tax-free allowance; i.e. dividends received, less the tax free allowance, 
shall be multiplied by 1.44 which are then included as ordinary income taxable at a flat rate of 22%, increasing the 
effective tax rate on dividends received by Norwegian Personal Shareholders to 31.68%. 

The allowance is calculated on a share-by-share basis. The allowance for each share is equal to the cost price of the 
share multiplied by a determined risk free interest rate based on the effective rate of interest on treasury bills (Nw.: 
statskasseveksler) with three months maturity plus 0.5 percentage points, after tax. The allowance is calculated for each 
calendar year, and is allocated solely to Norwegian Personal Shareholders holding shares at the expiration of the relevant 
calendar year. 

Norwegian Personal Shareholders who transfer shares will thus not be entitled to deduct any calculated allowance related 
to the year of transfer. Any part of the calculated allowance one year exceeding the dividend distributed on the share 
("excess allowance") may be carried forward and set off against future dividends received on, or gains upon realization, 
of the same share. Any excess allowance will also be included in the basis of computation of the allowance on the same 
share the following year. 

Norwegian Personal Shareholders may hold the shares through a Norwegian share saving account (Nw.: 
aksjesparekonto). Dividends received on shares held through a share saving account will not be taxed with immediate 
effect. Instead, withdrawal of funds from the share saving account exceeding the paid in deposit will be regarded as 
taxable income, regardless of whether the funds are derived from gains or dividends related to the shares held in the 
account. Such income will be taxed with an effective tax rate of 31.68%, cf. above. Norwegian Personal Shareholders 
will still be entitled to a calculated tax-free allowance. Please refer to Section 17.1.2 "Taxation of capital gains on 
realization of shares – Norwegian personal shareholders" for further information in respect of Norwegian share saving 
accounts. 

Norwegian Corporate Shareholders 

Dividends distributed by the Company to shareholders who are limited liability companies (and certain similar entities) 
resident in Norway for tax purposes ("Norwegian Corporate Shareholders"), are effectively taxed at rate of currently 
0.66% (3% of dividend income from such shares is included in the calculation of ordinary income for Norwegian 
Corporate Shareholders and ordinary income is subject to tax at a flat rate of currently 22%). For Norwegian Corporate 
Shareholders that are considered to be "Financial Institutions" under the Norwegian financial activity tax (banks, holding 
companies, etc.), the effective rate of taxation for dividends is 0.75%. 
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Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders 

Dividends distributed by the Company to shareholders who are individuals not resident in Norway for tax purposes 
("Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders"), are as a general rule subject to Norwegian withholding tax at a rate of 
25%. The withholding tax rate of 25% is normally reduced through tax treaties between Norway and the country in 
which the shareholder is resident.  

Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders resident within the EEA for tax purposes may apply individually to Norwegian tax 
authorities for a refund of an amount corresponding to the calculated tax-free allowance on each individual share, please 
refer to Section 17.1.1 "Taxation of dividends – Norwegian Personal Shareholders" above. However, the deduction for 
the tax-free allowance does not apply in the event that the withholding tax rate, pursuant to an applicable tax treaty, 
leads to a lower taxation of the dividends than the withholding tax rate of 25% less the tax-free allowance. 

If a Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholder is carrying on business activities in Norway and the shares are effectively 
connected with such activities, the shareholder will be subject to the same taxation of dividends as a Norwegian Personal 
Shareholder, as described above. 

In accordance with the present administrative system in Norway, a distributing company will generally deduct 
withholding tax at the applicable rate when dividends are paid directly to an eligible Non-Norwegian Personal 
Shareholder, based on information registered with the VPS. All Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders must document 
their entitlement to a reduced withholding tax rate by (i) obtaining a certificate of residence issued by the tax authorities 
in the shareholder's country of residence, confirming that the shareholder is resident in that state, which cannot be older 
than three years. and (ii) providing a confirmation from the shareholder that the shareholder is the beneficial owner of 
the dividend. Such documentation must be provided to either the nominee or the account operator (VPS). Dividends 
paid to Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders in respect of nominee registered shares are not eligible for reduced treaty 
withholding tax rate at the time of payment unless the nominee, by agreeing to provide certain information regarding 
the beneficial owner, has obtained approval for reduced treaty withholding tax rate from the Norwegian tax authorities. 
The withholding obligation lies with the company distributing the dividends and the Company assumes this obligation. 

Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders who have suffered a higher withholding tax than set out in an applicable tax 
treaty may apply to the Norwegian tax authorities for a refund of the excess withholding tax deducted. 

Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders should consult their own advisers regarding the availability of treaty benefits in 
respect of dividend payments, including the possibility of effectively claiming a refund of withholding tax. 

Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders resident in the EEA for tax purposes may hold their shares through a Norwegian 
share saving account. Dividends received on and gains derived upon the realization of shares held through a share 
saving account by a Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholder resident in the EEA will not be taxed with immediate effect. 
Instead, withdrawal of funds from the share saving account exceeding the Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholder's paid 
in deposit, will be subject to withholding tax at a rate of 25% (unless reduced pursuant to an applicable tax treaty). 
Capital gains realized upon realization of shares held through the share saving account will be regarded as paid in 
deposits, which may be withdrawn without taxation. Losses will correspondingly be deducted from the paid in deposit, 
reducing the amount which can be withdrawn without withholding tax.  

The obligation to deduct and report withholding tax on shares held through a saving account, cf. above, lies with the 
account operator. 

Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders 

Dividends distributed by the Company to shareholders who are limited liability companies (and certain other entities) 
domiciled outside of Norway for tax purposes ("Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders"), are as a general rule 
subject to withholding tax at a rate of 25%. The withholding tax rate of 25% is normally reduced through tax treaties 
between Norway and the country in which the shareholder is resident. 

Dividends distributed to Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders domiciled within the EEA for tax purposes are exempt 
from Norwegian withholding tax on dividends pursuant to the Norwegian participation exemption, provided that the Non-
Norwegian Corporate Shareholder is the beneficial owner of the shares and that the shareholder is genuinely established 
and performs genuine economic business activities within the relevant EEA jurisdiction. 
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If a Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholder is carrying on business activities in Norway and the shares are effectively 
connected with such activities, the shareholder will be subject to the same taxation of dividends as a Norwegian 
Corporate Shareholder, as described above. 

Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders who have suffered a higher withholding tax than set out in an applicable tax 
treaty may apply to the Norwegian tax authorities for a refund of the excess withholding tax deducted. The same will 
apply to Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders who have suffered withholding tax although qualifying for the 
Norwegian participation exemption. 

All Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders must document their entitlement to a reduced withholding tax rate by (i) 
obtaining a certificate of residence issued by the tax authorities in the shareholder's country of residence, confirming 
that the shareholder is resident in that state, which cannot be older than three years, and (ii) providing a confirmation 
from the shareholder that the shareholder is the beneficial owner of the dividend. In addition, Non-Norwegian Corporate 
Shareholders must present either (i) an approved withholding tax refund application or (ii) an approval from the 
Norwegian tax authorities confirming that the recipient is entitled to a reduced withholding tax rate. Such documentation 
must be provided to either the nominee or the account operator (VPS). 

In order for a Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholder resident in the EEA to be exempt from withholding tax, the company 
must provide all documentation mentioned above, as well as a declaration stating that the circumstances entitling the 
company to the exemption have not changed since the documentation was issued. 

The withholding obligation in respect of dividends distributed to Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders and on nominee 
registered shares lies with the company distributing the dividends and the Company assumes this obligation. 

Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders should consult their own advisers regarding the availability of treaty benefits in 
respect of dividend payments, including the possibility of effectively claiming a refund of withholding tax. 

17.1.2 Taxation of capital gains on realization of shares 

Norwegian Personal Shareholders 

Sale, redemption or other disposal of shares is considered a realization for Norwegian tax purposes. A capital gain or 
loss generated by a Norwegian Personal Shareholder through a disposal of shares is taxable or tax deductible in Norway. 
The effective tax rate on gain or loss related to shares realized by Norwegian Personal Shareholders is currently 31.68%; 
i.e. capital gains (less the tax free allowance) and losses shall be multiplied by 1.44 which are then included in or 
deducted from the Norwegian Personal Shareholder's ordinary income in the year of disposal. Ordinary income is taxable 
at a flat rate of 22%, increasing the effective tax rate on gains/losses realized by Norwegian Personal Shareholders to 
31.68%.  

The gain is subject to tax and the loss is tax deductible irrespective of the duration of the ownership and the number of 
shares disposed of. 

The taxable gain/deductible loss is calculated per share as the difference between the consideration for the share and 
the Norwegian Personal Shareholder's cost price of the share, including costs incurred in relation to the acquisition or 
realization of the share. From this capital gain, Norwegian Personal Shareholders are entitled to deduct a calculated 
allowance provided that such allowance has not already been used to reduce taxable dividend income. Please refer to 
Section 17.1.1 "Taxation of dividends – Norwegian Personal Shareholders" above for a description of the calculation of 
the allowance. The allowance may only be deducted in order to reduce a taxable gain, and cannot increase or produce 
a deductible loss, i.e. any unused allowance exceeding the capital gain upon the realization of a share will be annulled. 
Unused allowance may not be set off against gains from realization of other shares. 

If the Norwegian Personal Shareholder owns shares acquired at different points in time, the shares that were acquired 
first will be regarded as the first to be disposed of, on a first-in first-out basis. 

Special rules apply for Norwegian Personal Shareholders that cease to be tax-resident in Norway.  

Gains derived upon the realization of shares held through a share saving account will be exempt from immediate 
Norwegian taxation and losses will not be tax deductible. Instead, withdrawal of funds from the share saving account 
exceeding the Norwegian Personal Shareholder's paid in deposit, will be regarded as taxable income, subject to tax at 
an effective tax rate of 31.68%. Norwegian Personal Shareholders will be entitled to a calculated tax-free allowance 
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provided that such allowance has not already been used to reduce taxable dividend income, please refer to Section 
17.1.1 "Taxation of dividends – Norwegian Personal Shareholders" above. The tax-free allowance is calculated based on 
the lowest paid in deposit in the account during the income year, plus any unused tax-free allowance from previous 
years. The tax-free allowance can only be deducted in order to reduce taxable income, and cannot increase or produce 
a deductible loss. Any excess allowance may be carried forward and set off against future withdrawals from the account 
or future dividends received on shares held through the account. 

Norwegian Personal Shareholders holding shares through more than one share saving account may transfer their shares 
or securities between the share saving accounts without incurring Norwegian taxation. 

Norwegian Corporate Shareholders 

Norwegian Corporate Shareholders are exempt from tax on capital gains derived from the realization of shares qualifying 
for participation exemption, including shares in the Company. Losses upon the realization and costs incurred in 
connection with the purchase and realization of such shares are not deductible for tax purposes. 

Special rules apply for Norwegian Corporate Shareholders that cease to be tax-resident in Norway. 

Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders 

Gains from the sale or other disposal of shares by a Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholder will not be subject to taxation 
in Norway unless the Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholder holds the shares in connection with business activities carried 
out or managed from Norway. Please refer to Section 17.1.1 "Taxation of dividends – Non-Norwegian Personal 
Shareholders" above for a description of the availability of a Norwegian share saving accounts. 

Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders 

Capital gains derived by the sale or other realization of shares by Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders are not subject 
to taxation in Norway unless the shareholding is effectively connected with business activities carried out in or manager 
from Norway. 

17.1.3 Net wealth tax 

The value of shares is included in the basis for the computation of net wealth tax imposed on Norwegian Personal 
Shareholders. Currently, the marginal net wealth tax rate is 0.85% of the value assessed. The value for assessment 
purposes for listed shares is equal to 55% of the listed value as of 1 January in the year of assessment (i.e. the year 
following the relevant fiscal year). The value of debt allocated to the listed shares for Norwegian wealth tax purposes is 
reduced correspondingly (i.e. to 55%). 

Norwegian Corporate Shareholders are not subject to net wealth tax. 

Non-Norwegian (Personal and Corporate) Shareholders are generally not subject to Norwegian net wealth tax. Non-
Norwegian Personal Shareholders can, however, be taxable if the shareholding is effectively connected to the conduct 
of trade or business in Norway. 

17.1.4 VAT and transfer taxes 

No VAT, stamp or similar duties are currently imposed in Norway on the transfer or issuance of shares. 

17.1.5 Inheritance tax 

A transfer of shares through inheritance or as a gift does not give rise to inheritance or gift tax in Norway. 
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18 TERMS OF THE OFFERING 

18.1 Overview of the Offering 

The Offering consists of (i) an offer of 28,089,888 New Shares, each with a par value of NOK 0.01, to raise gross 
proceeds of approximately NOK 500 million and (ii) an offer of up to 33,707,865 Sale Shares, all of which are existing, 
validly issued and fully paid registered Shares with a par value of NOK 0.01 each, offered by the Selling Shareholders. 
Reference is made to Section 14 "Selling Shareholders" for more information on the Selling Shareholders and the Sale 
Shares. The Offer Price at which the Offer Shares will be sold is NOK 17.80 per Offer Share. 

In addition, the Managers may elect to over-allot up to 6,179,775 additional Shares, equal to up to 10% of the total 
number of New Shares and Sale Shares sold in the Offering. In this respect, Valedo Partners III AB is expected to grant 
to the Stabilization Manager (ABGSC), on behalf of the Managers, an option to borrow a number of Shares (the Borrowing 
Option) equal to the number of Additional Shares in order to facilitate such over-allotment and delivery of over-allotted 
Shares. The Stabilization Manager, on behalf of the Managers, is expected to be granted an option by the Company to 
purchase a number of new Shares equal to the number of Additional Shares at a price per Share equal to the Offer Price 
(the Greenshoe Option), exercisable, in whole or in part, within a 30-day period commencing at the time at which trading 
in the Shares commences on Oslo Børs, on the terms and subject to the conditions described in this Prospectus.  

The Offering consists of:  

• An Institutional Offering, in which Offer Shares are being offered to (a) institutional and professional investors 
in Norway, (b) investors outside Norway and the United States, subject to applicable exemptions from the 
prospectus and registration requirements, and (c) investors in the United States who are QIBs in transactions 
exempt from registration requirements under the U.S. Securities Act. The Institutional Offering is subject to 
a lower limit per application of NOK 2,000,000.  

• A Retail Offering, in which Offer Shares are being offered to the public in Norway subject to a lower limit per 
application of NOK 10,500 and an upper limit per application of NOK 1,999,999 for each investor. Investors 
who intend to place an order in excess of NOK 1,999,999 must do so in the Institutional Offering. Multiple 
applications by one applicant in the Retail Offering will be treated as one application with respect to the 
maximum application limit. 

• An Employee Offering, in which Offer Shares are being offered to the Eligible Employees and sold at the same 
price as in the Institutional Offering and the Retail Offering. There will be no discounts for Eligible Employees. 
The Employee Offering is subject to a lower limit per application of NOK 10,500 and an upper limit per 
application equal to the applicable Guaranteed Allocation (as defined below) for each Eligible Employee. 
Eligible Employees being Primary Insiders will receive full allocation up to an amount of NOK 350,000 and all 
other Eligible Employees will receive full allocation up to an amount of NOK 25,000 (the "Guaranteed 
Allocation"). Multiple applications by one applicant in the Employee Offering will be treated as one application 
with respect to the maximum application limit and the Guaranteed Allocation. 

All offers and sales in the United States will be made only to QIBs in reliance on Rule 144A or pursuant to another 
exemption from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act. All offers and sales outside the United States 
will be in compliance with Regulation S of the U.S. Securities Act. This Prospectus does not constitute an offer of, or an 
invitation to purchase, the Offer Shares in any jurisdiction in which such offer or sale would be unlawful. For further 
details, see "Important information" and Section 19 "Selling and transfer restrictions". 

The Bookbuilding Period for the Institutional Offering is expected to take place from 15 June 2021 at 09:00 hours (CEST) 
to 22 June 2021 at 14:00 hours (CEST). The Application Period for the Retail Offering is expected to take place from 15 
June 2021 at 09:00 hours (CEST) to 22 June 2021 at 16:00 hours (CEST). The Employee Application Period for the 
Employee Offering is expected to take place from 15 June 2021 at 09:00 hours (CEST) to 22 June 2021 at 15:00 hours 
(CEST). The Company and the Selling Shareholders, in consultation with the Managers, reserve the right to extend the 
Bookbuilding Period, the Application Period and the Employee Application Period at any time. Any extension of the 
Bookbuilding Period, the Application Period and/or the Employee Application Period will be announced through Oslo Børs' 
information system on or before 09:00 hours (CEST) on the first business day following the then prevailing expiration 
date of the Bookbuilding Period, the Application Period and/or the Employee Application Period. In the event of an 
extension of the Bookbuilding Period, the Application Period and/or the Employee Application Period, the allocation date, 
the payment due date and the dates of delivery of Offer Shares will be changed accordingly, but the date of the Listing 
and commencement of trading on Oslo Børs may not necessarily be changed. 
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The Company and the Selling Shareholders, in consultation with the Managers, will determine the number of Offer Shares 
on the basis of the bookbuilding process in the Institutional Offering and the applications received in the Retail Offering 
and the Employee Offering. The bookbuilding process, which will form the basis for the final determination of the number 
of Offer Shares, will be conducted only in connection with the Institutional Offering. Further, based on the demand for 
Offer Shares in the bookbuilding process, the number of Sale Shares sold by the Selling Shareholders may be reduced 
from the maximum number set out in this Prospectus and it may be decided not to sell any Sale Shares at all. 

Funds managed and advised by Capital World Investors, Carnegie Fonder AB and Handelsbanken Fonder AB have, 
subject to certain terms and conditions, committed to purchase, and being allocated, Offer Shares at the Offer Price, for 
up to NOK 237.50 million, NOK 100 million and NOK 100 million, respectively, equal to a total amount of NOK 437.50 
million. 

The Company expects that it will, on or about 14 June 2021, together with the Selling Shareholders, enter into a placing 
agreement (the "Placing Agreement") with the Managers with respect to the Offering of the Offer Shares. 

Completion of the Offering is conditional upon, among other conditions, the Company satisfying the listing conditions 
and being listed on Oslo Børs, see Section 18.16 "Conditions for completion of the Offering – Listing and trading of the 
Offer Shares". 

The Company has made, and will make, certain representations and warranties in favour of, and have agreed to certain 
undertakings with the Managers in the mandate agreement (the "Mandate Agreement"), and are expected to agree 
to certain undertakings with the Managers in the Placing Agreement and ancillary agreements and documents entered 
into in connection with the Offering and the Listing. Further, the Company and the Selling Shareholders will give an 
undertaking in favour of the Managers that, with certain exceptions, will restrict their ability to issue, sell or transfer 
Shares for six months from the first day of trading of the Shares on Oslo Børs. The members of the Board of Directors, 
the Executive Management and the general managers of the Company's subsidiaries are expected to give an undertaking 
in favour of the Managers on the same for 12 months from the first day of trading of the Shares on Oslo Børs. 
Furthermore, the Company has undertaken, subject to certain conditions and limitations, to indemnify the Managers 
against certain liabilities arising out of or in connection with the Offering.  

See Section 18.18 "Expenses of the Offering and the Listing" for information regarding fees expected to be paid to the 
Managers and costs expected to be paid by the Company in connection with the Offering. 

18.2 Timetable 

The timetable set out below provides certain indicative key dates for the Offering (subject to extensions):  

Bookbuilding Period commences ..........................................................  15 June 2021 at 09:00 hours (CEST) 
Bookbuilding Period ends ....................................................................  22 June 2021 at 14:00 hours (CEST) 
Application Period commences ............................................................  15 June 2021 at 09:00 hours (CEST) 
Application Period ends ......................................................................  22 June 2021 at 16:00 hours (CEST) 
Employee Application Period commences ..............................................  15 June 2021 at 09:00 hours (CEST) 
Employee Application Period ends ........................................................  22 June 2021 at 15:00 hours (CEST) 
Accounts from which payment will be debited for applications in the 
Employee Offering and applications through the Nordnet webservice in the 
Retail Offering to be sufficiently funded ................................................  22 June 2021 at 15:00 hours (CEST) 
Allocation of the Offer Shares ..............................................................  On or about 22 June 2021 
Publication of the results of the Offering ...............................................  On or about 22 June 2021 
Distribution of allocation notes ............................................................  On or about 23 June 2021 
Registration of new share capital and issuance of the New Shares ...........  On or about 23 June 2021 
Accounts from which payment will be debited for applications through the 
VPS online application system or the Retail Application Form in the Retail 
Offering to be sufficiently funded .........................................................  On or about 23 June 2021 
Listing and commencement of trading in the Shares ..............................  On or about 24 June 2021 
Payment date in the Retail Offering and the Employee Offering ...............  On or about 24 June 2021 
Payment date in the Institutional Offering .............................................  On or about 25 June 2021 
Delivery of the Offer Shares in the Institutional Offering .........................  On or about 25 June 2021 
Delivery of the Offer Shares in the Retail Offering and the Employee 
Offering (subject to timely payment)....................................................  On or about 28 June 2021 

Note that the Company and the Selling Shareholders, together with the Managers, reserve the right to extend the 
Bookbuilding Period, the Application Period and/or the Employee Application Period. In the event of an extension of the 
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Bookbuilding Period, the Application Period and/or the Employee Application Period, the allocation date, the payment 
due date and the dates of delivery of Offer Shares will be changed accordingly, but the date of the Listing and 
commencement of trading on Oslo Børs may not necessarily be changed. 

18.3 Resolution relating to the Offering and the issue of New Shares 

On 25 May 2021, the extraordinary general meeting of the Company resolved to authorise the Board of Directors to 
issue shares in connection with the Offering and Listing (unofficial translation from Norwegian): 

(i) Pursuant to section 10-14 of the Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act, the board of directors is 
granted an authorisation to increase the Company's share capital by up to NOK 555,129. The shares issued 
pursuant to the authorisation shall be A-shares (ordinary shares).  

(ii) The authorisation is valid until the Company's annual general meeting in 2022, but no longer than to and 
including 30 June 2022.  

(iii) The preferential rights of existing shareholder to subscribe for the new shares pursuant to section 10-4 of the 
Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act may be deviated from.  

(iv) The authorisation does not comprise share capital increases against contribution in kind or the right to incur 
specific obligations on behalf of the Company, cf. section 10-2 of the Norwegian Public Limited Liability 
Companies Act.  

(v) The authorisation may be used to offer new shares in connection with an initial public offering of shares in the 
Company. 

Following the end of the Bookbuilding Period, the Application Period and the Employee Application Period, both the Board 
of Directors and the Selling Shareholders will on or about 22 June 2021 consider and, if thought fit, approve the 
completion of the Offering. If the Board of Directors and the Selling Shareholders determine that the Offering shall be 
completed, then they will also determine the allocation of the Offer Shares. The New Shares are expected to be issued 
on or about 23 June 2021. 

18.4 The Institutional Offering 

18.4.1 Offer Price and determination of the number of Offer Shares  

The Offer Price at which the Offer Shares will be sold is NOK 17.80 per Offer Share. The Company and the Selling 
Shareholders will, in consultation with the Managers, determine the number of Offer Shares on the basis of the 
applications received and not withdrawn in the Institutional Offering during the Bookbuilding Period and the number of 
applications received in the Retail Offering and the Employee Offering.  

18.4.2 Bookbuilding Period 

The Bookbuilding Period for the Institutional Offering will be from 15 June 2021 at 09:00 hours (CEST) to 22 June 2021 
at 14:00 hours (CEST), unless extended.  

The Company and the Selling Shareholders may, in consultation with the Managers, extend the Bookbuilding Period at 
any time, and extension may be made on one or several occasions. The Bookbuilding Period may in no event be extended 
beyond 14:00 hours (CEST) on 28 June 2021. In the event of an extension of the Bookbuilding Period, the allocation 
date, the payment due date and the date of delivery of Offer Shares may be changed accordingly, but the date of the 
Listing and commencement of trading on Oslo Børs will not necessarily be changed. 

18.4.3 Minimum application 

The Institutional Offering is subject to a minimum application of NOK 2,000,000 per application. Investors in Norway 
who intend to place an application for less than NOK 2,000,000 must do so in the Retail Offering or, for Eligible 
Employees, the Employee Offering. 

18.4.4 Application procedure 

Applications for Offer Shares in the Institutional Offering must be made during the Bookbuilding Period by informing one 
of the Managers shown below of the number of Offer Shares that the investor wishes to order. 
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ABG Sundal Collier AS Joh. Berenberg, Gossler & Co. KG Carnegie AS 
Munkedamsveien 45E Neuer Jungfernstieg 20 Fjordalléen 16, 5th floor, Aker 

Brygge 
P.O. Box 1444 Vika 20354 Hamburg P.O. Box 684 Sentrum 

N-0115 Oslo  Germany  N-0106 Oslo 
Norway  Norway 

All applications in the Institutional Offering will be treated in the same manner regardless of which Manager the applicant 
chooses to place the application with. Any orally placed application in the Institutional Offering will be binding for the 
investor and subject to the same terms and conditions as a written application. The Managers may, at any time and in 
their sole discretion, require the investor to confirm orally placed applications in writing. Applications made may be 
withdrawn or amended by the investor at any time up to the expiry of the Bookbuilding Period. At the close of the 
Bookbuilding Period, all applications in the Institutional Offering that have not been withdrawn or amended are 
irrevocable and binding for the investor. 

18.4.5 Allocation, payment for and delivery of Offer Shares 

The Managers expect to issue notifications of allocation of Offer Shares in the Institutional Offering on or about 23 June 
2021, by issuing contract notes to the applicants by mail or otherwise. 

Payment by applicants in the Institutional Offering will take place against delivery of Offer Shares. Delivery and payment 
for Offer Shares is expected to take place on or about 25 June 2021 (the "Institutional Closing Date") through the 
facilities of the VPS. 

For late payment, interest will accrue on the amount due at a rate equal to the prevailing interest rate under the 
Norwegian Act on Overdue Payment of 17 December 1976 no. 100 (the "Norwegian Act on Overdue Payment"), 
which, at the date of this Prospectus, is 8.00% per annum. Should payment not be made when due, the Offer Shares 
allocated will not be delivered to the applicants, and the Managers reserve the right, at the risk and cost of the applicant, 
to cancel the application and to re-allot or, from the third day after the payment due date, otherwise dispose of or 
assume ownership to the allocated Offer Shares on such terms and in such manner as the Managers may decide (and 
the applicant will not be entitled to any profit). The original applicant remains liable for payment for the Offer Shares 
allocated to the applicant, together with any interest, cost, charges and expenses accrued, and the Company, the Selling 
Shareholders and/or the Managers may enforce payment of any such amount outstanding. 

In order to provide for prompt registration of the share capital increase in the Company relating to the issuance of the 
New Shares with the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises (Nw. Foretaksregisteret), the Managers are expected 
to, on behalf of the applicants, subscribe for and pre-fund payment for the New Shares allocated in the Offering at a 
total subscription amount equal to the Offer Price multiplied by the number of New Shares, and by placing an application, 
the applicant irrevocably authorizes and instructs the Managers, or someone appointed by the Managers, to do so on its 
behalf. Irrespective of any subscription and payment for New Shares, the original applicant will remain liable for payment 
of the Offer Price for the Offer Shares allocated to the applicant, together with any interest, costs, charges and expenses 
accrued, and the Company and/or the Managers may enforce payment of such amount outstanding. The subscription 
and pre-funding of the Managers of the New Shares as described above constitute an integrated sales process where 
the investors subscribe for New Shares from the Company based on this Prospectus, which has been prepared by the 
Company. The investors will not have any rights or claims against the Managers. 

18.5 The Retail Offering  

18.5.1 Offer Price  

The price for the Offer Shares offered in the Retail Offering will be the same as in the Institutional Offering, see Section 
18.4.1 "Offer Price and determination of the number of Offer Shares".  

18.5.2 Application Period 

The Application Period during which applications for Offer Shares in the Retail Offering will be accepted will last from 15 
June 2021 at 09:00 hours (CEST) to 22 June 2021 at 16:00 hours (CEST), unless extended. The Company and the 
Selling Shareholders may, in consultation with the Managers, extend the Application Period at any time and for any 
reason, and extension may be made on one or several occasions. The Application Period may in no event be extended 
beyond 14:00 hours (CEST) on 28 June 2021. In the event of an extension of the Application Period, the allocation date, 
the payment due date and the date of delivery of Offer Shares may be changed accordingly, but the date of the Listing 
and commencement of trading on Oslo Børs will not necessarily be changed. 
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18.5.3 Minimum and maximum application 

The Retail Offering is subject to a minimum application amount of NOK 10,500 and a maximum application amount of 
NOK 1,999,999 for each applicant. 

Multiple applications are allowed. One or multiple applications from the same applicant in the Retail Offering with a total 
application amount in excess of NOK 1,999,999 will be adjusted downwards to an application amount of NOK 1,999,999. 
If two or more identical application forms are received from the same investor, the application form will only be counted 
once unless otherwise explicitly stated on one of the application forms. In the case of multiple applications through the 
VPS online application system or applications made both on a physical application form and through the VPS online 
application system, all applications will be counted and considered as one application. Investors who intend to place an 
order in excess of NOK 1,999,999 must do so in the Institutional Offering. 

18.5.4 Application procedures and application offices 

Norwegian applicants in the Retail Offering who are residents of Norway with a personal identification 
number, who are not using Nordnet to apply for Offer Shares, are recommended to apply for Offer Shares 
through the VPS online application system by following the link to such online application system on the 
following websites: www.abgsc.com or www.carnegie.no.  

Applicants in the Retail Offering not having access to the VPS online application system must apply either electronically 
through the Nordnet webservice or by using the application form attached to this Prospectus as Appendix D "Application 
Form for the Retail Offering" (the "Retail Application Form").  

Applications through the Nordnet webservice can be made at www.nordnet.no.  

Retail Application Forms, together with this Prospectus, can be obtained from the Company free of charge at its registered 
office, the Company's website www.smartcraftready.com, the Managers' websites or the application offices listed below. 
Applications made on the Retail Application Form, through the VPS online application system or electronically through 
the Nordnet webservice must be duly registered during the Application Period. Applicants applying for Offer Shares 
electronically through the Nordnet webservice should note that the application must be submitted no later 
than by 15:00 hours (CEST) on 22 June 2021, unless the Application Period is extended. Nordnet reserves 
the right, in its sole discretion, to disregard any applications for Offer Shares made by applicants in the 
Retail Offering through its platform following 15:00 hours (CEST) on 22 June 2021 without further notice 
to the applicant. 

The application offices for physical applications in the Retail Offering are: 

ABG Sundal Collier ASA Carnegie AS 
Munkedamsveien 45E Fjordalléen 16, 5th floor, Aker Brygge 
P.O. Box 1444 Vika P.O. Box 684 Sentrum 

N-0115 Oslo N-0106 Oslo 
Norway Norway 

Tel: +47 22 01 60 00 Tel: +47 22 00 93 60 
E-mail: subscription@abgsc.no 

www.abgsc.com 
E-mail: subscriptions@carnegie.no 

www.carnegie.no 

All applications in the Retail Offering will be treated in the same manner regardless of which of the above Managers the 
applications are placed with or if it is placed with Nordnet. Further, all applications in the Retail Offering will be treated 
in the same manner regardless of whether they are submitted by delivery of a Retail Application Form, through the VPS 
online application system or electronically through the Nordnet webservice. 

The application office for Nordnet is as set out below. Please note that the Retail Application Form attached to this 
Prospectus as Appendix D may not be submitted to Nordnet. Any Retail Application Forms submitted to Nordnet will be 
disregarded without further notice to the applicant. 
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Nordnet Bank 

Akersgata 45 

P.O. Box 302 Sentrum 

N-0103 Oslo 

Norway 

Tel.: +47 23 33 30 23 

E-mail: kundeservice@nordnet.no 

www.nordnet.no 

Retail Application Forms that are incomplete or incorrectly completed, electronically or physically, or that are received 
after the expiry of the Application Period, may be disregarded without further notice to the applicant. The same applies 
to applications that are unlawful. Properly completed Retail Application Forms must be received by one of the application 
offices listed above or registered electronically through the VPS application system by 16:00 hours (CEST) on 22 June 
2021, unless the Application Period is being extended. Applications made electronically through the Nordnet webservice 
must, however, be submitted by 15:00 hours (CEST) on 22 June 2021, unless the Application Period is being extended. 
None of the Company, the Selling Shareholders, the Managers or Nordnet may be held responsible for postal delays, 
unavailable fax lines, internet lines or servers or other logistical or technical matters that may result in applications not 
being received in time or at all by any application office. 

All applications made in the Retail Offering will be irrevocable and binding upon receipt of a duly completed Retail 
Application Form, or in the case of applications through the VPS online application system, upon registration of the 
application, irrespective of any extension of the Application Period, and cannot be withdrawn, cancelled or modified by 
the applicant after having been received by the application office, or in the case of applications through the VPS online 
application system, upon registration of the application. Applications made through Nordnet can be amended up to the 
expiry of the Application Period for applications made through Nordnet (i.e. 15:00 hours (CEST) on 22 June 2021 unless 
the Application Period is being extended). Following expiry of the Application Period for applications made through 
Nordnet, all applications received by Nordnet will be irrevocable and binding and cannot be withdrawn, cancelled or 
modified by the applicant. 

18.5.5 Allocation, payment and delivery of Offer Shares 

ABGSC, acting as settlement agent for the Retail Offering, expects to issue notifications of allocation of Offer Shares in 
the Retail Offering for applications through the VPS online application system or the Retail Application Form on or around 
23 June 2021, by issuing allocation notes to the applicants by mail or otherwise. Any applicant wishing to know the 
precise number of Offer Shares allocated to it may contact one of the application offices listed above on or around 23 
June 2021 during business hours. Applicants who have access to investor services through an institution that operates 
the applicant's account with the VPS for the registration of holdings of securities ("VPS account") should be able to see 
how many Offer Shares they have been allocated from on or around 23 June 2021. Applicants who have applied for Offer 
Shares through Nordnet should be able to see how many Offer Shares they have been allocated at their account in 
Nordnet on or about 23 June 2021. 

In registering an application through the VPS online application system or completing a Retail Application Form, each 
applicant in the Retail Offering will authorize ABGSC (on behalf of the Managers) to debit the applicant's Norwegian bank 
account for the total amount due for the Offer Shares allocated to the applicant. The applicant's bank account number 
must be stipulated on the VPS online application or on the Retail Application Form. Accounts will be debited on or about 
24 June 2021 (the "Payment Date"), and there must be sufficient funds in the stated bank account from and including 
23 June 2021. Applicants who do not have a Norwegian bank account must ensure that payment for the allocated Offer 
Shares is made on or before the Payment Date (expected to be 24 June 2021).  

To ensure that they do not lose their right to any allotment, applicants in the Retail Offering applying for Offer Shares 
through Nordnet must have sufficient funds available in their account from and including 15:00 hours (CEST) on 22 June 
2021 until 08:00 hours (CEST) on the Payment Date, i.e. 24 June 2021. 

Further details and instructions will be set out in the allocation notes to the applicant to be issued on or around 23 June 
2021, or can be obtained by contacting the Managers or Nordnet (depending on where the application was made). 

Should any applicant have insufficient funds on his or her account, or should payment be delayed for any reason, or if 
it is not possible to debit the account, interest will accrue on the amount due at a rate equal to the prevailing interest 
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rate under the Norwegian Act on Interest on Overdue Payments, which at the date of this Prospectus is 8.00% per 
annum. ABGSC (on behalf of the Managers) reserves the right (but has no obligation) to make up to three debit attempts 
through 1 July 2021 if there are insufficient funds on the account on the Payment Date. Should payment not be made 
when due, the Offer Shares allocated will not be delivered to the applicant, and the Managers reserve the right, at the 
risk and cost of the applicant, to cancel at any time thereafter the application and to re-allot or, from the third day after 
the Payment Date, otherwise dispose of or assume ownership to the allocated Offer Shares, on such terms and in such 
manner as the Managers may decide (and the applicant will not be entitled to any profit therefrom). The original applicant 
will remain liable for payment of the Offer Price for the Offer Shares allocated to the applicant, together with any interest, 
costs, charges and expenses accrued, and the Company, the Selling Shareholders and/or the Managers may enforce 
payment of any such amount outstanding. 

In order to provide for prompt registration of the share capital increase in the Company relating to the issuance of the 
New Shares with the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises (Nw. Foretaksregisteret), the Managers are expected 
to, on behalf of the applicants, subscribe for and pre-fund payment for the New Shares allocated in the Offering at a 
total subscription amount equal to the Offer Price multiplied by the number of New Shares, and by placing an application, 
the applicant irrevocably authorizes and instructs the Managers, or someone appointed by the Managers, to do so on its 
behalf. Irrespective of any subscription and payment for New Shares, the original applicant will remain liable for payment 
of the Offer Price for the Offer Shares allocated to the applicant, together with any interest, costs, charges and expenses 
accrued, and the Company and/or the Managers may enforce payment of such amount outstanding. The subscription 
and pre-funding of the Managers of the New Shares as described above constitute an integrated sales process where 
the investors subscribe for New Shares from the Company based on this Prospectus, which has been prepared by the 
Company. The investors will not have any claims against the Managers. 

Subject to timely payment by the applicant, delivery of the Offer Shares allocated in the Retail Offering is expected to 
take place on or around 28 June 2021. 

18.6 The Employee Offering 

18.6.1 Eligible Employees 

Subject to applicable laws, (i) all fulltime employees of the Group other than the employees, directly or indirectly, being 
Selling Shareholders as listed in Section 14 "Selling Shareholders", as of the last day of the Employee Application Period, 
and (ii) Board Members other than Board Members, directly or indirectly, being Selling Shareholders as listed in Section 
14 "Selling Shareholders" (collectively, the "Eligible Employees") are eligible for participating in the Employee Offering. 
Eligible Employees in Sweden and Finland are offered to participate in the Employee Offering in reliance on applicable 
exemptions from prospectus requirements and no action will be taken to allow for a public offering of Shares in Sweden 
and Finland. 

18.6.2 Offer Price 

The price for the Offer Shares offered in the Employee Offering will be the same as in the Institutional Offering and in 
the Retail Offering, see Section 18.4.1 "Offer Price and determination of the number of Offer Shares".  

18.6.3 Application period 

The Employee Application Period during which applications for Offer Shares in the Employee Offering will be accepted 
will last from 15 June 2021 at 09:00 hours (CEST) to 22 June 2021 at 15:00 hours (CEST), unless extended. 

The Company and the Selling Shareholders may, in consultation with the Managers, extend the Employee Application 
Period at any time and for any reason, and an extension may be made on one or several occasions. The Employee 
Application Period may in no event be extended beyond 14:00 hours (CEST) on 28 June 2021. In the event of an 
extension of the Employee Application Period, the allocation date, the payment due date and the date of delivery of Offer 
Shares may be changed accordingly, but the date of the Listing and commencement of trading on Oslo Børs will not 
necessarily be changed. 

18.6.4 Minimum and maximum application 

The Employee Offering is subject to a minimum application amount of NOK 10,500 and a maximum application amount 
equal to the applicable Guaranteed Allocation for each applicant. 

Multiple applications within the Employee Offering are allowed. One or multiple applications from the same applicant in 
the Employee Offering with a total application amount in excess of the applicable Guaranteed Allocation will be adjusted 
downwards to an application amount equal to the applicable Guaranteed Allocation for such applicant. Applications in 
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both the Employee Offering and the Retail Offering and/or the Institutional Offering is not allowed. Investors who intend 
to place an order in excess of the applicable Guaranteed Allocation must do so in the Retail Offering or Institutional 
Offering (and not in the Employee Offering). 

18.6.5 Application procedures and application offices 

Eligible Employees wishing to participate in the Employee Offering must apply for Offer Shares electronically through 
Nordnet, which is acting as placing agent for the Employee Offering on behalf of the Managers. In order to apply for 
Offer Shares through Nordnet, the Eligible Employee must register as customer of Nordnet and establish a 
nominee/depot account for the Employee Offering through Nordnet. In order to establish a customer relationship with 
Nordnet, the Eligible Employee should have an online banking ID or a mobile banking ID. If an Eligible Employee is 
unable to establish a customer relationship with Nordnet through his/her online banking ID or mobile banking ID, the 
customer relationship must be established through a manual application, which is time consuming and may not be 
processed by Nordnet prior to expiry of the Employee Application Period.  

Applications in the Employee Offering must be submitted to Nordnet no later than by 15:00 hours (CEST) 
on 22 June 2021, unless the Employee Application Period is extended. Applications in the Employee Offering that 
are received after expiry of the Employee Application Period, may be disregarded without further notice to the applicant. 
The same applies to applications that are unlawful. None of the Company, the Selling Shareholders, any of the Managers 
or Nordnet may be held responsible for any logistical or technical matters that may result in applications not being made 
in time or at all. 

Eligible Employees must apply for Offer Shares personally. This means that Eligible Employees cannot apply for Offer 
Shares through legal entities, such as a private holding company (unless approved by the Company prior to making the 
application). Applications made through Nordnet can be amended up to, and including, expiry of the Employee 
Application Period (i.e. 15:00 hours (CEST) on 22 June 2021). Following expiry of the Employee Application Period, all 
applications received by Nordnet will be irrevocable and binding and cannot be withdrawn, cancelled or modified by the 
applicant.  

18.6.6 Allocation, payment and delivery of Offer Shares 

Eligible Employees being Primary Insiders will receive full allocation up to an amount of NOK 350,000 and all other 
Eligible Employees will receive full allocation up to an amount of NOK 25,000 (the Guaranteed Allocation). Multiple 
applications by one applicant in the Employee Offering will be treated as one application with respect to the maximum 
application amount and the guaranteed allocation. 

To ensure that they do not lose their right to any allotment, Eligible Employees applying for Offer Shares in the Employee 
Offering must have sufficient funds available in their Nordnet account from and including 15:00 hours (CEST) on 22 June 
2021 until 08:00 hours (CEST) on the Payment Date, i.e. 24 June 2021. Subject to timely payment by the applicant, 
delivery of the Offer Shares allocated in the Employee Offering is expected to take place on or around 28 June 2021. 

Applicants in the Employee Offering should be able to see how many Offer Shares they have been allocated at their 
account in Nordnet on or about 23 June 2021. 

In order to provide for prompt registration of the share capital increase in the Company relating to the issuance of the 
New Shares with the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises (Nw. Foretaksregisteret), the Managers are expected 
to, on behalf of the applicants, subscribe for and pre-fund payment for the New Shares allocated in the Offering at a 
total subscription amount equal to the Offer Price multiplied by the number of New Shares, and by placing an application, 
the applicant irrevocably authorizes and instructs the Managers, or someone appointed by the Managers, to do so on its 
behalf. Irrespective of any subscription and payment for New Shares, the original applicant will remain liable for payment 
of the Offer Price for the Offer Shares allocated to the applicant, together with any interest, costs, charges and expenses 
accrued, and the Company and/or the Managers may enforce payment of such amount outstanding. The subscription 
and pre-funding of the Managers of the New Shares as described above constitute an integrated sales process where 
the investors subscribe for New Shares from the Company based on this Prospectus, which has been prepared by the 
Company. The investors will not have any claims against the Managers.  

18.7 Mechanism of allocation 

It has been provisionally assumed that approximately 90% - 99% of the Offering will be allocated in the Institutional 
Offering and that approximately 1% - 10% of the Offering will be allocated in the Retail Offering and the Employee 
Offering. The final determination of the number of Offer Shares allocated to the Institutional Offering, the Retail Offering 
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and the Employee Offering will only be decided, however, by the Company and the Selling Shareholders, in consultation 
with the Managers, following the completion of the bookbuilding process for the Institutional Offering, based on among 
other things the level of orders or applications received from each of the categories of investors. The Company, the 
Selling Shareholders and the Managers reserve the right to deviate from the provisionally assumed allocation between 
tranches without further notice and at their sole discretion. 

No Offer Shares have been reserved for any specific national market. 

In the Institutional Offering, the Company and the Selling Shareholders, together with the Managers, will determine the 
allocation of Offer Shares. An important aspect of the allocation principles is the desire to create an appropriate long-
term shareholder structure for the Company. The allocation principles will, in accordance with normal practice for 
institutional placements, include factors such as lead investor pre-commitments, premarketing and management road-
show participation and feedback, timeliness of the order, price level, relative order size, sector knowledge, investment 
history, perceived investor quality and investment horizon. The Company, the Selling Shareholders and the Managers 
further reserve the right, at their sole discretion, to take into account the creditworthiness of any applicant. The 
Company, the Selling Shareholders and the Managers may also set a maximum allocation, or decide to make no 
allocation to any applicant. 

In the Retail Offering, no allocations will be made for a number of Offer Shares representing an aggregate value of less 
than NOK 10,500 per applicant provided, however, that all allocations will be rounded down to the nearest number of 
whole Offer Shares and the payable amount will hence be adjusted accordingly. One or multiple orders from the same 
applicant in the Retail Offering with a total application amount in excess of NOK 1,999,999 will be adjusted downwards 
to an application amount of NOK 1,999,999. In the Retail Offering, allocation will be made on a pro rata basis using the 
VPS automated simulation procedures or a similar procedure established by Nordnet for applications made electronically 
through the Nordnet webservice. 

In the Employee Offering, no allocations will be made for a number of Offer Shares representing an aggregate value of 
less than NOK 10,500 per applicant, provided, however that all allocations will be rounded down to the nearest number 
of whole Offer Shares and the payable amount will hence be adjusted accordingly. One or multiple orders from the same 
applicant in the Employee Offering with a total application amount in excess of the applicable Guaranteed Allocation will 
be adjusted downwards to an application amount equal to the applicable Guaranteed Allocation. Eligible Employees being 
Primary Insiders will receive full allocation up to an amount of NOK 350,000 and all other Eligible Employees will receive 
full allocation up to an amount of NOK 25,000 (the Guaranteed Allocation).  

The Company, the Selling Shareholders and the Managers reserve the right to limit the total number of applicants to 
whom Offer Shares are allocated if the Company, the Selling Shareholders and the Managers deem this to be necessary 
in order to keep the number of shareholders in the Company at an appropriate level and such limitation does not have 
the effect that any conditions for the Listing regarding the number of shareholders will not be satisfied. If the Company, 
the Selling Shareholders and the Managers should decide to limit the total number of applicants to whom Offer Shares 
are allocated, the applicants to whom Offer Shares are allocated will be determined on a random basis by using the VPS 
automated simulation procedures and/or other random allocation mechanism (including allocation mechanisms used by 
Nordnet). The Company, the Selling Shareholders and the Managers reserve the right to set a maximum allocation per 
applicant in the Retail Offering.  

18.8 VPS account and Nordnet account 

To participate in the Offering, each applicant must have a VPS account. The VPS account number must be stated when 
registering an application through the VPS online application system or on the Retail Application Form for the Retail 
Offering. VPS accounts can be established with authorized VPS registrars, which can be Norwegian banks, authorized 
investment firms in Norway and Norwegian branches of credit institutions established within the EEA. Non-Norwegian 
investors may use nominee VPS accounts registered in the name of a nominee. The nominee must be authorized by the 
Norwegian Ministry of Finance. Establishment of VPS accounts requires verification of identification by the relevant VPS 
registrar in accordance with Norwegian anti-money laundering legislation (see Section 18.11 "Mandatory anti-money 
laundering"). 

For participation in the Retail Offering, applicants can apply for Offer Shares electronically through the Nordnet 
webservice. In order to apply for Offer Shares through Nordnet, the applicant must register as a customer of Nordnet 
and establish a nominee/depot account for the Retail Offering through Nordnet. In order to establish a customer 
relationship with Nordnet, the applicant should have an online banking ID or a mobile banking ID. If the applicant is 
unable to establish a customer relationship with Nordnet through his/her online banking ID or mobile banking ID, the 
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customer relationship must be established through a manual application, which is time consuming and may not be 
processed by Nordnet prior to expiry of the Application Period. For more information on how to proceed to establish a 
customer relationship with Nordnet, please contact Nordnet. 

18.9 National Client Identifier and Legal Entity Identifier  

18.9.1 Introduction 

In order to participate in the Offering, subscribers will need a global identification code. Physical persons will need a so-
called National Client Identifier ("NCI") and legal entities will need a so-called Legal Entity Identifier ("LEI"). Investors 
who do not already have an NCI or LEI, as applicable, must obtain such codes in time for the application in order to 
participate in the Offering. 

18.9.2 NCI code for physical persons 

As of 3 January 2018, physical persons need an NCI code to participate in a financial market transaction. The NCI code 
is a global identification code for physical persons. For physical persons with only a Norwegian citizenship, the NCI code 
is the 11 digit personal ID number (Nw: "fødselsnummer"). If the person in question has multiple citizenships or another 
citizenship than Norwegian, another relevant NCI code can be used. Investors are encouraged to contact their bank for 
further information.  

18.9.3 LEI code for legal entities 

As of 3 January 2018, a LEI code is a mandatory number for all legal entities investing in a financial market transaction. 
A LEI code is a 20-character code that identifies distinct legal entities that engage in financial market transactions. The 
Global Legal Identifier Foundation ("GLEIF") is not directly issuing LEIs, but delegates this responsibility to Local 
Operating Units ("LOUs"). 

Norwegian companies can apply for a LEI code through the website https://no.nordlei.org/. The application can be 
submitted through an online form and signed electronically with BankID. It normally takes one to two working days to 
process the application.  

Non-Norwegian companies can find a complete list of LOUs on the website https://www.gleif.org/en/about-lei/get-an-
lei-find-lei-issuing-organizations.  

18.10 Product governance 

Solely for the purposes of the product governance requirements contained within: (a) EU Directive 2014/65/EU on 
markets in financial instruments, as amended (MiFID II); (b) Articles 9 and 10 of Commission Delegated Directive (EU) 
2017/593 supplementing MiFID II; and (c) local implementing measures (together, the MiFID II Product Governance 
Requirements), and disclaiming all and any liability, which any "manufacturer" (for the purposes of the MiFID II Product 
Governance Requirements) may otherwise have with respect thereto, the Shares have been subject to a product approval 
process, which has determined that they each are: (i) compatible with an end target market of retail investors and 
investors who meet the criteria of professional clients and eligible counterparties, each as defined in MiFID II; and (ii) 
eligible for distribution through all distribution channels as are permitted by MiFID II (the Target Market Assessment).  

Notwithstanding the Target Market Assessment, Distributors should note that: the price of the Shares may decline and 
investors could lose all or part of their investment; the Shares offer no guaranteed income and no capital protection; 
and an investment in the Shares is compatible only with investors who do not need a guaranteed income or capital 
protection, who (either alone or in conjunction with an appropriate financial or other adviser) are capable of evaluating 
the merits and risks of such an investment and who have sufficient resources to be able to bear any losses that may 
result therefrom. Each distributor is responsible for undertaking its own Target Market Assessment in respect of the 
Shares and determining appropriate distribution channels. 

The Target Market Assessment is without prejudice to the requirements of any contractual, legal or regulatory selling 
restrictions in relation to the Offering. Furthermore, it is noted that, notwithstanding the Target Market Assessment, the 
Managers will only procure investors who meet the criteria of professional clients and eligible counterparties. For the 
avoidance of doubt, the Target Market Assessment does not constitute: (a) an assessment of suitability or 
appropriateness for the purposes of MiFID II; or (b) a recommendation to any investor or group of investors to invest 
in, or purchase, or take any other action whatsoever with respect to the Shares. 
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18.11 Mandatory anti-money laundering 

The Offering is subject to applicable anti-money laundering legislation, including the Norwegian Money Laundering Act 
of 1 June 2018 no. 23 and the Norwegian Money Laundering Regulations of 14 September 2018 no. 1324 (collectively, 
the "Anti-Money Laundering Legislation").  

Applicants who are not registered as existing customers of any of the Managers must verify their identity to the Manager 
with which the order is placed in accordance with the requirements of the Anti-Money Laundering Legislation, unless an 
exemption is available. Applicants who have designated an existing Norwegian bank account and an existing VPS account 
on the Retail Application Form, or when registering an application through the VPS online application system, and 
applicants who have established a customer relationship with Nordnet and make their application through Nordnet are 
exempted, unless verification of identity is requested by any of the Managers. Applicants who have not completed the 
required verification of identity prior to the expiry of the Application Period may not be allocated Offer Shares. 

18.12 Over-allotment and stabilization activities 

18.12.1 Over-allotment of Additional Shares 

In connection with the Offering, the Managers may elect to over-allot a number of Additional Shares, equal to up to 
approximately 10% of the aggregate number of Offer Shares and, in order to permit delivery in respect of over-
allotments made, the Stabilization Manager (ABGSC) may, pursuant to the Borrowing Option, require Valedo Partners 
III AB to lend to the Stabilization Manager, on behalf of the Managers, a number of Shares equal to the number of 
Additional Shares allocated in the Offering. Further, the Company is expected to grant to the Stabilization Manager, on 
behalf of the Managers, the Greenshoe Option to purchase from the Company a number of new Shares up to the number 
of Additional Shares allocated in the Offering at a price equal to the final Offer Price in the Offering, which may be 
exercised by the Stabilization Manager, on behalf of the Managers, within 30 days of commencement of trading in the 
Shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange. To the extent that the Managers have over-allotted Shares in the Offering, the 
Managers have created a short position in the Shares. The Stabilization Manager may close out this short position by 
buying Shares in the market through stabilisation activities and/or by exercising the Greenshoe Option. 

A stock exchange notice will be published on the first day of trading in the Shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange (expected 
to take place on or about 24 June 2020), announcing whether the Managers have over-allotted Shares in connection 
with the Offering. Any exercise of the Greenshoe Option will be promptly announced by the Stabilization Manager through 
the Oslo Stock Exchange's information system. 

18.12.2 Price stabilisation 

The Stabilization Manager (ABGSC) may, upon exercise of the Borrowing Option, from the first day of the Listing effect 
transactions with a view to support the market price of the Shares at a level higher than what might otherwise prevail, 
through buying Shares in the open market at prices equal to or lower than the Offer Price. There is no obligation on the 
Stabilization Manager to conduct stabilisation activities and there is no assurance that stabilisation activities will be 
undertaken. Such stabilising activities, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time, and will be brought to an end 
at the latest 30 calendar days after the commencement of trading in the Shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange.  

Any stabilization activities will be conducted based on the principles set out in MAR article 5 and the Commission 
Delegated Regulation (EU) 2016/1052 as implemented into Norwegian law by Section 3‐1 of the Norwegian Securities 
Trading Act regarding buy‐back programs and stabilisation of financial instruments. 

The Company and the Managers have agreed that any profit resulting from stabilisation activities conducted by the 
Stabilization Manager, on behalf of the Managers, will be for the account of the Company. 

Within one week after the expiry of the 30 calendar day period of price stabilisation, the Stabilization Manager will publish 
information as to whether or not price stabilisation activities were undertaken. If stabilisation activities were undertaken, 
the statement will also include information about: (i) the total amount of Shares sold and purchased; (ii) the dates on 
which the stabilisation period began and ended; (iii) the price range between which stabilisation was carried out, as well 
as the highest, lowest and average price paid during the stabilisation period; and (iv) the date at which stabilisation 
activities last occurred. 

It should be noted that stabilisation activities might result in market prices that are higher than would otherwise prevail. 
Stabilisation may be undertaken, but there is no assurance that it will be undertaken and it may be stopped at any time. 
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18.13 Publication of information in respect of the Offering 

In addition to press releases which will be posted on the Company's website, the Company will use Oslo Børs' information 
system to publish information relating to the Offering, such as amendments to the Bookbuilding Period, the Application 
Period and the Employee Application Period (if any), the number of Offer Shares, the total amount of the Offering, 
allocation percentages and the first day of trading. 

The final determination of the Offer Price, the final number of Offer Shares and the total amount of the Offering is 
expected to be published on or about 21 June 2021. 

18.14 The rights conferred by the Offer Shares 

The Sale Shares will in all respects carry full shareholders' rights in the Company on an equal basis as any other existing 
Shares in the Company, including the right to any dividends. The New Shares and any Additional Shares will in all 
respects carry full shareholders' rights in the Company on an equal basis as any other Shares in the Company, including 
the right to any dividends, from the date of registration of the share capital increase pertaining to the Offering in the 
Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises. 

For a description of rights attached to the Shares, see Section 15 "Corporate information and description of the share 
capital". 

18.15 VPS registration 

The Sale Shares have been, and the New Shares and any Additional Shares will be, created under the Norwegian Public 
Limited Companies Act. The Sale Shares have been, and the New Shares and any Additional Shares will be, registered 
in book-entry form with the VPS and have ISIN NO 001 1008971. The Company's register of shareholders with the VPS 
is administrated by DNB Bank ASA. 

18.16 Conditions for completion of the Offering – Listing and trading of the Offer Shares 

The Company will on or about 16 June 2021 apply for Listing of its Shares on Oslo Børs. It is expected that the board of 
directors of Oslo Børs will approve the listing application of the Company on or about 21 June 2021, conditional upon 
the Company raising gross proceeds of NOK 400 million from the sale of New Shares, the Company obtaining a minimum 
of 500 shareholders, each holding Shares with a value of more than NOK 10,000 and there being a minimum free float 
of the Shares of 25%. The Company expects that these conditions will be fulfilled through the Offering. 

Completion of the Offering on the terms set forth in this Prospectus is expressly conditional upon the board of directors 
of Oslo Børs approving the application for Listing in its meeting to be held on or about 21 June 2021, on conditions 
acceptable to the Company and that any such conditions are satisfied by the Company. The Offering will be cancelled in 
the event that the conditions are not satisfied. There can be no assurance that the board of directors of Oslo Børs will 
give such approval or that the Company will satisfy these conditions.  

Completion of the Offering on the terms set forth in this Prospectus is otherwise only conditional on (i) the Company 
and the Selling Shareholders, in consultation with the Managers, resolving to proceed with the Offering, (ii) the Company 
and the Selling Shareholders, in consultation with the Managers, having approved the number of Offer Shares and the 
allocation of the Offer Shares to eligible investors following the bookbuilding process and (iii) the Managers, the Company 
and the Selling Shareholders having entered into the Placing Agreement. There can be no assurance that these conditions 
will be satisfied. If the conditions are not satisfied, the Offering may be revoked or suspended. 

Assuming that the conditions are satisfied, the first day of trading of the Shares, including the Offer Shares, on Oslo 
Børs, is expected to be on or about 24 June 2021. The Shares are expected to trade under the ticker code "SMCRT".  

Applicants in the Retail Offering and the Employee Offering selling Offer Shares prior to delivery must ensure that 
payment for such Offer Shares is made on or prior to the Payment Date, by ensuring that the stated bank account is 
sufficiently funded on 23 June 2021, or for applications through the Nordnet webservice, that the payment amount is 
available at its Nordnet account from and including 15:00 hours (CEST) on 22 June 2021 until 08:00 hours (CEST) on 
the Payment Date, i.e. 24 June 2021. Applicants in the Institutional Offering selling Offer Shares prior to delivery must 
ensure that payment for such Offer Shares is made on or prior to the Institutional Closing Date. Accordingly, an applicant 
who wishes to sell his/her Offer Shares, following confirmed allocation of Offer Shares, but before delivery, must ensure 
that timely payment is made in order for such Offer Shares to be delivered in time to the applicant. 
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Prior to the Listing and the Offering, the Shares are not listed on any stock exchange or authorized market place, and 
no application has been filed for listing on any other stock exchanges or regulated market places than Oslo Børs. 

18.17 Dilution 

Following completion of the Offering (excluding any over-allotments), the immediate dilution for the existing 
shareholders is expected to be approximately 16.8%, based on the assumption that the existing shareholders do not 
subscribe for any New Shares in the Offering. The existing shareholder's pre-emption right to subscribe for the New 
Shares will be deviated from, see Section 18.3 "Resolution relating to the Offering and the issue of the New Shares". 

The net asset value per existing Share as at 31 March 2021 was NOK 0.79 (assuming the redemption of the Preference 
Shares and the share split in the ratio 1:100). 

18.18 Expenses of the Offering and the Listing 

The Company estimates that expenses in connection with the Offering and the Listing, which will be paid by the Company, 
will amount to approximately NOK 34 million (excluding any Additional Shares). Accordingly, the net proceeds to the 
Company (excluding any Additional Shares) will be approximately NOK 466 million.  

The Company and the Selling Shareholders will pay the Managers a fixed base commission (the "Base Fee") calculated 
on the basis of the gross proceeds from the Offering, i.e. the aggregate number of New Shares and, if applicable any 
Additional Shares, issued by the Company to be payable by the Company and the aggregate number of Sale Shares sold 
by the Selling Shareholders to be payable the Selling Shareholders pro rata to the number of Shares sold by each such 
shareholder.  

In addition to the above, the Managers may receive a fixed discretionary fee in connection with the Offering calculated 
on the basis of the gross proceeds from the Offering determined at the Company's sole discretion (the "Discretionary 
Fee"). The payment of the Discretionary Fee, if any, shall be split in the same ratio as the Base Fee between the Selling 
Shareholders and the Company. The Selling Shareholders' part of the Discretionary Fee shall be borne by the Selling 
Shareholders pro rata to the number of shares sold by each such shareholder. 

The estimated expenses above are based on the assumption that the discretionary fee becomes fully payable. 

No expenses or taxes will be charged by the Company, the Selling Shareholders or the Managers to the applicants in 
the Offering.  

18.19 Lock-up 

18.19.1 The Company 

Pursuant to a lock-up undertaking to be included in the Placing Agreement, the Company is expected to undertake that 
it will not, without the prior written consent of ABGSC and Carnegie, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, during 
the period from the date of the Placing Agreement and until 6 months from the first day of trading of the Shares on Oslo 
Børs, (1) issue, offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell, sell any option or contract to purchase, purchase any option or 
contract to sell, grant any option right or warrant to purchase, lend or otherwise transfer or dispose of, directly or 
indirectly, any Shares or other equity interest in the capital of the Company or any securities convertible into or 
exercisable for such Shares or other equity interests, or (2) enter into any swap or other agreement that transfers to 
another, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of the Shares or other equity interests, 
whether any such transaction described in (1) or (2) above is to be settled by delivery of the Shares or other securities 
or interests, in cash or otherwise, or (3) publicly announce or indicate an intention to effect any transaction specified in 
(1) or (2) above. The foregoing shall not apply to: (A) the issue of the New Shares in the Offering, (B) honouring the 
Greenshoe Option, (C) the issue of consideration shares in connection with the acquisition of Homerun, (D) the granting 
of options or other rights to Shares, or the honouring of options or such other rights to Shares (including sale of treasury 
Shares), by the Company pursuant to any duly approved management, director or employee share incentive schemes 
or agreements (irrespective of such incentive schemes being approved at the date of the Placing Agreement or approved 
at a later date), (E) honouring of options or such other rights to Shares, by the Company pursuant to any approved 
management, director or employee share incentive scheme or (F) the issuance or transfer of consideration shares as 
consideration in mergers or acquisitions, provided that such shares (i) in aggregate shall be limited to 10% of the shares 
outstanding at the date of the Placing Agreement and (ii) shall be subject to a customary lock-up period at least equal 
to that which remains for the Selling Shareholders under Section 18.19.2 "The Selling Shareholders". 
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18.19.2 The Selling Shareholders 

Pursuant to a lock-up undertaking to be included in the Placing Agreement, the Selling Shareholders are expected to 
undertake that they will not, directly or indirectly, without the prior written consent of ABGSC and Carnegie, during the 
period from the date of the Placing Agreement and until 6 months from the first day of trading of the Shares on Oslo 
Børs, (1) sell, offer to sell, contract or agree to sell, hypothecate, grant any option to purchase or otherwise dispose of 
or agree to dispose of, directly or indirectly any Shares or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable 
for Shares, or warrants or other rights to purchase Shares, (2) enter into any swap or other arrangement that transfers 
to another, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of Shares or any securities convertible 
into or exercisable or exchangeable for Shares, or warrants or other rights to purchase Shares, whether any such 
transaction is to be settled by delivery of Shares or such other securities, in cash or otherwise, or (3) publicly announce 
an intention to effect any transaction specified in clause (1) or (2), provided, however, that the foregoing shall not apply 
to: (A) the sale or other transfer of Shares as part of the Offering, (B) the pre-acceptance or acceptance of a takeover 
offer for all of the Shares in the Company or a legal merger, (C) any transfer of Shares to a company wholly owned or 
directly or indirectly controlled by the Selling Shareholders provided that such company (i) assume the obligations set 
forth in the lock-up undertaking and (ii) remain wholly owned or under the direct or indirect control by the Selling 
Shareholders for the remaining part of the period set out above. 

The lock-up undertaking will apply to all Shares and rights to Shares currently held or which during the lock-up period 
described above are acquired by the Selling Shareholders and entities directly or indirectly controlled by it (or any other 
person or entity controlling such entity. 

18.19.3 Board Members, Executive Management and key employees 

Pursuant to additional lock-up undertakings, the Board Members, the Executive Management and the general managers 
of the Company's subsidiaries will undertake that they will not, directly or indirectly, without the prior written consent 
of ABGSC and Carnegie, during the period up to and including the date falling 12 months from the first day of trading of 
the Shares on Oslo Børs (1) sell, offer to sell, contract or agree to sell, hypothecate, grant any option to purchase or 
otherwise dispose of or agree to dispose of, directly or indirectly, any Shares or any securities convertible into or 
exercisable or exchangeable for Shares, or warrants or other rights to purchase Shares, (2) enter into any swap or other 
arrangement that transfers to another, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of Shares 
or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for Shares, or warrants or other rights to purchase 
Shares, whether any such transaction is to be settled by delivery of Shares or such other securities, in cash or otherwise, 
or (3) publicly announce an intention to effect any transaction specified in clause (1) or (2), provided, however, that the 
foregoing shall not apply to: (A) the sale or other transfer of Shares as part of the Offering, (B) the pre-acceptance or 
acceptance of a takeover offer for all of the Shares in the Company or a legal merger, or (C) any transfer of Shares to 
a company wholly owned or directly or indirectly controlled by any of the Board Members, the Executive Management 
or any of the general managers of the Company's subsidiaries, provided that such company (i) assume the obligations 
set forth in the lock-up undertaking and (ii) remain wholly owned or under the direct or indirect control by the 
undersigned for the remaining part of the period set out above. 

The lock-up undertaking will apply to all Shares and rights to Shares currently held by, or which during the lock-up 
period described above are acquired by, the undersigned and entities directly or indirectly controlled by it. 

18.20 Interest of natural and legal persons involved in the Offering 

The Managers or their affiliates have provided from time to time, and may provide in the future, financial advisory, 
investment and commercial banking services, as well as financing, to the Company and its affiliates in the ordinary 
course of business, for which they may have received and may continue to receive customary fees and commissions. 
The Managers do not intend to disclose the extent of any such investments or transactions otherwise than in accordance 
with any legal or regulatory obligation to do so. The Managers will receive a fee in connection with the Offering which 
will be based on the amount of gross proceeds received from investors, and, as such, have an interest in the Offering. 
In addition, the Selling Shareholders and the Company may, at their absolute and sole discretion, pay to the Managers 
an additional discretionary fee in connection with the Offering. See Section 18.18 "Expenses of the Offering and the 
Listing" for information on fees to the Managers in connection with the Offering. 

The Selling Shareholders will receive the net proceeds from the sale of the Sale Shares. 

Beyond the above-mentioned, the Company is not aware of any interest, including conflicting ones, of any natural or 
legal persons involved in the Offering. 
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18.21 Participation of major existing shareholders and members of the Management, supervisory and 
administrative bodies in the Offering 

The Company is not aware of any firm indication by any major existing shareholders and members of the Management, 
supervisory and administrative bodies to apply for Offer Shares in the Offering. Other than the commitment to apply for 
Offer Shares by funds managed by Capital World Investors, Carnegie Fonder AB and Handelsbanken Fonder AB as further 
described in Section 18.1 "Overview of the Offering", the Company is not aware of whether any person intends to apply 
for more than 5% of the Offer Shares. 

18.22 Governing law and jurisdiction 

This Prospectus, the Retail Application Form and the terms and conditions of the Offering shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with Norwegian law. Any dispute arising out of, or in connection with, this Prospectus, the Retail 
Application Form or the Offering shall be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of Norway, with the Oslo 
District Court as the legal venue. 
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19 SELLING AND TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS 

19.1 General 

As a consequence of the following restrictions, prospective investors are advised to consult legal counsel prior to making 
any offer, resale, pledge or other transfer of the Shares offered hereby. 

Other than in Norway, the Company is not taking any action to permit a public offering of the Shares in any jurisdiction. 
Receipt of this Prospectus will not constitute an offer in those jurisdictions in which it would be illegal to make an offer 
and, in those circumstances, this Prospectus is for information only and should not be copied or redistributed. Except as 
otherwise disclosed in this Prospectus, if an investor receives a copy of this Prospectus in any jurisdiction other than 
Norway, the investor may not treat this Prospectus as constituting an invitation or offer to it, nor should the investor in 
any event deal in the Shares, unless, in the relevant jurisdiction, such an invitation or offer could lawfully be made to 
that investor, or the Shares could lawfully be dealt in without contravention of any unfulfilled registration or other legal 
requirements. Accordingly, if an investor receives a copy of this Prospectus, the investor should not distribute or send 
the same, or transfer Shares, to any person or in or into any jurisdiction where to do so would or might contravene local 
securities laws or regulations. 

19.2 Selling restrictions 

19.2.1 United States 

The Offer Shares have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act or with any securities regulatory 
authority of any state or other jurisdiction in the United States, and may not be offered or sold except: (i) within the 
United States to QIBs in reliance on Rule 144A or pursuant to another available exemption from the registration 
requirements of the U.S. Securities Act; or (ii) outside the United States to certain persons in offshore transactions in 
compliance with Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act, and, in accordance with any applicable securities laws of 
any state or territory of the United States or any other jurisdiction. Accordingly, each Manager has represented and 
agreed that it has not offered or sold, and will not offer or sell, any of the Offer Shares as part of its allocation at any 
time other than (i) within the United States to QIBs in accordance with Rule 144A or (ii) outside of the United States in 
compliance with Rule 903 of Regulation S. Transfer of the Offer Shares will be restricted and each purchaser of the Offer 
Shares in the United States will be required to make certain acknowledgements, representations and agreements, as 
described under Section 19.3.1 "United States". 

Any offer or sale in the United States will be made solely by affiliates of the Managers who are broker-dealers registered 
under the U.S. Exchange Act. In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the Offering, an offer or sale of Offer 
Shares within the United States by a dealer, whether or not participating in the Offering, may violate the registration 
requirements of the U.S. Securities Act if such offer or sale is made otherwise than in accordance with Rule 144A or 
another exemption from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and in connection with any applicable 
state securities laws. 

19.2.2 United Kingdom 

Each Manager has represented, warranted and agreed that:  

a) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be 
communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of Section 
21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 ("FSMA") in connection with the issue or sale of any Offer 
Shares in circumstances in which Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Company; and  

b) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it 
in relation to the Offer Shares in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom. 

19.2.3 European Economic Area 

In relation to each Relevant Member State, no Offer Shares have been offered or will be offered to the public in that 
Relevant Member State, pursuant to the Offering, except that Offer Shares may be offered to the public in that Relevant 
Member State at any time in reliance on the following exemptions under the EU Prospectus Regulation: 

a) to persons who are "qualified investors" within the meaning of Article 2(e) in the EU Prospectus Regulation; 

b) to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the EU Prospectus 
Regulation) per Relevant Member State, with the prior written consent of the Managers for any such offer; or 
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c) in any other circumstances falling under the scope of Article 3(2) of the EU Prospectus Regulation;  

provided that no such offer of Offer Shares shall result in a requirement for the Company, the Selling Shareholders or 
any Manager to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the EU Prospectus Regulation or supplementary prospectus 
pursuant to Article 23 of the EU Prospectus Regulation. 

For the purpose of this provision, the expression an "offer to the public" in relation to any Offer Shares in any Relevant 
Member State means a communication to persons in any form and by any means presenting sufficient information on 
the terms of the Offering and the Offer Shares to be offered, so as to enable an investor to decide to acquire any Offer 
Shares. 

This EEA selling restriction is in addition to any other selling restrictions set out in this Prospectus. 

19.2.4 Additional jurisdictions 

19.2.4.1 Switzerland 

The Offer Shares may not be publicly offered in Switzerland and will not be listed on the Swiss Exchange ("SIX") or on 
any other stock exchange or regulated trading facility in Switzerland. This document has been prepared without regard 
to the disclosure standards for issuance prospectuses under article 652a or article 1156 of the Swiss Code of Obligations 
or the disclosure standards for listing prospectuses under article 27 ff of the SIX Listing Rules or the listing rules of any 
other stock exchange or regulated trading facility in Switzerland. Neither this document nor any other offering or 
marketing material relating to the Offer Shares or the Offering may be publicly distributed or otherwise made publicly 
available in Switzerland. Neither this document nor any other offering or marketing material relating to the Offering, the 
Company or its Shares has been or will be filed with or approved by any Swiss regulatory authority. In particular, this 
document will not be filed with, and the Offering will not be supervised by, the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory 
Authority FINMA, and the Offering has not been and will not be authorized under the Swiss Federal Act on Collective 
Investment Schemes ("CISA"). The investor protection afforded to acquirers of interests in collective investment 
schemes under the CISA does not extend to acquirers of shares. 

19.2.4.2 Canada 

The Offer Shares may be sold only to purchasers purchasing, or deemed to be purchasing, as principal that are accredited 
investors, as defined in National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions or subsection 73.3(1) of the Securities Act 
(Ontario), and are permitted clients, as defined in National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions 
and Ongoing Registrant Obligations. Any resale of the Offer Shares must be made in accordance with an exemption 
from, or in a transaction not subject to, the prospectus requirements of applicable securities laws. 

Securities legislation in certain provinces or territories of Canada may provide a purchaser with remedies for rescission 
or damages if this Prospectus (including any amendment thereto) contains a misrepresentation, provided that the 
remedies for rescission or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities 
legislation of the purchaser's province or territory. The purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the 
securities legislation of the purchaser's province or territory for particulars of these rights or consult with a legal advisor. 

Pursuant to section 3A.3 (or, in the case of securities issued or guaranteed by the government of a non-Canadian 
jurisdiction, section 3A.4) of National Instrument 33-105 Underwriting Conflicts (NI 33-105), the Managers are not 
required to comply with the disclosure requirements of NI 33-105 regarding underwriter conflicts of interest in connection 
with this offering. 

19.2.4.3 Hong Kong 

The Offer Shares may not be offered or sold in Hong Kong by means of any document other than (i) in circumstances 
which do not constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong, 
or (ii) to “professional investors” within the meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong 
and any rules made thereunder, or (iii) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a "prospectus" 
within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong, and no advertisement, invitation or document 
relating to the Offer Shares may be issued or may be in the possession of any person for the purposes of issue (in each 
case whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere), which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or 
read by, the public of Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the securities laws of Hong Kong) other than with 
respect to Offer Shares which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to 
"professional investors" within the meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong and any 
rules made thereunder. 
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19.2.4.4 Singapore 

This Prospectus has not been registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, this 
Prospectus and any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or 
purchase, of the Offer Shares may not be circulated or distributed, nor may they be offered or sold, or be made the 
subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, whether directly or indirectly, to persons in Singapore other than 
(i) to an institutional investor under Section 274 of the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore (the "SFA"), 
(ii) to a relevant person, or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A), and in accordance with the conditions, specified in 
Section 275 of the SFA or (iii) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable 
provision of the SFA. 

19.2.4.5 Other jurisdictions 

The Offer Shares may not be offered, sold, resold, transferred or delivered, directly or indirectly, in or into, Japan, 
Australia or any other jurisdiction in which it would not be permissible to offer the Offer Shares. 

In jurisdictions outside the United States and the EEA where the Offering would be permissible, the Offer Shares will 
only be offered pursuant to applicable exceptions from prospectus requirements in such jurisdictions. 

19.3 Transfer restrictions 

19.3.1 United States 

The Offer Shares have not been, and will not be, registered under the U.S. Securities Act or with any securities regulatory 
authority of any state or other jurisdiction in the United States, and may not be offered or sold except: (i) within the 
United States only to QIBs in reliance on Rule 144A or pursuant to another exemption from the registration requirements 
of the U.S. Securities Act; and (ii) outside the United States in compliance with Regulation S, and in each case in 
accordance with any applicable securities laws of any state or territory of the United States or any other jurisdiction. 
Terms defined in Rule 144A or Regulation S shall have the same meaning when used in this section. 

Each purchaser of the Offer Shares outside the United States pursuant to Regulation S will be deemed to have 
acknowledged, represented and agreed that it has received a copy of this Prospectus and such other information as it 
deems necessary to make an informed investment decision and that: 

• The purchaser is authorized to consummate the purchase of the Offer Shares in compliance with all applicable 
laws and regulations. 

• The purchaser acknowledges that the Offer Shares have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. 
Securities Act, or with any securities regulatory authority or any state of the United States, and, subject to 
certain exceptions, may not be offered or sold within the United States. 

• The purchaser is, and the person, if any, for whose account or benefit the purchaser is acquiring the Offer 
Shares, was located outside the United States at the time the buy order for the Offer Shares was originated 
and continues to be located outside the United States and has not purchased the Offer Shares for the account 
or benefit of any person in the United States or entered into any arrangement for the transfer of the Offer 
Shares or any economic interest therein to any person in the United States. 

• The purchaser is not an affiliate of the Company or a person acting on behalf of such affiliate, and is not in 
the business of buying and selling securities or, if it is in such business, it did not acquire the Offer Shares 
from the Company or an affiliate thereof in the initial distribution of such Shares. 

• The purchaser is aware of the restrictions on the offer and sale of the Offer Shares pursuant to Regulation S 
described in this Prospectus. 

• The Offer Shares have not been offered to it by means of any "directed selling efforts" as defined in Regulation 
S. 

• The Company shall not recognize any offer, sale, pledge or other transfer of the Offer Shares made other than 
in compliance with the above restrictions. 

• If the purchaser is acquiring any of the Offer Shares as a fiduciary or agent for one or more accounts, the 
purchaser represents that it has sole investment discretion with respect to each such account and that it has 
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full power to make the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements in behalf of each such 
account.  

• The purchaser acknowledges that the Company, the Selling Shareholders, the Managers and their respective 
advisers will rely upon the truth and accuracy of the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and 
agreements. 

Each purchaser of the Offer Shares within the United States purchasing pursuant to Rule 144A or another available 
exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act will be deemed 
to have acknowledged, represented and agreed that it has received a copy of this Prospectus and such other information 
as it deems necessary to make an informed investment decision and that: 

• The purchaser is authorized to consummate the purchase of the Offer Shares in compliance with all applicable 
laws and regulations. 

• The purchaser acknowledges that the Offer Shares have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. 
Securities Act or with any securities regulatory authority of any state of the United States and are subject to 
significant restrictions to transfer. 

• The purchaser (i) is a QIB (as defined in Rule 144A), (ii) is aware that the sale to it is being made in reliance 
on Rule 144A and (iii) is acquiring such Offer Shares for its own account or for the account of a QIB, in each 
case for investment and not with a view to any resale or distribution to the Offer Shares, as the case may be.  

• The purchaser is aware that the Offer Shares are being offered in the United States in a transaction not 
involving any public offering in the United States within the meaning of the U.S. Securities Act. 

• If, in the future, the purchaser decides to offer, resell, pledge or otherwise transfer such Offer Shares, or any 
economic interest therein, as the case may be, such Offer Shares or any economic interest therein may be 
offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred only (i) to a person whom the beneficial owner and/or any 
person acting on its behalf reasonably believes is a QIB in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 
144A, (ii) outside the United States in a transaction meeting the requirements of Regulation S, (iii) in 
accordance with Rule 144 (if available), (iv) pursuant to any other exemption from the registration 
requirements of the U.S. Securities Act, subject to the receipt by the Company of an opinion of counsel or 
such other evidence that the Company may reasonably require that such sale or transfer is in compliance with 
the U.S. Securities Act or (v) pursuant to an effective registration statement under the U.S. Securities Act, in 
each case in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any state or territory of the United States or 
any other jurisdiction.  

• The purchaser is not an affiliate of the Company or a person acting on behalf of such affiliate, and is not in 
the business of buying and selling securities or, if it is in such business, it did not acquire the Offer Shares 
from the Company or an affiliate thereof in the initial distribution of such Shares. 

• The purchaser will not deposit or cause to be deposited such Offer Shares into any depositary receipt facility 
established or maintained by a depository bank other than a Rule 144A restricted depository receipt facility, 
so long as such Offer Shares are "restricted securities" within the meaning of Rule 144(a) (3) under the U.S. 
Securities Act. 

• The purchaser acknowledges that the Offer Shares are "restricted securities" within the meaning of Rule 
144(a) (3) and no representation is made as to the availability of the exemption provided by Rule 144 for 
resales of any Offer Shares, as the case may be.  

• The purchaser acknowledges that the Company shall not recognize any offer, sale pledge or other transfer of 
the Offer Shares made other than in compliance with the above-stated restrictions. 

• If the purchaser is requiring any of the Offer Shares as a fiduciary or agent for one or more accounts, the 
purchaser represents that it has sole investment discretion with respect to each such account and that it has 
full power to make the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements on behalf of each such 
account.  
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• The purchaser acknowledges that these representations and undertakings are required in connection with the 
securities laws of the United States and that Company, the Selling Shareholders, the Managers and their 
respective advisers will rely upon the truth and accuracy of the foregoing acknowledgements, representations 
and agreements. 

19.3.2 European Economic Area 

Each person in a Relevant Member State (other than, in the case of paragraph (a), persons receiving offers contemplated 
in this Prospectus in Norway) who receives any communication in respect of, or who acquires any Offer Shares under, 
the offers contemplated in this Prospectus will be deemed to have represented, warranted and agreed to and with each 
Manager and the Company that: 

a) it is a qualified investor within the meaning of Articles 2I of the EU Prospectus Regulation; and 

b) in the case of any Offer Shares acquired by it as a financial intermediary, as that term is used in Article 1 of 
the EU Prospectus Regulation, (i) the Offer Shares acquired by it in the offer have not been acquired on behalf 
of, nor have they been acquired with a view to their offer or resale to, persons in any Relevant Member State 
other than qualified investors, as that term is defined in the EU Prospectus Directive, or in circumstances in 
which the prior consent of the Managers has been given to the offer or resale; or (ii) where Offer Shares have 
been acquired by it on behalf of persons in any Relevant Member State other than qualified investors, the 
offer of those Shares to it is not treated under the EU Prospectus Regulation as having been made to such 
persons. 

For the purpose of this representation, the expression an "offer to the public" in relation to any Offer Shares in any 
Relevant Member State means a communication to persons in any form and by any means presenting sufficient 
information on the terms of the Offering and the Offer Shares to be offered, so as to enable an investor to decide to 
acquire any Offer Shares. 
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20 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

20.1 Auditor and advisors 

The Company's independent auditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers AS (PwC), with company registration number 987 009 
713, and registered business address Dronning Eufemias gate 71, 0194 Oslo, Norway. The partners of PwC are members 
of The Norwegian Institute of Public Accountants (Nw.: Den Norske Revisorforening). PwC has been the auditor of the 
Company since 3 March 2017. 

Advokatfirmaet Thommessen AS (Haakon VIIs gate 10, 0161 Oslo, Norway) is acting as legal counsel to the Company. 

ABG Sundal Collier ASA (Munkedamsveien 45 Vika Atrium, 0250 Oslo, Norway) and Carnegie AS (Aker Brygge, 
Fjordalléen 16, 0250 Oslo, Norway) are acting as joint global coordinators and joint bookrunners in connection with the 
Offering and the Listing and Joh. Berenberg, Gossler & Co. KG (Neuer Jungfernstieg 20, 20354 Hamburg, Germany) is 
acting as joint bookrunner in connection with the Offering and the Listing.  

Advokatfirmaet Schjødt AS (Ruseløkkveien 14-16, 0251 Oslo, Norway) is acting as legal counsel to the Managers. 

20.2 Documents available 

Copies of the documents listed below will be available for inspection at the Company's offices at Hvervenmoveien 45, 
3511 Hønefoss, Norway, during normal business hours from Monday to Friday each week (except public holidays) for a 
period of twelve months from the date of this Prospectus. 

• The Company's certificate of incorporation and Articles of Association; and 

• This Prospectus. 

With the exception of the certificate of incorporation, the documents listed above can also be obtained at the Company's 
website www.smartcraftready.com. 

 



 

 
 

21 DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY 

In the Prospectus, the following defined terms have the following meanings: 

ABGSC ............................................................  ABG Sundal Collier ASA. 

Additional Shares .............................................  The additional Shares over-allotted in the Offering, equalling up to 10% of the 
final number of Sale Shares sold in the Offering.  

Anti-Money Laundering Legislation ......................  Applicable anti-money laundering legislation, including the Norwegian Money 
Laundering Act of 1 June 2018 no. 23 and the Norwegian Money Laundering 
Regulations of 14 September 2018 no. 1324. 

APMs...............................................................  Alternative performance measures. 

Application Period .............................................  The application period for the Retail Offering which will take place from 09:00 
hours (CEST) on 15 June 2021 to 16:00 hours (CEST) on 22 June 2021, unless 
extended. 

  

APS ................................................................  Application service provider. 

ARPC ..............................................................  Average Revenue Per Customer. 

ARR ................................................................  Annual Recurring Revenue. 

Arthur D. Little .................................................  Arthur D. Little AB. 

Articles of Association .......................................  The Company's articles of association attached hereto as Appendix A. 

AWS ...............................................................  The Amazon platform Amazon Web Services. 

Base Fee .........................................................  A fixed base commission payable to the Managers and calculated on the basis 
of the gross proceeds from the Offering. 

Berenberg .......................................................  Joh. Berenberg, Gossler & Co. KG.  

Board Members ................................................  The members of Board of Directors. 

Board of Directors.............................................  The Board of Directors of the Company. 

Bookbuilding Period ..........................................  The bookbuilding period for the Institutional Offering which will take place from 
09:00 hours (CEST) on 15 June 2021 to 14:00 hours (CEST) on 22 2021, unless 
extended. 

Borrowing Option..............................................  An option expected to be granted to the Stabilization Manager by Valedo 
Partners III AB, pursuant to which the Stabilization Manager may require Valedo 
Partners III AB to lend to the Stabilization Manager, on behalf of the Managers, 
up to a number of Shares equal to the number of Additional Shares. 

Brexit ..............................................................  The withdrawal of the U.K. from the EU. 

Bygglet Group ..................................................  Bygglet Holding AB and Bygglet AB 

CAC ................................................................  Marketing cost plus direct sales personnel cost divided by the number of new 
customers. 

CAGR ..............................................................  Compounded annual growth rate. 

Carnegie ..........................................................  Carnegie AS.  

CEO ................................................................  Chief Executive Officer. 

CEST ...............................................................  Central European Summer Time. 

CFO ................................................................  Chief Financial Officer. 

  

CISA ...............................................................  Swiss Federal Act on Collective Investment Schemes. 

Company .........................................................  SmartCraft ASA. 

Corporate Governance Code ..............................  The Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance last updated 17 
October 2018. 

Covid-19 .........................................................  The coronavirus SARS-CoV-2. 

CPM ................................................................  Currently penetrated market. 

Credit Facility ...................................................  The credit facility entered into between the Company and Sparebanken Møre as 
described in Section 11.9.1.3. 

DACH ..............................................................  Germany, Austria and Switzerland. 

Data Protection Laws ........................................  Laws and regulations regarding data protection and privacy in various 
jurisdictions. 

Discretionary Fee ..............................................  A fixed discretionary fee in connection with the Offering, payable to the 
Managers at the Company's sole discretion 

EEA ................................................................  The European Economic Area. 



 

 
 

El-Info Group ...................................................  El-Info i Växjö Holding AB and El-Info i Växjö AB (named Mats Eriksson i Växjö 
AB at the time when being acquired by the Group) The two companies have, 
with effect from 8 June 2021, merged into one entity, with El-Info i Växjö AB 
being the surviving entity.   

Eligible Employees ............................................  (i) all fulltime employees of the Group other than the employees, directly or 
indirectly, being Selling Shareholders as listed in Section 14 "Selling 
Shareholders", as of the last day of the Application Period, and (ii) Board 
Members other than Board Members, directly or indirectly, being Selling 
Shareholders as listed in Section 14 "Selling Shareholders" 

Employee Application Period ..............................  The application period for the Retail Offering which will take place from 09:00 
hours (CEST) on 15 June 2021 to 15:00 hours (CEST) on 22 June 2021, unless 
extended. 

Employee Offering ............................................  An employee offering, in which Offer Shares are being offered to Eligible 
Employees, subject to a lower limit per application of NOK 10,500 and an upper 
limit per application of NOK 1,999,999. 

ESMA ..............................................................  The European Securities and Markets Authority. 

EU ..................................................................  The European Union. 

EUIPO .............................................................  The European Union Intellectual Property Office. 

EUR ................................................................  The lawful currency of the participating member states in the EU. 

EU Prospectus Regulation ..................................  Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 
June 2017 on this prospectus to be published when securities are offered to the 
public or admitted to trading on a regulated market, and repealing Directive 
2003/71/EC. 

Excess Application Amount ................................  Any application by Eligible Employees for Offer Shares in excess of the applicable 
Guaranteed Allocation. 

Executive Management .....................................  The members of the executive management of the Group. 

Financial Information ........................................  The Financial Statements and the Interim Financial Statements. 

Financial Statements .........................................  The IFRS Financial Statements and the NGAAP Financial Statements. 

Forward-looking statements ...............................  Statements that reflect the Company's current views with respect to future 
events and financial and operational performance, typically identified by the use 
of forward-looking terminology, such as the terms "anticipates", "assumes", 
"believes", "can", "could", "estimates", "expects", "forecasts", "intends", "may", 
"might", "plans", "projects", "should", "will", "would" or, in each case, their 
negative, or other variations or comparable terminology. 

FSMA ..............................................................  Financial Services and Markets Act 2000. 

GDPR ..............................................................  The General Data Protection Regulation (EU) 2016/679. 

GLEIF ..............................................................  Global Legal Identifier Foundation. 

Greenshoe Option .............................................  An option expected to be granted by the Company to the Managers to purchase 
a number of new Shares to be issued by the Company up to the number of 
Additional Shares in order to facilitate redelivery of Shares borrowed pursuant 
to the Borrowing Option. 

Group or SmartCraft .........................................  The Company taken together with its subsidiaries. 

Guaranteed Allocation .......................................  The guaranteed allocation to Eligible Employees in the Employee Offering.  

Homerun .........................................................  Homerunbynet Oy. 

HSE ................................................................  Health, safety and environment. 

HWS ...............................................................  Heating, water and sanitation. 

IAS 34 ............................................................  International Accounting Standard 34 "Interim Financial Reporting as adopted 
by the EU. 

ICT .................................................................  Information and communications technology 

IFRS ...............................................................  International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU. 

IFRS Financial Statements .................................  The Group's audited consolidated financial statements as at and for the year 
ended 31 December 2020, with comparable audited figures for the year ended 
31 December 2019, prepared in accordance with IFRS. 

Institutional Closing Date ..................................  The date of delivery of, and payment for, the Offer Shares to/by the applicants 
in the Institutional Offering, expected to take place on or about 25 June 2021. 

Institutional Offering .........................................  An institutional offering, in which Offer Shares are being offered (a) to 
institutional and professional investors in Norway, (b) investors outside Norway 
and the United States, subject to applicable exemptions from the prospectus 
requirements, and (c) in the United States to QIBs, as defined in, and in reliance 



 

 
 

on, Rule 144A of the U.S. Securities Act; subject to a lower limit per application 
of NOK 2,000,000. 

Interim Financial Statements .............................  The Group's unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial information as 
at and for the three months ended 31 March 2021, with comparable unaudited 
information for the same period in 2020. 

IT ...................................................................  Information technology. 

Junior Facility ...................................................  A loan facility agreement between the Company and Armada Mezzanine Fund 
IV KY as described in Section 11.9.1.2. 

LEI .................................................................  Legal Entity Identifier. 

Listing .............................................................  The admission to trading of the Shares on Oslo Børs. 

LOUs ...............................................................  Local Operating Units. 

LTV .................................................................  Average revenue per customer the last twelve months divided by a rolling 12 
months churn. 

Managers ........................................................  ABG Sundal Collier ASA, Joh. Berenberg Gossler & Co. KG and Carnegie AS. 

Mandate Agreement ..........................................  The mandate agreement between the Company and the Managers. 

MAR ................................................................  Regulation (EU) No 596/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 
16 April 2014 on market abuse. 

MiFID II ...........................................................  EU Directive 2014/65/EU on markets in financial instruments, as amended. 

MiFID II Product Governance Requirements .........  MiFID II, Articles 9 and 10 of Commission Delegated Directive (EU) 2017/593 
supplementing MiFID II and local implementing measures. 

NCI .................................................................  National Client Identifier. 

New Shares .....................................................  The number of new shares to be issued by the Company. 

NGAAP ............................................................  Norwegian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. 

NGAAP Financial Statements ..............................  The Group's audited consolidated financial statements as at and for the year 
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, prepared in accordance with NGAAP. 

NOK ................................................................  Norwegian Kroner, the lawful currency of Norway. 

NOM-account ...................................................  Nominee account. 

Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders ..............  Shareholders who are limited liability companies and certain similar corporate 
entities not resident in Norway for tax purposes. 

Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders ................  Shareholders who are individuals not resident in Norway for tax purposes. 

Nordic .............................................................  Norway, Sweden and Finland. 

Nordnet ...........................................................  Nordnet Bank AB. 

Norwegian Accounting Act .................................  The Norwegian Accounting Act of 17 July 1998 No 56 (Nw.: regnskapsloven). 

Norwegian Act on Overdue Payment ...................  The Norwegian Act on Overdue Payment of 17 December 1976 no. 100 (Nw.: 
forsinkelsesrenteloven). 

Norwegian Corporate Shareholders .....................  Shareholders who are limited liability companies and certain similar corporate 
entities resident in Norway for tax purposes. 

Norwegian FSA .................................................  The Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway (Nw.: Finanstilsynet). 

Norwegian Personal Shareholders .......................  Shareholders who are individuals resident in Norway for tax purposes. 

Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act .............  Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act of 13 June 1997 No 45 (Nw.: 
allmennaksjeloven). 

Norwegian Securities Trading Act........................  The Norwegian Securities Trading Act of 28 June 2007 No 75 (Nw.: 
verdipapirhandelloven). 

Offering ...........................................................  The initial public offering of the Shares. 

Offer Price .......................................................  NOK 17.80 per Offer Share.  

Offer Shares ....................................................  The Sale Shares and any Additional Shares – the Shares offered pursuant to the 
Offering. 

Order ..............................................................  The UK Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 
2005, as amended. 

Oslo Børs .........................................................  Oslo Børs, a Norwegian stock exchange operated by Oslo Børs ASA. 

Payment Date ..................................................  The payment date for the Offer Shares in the Retail Offering and the Employee 
Offering, expected to be on 24 June 2021. 

Placing Agreement ............................................  The placing agreement expected to be entered into on or about 14 June 2021 
between the Company, the Selling Shareholders and the Managers with respect 
to the Offering of the Offer Shares. 

Preference Shares ............................................  Preference shares in the share capital of the Company. 



 

 
 

Primary Insiders ...............................................  Persons discharging managerial responsibilities in the Group as defined by the 
Company from time to time in accordance with MAR article 3(25). 

Prospectus .......................................................  This Prospectus dated 14 June 2021. 

PwC ................................................................  PricewaterhouseCoopers AS. 

QA ..................................................................  Quality and assurance construction. 

QIBs ...............................................................  Qualified institutional buyers as defined in Rule 144A. 

Regulation S ....................................................  Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act. 

Relevant Member State .....................................  Each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the 
EU Prospectus Regulation. 

Relevant Persons ..............................................  Persons in the United Kingdom that are (i) investment professionals falling 
within Article 19(5) of the Order or (ii) high net worth entities, and other persons 
to whom the Prospectus may lawfully be communicated, falling within Article 
49(2)(a) to (d) of the Order. 

Retail Application Form ......................................  Application form to be used to apply for Offer Shares in the Retail Offering, 
attached to this Prospectus as Appendix D in English. 

Retail Offering ..................................................  A retail offering, in which Offer Shares are being offered to the public in Norway 
subject to a lower limit per application of NOK 10,500 and an upper limit per 
application of NOK 1,999,999 for each investor. 

Rule 144A ........................................................  Rule 144A under the U.S. Securities Act. 

SaaS ...............................................................  Software as a service. 

Sale Shares .....................................................  Up to 33,707,865 Shares, all of which are existing, validly issued and fully paid-
up registered Shares with a nominal value of NOK 0.01, offered by the Selling 
Shareholders in the Offering. 

SDG ................................................................  United Nation's Sustainable Development Goals. 

SEK ................................................................  The lawful currency of Sweden. 

Selling Shareholders .........................................  Existing shareholders of the Company as described in Section 14 "Selling 
Shareholders" 

Senior Facilities ................................................  The senior loan facilities agreements between the Company and Sparebanken 
Møre as described in Section 11.9.1.1. 

SFA.................................................................  The Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore.  

SaaS ...............................................................  Software as a service. 

Share(s) or Ordinary Share(s)  ...........................  Ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company. 

SIX .................................................................  The Swiss Exchange. 

SME ................................................................  Small and Medium-sized enterprises. 

Stabilization Manager ........................................  ABG Sundal Collier ASA 

TAM ................................................................  Total addressable market. 

Target Market Assessment .................................  The product approval process which has determined that each Share are (i) 
compatible with an end target market of retail investors and investors who meet 
the criteria of professional clients and eligible counterparties, each as defined in 
MiFID II, and (ii) eligible for distribution through all distribution channels as are 
permitted by MiFID II. 

UN ..................................................................  The United Nations 

USD ................................................................  The lawful currency of the United States. 

U.K. or United Kingdom .....................................  The United Kingdom. 

U.S. Exchange Act ............................................  The United States Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

U.S. or United States ........................................  The United States of America. 

U.S. Securities Act ............................................  The United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 

VPS ................................................................  The Norwegian Central Securities Depository (Nw.: Verdipapirsentralen). 

VPS account .....................................................  Account with the VPS for the registration of holdings of securities. 

 

 



 
 

APPENDIX A 

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION OF SMARTCRAFT ASA 

 



 Office translation 

VEDTEKTER 

FOR 

SMARTCRAFT ASA 
 

Org. nr. 918 356 649 

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION 

FOR 

SMARTCRAFT ASA 
 

Reg. no. 918 356 649 
 

  

§ 1 – Foretaksnavn 

Selskapets navn er SmartCraft ASA. Selskapet er et 
allmennaksjeselskap. 

§ 1 – Company name 

The company's name is SmartCraft ASA. The company is a 
public limited liability company. 

§ 2 – Forretningskontor 

Selskapets forretningskontor er i Ålesund kommune. 

§ 2 – Registered offices 

The company's business office shall be in the municipality 
of Ålesund. 

§ 3 – Formål 

Selskapets virksomhet er industri, handel og investering 
i aksjer og andre eiendeler i andre selskaper og foretak 
samt all annen virksomhet som hermed står i 
forbindelse. 

§ 3 – The object of the Company 

The company's objects are industry, trade and 
investments in shares and other assets in other companies 
and enterprises as well as all other activities related to 
this. 

§ 4 – Aksjekapital 

Selskapets aksjekapital er kr 1.387.824 fordelt på 
138.782.400 aksjer, hver pålydende kr 0,01.  

§ 4 – Share capital 

The company's share capital is NOK 1,387,824, divided 
into 138,782,400 shares, each with a par value of NOK 
0.01. 

Selskapets aksjer skal være registrert i et 
verdipapirregister (Verdipapirsentralen (VPS)). 
Selskapet kan etablere et bundet fond. 

The company's shares shall be registered in a securities 
register (the Norwegian Central Securities Depository 
(VPS)). The company may establish a restricted fund.  

§ 5 – Styre 

Selskapets styre skal bestå av fra tre til ni 
aksjonærvalgte medlemmer. Styrets medlemmer 
velges for to år om gangen om ikke generalforsamlingen 
fastsetter en annen periode i forbindelse med valget. 

§ 5 – Board of directors 

The company's board of directors shall consist of three to 
nine shareholder elected members. The board of directors 
is elected for a period of two years, unless otherwise 
decided by the general meeting in connection with the 
election. 

§ 6 – Signatur 

Selskapets firma tegnes av to styremedlemmer i 
fellesskap. Styret kan meddele prokura. 

§ 6 – Signatory rights 

Two members of the board of directors jointly have the 
right to sign on behalf of the company. The board of 
directors may grant powers of procuration.  



§ 7 – Generalforsamling 

Dokumenter som gjelder saker som skal behandles på 
generalforsamlingen, herunder dokumenter som i 
henhold til lov skal inntas i eller vedlegges innkallingen, 
trenger ikke sendes til aksjonærene dersom 
dokumentene gjøres tilgjengelig på selskapets 
internettside. En aksjonær kan likevel kreve å få tilsendt 
dokumenter som gjelder saker som skal behandles på 
generalforsamlingen. 

§ 7 – General meeting 

Documents concerning matters to be considered at the 
company's general meeting, including documents which by 
law must be included in or enclosed with the notice of the 
general meeting, need not be sent to shareholders if such 
documents are made available on the company's website. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, a shareholder may request 
a copy of documents which concern matters to be 
considered at the general meeting. 

Styret kan beslutte at aksjonærer som vil delta på 
generalforsamlingen, må melde dette til selskapet innen 
en bestemt frist som ikke kan utløpe tidligere enn tre 
dager før generalforsamlingen. 

The board of directors may decide that shareholders who 
want to participate in the general meeting must notify the 
company thereof within a specific deadline that cannot 
expire earlier than three days prior to the general 
meeting. 

Aksjeeiere kan avgi sin stemme skriftlig, herunder ved 
bruk av elektronisk kommunikasjon, i en periode før 
generalforsamlingen. Styret kan fastsette nærmere 
retningslinjer for slik forhåndsstemming. Det skal 
fremgå av generalforsamlingsinnkallingen hvilke 
retningslinjer som er fastsatt. 

The shareholders may cast their votes in writing, including 
through electronic communication, in a period prior to the 
general meeting. The board of directors may establish 
specific guidelines for such advance voting. It must be 
stated in the notice of the general meeting which 
guidelines have been set. 

På den ordinære generalforsmalingen skal følgende 
spørsmål behandles og avgjøres: 

The annual general meeting shall deal with and decide the 
following matters: 

1. Godkjennelse av årsregnskap og årsberetning, 
herunder utdelingen av utbytte; og 

1. Approval of the annual accounts and the annual 
report, including distribution of dividends; and 

2. Andre saker som i henhold til lov eller vedtektene 
hører under den ordinære generalforsamlingen. 

2. Other matters which are required by law or the 
articles of association to be dealt with by the general 
meeting. 

§ 8 – Valgkomité 

Selskapet skal ha en valgkomité. Valgkomiteen skal 
bestå av fra to til tre medlemmer etter 
generalforsamlingens beslutning, hvor flertallet skal 
være uavhengige av styret og selskapets ledelse. 
Valgkomiteens medlemmer, herunder valgkomiteens 
leder velges av generalforsamlingen for to år av gangen 
om ikke generalforsamlingen fastsetter en annen 
periode i forbindelse med valget. 

§ 8 – Nomination committee 

The company shall have a nomination committee. The 
nomination committee shall consist of between two and 
three members as resolved by the general meeting, where 
the majority of the members shall be independent of the 
board of directors and the company's management. The 
members of the nomination committee, including the 
chairman, will be elected by the general meeting for a 
period of two years unless the general meeting decides 
otherwise in connection with the election. 

Valgkomiteen avgir innstilling til generalforsamlingen om 
valg av aksjonærvalgte medlemmer til styret og styrets 
leder, og medlemmer til valgkomiteen, samt 
godtgjørelse til styrets medlemmer og valgkomiteens 
medlemmer. Generalforsamlingen kan fastsette instruks 
for valgkomiteen. 

The nomination committee shall give recommendations to 
the general meeting for the election of shareholder elected 
members to the board of directors and the chairperson, 
and to members of the nomination committee, in addition 
to recommendations for remuneration to the members of 
the board of directors and the members of the nomination 
committee. The general meeting may adopt instructions 
for the nomination committee. 
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Statement of the Board of Directors 2020 

 

ACTIVITIES 

The SmartCraft Group provides software solutions for the construction industry in Norway, Sweden and 

Finland.  

The Group has an active M&A strategy and has acquired complementary companies and solutions the last 

years. In 2020 the Group acquired Congrid Oy, the first Finnish Company in the Group. 

The parent company is SmartCraft AS with head office in Ålesund, Norway. SmartCraft AS owns 100% of the 

shares in the subsidiaries. In addition to the parent company the Group has 1 company in Norway, 4 

companies in Sweden and 1 company in Finland. 

A separate set of financial statements are made for the SmartCraft AS accounts. 

GOING CONCERN ASSUMPTION 

In accordance with the Norwegian accounting act, the Board confirms that the accounts have been prepared 

in conformity with the going concern assumption and this assumption is valid. 

GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For 2020 the SmartCraft Group has prepared the Group accounts in accordance with IFRS. As 2020 is the first 

year of IFRS adoption, the Group has prepared the 2019 accounts in accordance with IFRS for comparison. 

Note 29 in the financial statements describes the effect of transitioning from GAAP to IFRS. In the Board’s 

opinion, the financial statements provide an accurate view of the Group’s financial position at the end of the 

fiscal year. 

The SmartCraft Group provides software solutions for the construction industry. As one of the least 

digitalized industries, the Group’s solutions simplifies and streamlines daily operations for its customers. In 

2020 the Group has a revenue of TNOK 195 941 (TNOK 153 701 in 2019), an organic growth of 23%. The Group 

is expecting similar organic growth going forward with a strong customer base with high recurring revenue, 

and a low churn. The Board point out there is always uncertainty regarding future events. 

EBITDA adjusted for transaction costs for the Group is TNOK 80 934 in 2020 (TNOK 55 320 in 2019). 

Total depreciation and amortization of tangible and intangible assets in 2020 is TNOK 17 053 (TNOK 12 500 in 

2019) and operating profit is TNOK 59 610 (TNOK 39 085 in 2019). 

In the Board’s opinion the Group’s liquidity is solid and the Group has sufficient funds to settle all obligations 

when due. As at Dec 31 2020 the Group had cash and cash equivalents of TNOK 79 902 (TNOK 39 971 as at 

Dec 31 2019). Net cash provided from operational activities was TNOK 98 008 in 2020 (TNOK 43 842 in 2019), 

a growth of 123,5%. The increase in net cash provided from operational activities is primarily due to growth, 

with increased profit and increased deferred revenue. Net cash provided from operational activities in 2019 

is partially distorted by the effects of a mid-year acquisition. If adjusted for full year effects, the net cash 

provided from operational activities in 2019 was TNOK 53 269, reducing the growth to 84,0%. 

The Group is subject to various types of risks relating to operations and financing. As the Group operates 

internationally it is exposed to other currencies than NOK (functional currency). However, there is a natural 
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hedge on the currency exchange risk as all operating entities have all material costs and revenue in their 

functional currency, and the Group has both assets and liabilities in foreign currency. The currency risk is 

considered low/moderate. 

Credit risk is considered low as the Group invoice its services upfront and can swiftly block access to 

unpaying customers. The Group’s customers are however operating in the same industry, exposing the 

Group to general market/industry risk. On historical basis the market risk is considered low. 

The subsidiary Cordel Norge’s research and development project “The Nordic, digital contractor” is 

approved for the SkatteFunn-grant in Norway. The mission is to further digitalize the processes the whole 

construction industry is currently involved in. The project has a total grant of TNOK 25 840 for the period 

2018-2020. In 2020 Cordel Norge received TNOK 2 640 as part of the grant. 

All companies have received governmental support in relation to Covid-19. 

SMARTCRAFT AS FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

The financial statement for 2020 for SmartCraft AS is prepared in accordance with the Norwegian Generally 

Accepted Accounting Principles. In the Board’s opinion, the financial statements provide an accurate view of 

the company’s financial position at the end of the fiscal year. 

SmartCraft AS is the parent company of the SmartCraft Group. Revenues in the company is solely 

management fees from the subsidiaries. 

SmartCraft AS had a total revenue of TNOK 3 662 in 2020 (TNOK 0 in 2019), and profit of TNOK 9 907 (TNOK 

4 434 in 2019). As at Dec 31 2020 the company has a total equity of TNOK 263 031 (40,3%). 

In the Board’s opinion the company’s liquidity is satisfactory and the company has sufficient funds to settle 

all obligations when due. 

WORKING ENVIRONMENT AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES AND DISCRIMINATION 

The SmartCraft Group has 144 employees as at Dec 31 2020. There has been no reported work-related 

injuries or accidents in 2020. Absence due to sickness was 1,78%. 

The Group’s human resource policy is based on equal rights for all, and there is no difference in treatment on 

any basis in terms of salary or recruitment. As at Dec 31 2020 there are 13 men and 8 women in manager 

positions. 

SmartCraft AS has 2 employees as at Dec 31 2020. There has been no reported work-related injuries or 

accidents in 2020. There was no absence due to sickness. 

The company’s human resource policy is based on equal rights for all, and there is no difference in treatment 

on any basis in terms of salary or recruitment. 

The Board of Directors is comprised of 7 men. 

EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT 

The Group does not pollute the external environment beyond what ensues from normal office operations. 

The Board of Directors and employees are traveling as a part of daily operations. The Group encourages the 

use of environmental transport, and if possible video conferences, to reduce the effects on the environment.  
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

The Board recognizes no subsequent events with effects on the prepared financial statements.  

 

14.04.2021 

Board of Directors, SmartCraft AS 

 

 

Gaute Engbakk  Hans Gunnar Haglund  Carl Ivarsson 

Chairman  Board member  Board member 

     

Arild Bødal  Bernt Ulstein  Bjørn Kristian Bentzen 

Board member  Board member  Board member 

     

Allan Engström    Gustav Line 

Board member    CEO 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

 

 

 

*) Additionally, in 2019 TNOK 4 616 were issued as a seller credit and subsequently the sellers converted the note 

into equity obtaining 79 203 shares with a total face value of TNOK 79 + share premium of TNOK 4 537. 

In 2020, an additional TNOK 15 248 were issued as a seller credit and subsequently the sellers converted the 

note into equity obtaining 100 246 shares with a total face value of TNOK 100 + share premium of TNOK 15 148. 
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NOTE 1 REPORTING ENTITY 

The reporting entity reflected in these financial statements comprises of SmartCraft AS and the consolidated 

subsidiaries that make up the SmartCraft Group. The parent company SmartCraft AS, is a Norwegian entity 

controlled by Valedo Partners III AB, an independent Swedish investment company. The SmartCraft corporate 

headquarters is located in Ålesund, Norway, and with offices in Norway, Sweden and Finland. 

SmartCraft AS is a software company with a portfolio of related software brands. Currently, Bygglet, Cordel, 

Congrid and EL-VIS are all brands in the Group’s portfolio. The Group operates in the Nordic region and provides 

SaaS and subscription software solutions for construction- and craftsmen companies, with market leading 

positions in the Nordics. 

This is the first set of consolidated financial statements for the Group prepared in accordance with IFRS and 

therefore IFRS 1 First time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards has been applied. The date of 

transition was 1 January 2020. In accordance with IFRS 1, the Group has also prepared an opening IFRS 

consolidated balance sheet as of 1 January 2019, as well as comparative figures for 31 December 2019. 

Comparative figures for the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income, consolidated statement of changes in equity, and consolidated statement of cash flow have also been 

prepared for the years ended 31 December 2019. The effects from the conversion from Norwegian GAAP (NGAAP) 

to IFRS are explained in note 29 related to the IFRS conversion.  

 

NOTE 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION 

The consolidated financial statements of SmartCraft AS and its subsidiaries are prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as endorsed by the European Union (EU) and Norwegian 

authorities and effective as of 31. December 2020. These financial statements also provide disclosures as specified 

under the Norwegian Accounting Act (Regnskapsloven).  

The financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain assets, liabilities and financial 

instruments, which are measured at fair value. Preparation of financial statements including note disclosures 

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported. The estimates and 

associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 

reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments about carrying 

values of assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Slight rounding differences may 

occur between the financial statements and the note disclosures.   

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 

are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised, if the revision affects only that period, or in the period 

of the revision and future periods, or if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

Judgments made by management in the application of IFRS which have a significant effect on the consolidated 

financial statements and estimates, with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year, are discussed 

in note 4. 

 

NOTE 3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

This following description of accounting principles applies to the SmartCraft Group’s 2020 financial reporting, 

including all comparative figures. The relevant accounting policies for selected financial statement line items are 
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described in detail in the specific notes in this set of financial statements. Changes in accounting policies and new 

pronouncements are discussed at the end of this section.  

3.1 Basis of consolidation  

The consolidated financial statements include SmartCraft AS and subsidiaries, in which SmartCraft AS has the 

power to govern the financial and operating policies of the entity (control). Control is normally achieved through 

ownership, directly or indirectly, of more than 50 percent of the voting power. SmartCraft AS has 100% of the 

voting power in all their subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are included from the date control commences until the date 

control ceases. There were two acquisitions completed during 2019 and 2020. EL-Info Group where control were 

commenced as of April 1 2019 and Congrid Oy as of December 1 2020. 

Inter-company transactions and inter-company balances, including internal profits and unrealized gains and 

losses, are eliminated.   

Business combinations 

The acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are recognized separately at the acquisition 

date at their fair value irrespective of any non-controlling interest, and goodwill recognized to the extent the 

consideration exceeds identified net assets. 

Goodwill 

Goodwill is recognized as a part of business combinations. Goodwill is initially measured either as the excess of 

the consideration over the SmartCraft Group’s interest or the fair value of 100 percent of the acquiree in excess of 

the acquiree's identifiable net assets (full goodwill). Goodwill is not amortized, but is tested for impairment 

annually, and more frequently if indicators of possible impairment are observed, in accordance with IAS 36 

Impairment of Assets. Goodwill is allocated to the cash generating units or groups of cash generating units 

expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination and that are monitored for internal management 

purposes.  

Foreign currency translation 

The Group presents its financial statements in the Norwegian krone (NOK). This is also the parent company’s 

functional currency. Each subsidiary has local currency of their market as the functional currency. For 

consolidation purposes, the balance sheet figures for subsidiaries with a different functional currency have been 

translated at the rate applicable at the balance sheet date. The income statement has been translated at the 

average rate for the reported period. Exchange rate differences are recognized in equity. Changes in exchange 

rate are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as they occur during the period. When investments 

in foreign subsidiaries are sold the accumulated exchange rate differences relating to the subsidiary are 

recognized in the income statement.  

3.2 Intangible assets  

Intangible assets acquired individually or as a group are recognized at fair value when acquired. Intangible assets 

acquired in a business combination are recognized at fair value separately from goodwill when they arise from 

contractual or legal rights or can be separated from the acquired entity and sold or transferred. 

Internally generated intangible assets are recognized when the expected future economic benefits that are 

attributable to the asset will flow to the entity and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Development 

costs are capitalized as intangible assets at cost in accordance with IAS 38 Intangible Assets when the recognition 

criteria are met. Research expenditures are expensed as incurred. 
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Intangible assets with indefinite useful life are tested for impairment yearly. For intangible assets with definite 

useful life, SmartCraft reviews the residual value and useful life of its assets, with any estimate changes accounted 

for prospectively over the remaining useful life of the asset. 

Research & Development: 

Expenses relating to research activities are recognized as they occur. Expenses relating to development 

activities are capitalized to the extent that the product or process is technically and commercially viable and the 

Group has sufficient resources to complete the development work. Expenses that are capitalized include the 

costs of materials, direct wage costs and a share of the directly attributable common expenses. Capitalized 

development costs are recognized at their cost minus accumulated amortization and impairment losses.  

 

Cost of building new features and functionality together with significant and pervasive improvements of the 

core platform, provided that the significant and pervasive improvements of parts or main components of the 

core platform will generate probable future economic benefits, are capitalized as development costs and 

amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated economic lifetime. 

  

A significant portion of the work that developers perform is related to the implementation of the ongoing 

updates that are required to maintain the products functionalities. Examples of updates include “bug fixes”, 

updates made to comply with changes in laws and regulations and updates made to keep pace with the latest 

technology trends. These costs are expensed as maintenance costs.  

Customer relationship: 

Customer relationships are recognized as a part of business combinations and measured initially as the net 

present value of the lifetime revenue from existing customers less cost to fulfill the contractual obligations. 

Customer relationships are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the expected lifetime the relationship.  

Software: 

Software is recognized both as a part of business combinations and by internal development. Acquired software 

in a business combination is measured at fair value. The fair value measurement is if possible based on observable 

market date, if such date is not available, fair value is estimated as the expected cost to develop a similar software 

and internal develop software are capitalized in accordance with the measurement criteria in IAS 38, and 

amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated economic lifetime.  

 Brand names: 

Brand names that contribute to future economic benefits are recognized separately from Goodwill as a part of 

business combinations. Brand names are measured using the royalty method, the management evaluates 

whether to have indefinite or definite useful lifetime and tested annually for impairment.  

3.3 Tangible assets 

Non-current assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. When assets are sold 

or disposed of, the gain or loss is recognized in the income statement and the carrying amount is derecognized. 

The cost of tangible non-current assets is the purchase price including taxes/duties and costs directly linked to 

preparing the asset ready for its intended use. Repair and maintenance are charged to the income statement 

during the financial period in which they incurred. 

The depreciation period and method are assessed each year to ensure that the method and period used 

harmonies with the financial reality of the non-current asset. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line 

method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts to their residual values over the estimated useful lives. 
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3.4 Inventory 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated sales price 

less the estimated transaction costs. Historical cost is calculated using first in first out principle and includes 

expenditures directly linked to getting the goods to their final location and condition. Foreseeable obsolescence 

is assessed continuously. The Group’s inventories consist solely of goods purchased for resale.  

3.5 Government grants 

Government grants are recognized in accordance with IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of 

Government Assistance. Grants are recognized when there is a reasonable assurance that SmartCraft will comply 

with relevant conditions and that the grants will be received. Government grants are deferred in other non-

current liabilities until the associated activity is performed or expenses recognized. Grants are deducted from 

the cost which the grant are meant to cover. Investment grants are capitalized and recognized as a deduction of 

the assets carrying amount and systematically depreciated over the asset’s useful life. 

3.6 Revenue from contracts with customers 

At contract inception, SmartCraft identifies the promised licenses and services within the contract and determines 

which of those are separate performance obligations. SmartCraft performance obligations within the contracts 

are described below. The timing of the transfer is determined based on when the customer obtains control of the 

delivered licenses or services.  

SmartCraft generates revenue from five main sources and subcategories in total.  

SaaS (software as a service)  

Revenue from SaaS subscriptions (right to access) are recognized over time, as the customer simultaneously 

receives and consumes the benefits of the services.  

Software subscriptions 

Revenue from maintenance of on-premise software are recognized over the subscription period. Maintenance 

revenue are invoiced upfront with prepayment for a 12-month period. 

Integrated services and bundled services 

Revenue from the transactional use of integrated or bundled 3rd party services are recognized at a point in time, 

on the time of the services being rendered and invoiced subsequently at the end of the month. 

Expert services 

Revenue from the sale of support, consultancy, system set-up and other advisory services are recognized at a 

point in time, on the time of the services being rendered and invoiced subsequently at the end of the month. 

Expert services included in the SaaS and software subscriptions is not recognized as independent revenues. 

Other 

Revenue from sale of on-premise licenses (right to use) are recognized at the point in time when the customer 

gets access to the software. 

Revenue from sale of hardware, books, manuals, etc are recognized at the point in time upon delivery. 
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3.7 Leasing  

The Group has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach. 

Identifying a lease 

At the inception of a contract, The Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or 

contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 

exchange for consideration. 

The Group as a lessee 

For contracts that constitute, or contain a lease, the Group separates lease components if it benefits from the 

use of each underlying asset either on its own or together with other resources that are readily available, and the 

underlying asset is neither highly dependent on, nor highly interrelated with, the other underlying assets in the 

contract. The Group then accounts for each lease component within the contract as a lease separately from non-

lease components of the contract.   

Recognition of leases and exemptions 

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognizes a lease liability and corresponding right-of-use asset for 

all lease agreements in which it is the lessee, except for the following exemptions applied: 

- Short-term leases (defined as 12 months or less) 

- Low value assets (defined as less than NOK 50 000) 

For these leases, the Group recognizes the lease payments as other operating expenses in the statement of 

profit or loss when they incur.    

Lease liabilities 

The lease liability is recognized at the commencement date of the lease. The Group measures the lease liability 

at the present value of the lease payments for the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term that are 

not paid at the commencement date. The lease term represents the non-cancellable period of the lease, 

together with periods covered by an option either to extend or to terminate the lease when the Group is 

reasonably certain to exercise this option.  

The lease payments included in the measurement compromise of: 

- Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable. 

- Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as 

at the commencement date. 

- Amount expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees. 

- The exercise price of a purchase option, if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option. 

- Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an option 

to terminate the lease.  

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease 

liability, reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made and remeasuring the carrying amount 

to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications, or to reflect adjustments in lease payments due to an 

adjustment in an index or rate.  
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The Group does not include variable lease payments dependent upon an index or a rate, in the lease liability. 

Instead, the Group recognizes these variable lease expenses in the statement of profit or loss. 

SmartCraft presents its lease liabilities as separate line items in the statement of financial position and has 

initially applied weighted average incremental borrowing rate in the range of 2,75% to 4,03% when recognizing 

the lease liability. 

Right-of-use assets 

The Group measures the right-of-use asset at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, 

adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of the right-of-use asset comprise:  

- The amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability recognized. 

- Any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any incentives received. 

- Any initial direct costs incurred by the Group. An estimate of the costs to be incurred by the Group in 

dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the 

underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs 

are incurred to produce inventories.  

SmartCraft applies the depreciation requirements in IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment in depreciating the 

right-of-use asset, except that the right-of-use asset is depreciated from the commencement date to the earlier 

of the lease term and the remaining useful life of the right-of-use asset.  

The Group applies IAS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine whether the right-of-use asset is impaired and to 

account for any impairment loss identified. 

3.8 Financial instruments 

Financial assets  

Financial assets represent a contractual right by the SmartCraft Group to receive cash or another financial asset 

in the future. Financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and withheld cash 

receivable. On initial recognition, a financial asset is measured at fair value, and classified for subsequent 

measurement at amortized cost; at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) or at fair value 

through profit or loss (FVTPL). Classification depends on the business model and, for some instruments, the 

entity’s choice. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash from the asset have expired or 

when SmartCraft has transferred the asset. 

Financial liabilities  

Financial liabilities represent a contractual obligation by the SmartCraft Group to deliver cash in the future and 

are classified as either current or non-current. Financial liabilities include the long-term loan, contingent 

liabilities, accounts payable and other financial liabilities. Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair 

value, including transaction costs directly attributable to the transaction, and are subsequently measured at 

amortized cost. Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation is discharged through payment or 

when SmartCraft is legally released from the primary responsibility for the liability. 

 Measurement of fair value  

SmartCraft measures certain assets and liabilities at fair value for the purposes of recognition or disclosure. Non-

recurring fair value measurement is used for transactions, such as business combinations, contingent 

consideration and other non-routine transactions. SmartCraft does not have any recurring fair value 
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measurement as the group does not have any derivative financial instruments, equity investments or other similar 

financial assets or liabilities that are measured at fair value.  

3.9 Employee benefit expense  

Payments to employees, such as wages, salaries, social security contributions, paid annual leave and bonus 

agreements are accrued in the period in which the associated services are rendered by the employee.  All Group 

companies have defined contribution pension plans. The Group has no other obligations after payment of the 

pension premium has been made. The pension premiums are charged to expenses as they are incurred. 

The company has established a pension scheme as required by Norwegian law for employees in the Norwegian 

entities.  

3. 10 Current and deferred income tax 

The income tax expense consists of tax payable and changes to deferred tax. Deferred tax liability/tax assets are 

calculated on all taxable temporary differences, except for goodwill for which amortization is not deductible for 

tax purposes.  

Deferred tax assets are recognized when it is probable that the company will have sufficient profit for tax 

purposes to utilize the tax asset. SmartCraft recognizes formerly unrecognized deferred tax assets to the extent 

that it has become probable that the Group can utilize the deferred tax asset. Similarly, the company reduces its 

deferred tax assets to the extent that it can no longer utilize these.  

Deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets are measured based on the expected future tax rates applicable to 

the companies in the Group where temporary differences have arisen. Deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax 

assets are recognized at their nominal value and are classified as non-current liabilities or non-current assets in 

the balance sheet. The tax payable and deferred taxes are recognized directly in equity to the extent they relate 

to equity transactions.  

3.11 Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when, and only when, the Group has a valid liability (legal or estimated) because of 

events that have taken place and it can be proven probable (more probable than not) that a financial settlement 

will take place, as a result of a liability, and that the size of the amount can be measured reliably.  

3.12 Changes in accounting policies and new pronouncements 

The 2020 Group financial statements are the first year of the IFRS group reporting, therefore there are no 

changes in accounting principles. The Group has applied all relevant IFRS standards that were in effect for 2020 

as of the date of transition to IFRS, 1 January 2020.  

None of the issued, not yet effective, accounting standards or amendments to such standards are expected to 

have significant effects for the SmartCraft Group’s financial reporting. 

 

NOTE 4 SIGNIFICANT ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 

The application of accounting policies requires that management makes estimates and judgements in 

determining certain revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities. The following areas involve a significant degree of 

judgement and complexity, and may result in significant variation in amounts:  
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● Identification and initial measurement of intangible assets acquired in a business combination – see 

note 6 

● Capitalization of internally generated intangible assets - see note 13 

● Measurement of right of use assets and lease liabilities - see notes 3 and 23 

 

NOTE 5 FINANCIAL RISK DISCLOSURES 

Credit risk 

Credit risk for the Group consists of balances of accounts receivable in addition to cash deposits held at several 

banks that have a long history and credible reputations. Management believes customer risk is very low as 

customers generally need to pay upfront in order to receive services. As the Group has a very diverse customer 

base and limited customer acquisition cost as well as no material customer exposures, credit checks of new and 

existing customers is deemed not necessary. If existing customers are not paying for subscriptions the Group 

can block access to their systems. Exposure to default risk on individual customers is low as the Group has a 

large number of customers. However, most customers are related to the same industry and this exposes the 

Group to the industry specific risk. For additional information regarding loss and loss allowance, see note 15. 

An issue affecting credit risk in general is the spreading Covid-19 pandemic and the effects on the society as a 

whole. The SmartCraft Group customer’s markets are showing limited effects on the Group’s customers and the 

Group does not see the need of special measures to be taken. 

Liquidity risk 

The Group needs to maintain enough liquidity in order to pay running operating costs and down payment on the 

SmartCraft total loan balance of TNOK 236 259 as of 31 December 2020 with a maturity within 6 years. Non-

current lease liabilities have a maturity of up to 6 years, and all other financial liabilities (current lease liabilities 

and accounts payable) are due within 12 months. The SmartCraft Group has ample cash to support operations 

and liabilities. The SmartCraft Group has no investments in equity securities and does not use financial 

derivatives. For information regarding future payments of liability, see note 27. 

Capital management 

Management believes that SmartCraft is in a growth phase with the intention of increasing market share and 

expand into new markets. Management will undertake M&A where it sees market growth opportunities. The 

Group intends to fund M&A and internal growth with current cash balances and external capital from banks and 

similar lenders. The Group prepares an annual detailed liquidity budget to ensure sufficient liquidity throughout 

the year. The Group policy is to keep its cash in a checking account. The banks where SmartCraft keeps excess 

liquidity are well established and reputable with a long history of holding deposits without defaults.   

Interest risk 

The Group has financial liabilities to lenders of TNOK 204 135 which bear an interest of EURIBOR/NIBOR + 

margin, and TNOK 32 124 which bear a hybrid interest rate. The hybrid rate is compounded of an EURIBOR floor 

+ margin. The hybrid rate is in the money, and has no effect of a change in interest rate of 1 percentage point. 

See notes 22 and 27 for more information. The group has no further hedging of interest risk. 
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Foreign exchange risk 

The Group has partially funded acquisitions with loans in SEK and EUR. This exposes the Group to foreign 

currency risk on the outstanding amounts. As of 31 December 2020 SmartCraft AS has financial liabilities of 

TEUR 5 574 and TSEK 3 155, and financial assets of TSEK 65 944. Net amount in foreign currency translates to a 

financial asset of TSEK 6 860, and the exposure of foreign currency risk is considered low. 

 

 

The Group earns revenue in NOK, SEK and EUR. All operating entities have all material costs and revenue in their 

functional currency. This works as a natural hedge on the currency exchange risk and as such the management 

considers the foreign exchange risk exposure for the group to be the low/moderate.  

 

 

 

NOTE 6 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 

Significant judgment in accounting for business combinations 

In a business combination, consideration, assets and liabilities are recognized at estimated fair value, and any 

excess purchase price included in goodwill. In the businesses SmartCraft operates, fair values of individual 

assets and liabilities are normally not readily observable in active markets. Estimation of fair values requires the 

use of valuation models for acquired assets and liabilities as well as ownership interests. Such valuations are 

subject to numerous assumptions and are thus uncertain. The quality of fair value estimates may impact 

periodic depreciation and amortization of fixed assets, and assessment of possible impairment of assets and/or 

goodwill in future periods. The specific significant judgements for SmartCraft during 2020 include the fair value 

of the shares issued as consideration in the acquisition of the EL-Info Group and Congrid Oy and the 

identification and fair value of the acquired intangible assets. These are all discussed below in the specific 

relevant section.  
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Acquisition of the EL-Info Group 

On April 1 2019 the parent entity acquired 100% of the share capital and voting rights of EL-Info i Växjö Holding 

AB, including its subsidiary EL-Info i Växjö AB and the EL-VIS brand. The acquisition allows SmartCraft to expand 

its addressable market with the electrician industry. This acquisition was financed by loan used to pay to the 

sellers in cash and issuing equity with no cash consideration to the sellers. Total shares issued were 23 761 

common shares and 55 442 preference shares. 

 

 

Net profit for the EL-Info Group is included in the consolidated financial statements from April 1, 2019. For the 

year 2019 the EL-Info Group’s contribution to the SmartCraft Group amounted to TNOK 17 357 in revenues, an 

EBITDA of TNOK 8 616 and EBT of TNOK 5 983. 

If the EL-Info Group had been included from January 1, the SmartCraft Group had ended the year with           

TNOK 159 637 (+5 936) in revenues, an EBITDA of TNOK 54 114 (+2 529) and EBT of TNOK 33 061 (+1 631). 

 

Significant judgement related to the identification of the acquired intangible assets and their valuation 

EL-Info has a leading position in software to the Swedish electrician industry. The company has over 4 000 

customers, and its software provides tools for calculations, documentation, risk management and more.  
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The management places a significant value on customer relationships and estimates its value based on existing 

customers’ annual recurring revenue at the time of acquisition. 

The EL-VIS brand is well established, and the use is approved by the owners of the Elvis Presley trademark, its 

value is based on existing customers and customer loyalty, all aspects that underpin the revenue growth 

potential of the brand. 

 

Acquisition of Congrid Oy 

On December 1 2020 the parent entity acquired 100% of the share capital and voting rights of Congrid Oy. 

Congrid provides a complete project management solution for construction companies. Congrid further 

complete the SmartCraft solutions by adding another segment of the construction industry to the SmartCraft 

portfolio. This acquisition was financed by loan used to pay the sellers in cash and issuing equity with no cash 

consideration to the sellers. Total shares issued were 30 065 common shares and 70 181 preference shares. 

 

 

Net profit for Congrid Oy is included in the consolidated financial statements from December 1, 2020. For the 

year 2020 Congrid Oy’s contribution to the SmartCraft Group amounted to TNOK 2 382 in revenues, an EBITDA of 

TNOK 332 and EBT of TNOK 133. 
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If Congrid Oy had been included from January 1, the SmartCraft Group had ended the year with TNOK 219 318 

(+23 377) in revenues, an EBITDA of TNOK 80 096 (+3 433) and EBT of TNOK 53 344 (+906). 

 

Significant judgement related to the identification of the acquired intangible assets and their valuation 

Congrid has the preferred software solution for project management in the Finnish construction industry. The 

solution is a cloud-based tool for complete project management including quality and safety management, site 

documentation, and project analysis.  

The management places a significant value on customer relationships and estimates its value based on existing 

customers’ annual recurring revenue at the time of acquisition. 

The Congrid brand is well established in Finland, but the Congrid trademark outside Finland belong to a German 

company. To successfully export Congrid’s services to the EU, the company is therefore in need of rebranding its 

solution. The brands value is based on existing Finnish customers and customer loyalty, but its value is limited 

by the export potential of the brand. 

 

 

NOTE 7 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES  

 

FAAC - Financial assets at amortized cost 

FVTPL - Fair value through P&L 

FLAC - Financial liabilities at amortized cost 
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NOTE 8 REVENUE FROM CUSTOMERS 

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers 

 

 

Deferred revenue 
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NOTE 9 SEGMENT INFORMATION 

 

The Group regularly reports detailed profit/loss statements with emphasis on operating revenue and EBITDA in 

functional operating segments to the Board of Directors. While the Group management uses both measures to 

analyze performance, the Group’s strategy of profitable growth means that EBITDA is the prevailing measure of 

performance. Operating segments are reported in the consolidated financial statements by the emphasized 

measures as is presented to the Board of Directors. 

The operating units that form a natural reporting segment are specialized construction and general 

construction. 

• Specialized construction includes the customers which provide specialized services within the 

construction industry, e.g. electricians, plumbers, etc. 

• General construction includes the customers in the construction industry providing services not 

defined as specialized services. 
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NOTE 10 PAYROLL AND RELATED EXPENSES 

Payroll and related expenses *  

 

*See notes 11 and 24 for additional information regarding management compensation.  

 

NOTE 11 MANAGEMENT AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS REMUNERATION 

Payments to Management and Board of Directors 
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1) Gustav Line became CEO in 3Q18. Gustav was a Board member prior to his employment. If the company terminates the employment, 

Gustav is entitled to 6 months’ salary after a 6-month termination period. 
 
2) Kjartan Bø was hired as a consultant in 3Q18 and employed from Oct 1, 2019. 
 
3)  Carl Ivarsson represents Valedo Partners III AB on the Board of Directors. Carl receives his salary from Valedo and is not remunerated as a 

member of the Board. 
 
4) Allan Engström represents Valedo Partners III AB on the Board of Directors. Allan receives his salary from Valedo and is not remunerated as 

a member of the Board. 
 
5) Bernt Ulstein was employed in a group company until 3Q19 and has continued as a part time consultant. Bernt is not remunerated as a 

member of the Board. 
 
6) Bjørn Kristian Bentzen is employed in a group company. Bjørn Kristian is not remunerated as a member of the Board. 

 

 

 

The Group Management consists of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. 

 

The Group has not given any loans or security deposits to the CEO, the Chairman of the Board or their related 

parties for either 2019 or 2020.  

 

A bonus program exists for the CEO of SmartCraft. A limit is set for the amount of bonus that can be achieved. 

The size of the bonus payment is dependent on actual group performance compared to a set of predefined 

targets. The bonus program for the CEO is decided on by the Board of Directors. 

For shares owned by the management and Board of Directors see note 24. 

 

NOTE 12 GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL 

Goodwill is recognized as a part of business combinations. Goodwill is initially measured either as the excess of 

the consideration over the SmartCraft Group’s interest or the fair value of 100 percent of the acquiree in excess 

of the acquiree's identifiable net assets (full goodwill). Goodwill is not amortized, but is tested for impairment 

annually, and more frequently if indicators of possible impairment are observed, in accordance with IAS 36 
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Impairment of Assets. Goodwill is allocated to the cash generating units or groups of cash generating units 

expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination and that are monitored for internal management 

purposes.  

The SmartCraft Group has goodwill in connection with the acquisitions of Cordel Norge AS in 2017, the Bygglet 

Group in 2018, the EL-Info Group in 2019 and Congrid Oy in 2020. 

 

The goodwill is related to know-how and other non-identified assets from the acquisitions of shares in the 

acquired companies. Impairment testing of the goodwill is carried out at the end of the year for the respective 

cash generating units to which the goodwill relates to. Recoverable amount, which is determined based on the 

higher of the value in use or fair value, is derived from an assessment of the expected future cash flows before 

tax, discounted at an appropriate discount rate before tax that takes into account the maturity and risk. 

Recoverable amount will therefore demonstrate what the value of the asset is expected to contribute. 

The estimated recoverable amount exceeds the carrying amount with a significant headroom for all CGU’s. No 

impairment losses are recognized during 2020. In connection with the impairment testing of goodwill, sensitivity 

analysis has been carried out. The sensitivity analysis has tested changes in WACC, revenue growth rates, net 

working capital and EBITDA margins. There is significant headroom on all CGUs. Estimates relating to the 

impairment test are described below: 

 

Budget and forecast period 

The basis for the projection of the future cash flows estimated is based on the financial budget of one year. The 

budget in combination with the forecasts represent the management’s best estimate of the range of economic 

conditions that will exist over the useful life of the asset. The remaining four years of the forecast period are 

estimated based on budget and projected performance. After the five-year period the growth rate is based on 

the risk-free rate in the applicable market. 
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Growth rate 

Growth rate is represented by five-year CAGR (compound annual growth rate), which is defined as the average 

annual gross profit growth rate over a five-year forecasting period. Average rates of growth in operating revenue 

are based on the management’s expectations of future conditions in the markets in which the business 

operates, and historical growth rate for the CGUs. 

EBITDA margin 

EBITDA margins are based on the margins achieved historically, adjusted for expected future developments in 

market conditions. 

WACC 

Future cash flows are discounted to present value using a discount rate based on a calculation of a weighted 

average cost of capital (WACC). The pre-tax WACC for each CGU is calculated on basis of a risk-free rate and a risk 

premium, adjusted by a beta for the software market. Adjustments for country specific risks are applied where 

necessary. 

Sensitivity 

As of December 31, 2020, the Group’s value in use for each CGU was significantly higher than the carrying 

amount of tested goodwill in all CGUs. A sensitivity analysis has been performed in order to determine if a 

reasonable change in key assumptions would cause the carrying amount to exceed the recoverable amount. No 

such changes indicate impairment needs. Even with no growth in the budget/forecast period, it would not 

trigger impairment. 

 

NOTE 13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS  

SmartCraft has capitalized expenses related to new research and development activities that are technically and 

commercially viable for the business according to IAS 38. Activates related to maintenance of existing software 

have not been capitalized but is recognized in the income statement. 

Total capitalized cost in 2020 is TNOK 11 579. Depreciations and write downs came to TNOK 990 in 2020. TNOK 

12 819 has been recognized as R&D in the income statement (TNOK 11 788 in 2019). The directly attributable 

R&D costs that are capitalized as a part of the products include the software development employee costs and 

an appropriate portion of the relevant overhead costs. The costs of product development cost not fulfilling the 

criteria of capitalization are expensed over the income statement. Amortization of capitalized development 

projects are included in other operating expenses in the table below. 

Customer relationships 

Customer relationships is related to the purchase of the Bygglet Group in 2018, the EL-Info Group in 2019 and 

Congrid Oy in 2020. The customer relationships are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 10-20 years as the 

history indicates at least 10 to 20-year average lifetime of customers. The SmartCraft Group has a significant 

number of recurring subscriptions. 

Software 

Software is related to the purchase of the Bygglet Group in 2018, the EL-Info Group in 2019 and Congrid Oy in 

2020 where the group acquired the Bygglet, EL-VIS and Congrid software. Software is depreciated on a straight-
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line basis over 10 years as the management expects economic benefits from the software over such period of 

time before the software are replaced or substituted by continuous improvements.   

Individual significant assets are: 

- Cordel: The existing Cordel software has no allocated value as asset. The new Cordel SaaS solution is 

included as capitalized development but is not finalized and is not depreciated as of 31.12.2020. 

- Bygglet: Bygglet is a true-SaaS born in the cloud solution with accessibility on multiple platforms, book 

value 31.12.2020 is TNOK 16 696 and remaining useful life of 8 years. 

- EL-VIS: The EL-VIS software is a modular solution offering mission critical services in the electricians’ 

daily operations, book value 31.12.2020 is TNOK 12 077 and remaining useful life of 8 years. 

- Congrid: The Congrid solution is a cloud-based tool for complete project management in construction 

companies, book value 31.12.2020 is TNOK 14 108 and remaining useful life of 10 years. 

Further information can be found in note 6 for acquired intangible assets. 
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NOTE 14 GOVERNMENT GRANTS 

 

 

The 2020 government grant is conditioned by the auditor’s signature on the applicable tax form. 
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NOTE 15 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

 

 

Accounts receivable are initially recognized at transaction price, subsequently accounted for at 

amortized cost and are reviewed for impairment on an ongoing basis. Individual significant accounts 

are assessed for impairment taking into consideration indicators of financial difficulty and 

management assessment. The remaining receivables are impaired based on the ECL-model. The 

SmartCraft Group’s business model for accounts receivable is to hold the receivables to collect the 

contractual cash flows.  

 

Distribution by currency 

 

 

Aging of gross trade receivables 
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Loss and loss allowances 

The Group has minor losses historically, which also is expected going forward. The Group tests for loss 

allowance by reviewing historical losses against each interval of aging receivables. As of December 31 2020, the 

Group has estimated TNOK 45 in loss allowance based on the ECL-model. In addition, the Group has other loss 

allowances of TNOK 388. 

 

 

NOTE 16 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

 

Other current assets 

 

Other current assets consist primarily of prepayments and VAT receivables. 

 

NOTE 17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  

 

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flow, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following 

on 31 December: 
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Distribution of cash by currency 

 

 

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities 

Lease liabilities 

 

 

Financial liabilities 
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NOTE 18 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 

 

 

All accounts payable to suppliers are due within 12 months. 

 

NOTE 19 OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 

  

 

NOTE 20 TAXES  

 

Calculation of deferred tax/deferred tax benefit 
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Basis for income tax expense, changes in deferred tax and tax payable 

 

 

Deferred tax assets are recognized when the Group can document future taxable profits to utilize the tax asset 

per company. The deferred tax asset is recognized for the amount corresponding to the expected taxable profit 

based on the convincing evidence. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date 

and reduced to the extent that convincing evidence no longer exists for the utilization. Unrecognized deferred 

tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that convincing evidence exists 

supporting that taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. The actual outcome of future 

tax costs may deviate from these estimates. 
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NOTE 21 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 

 

 

*SmartCraft leases office spaces in an office community in Sweden where both parties have mutual right to 

terminate or make changes on short term basis. These leases are exempt from recognition recuirements in IFRS 

16 and as such these lease payments are expensed as other operating cost. 

Audit fees 

The Group has the following audit related fees, provided by our elected auditor, included in the legal and audit 

fees in the table above (all figures excl. VAT). The table below shows the cash paid to auditors of the different 

entities in 2019 and 2020. 
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NOTE 22 FINANCIAL ITEMS 

Financial items 

 

The Group has a loan facility which bears a hybrid interest rate. The hybrid interest rate is in the money as of 

December 31 2020. The value of the hybrid interest rate in 2020 was TNOK -569. The value of the loan facility per 

December 31 2020 is TNOK -2 355. 

 

NOTE 23 TANGIBLE ASSETS  

 

Tangible assets consisting of office equipment are recognized at acquisition cost. The carrying value is 

comprised of the historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses (if any). 

Office buildings consist of leased assets (right-of-use assets). Short-term and low-value leases are excluded from 

the lease accounting. When measuring leases, SmartCraft includes fixed lease payments for extension periods 

reasonably certain to be used. As a practical expedient, non-lease components are not separated from lease 

contracts, and not recognized but expensed in the period when the lease expense is incurred. Judgement is 

applied in assessing whether renewal options are reasonably certain to be utilized. See note 27 for the 

specification of the current and non-current lease liabilities. 

 

Depreciation expenses are measured on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset, 

commencing when the asset is ready for its intended use. 

 

At each financial year-end SmartCraft reviews the residual value and useful life of its assets, with any estimate 

changes accounted for prospectively over the remaining useful life of the asset. 
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Interest expense relating to lease recognized in the income statement for 2020 was TNOK 607 and NOK 540 in 

2019. Total cash outflows for leases in 2020 was TNOK 5 851 and NOK 4 078 in 2019.  

The SmartCraft Group has a few leases that are not accounted for as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities at 

the balance sheet date because they are exempted as low-value or short-term leases. The amount of the future 

minimum lease payments due under these leases is considered to not be material. 

The Group has not included any extension options in recognizing right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, based 

on the high level of uncertainty regarding future needs. 
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NOTE 24 SUBSIDIARIES AND SHAREHOLDERS 

The consolidated Group financial statements include the financial statements of SmartCraft AS and the 

subsidiaries listed in the following table: 

 

 

As of December 2020 SmartCraft AS had a share capital of NOK 4 496 723 distributed in 1 387 824 common 

shares and 3 108 899 preference shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 1. 

Each share grants 1 voting right. Each preference share has a limited return of maximum NOK 5 per year. 

 

SmartCraft AS shareholders as of 31 December 2020 
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SmartCraft AS shareholders as of 31 December 2019 

 

 

NOTE 25 EARNING PER SHARE 

 

 

As of December 31 2020, the SmartCraft Group has no share options, share incentive schemes or employee share 

purchase programs. Consequently, there is no dilution of earnings per share. See note 24 for information 

relating to return on preference shares. 

  

NOTE 26 RELATED PARTIES 

The sales to and purchases from related parties are made at arm's length prices. Outstanding balances at the 

year-end are unsecured, interest free and settlement occurs in cash. There have been no guarantees provided or 

received for any related party receivables or payables. 

The following are the significant related party activities for the SmartCraft Group during 2020 and 2019. All 

transactions are at arm’s length market prices. 

• B. Ulstein AS is wholly-owned by Bernt Ulstein and his family. B. Ulstein AS the second largest shareholder 

in SmartCraft AS. 
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Bernt Ulstein was a full-time employee in a group company till 31.08.2019. From 01.09.2019 Bernt 

Ulstein has an hourly based consultancy contract. Bernt Ulstein is also a member of the Board of 

Directors, for which he receives no remuneration. 

 

NOTE 27 CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

 

Current financial liabilities 

 

 

Non-current financial liabilities 

 

Covenants 

The Group has two financial covenants regarding its financial liabilities. The covenants are based on equity 

percentage, and net interest-bearing debt in relation to EBITDA. As of December 31 2020 the Group is not nor 

have ever been in breach of its covenants. The Group has a significant headroom on both covenants. 

Collateral 

As security for the Group’s financial liabilities, SmartCraft AS has provided the shares of the subsidiaries as 

collateral. In addition, the lenders have collateral in all monetary claims up to TNOK 50 000. 

 

NOTE 28 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

In February 2021 the parent company changed its name from Cordel Norden AS to SmartCraft AS. 
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NOTE 29 CONVERSION TO IFRS 

IFRS conversion 

For all periods up to and including the year ended 31 December 2019, SmartCraft AS has prepared its financial 

statements in accordance with Norwegian accounting standards and guidelines for good accounting practice 

(Norwegian GAAP). These consolidated financial statements, for the year ended 31 December 2020, are the first 

the SmartCraft Group (with parent company SmartCraft AS and wholly owned subsidiaries) has prepared in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU and specifically in 

accordance with IFRS 1 First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. Equity reconciliations 

are given below for the 1 January 2019 transition to IFRS and 31 December 2019 which is the end of the latest 

period presented in the entity’s most recent annual report using NGAAP.  

Accordingly, SmartCraft has prepared financial statements which comply with IFRS as adopted by the EU 

applicable for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 as described in the accounting policies. In preparing 

these financial statements, the SmartCraft Group’s IFRS opening balance sheet was prepared as of 1 January 

2019, the date of transition to IFRS using the same accounting principles as were applicable for the 2020 IFRS 

reporting. IFRS 16 Leases is applied from the date of transition, 1 January 2019. Any NGAAP to IFRS differences in 

the 2019 statement of comprehensive income and the 31 December 2019 statement of financial position arise 

only from differences in the SmartCraft AS (parent company) accounting.  

This note explains the principal adjustments made by SmartCraft AS in restating its Norwegian GAAP (NGAAP) 

balance sheet as of 1 January 2019 and its previously published NGAAP financial statements for the year ended 

31 December 2019 and the NGAAP balance sheet as of 31 December 2019. 

Exemptions applied 

IFRS 1 First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards allows first-time adopters certain 

exemptions from the general requirement to apply IFRS as effective for December 2020 year ends 

retrospectively. 

SmartCraft has chosen to apply optional exemptions specified in IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International 

Financial Reporting Standards; 

- The option to not restate historical business combinations before the transition date, before January 1 

2019, by not applying IFRS 3 retrospectively (IFRS 1 Appendix C) 

- The option to not disclose cumulative translation differences (IFRS 1 Appendix D) 

- The option not to restate borrowing cost components (IFRS 1 Appendix D) 

IFRS to NGAAP differences  

In adopting IFRS as of 1 January 2020 with a transition date of 1 January 2019, the following differences from 

NGAAP to IFRS were identified and taken into account during the conversion for the balance sheet dates of 1 

January 2019 and 31 December 2019 as well as the time period of 2019.  

 

1. IFRS 16 Leasing agreements – On the IFRS transition date of 1 January 2019 and during the years 

2019 and 2020, SmartCraft had/entered into lease agreements within the scope for IFRS 16 
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recognition of the right- of-use asset and lease liability. Under NGAAP these leases were recognized 

as operating lease with the expense recognized in the income statement accrued over time. 

 

2. Depreciation of goodwill – Under NGAAP goodwill was depreciated in a straight line. According to 

IFRS 3 goodwill is not depreciated but tested for impairment annually. 

 

3. Adjustments of acquisitions – Transaction costs incurred in connections with the EL-Info Group 

and Congrid Oy was capitalized in the SmartCraft AS balance sheet under NGAAP as part of the 

investments. Under IFRS, transaction costs are required to be expensed when incurred. Purchase 

price allocations are recalculated from the date of transition/acquisition. 

 

4. R&D capitalization – Capitalization of development expenses are calculated and reclassified 

according to IAS 38 from the transition date of 1 January 2019. Under NGAAP capitalization of 

research and development expenses was recognized in a general regard. 

 

5. Capital increase – Under NGAAP a capital increase is to be classified as other paid-in equity in the 

period until registration in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises. Under IFRS this is 

classified as other current liability. 

 

6. Deferred tax asset/liability – Under NGAAP deferred tax positions were netted as deferred tax 

liability. Under IFRS these are reclassified and shown separate. 

 

 

The following tables show the NGAAP to IFRS reconciliations for the conversion as of 1 January 2019 opening 

balances and 31 December 2019 end of period balances, as well as the NGAAP-IFRS adjustments for the income 

statement for 2019.  
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Reconciliation of assets, equity and liabilities 
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Reconciliation of profit (loss) 
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To the General Meeting of SmartCraft AS 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of SmartCraft AS, which comprise: 

• The financial statements of the parent company SmartCraft AS (the Company), which 
comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2020, the revenue statement and indirect cash 
flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies, and 

• The consolidated financial statements of SmartCraft AS and its subsidiaries (the Group), 
which comprise the statements of financial position as at 31 December 2020, the statements of 
comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the 
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. 

In our opinion: 

• The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations. 

• The accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Company as at 31 December 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards 
and practices generally accepted in Norway. 

• The accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the EU. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the 
Group as required by laws and regulations, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
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accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises information in 
the annual report, except the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for the 
Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (Management) are responsible for the preparation 
in accordance with law and regulations, including a true and fair view of the financial statements of the 
Company in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, and for the preparation and true and fair view of the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the EU, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern. The financial statements of the Company use the going concern basis of accounting insofar as 
it is not likely that the enterprise will cease operations. The consolidated financial statements of the 
Group use the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements. 
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For further description of Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
reference is made to https://revisorforeningen.no/revisjonsberetninger 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Opinion on the Board of Directors’ report 

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the 
information presented in the Board of Directors’ report concerning the financial statements and the 
going concern assumption is consistent with the financial statements and complies with the law and 
regulations. 

Opinion on Registration and Documentation 

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have 
considered necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements 
(ISAE) 3000, Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial 
Information, it is our opinion that management has fulfilled its duty to produce a proper and clearly 
set out registration and documentation of the Company’s accounting information in accordance with 
the law and bookkeeping standards and practices generally accepted in Norway. 

 
 
Oslo, 14 April 2021 
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS 
 
 
 
Jone Bauge 
State Authorised Public Accountant 
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Cordel Norden AS 

Styrets årsberetning 2019 

 

Virksomhetens art og lokalisering 

Cordel Norden AS investerer i aksjer og andre eiendeler i andre selskaper og foretak, samt virksomhet i 

forbindelse med dette. Selskapet har sitt forretningskontor i Ålesund kommune. Selskapet har ingen filialer. 

Selskapet har kjøpt flere selskaper i Norge og Sverige som utvikler og tilbyr programvare for håndverkere. I 

2019 ble EL-Info i Växjö Holding AB og datterselskap en del av konsernet. EL-Info leverer programvare for el-

bransjen og kompletterer konsernets eksisterende produktportefølje. 

I tillegg til morselskapet Cordel Norden AS består konsernet i dag av 1 selskap i Norge og 4 selskaper i Sverige. 

 

Fortsatt drift 

I samsvar med regnskapslovens § 3-3 bekreftes det at forutsetningen om fortsatt drift er til stede og denne 

forutsetningen er lagt til grunn ved utarbeidelsen av regnskapet. 

 

Redegjørelse for årsregnskapet til Cordel Norden AS og fremtidig utvikling 

Selskapet hadde ingen omsetning i 2019. Årsregnskapet viser et årsresultat på TNOK 4 434. Egenkapitalen per 

31. desember 2019 er NOK 237 376, som utgjør en egenkapitalandel på 49,3%. Styret anser 

egenkapitalandelen som tilfredsstillende. Videre anser styret at selskapets likviditet er god og at selskapet har 

tilstrekkelig likviditet til å dekke sine forpliktelser ved forfall. 

Selskapet har ingen utgifter til forskning og utvikling. Selskapet er ikke utsatt for særskilte faktorer som 

påvirker virksomheten ut over hva som er vanlig for denne kategorien selskap. 

Selskapet er et morselskap og har utarbeidet konsernregnskap i henhold til regnskapsloven § 3-6. 

 

Redegjørelse for konsernregnskapet 

Cordel Norden-konsernet lager programvareløsninger for håndverkere i Norge og Sverige. Programvaren 

digitaliserer håndverksbedrifter og prosjektoppfølging/-kontroll, samt tilfredsstiller dokumentasjonskrav. 

Cordel Norden opplever god etterspørsel etter selskapet løsninger. 

Konsernet driver med forsknings- og utviklingsaktiviteter og i 2018 fikk Cordel Norge AS godkjent et 

SkatteFunn-prosjekt «Den nordiske digitale handverkeren». Målsetningen med FoU prosjektet er å 

automatisere og digitalisere mer av prosessene som håndverkerne, kjedene, grossistene og leverandørene er 

involvert i. Prosjektet har en ramme på NOK 25 840 000 for perioden 2018-2020. Det er i hovedsak egne 

utviklingsressurser som inngår i prosjektet. I 2019 fikk Cordel Norge AS TNOK 1 776 i SkatteFunn-støtte. I 

Sverige har man i 2019 ikke mottatt støtte til FoU. 

Salgsinntektene for konsernet var TNOK 155 351 i 2019 (TNOK 74 756 i 2018). 
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Samlet avskrivning på driftsmidler og immaterielle eiendeler (goodwill) var TNOK 33 498 (TNOK 14 564 i 2018) 

og driftsresultat ble TNOK 8 502 (TNOK 7 348 i 2018). 

Styret vurderer at konsernets likviditet er god og at selskapet har tilstrekkelig likviditet til a dekke sine 

forpliktelser ved forfall. Samlet likviditetsbeholdning per 31.12.2019 var TNOK 39 971 (TNOK 28 579 i 2018). 

Kortsiktig gjeld pr. 31.12.19 var TNOK 84 948 (TNOK 62 851 i 2017). Konsernets kontantstrøm fra operasjonelle 

aktiviteter er positiv. Differansen mellom konsernets kontantstrøm fra operasjonelle aktiviteter og 

driftsresultat skyldes primært avskrivninger. 

Konsernet er ikke utsatt for særskilte faktorer som påvirker virksomheten ut over hva som er vanlig for denne 

kategorien selskaper. 

Variasjon av finansielle markedspriser som renter og kredittrisiko påvirker risikobildet til konsernet. Konsernet 

vil være utsatt for endringer i rentenivået for låneporteføljen, men styret anser ikke dette som en vesentlig 

risiko for selskapets virksomhet. 

Konsernet er eksponert for endringer i valutakurser gjennom sine svenske datterselskaper som har sin 

virksomhet i annen valuta enn Norske Kroner. Risikoen ansees for å være moderat. 

Kredittrisikoen er sett på som relativt moderat da store deler av konsernets omsetning er relatert til kontrakter 

med kunder med god betalingshistorikk. 

 

Arbeidsmiljø, likestilling og diskriminering 

Cordel Norden AS har 2 ansatte utover styret.  

Arbeidsmiljøet anses som godt. Det har ikke vært sykefravær i 2019, og det er ikke rapportert om skader eller 

ulykker på arbeidsplassen. 

Konsernet er også en arbeidsplass der det råder full likestilling mellom kvinner og menn, og har innarbeidet en 

policy som tar sikte på at det ikke forekommer forskjellsbehandling grunnet kjønn. Selskapet arbeider aktivt for 

å forhindre diskriminering som følge av nedsatt funksjonsevne, etnisitet, nasjonal opprinnelse, hudfarge, 

religion eller livssyn. Aktivitetene omfatter blant annet rekruttering, lønns- og arbeidsvilkår, forfremmelse, 

utviklingsmuligheter og beskyttelse mot trakassering. I stillingsannonser oppfordrer man personer til å søke 

uansett alder, kjønn, funksjonsevne eller kulturell bak grunn. 

 

Ytre miljø 

Virksomheten medfører lite forurensning eller utslipp som kan være til skade for det ytre miljø, og konsernet 

arbeider for å minimere påvirkningen på miljøet. 

 

Hendelser etter balansedagen 

I forbindelse med Covid-19 pandemien som tiltok i mars 2020 er det knyttet større usikkerhet til konsernets 

marked. Konsernet forholder seg til de ulike myndigheters regler. Ved regnskapsavleggelse har konsernet klart 

å begrense effekten delvis, og det ansees ikke nødvendig å sette i gang særskilte tiltak for å bedre egenkapital 

og likviditet. 
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Styret i Cordel Norden AS 
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Styremedlem  Styremedlem  Styremedlem 

     

Allan Engström    Gustav Line 
Styremedlem    Daglig leder 
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Cordel Norden AS
RESULTATREGNSKAP
(TNOK)

2018 2019 Note 2019 2018

-                  -                  Salgsinntekt 11 155 351         74 956           
-                  -                  Sum driftsinntekter 155 351         74 956           

-                  -                  Varekostnad 19 397           14 970           

428                 4 533              Lønnskostnader 12 66 598           28 860           

-                  -                  Av- og nedskrivninger 1, 2 33 498           14 564           

652                 1 375              Andre driftskostnader 12 27 356           9 213              

1 080              5 908              Sum driftskostnader 146 849         67 608           

(1 080)            (5 908)            Driftsresultat 8 502              7 348              

5 641              20 572           Inntekt fra investering i datterselskap -                  -                  
-                  1 694              Renteinntekter fra foretak i samme konsern -                  -                  
147                 364                 Andre renteinntekter 547                 818                 

1 178              60                   Andre finansinntekter 14 2 260              1 178              
-                  (1 191)            Rentekostnader til foretak i samme konsern -                  -                  

(4 774)            (9 167)            Andre rentekostnader (9 167)            (4 779)            
(121)                (725)                Andre finanskostnader 14 (756)                (121)                

2 070              11 606           Resultat av finansposter (7 116)            (2 904)            

991                 5 698              Ordinært resultat før skattekostnad 1 386              4 444              

-                  1 264              Skattekostnad på ordinært resultat 10 4 666              3 824              

991                 4 434              Ordinært resultat (3 280)            620                 

991                 4 434              ÅRSRESULTAT (3 280)            620                 

Hvorav:
Overført til/fra annen egenkapital 8 (3 280)            620                 

Morselskap Konsern



Cordel Norden AS
BALANSE PR. 31.12
(TNOK)

2018 2019 Note 2019 2018

EIENDELER

ANLEGGSMIDLER

Immaterielle eiendeler
-                  -                  Forskning og utvikling (FoU) 1 5 354              1 200              
-                  -                  Konsesjoner, patenter, lisenser, varemerker o.l . 1 58 374           66 277           
-                  -                  Goodwill 1, 15 344 685         307 460         
-                  -                  Sum immaterielle eiendeler 408 412         374 937         

Varige driftsmidler
-                  -                  Driftsløsøre 2 4 447              2 386              
-                  -                  Sum varige driftsmidler 4 447              2 386              

Finansielle anleggsmidler
393 571         393 571         Investeringer i datterselskaper 3 -                  -                  
393 571         393 571         Sum finansielle anleggsmidler -                  -                  

393 571         393 571         Sum anleggsmidler 412 859         377 323         

OMLØPSMIDLER

-                  -                  Varer 4 64                   470                 

Kortsiktige fordringer
-                  -                  Kundefordringer 6 13 022           10 646           
-                  60                   Andre kortsiktige fordringer 3 045              1 960              

9 298              87 840           Fordring på konsernselskap 5 -                  -                  
9 298              87 900           Sum fordringer 16 067           12 606           

4 366              164                 Bankinnskudd mv 7 39 971           28 579           

13 663           88 064           Sum omløpsmidler 56 102           41 655           

407 234         481 635         SUM EIENDELER 468 961         418 978         

Morselskap Konsern



Cordel Norden AS
BALANSE PR. 31.12. 
(TNOK)

2018 2019 Note 2019 2018

EGENKAPITAL OG GJELD

EGENKAPITAL 

Innskutt egenkapital
4 183              4 380              Aksjekapital 9 4 380              4 183              

216 378         227 752         Overkurs 227 752         216 378         
-                  810                 Ikke-registrert kapitalforhøyelse 810                 -                  

220 561         232 942         Sum innskutt egenkapital 8 232 942         220 561         

Opptjent egenkapital
-                  4 434              Annen egenkapital (12 846)          (5 488)            
-                  4 434              Sum opptjent egenkapital 8 (12 846)          (5 488)            

220 561         237 376         Sum egenkapital 8 220 096         215 073         

GJELD

Avsetning for forpliktelser
-                  229                 Utsatt skatt 10 11 865            11 820            
-                  -                  Andre avsetninger for forpliktelser 900                 -                  
-                  229                 Sum avsetninger for forpliktelser 12 765            11 820            

Langsiktig gjeld
129 235         100 675         Gjeld til kredittinstitusjoner 6, 13 100 675         129 235         

-                  50 476            Øvrig langsiktig gjeld 6, 13 50 476            -                  
129 235         151 151         Sum langsiktig gjeld 151 151         129 235         

Kortsiktig gjeld
17 470            28 560            Gjeld til kredittinstitusjoner 6, 13 28 560            17 481            

1 061              3                      Leverandørgjeld 3 306              8 814              
-                  1 034              Betalbar skatt 10 3 000              3 189              
290                 244                 Skyldige offentlige avgifter 9 011              3 202              

36 985            61 792            Gjeld til konsernselskap 5 -                  -                  
1 631              1 245              Annen kortsiktig gjeld 6 41 071            30 165            

57 438            92 878            Sum kortsiktig gjeld 84 948            62 851            

186 673         244 258         Sum gjeld 248 865         203 905         

407 234         481 635         SUM EGENKAPITAL OG GJELD 468 961         418 978         

[Sted], [Dato]
Styret i Cordel Norden AS

Morselskap Konsern



Cordel Norden AS
Kontantstrømoppstilling
(TNOK)

2018 2019 Note 2019 2018

Kontantstrømmer fra operasjonelle aktiviteter

991               5 698           Resultat før skattekostnad 1 386           4 444           

-                -               Periodens betalte skatt (7 189)          (5 796)          

-                -               Ordinære av- og nedskrivninger 1, 2 33 498         14 564         

-                -               Endring i varer 4 406               (229)             

-                -               Endring i kundefordringer 6 (2 376)          (6 611)          

1 054           (1 058)          Endring i leverandørgjeld (5 508)          7 491           

(4 710)          (1 016)          Endring i andre tidsavgrensingsposter 16 185         5 781           

-                -               Effekt av valutakursendringer 257               -                

(2 665)          3 624           Netto kontantstrøm fra operasjonelle aktiviteter 36 659         19 644         

                                          

Kontantstrøm fra investeringsaktiviteter                                           

-                -               Utbetalinger  ved kjøp av varige driftsmidler (3 131)          (538)             

(134 412)      0                   Utbetalinger ved kjøp av aksjer (61 486)        (134 412)      

-                -               Utbetalinger ved kjøp av immaterielle eiendeler (1 944)          (1 200)          

(134 412)      0                   Netto kontantstrøm fra investeringsaktiviteter (66 561)        (136 150)      

                                          

Kontantstrømmer fra finansieringsaktiviteter                                           

(30 500)        (16 470)        Utbetalinger ved nedbetaling av annen gjeld (korts./langs.) 6 (16 470)        (30 500)        

50 000         50 000         Innbetalinger ved opptak av langsiktig gjeld 6, 13 50 000         50 000         

419               -               Netto endring i kassekreditt -               415               

84 558         7 764           Innbetalinger av egenkapital 8 7 764           84 558         

36 965         (49 120)        Betalinger gjeld konsernselskap -               -                

141 443       (7 826)          Netto kontantstrøm fra finansieringsaktiviteter 41 294         104 473       

4 366           (4 202)          Netto kontantstrøm for perioden 11 392         (12 032)        

-                4 366           Kontanter og kontantekvivalenter ved periodens begynnelse 28 579         40 611         

4 366           164               Kontanter og kontantekvivalenter ved periodens slutt 39 971         28 579         

  

Denne består av:

4 366           164               Bankinnskudd m.v. 39 971         28 579         

Morselskap Konsern
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Regnskapsprinsipper

Årsregnskapet er satt opp i samsvar med regnskapsloven og god regnskapsskikk.

Estimater og forutsetninger

Konsolideringsprinsipper

Datterselskaper

Inntekter

Klassifisering av balanseposter

Immaterielle eiendeler og goodwill 

Datterselskaper vurderes etter kostmetoden i selskapsregnskapet. Utbytte, konsernbidrag og andre utdelinger er inntektsført samme år som 

det er avsatt i datterselskap. Overstiger utbytte/konsernbidrag andel av tilbakeholdt resultat etter kjøpet, regnskapsføres den overskytende 

del som tilbakebetaling av investert kapital, og utdelingene trekkes da fra regnskapsført verdi av investeringene i balansen. 

Inntekter ved salg av varer og tjenester vurderes til virkelig verdi av vederlaget, netto etter fradrag for merverdiavgift, returer, rabatter og 

andre avslag. Inntektsføring skjer når varen er levert.

Tjenester inntektsføres når tjenesten utføres. Inntekter som knytter seg til fremtidige tjenester balanseføres som uopptjent inntekt og 

inntektsføres deretter i takt med levering av ytelsene.

Renteinntekter resultatføres i den perioden de er påløpt.

Eiendeler bestemt til varig eie eller bruk er klassifisert som anleggsmidler. Andre eiendeler er klassifisert som omløpsmidler. Fordringer 

klassifiseres som omløpsmidler hvis de skal tilbakebetales i løpet av ett år etter utbetalingstidspunktet. For gjeld er analoge kriterier lagt til 

grunn. Første års avdrag på langsiktige fordringer og langsiktig gjeld klassifiseres som omløpsmiddel og kortsiktig gjeld.

Goodwill har oppstått i forbindelse med kjøp av datterselskap. Goodwill avskrives over forventet levetid.

Utgifter til egne utviklingsaktiviteter og andre immaterielle eiendeler balanseføres i den grad det kan identifiseres en fremtidig økonomisk 

fordel knyttet til utvikling av en identifiserbar immateriell eiendel og utgiftene kan måles pålitelig. I motsatt fall kostnadsføres slike utgifter 

løpende. Balanseført utvikling avskrives lineært over økonomisk levetid.

Ledelsen har brukt estimater og forutsetninger som har påvirket resultatregnskapet og verdsettelsen av eiendeler og gjeld på balansedagen 

under utarbeidelsen av årsregnskapet i henhold til god regnskapsskikk. Områder som i stor grad inneholder slike skjønnsmessige vurderinger, 

høy grad av kompleksitet, eller områder hvor forutsetninger og estimater er vesentlige for årsregnskapet, er beskrevet i notene.

Konsernregnskapet omfatter morselskapet Cordel Norden AS og alle selskaper hvor konsernet har bestemmende innflytelse på enhetens 

finansielle og operasjonelle strategi. Bestemmende innflytelse oppnås normalt ved å eie mer enn 50 % av den stemmeberettigede kapitalen. 

Konsernregnskapet er utarbeidet som om konsernet var en økonomisk enhet. Transaksjoner og mellomværende mellom selskapene i 

konsernet er eliminert. Konsernregnskapet er utarbeidet etter ensartede prinsipper, ved at datterselskapet følger de samme 

regnskapsprinsipper som morselskapet.

Kjøpte datterselskaper regnskapsføres i konsernregnskapet basert på morselskapets anskaffelseskost.  Anskaffelseskost består av vederlag for 

aksjene og andelene med tillegg av direkte henførbare oppkjøpskostnader. Anskaffelseskost tilordnes identifiserbare eiendeler og gjeld i 

datterselskapet, som oppføres i konsernregnskapet til virkelig verdi på oppkjøpstidspunktet. Eventuell merverdi ut over hva som kan henføres 

til identifiserbare eiendeler og gjeld, balanseføres som goodwill. Goodwill behandles som en residual og balanseføres med den andelen som er 

observert i oppkjøpstransaksjonen. Merverdier i konsernregnskapet avskrives over de oppkjøpte eiendelenes forventede levetid.

Utenlandske datterselskap omregnes til balansedagens kurs for balansen og gjennomsnittskurs for året for resultat. Omregningsdifferanser 

føres mot egenkapitalen.
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Driftsmidler

Nedskrivning av anleggsmidler 

Varelager 

Fordringer

Transaksjoner i utenlandsk valuta

Skatt

Kontantstrøm

Skattekostnaden i resultatregnskapet omfatter både periodens betalbare skatt og endring i utsatt skatt. Utsatt skatt beregnes på grunnlag av 

de midlertidige forskjeller som eksisterer mellom regnskapsmessige og skattemessige verdier, samt eventuelt ligningsmessig underskudd til 

fremføring ved utgangen av regnskapsåret. Skatteøkende og skattereduserende midlertidige forskjeller som reverseres eller kan reverseres i 

samme periode er utlignet. Oppføring av utsatt skattefordel på netto skattereduserende forskjeller som ikke er utlignet og underskudd til 

fremføring, begrunnes med antatt fremtidig inntjening. Utsatt skatt og skattefordel som kan balanseføres oppføres netto i balansen.

Skattereduksjon ved avgitt konsernbidrag, og skatt på mottatt konsernbidrag som føres som reduksjon av balanseført beløp på investering i 

datterselskap, føres direkte mot skatt i balansen (mot betalbar skatt hvis konsernbidraget har virkning på betalbar skatt, og mot utsatt skatt 

hvis konsernbidraget har virkning på utsatt skatt). Utsatt skatt både i selskapsregnskapet og i konsernregnskapet regnskapsføres til nominelt 

beløp.

Kontantstrømoppstilling utarbeides etter den indirekte metoden. Kontanter og kontantekvivalenter omfatter kontanter, bankinnskudd og 

andre kortsiktige likvide plasseringer, som umiddelbart og med uvesentlig kursrisiko kan konverteres til kjente kontantbeløp og med 

gjenværende løpetid mindre enn tre måneder fra anskaffelsesdato.

Varige driftsmidler balanseføres og avskrives lineært til restverdi over driftsmidlenes forventede utnyttbare levetid. Ved endring i 

avskrivningsplan fordeles virkningen over gjenværende avskrivningstid ("knekkpunktmetoden"). Vedlikehold av driftsmidler kostnadsføres 

løpende under driftskostnader. Påkostninger og forbedringer tillegges driftsmidlets kostpris og avskrives i takt med driftsmidlet. Skillet mellom 

vedlikehold og påkostning/forbedring regnes i forhold til driftsmidlets stand på anskaffelsestidspunktet.

Omløpsmidler vurderes til laveste av anskaffelseskost og virkelig verdi.

Kortsiktig gjeld balanseføres til nominelt beløp på etableringstidspunktet.

Ved indikasjon om at balanseført verdi av et anleggsmiddel er høyere enn virkelig verdi, foretas det test for verdifall. Testen foretas for det 

laveste nivå av anleggsmidler som har selvstendige kontantstrømmer. Hvis balanseført verdi er høyere enn både salgsverdi og gjenvinnbart 

beløp (nåverdi ved fortsatt bruk/eie), foretas det nedskrivning til det høyeste av salgsverdi og gjenvinnbart beløp.

Tidligere nedskrivninger, med unntak for nedskrivning av goodwill, reverseres hvis forutsetningene for nedskrivningen ikke lenger er til stede.

Varer vurderes til det laveste av anskaffelseskost (etter FIFO-prinsippet) og virkelig verdi.

Kundefordringer og andre fordringer er oppført i balansen til pålydende etter fradrag for avsetning til forventet tap. Avsetning til tap gjøres på 

grunnlag av individuelle vurderinger av de enkelte fordringene. For øvrige kundefordringer foretas det ved behov en uspesifisert avsetning for 

å dekke antatt tap.

Pengeposter i utenlandsk valuta er vurdert etter kursen ved regnskapsårets slutt.

Transaksjoner i utenlandsk valuta omregnes til kursen på transaksjonstidspunktet. Pengeposter i utenlandsk valuta omregnes til norske kroner 

ved å benytte balansedagens kurs. Ikke-pengeposter som måles til historisk kurs uttrykt i utenlandsk valuta, omregnes til norske kroner ved å 

benytte valutakursen på transaksjonstidspunktet. Ikke-pengeposter som måles til virkelig verdi uttrykt i utenlandsk valuta, omregnes til 

valutakursen fastsatt på balansetidspunktet. Valutakursendringer resultatføres løpende  i regnskapsperioden.
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Note 1 Immaterielle eiendeler og goodwill
tNOK

Konsern FoU
Kunde-

portefølje
Software Goodwill Sum

Anskaffelseskost 01.01 1 200               42 607             23 670             345 105           412 582           

Tilgang ved oppkjøp -                   -                   -                   67 552             67 552             

Tilgang 4 494               -                   317                  -                   4 811               

Avgang -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

Anskaffelseskost 31.12 5 694               42 607             23 988             412 657          484 945          

Akkumulerte avskrivninger 31.12 335                  4 087               2 271               63 110             69 804             

Akkumulerte nedskrivninger 31.12 -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

Omregningsdifferanse (5)                     (1 197)              (665)                 (4 862)              (6 730)              

Balanseført verdi 31.12 5 354               37 322             21 051             344 685          408 412          

Årets avskrivninger 335                  4 087               2 271               25 463             32 157             

Forventet økonomisk levetid 3 år 10 år 10 år 15 år

Avskrivningsplan Lineær Lineær Lineær Lineær

Note 2 Varige driftsmidler
tNOK

Konsern Driftsløsøre Sum

Anskaffelseskost 01.01 3 463               3 463               

Tilgang ved oppkjøp 615                  615                  

Tilgang 3 131               3 131               

Avgang (292)                 (292)                 

Anskaffelseskost 31.12 6 916               6 916               

Akkumulerte avskrivninger 31.12 2 418               2 418               

Akkumulerte nedskrivninger 31.12 -                   -                   

Omregningsdifferanse (52)                   (52)                   

Balanseført verdi 31.12 4 447               4 447               

Årets avskrivninger 1 341               1 341               

Forventet økonomisk levetid 3 - 5 år

Avskrivningsplan Lineær

EL-Info gruppen ble kjøpt med virkning fra januar 2019 og er innkonsolidert fra oppkjøpstidspunktet. Anskaffelseskost på aksjene var

tNOK 67 968. Merverdier i oppkjøpet er klassifisert som goodwill. Gjennom oppkjøpet ervervet konsernet også goodwill fra EL-Info gruppen på 

tNOK 8 384. Total tilgang goodwill fra oppkjøpet blir tNOK 65 788 .

Goodwill fra kjøp av datterselskaper avskrives over mer enn 5 år. Levetiden på 15 år begrunnes med lenger levetid i forretningssyklusen.

Totalt er det kostnadsført tNOK 8 089 i utviklingsutgifter i regnskapsåret. Selskapets FoU-aktiviteter relaterer seg til produktutvikling, herunder 

digitale løsninger. Forventet samlet inntjening av pågående FoU motsvarer medgåtte samlede utgifter.
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Note 3 Datterselskap, tilknyttet selskap og felleskontrollert virksomhet
tNOK

Morselskap

Investeringene i datterselskap, tilknyttet selskap og felles kontrollert virksomhet regnskapsføres etter kostmetoden

Forretnings-

kontor

Eier-/stemme-

andel

Egenkapital

(100 %)

Resultat

(100 %)

Balanseført 

verdi

Datterselskap:

Cordel Norge AS Ålesund, Norge 100,0 % 50 763             22 556             247 388           

Bygglet Holding AB Göteborg, Sverige 100,0 % 9 441               6 757               146 183           

SUM 393 571          

Konsern

Forretnings-

kontor

Eier-/stemme-

andel

Egenkapital

(100 %)

Resultat

(100 %) Erversår

Datterselskap:

Cordel Norge AS Ålesund, Norge 100,0 % 50 763             22 556             2017

Bygglet Holding AB Göteborg, Sverige 100,0 % 9 441               6 757               2018

Tilknyttet selskap gjennom Bygglet Holding AB:

Bygglet AB Göteborg, Sverige 100,0 % 10 264             13 789             2018

EL-Info i Växjö Holding AB Växjo, Sverige 100,0 % 7 963               4 194               2019

EL-Info i Växjö AB Växjo, Sverige 100,0 % 6 862               3 386               2019

Note 4 Varer
tNOK

                                         Morselskap           Konsern

2018 2019 2019 2018

-                                                -                   Varer under tilvirkning -                   -                   

-                                                -                   Innkjøpte ferdigvarer 64                    470                  

-                                                -                   Sum 64                    470                  

Note 5  Mellomværende med selskap i samme konsern m.v.
tNOK

Morselskap

2019 2018 2019 2018

Foretak i samme konsern m.v. -                   -                   87 840             9 298               

Sum -                   -                   87 840             9 298               

2019 2018 2019 2018

Foretak i samme konsern -                   -                   61 792             36 985             

Sum -                   -                   61 792             36 985             

Kundefordringer Andre fordringer

Cordel Norden AS har direkte eierandeler i 

følgende selskaper:

Cordel Norden AS har direkte og indirekte 

eierandeler i følgende selskaper:

Langsiktig gjeld Kortsiktig gjeld
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Note 6 Fordringer og gjeld
tNOK

                                         Morselskap           Konsern

2018 2019 Kundefordringer 2019 2018

-                                                -                   Kundefordringer til pålydende 13 322             11 196             

-                                                -                   Avsetning til tap på kundefordringer (300)                 (550)                 

-                                                -                   Sum 13 022             10 646             

2018 2019 Annen kortsiktig gjeld 2019 2018

-                                                -                   Forskuddsbetalte inntekter 30 056             21 617             

1 631                                            1 245               Påløpte kostnader 7 790               6 581               

-                                                -                   Annen kortsiktig gjeld 3 226               1 967               

1 631                                            1 245               Sum 41 071             30 165             

2018 2019 Langsiktig gjeld 2019 2018

-                                                -                   Gjeld til kredittinstitusjoner, over 5 år -                   -                   

-                                                -                   Annen langsiktig gjeld -                   -                   

-                                                -                   Sum -                   -                   

2019 2018

Gjeld sikret ved pant 179 711           146 705           

Balanseført verdi av pantsatte eiendeler

Aksjer i konsernselskaper 393 571           393 571           

Bankinnskudd 39 971             28 579             

Sum 433 542          422 150          

Note 7 Bundne bankinnksudd, trekkrettigheter
tNOK

                                         Morselskap           Konsern

2018 2019 Bundne bankinnskudd 2019 2018

-                                                164                  Skattetrekksmidler 1 576               1 628               

Trekkrettigheter

13 000                                          13 000             Ubenyttet kassekreditt 13 000             13 000             

Konsernets långivere har stillet krav til minimum egenkapital i konsernets balanse, og forholdet mellom konsernets EBITDA og netto 

rentebærende gjeld. Konsernet har i løpet av 2019 og ved avleggelsen av årsregnskapet ikke vært i brudd med noen av sine covenantskrav.
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Note 8 Egenkapital
tNOK

Morselskap

Årets endring i egenkapital Aksjekapital

Annen 

innskutt EK Annen EK Sum

Egenkapital 01.01 4 183               216 378          -                   220 561          

Kapitalforhøyelse 197                  12 184             -                   12 381             

Årets resultat -                   -                   4 434               4 434               

Egenkapital 31.12 4 380               228 562          4 434               237 376          

Konsern

Årets endring i egenkapital Aksjekapital

Annen 

innskutt EK Annen EK Minoritet Sum

Egenkapital 01.01 4 183               216 378          (5 488)             -                   215 073          

Kapitalforhøyelse 197                  12 184             -                   -                   12 381             

Omregningsdifferanser -                   -                   (4 078)              -                   (4 078)              

Årets resultat -                   -                   (3 280)              -                   (3 280)              

Egenkapital 31.12 4 380               228 562          (12 846)           -                   220 096          

Note 9 Aksjekapital og aksjonærinformasjon

Aksjekapitalen består av Antall Pålydende Bokført

A-aksjer 1 351 623       1,00                 1 351 623       

B-aksjer 3 028 048       1,00                 3 028 048       

Sum 4 379 671       4 379 671       

Oversikt over de største aksjonærene pr 31.12 Rolle Antall aksjer Eierandel
Valedo Partners III AB 3 008 854       68,70 %
B. Ulstein AS Styremedlem B. Ulstein 480 000           10,96 %
Armada Mezzanine Fund IV Oy 85 787             1,96 %
Konyi, Johanna 83 122             1,90 %
Mats Eriksson Småland AB 79 203             1,81 %
Tjenssen AS 71 343             1,63 %
Vinjevoll Invest AS 71 343             1,63 %
Line Invest AS Daglig leder G. Line 57 558             1,31 %
Spijker AS Styremedlem BK. Bentzen 25 893             0,59 %
AHB Invest AS Styremedlem A. Bødal 23 492             0,54 %
Skarvhagen Förvaltning AB Styremedlem HG. Haglund 23 492             0,54 %
Antares Group AS Styrets leder G. Engbakk 14 166             0,32 %

Sum 4 024 253       91,88 %

Øvrige aksjonærer (eierandel < 1%) 355 418           8,12 %

Totalt antall aksjer 4 379 671       100,00 %

Valedo Partners III AB har to medlemmer i styret, som begge innehar ikke-kontrollerende eierposter i Valedo Partners III AB.

Hver B-aksje har rett til en fortrinnsberettiget utdeling for hvert hele år fra og med datoen fra tegningen av B-aksjene.

Det foreligger ingen forskjell i stemmerett mellom A- og B-aksjer. 

68,70% av aksjene er eid av morselskapet Valedo Partners III AB, med postadresse Kungsbron 1, 111 22 Stockholm, Sverige. Der kan 

konsernregnskapet som inkluderer Cordel-konsernet fås utlevert.
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Note 10 Skatt
tNOK

Beregning av utsatt skatt/utsatt skattefordel

                                         Morselskap           Konsern

2018 2019 Midlertidige forskjeller 2019 2018

-                                                -                   Driftsmidler 122                  (294)                 

-                                                1 042               Fordringer 858                  (462)                 

-                                                -                   Avsetning for forpliktelser (900)                 -                   

-                                                -                   Gevinst- og tapskonto (302)                 (377)                 

-                                                -                   Andre forskjeller -                   534                  

-                                                1 042               Netto midlertidige forskjeller (222)                 (600)                 

-                                                -                   Midlertidig forskjell på merverdier 47 588             54 326             

-                                                -                   Ubeskattet fond/egenkapital 6 669               -                   

-                                                -                   Skattemessig underskudd til fremføring -                   -                   

-                                                1 042               Grunnlag for utsatt skatt / skattefordel 54 034             53 725             

-                                                229                  Utsatt skatt / skattefordel 11 865             11 820             

-                                                -                   Herav ikke balanseført utsatt skattefordel -                   -                   

-                                                -                   Utsatt skattefordel -                   -                   

-                                                229                  Utsatt skatt 11 865             11 820             

Grunnlag for skattekostnad, endring i utsatt skatt og betalbar skatt i morselskapet

                                         Morselskap           Konsern

2018 2019 Grunnlag for betalbar skatt 2019 2018

991                                               5 698               Resultat før skattekostnad 1 386               4 444               

(991)                                              46                    Permanente forskjeller  19 964             12 132             

-                                                5 744               Grunnlag for årets skattekostnad 21 350             16 576             

-                                                (1 042)              Endring i midlertidige forskjeller 4 379               (55 185)           

-                                                -                   Endring i midlertidige forskjeller (v.oppkjøp) -                   54 859             

-                                                -                   Grunnlag Skattefunn-refusjon (8 071)              (5 641)              

-                                                4 702               Gr.lag for bet.bar skatt i balansen 17 658             10 609             

Fordeling av skattekostnaden

                                         Morselskap           Konsern

2018 2019 2019 2018

-                                                1 034               Betalbar skatt 5 612               3 738               

-                                                -                   For mye, for lite avsatt i fjor -                   -                   

-                                                1 034               Sum betalbar skatt 5 612               3 738               

-                                                229                  Endring i utsatt skatt/skattefordel (946)                 86                    

-                                                1 264               Skattekostnad 4 666               3 824               

Betalbar skatt i balansen
-                                                1 034               Betalbar skatt i resultatregnskapet 5 612               3 738               
-                                                -                   Tilskudd Skattefunn (1 776)              (1 041)              
-                                                -                   Betalt skatt inneværende år (1 089)              -                   
-                                                -                   Skatteforpliktelse ved erverv av selskap 252                  493                  
-                                                1 034               Betalbar skatt i balansen 3 000               3 189               

Cordel har søkt og fått innvilget fra Norges forskningsråd et flerårig SkatteFUNN-prosjekt. Prosjektet er godkjent for perioden 2018 til og med 

2020. Årets tilskudd på tNOK 1 776 er ført som reduksjon i lønnskostnad og som reduksjon i betalbar skatt.
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Note 11 Segmentinformasjon
tNOK

                                         Morselskap           Konsern

2018 2019 2019 2018

-                                                -                   Salgsinntekter 155 351           74 956             

-                                                -                   Sum salgsinntekter 155 351           74 956             

2018 2019 Geografisk fordeling 2019 2018

-                                                -                   Norge 84 744             74 956             

-                                                -                   Andre land 70 607             -                   

-                                                -                   Sum 155 351          74 956             

Note 12 Lønnskostnader og andre driftskostnader
tNOK

                                         Morselskap           Konsern

2018 2019 Lønnskostnader 2019 2018

-                                                2 388               Lønninger 50 960             23 202             

53                                                  173                  Arbeidsgiveravgift 11 180             3 797               

-                                                30                    Pensjonskostnader 2 675               1 158               

375                                               1 942               Annen godtgjørelse 1 783               704                  

428                                               4 533               Sum lønnskostnader 66 598             28 860             

-                                                2                       Sysselsatte årsverk 97                    40                    

Ytelser til ledende personer Daglig leder Styret

Lønn 1 900 417

Pensjonskostnader 24 0

Annen godtgjørelse 7 0

Det er ikke gitt lån/sikkerhetsstillelse til daglig leder, styrets leder eller andre nærstående parter.

Revisor 

Kostnadsført honorar til revisor fordeler seg på følgende områder:

Morselskap Konsern

Lovpålagt revisjon 80 372

Annen bistand 95 120

Sum 175 492

Selskapet er pliktig til å ha tjenestepensjonsordning etter lov om tjenestepensjon. Selskapets pensjonsordring tilfredstiller kravene i lov om 

obligatorisk tjenestepensjon. Konsernet har pensjonsordninger som omfatter i alle ansatte i konsernet. Pensjonsordningen finansieres over 

selskapets drift. Innskuddspensjonene inklusive arbeidsgiveravgift kostnadsføres løpende som lønnskostnad. Selskapet har ingen ytterligere 

betalingsforpliktelse etter at innskuddene er betalt.

Daglig leder har bonusavtale basert på forskjellig grad av økonomisk og strategisk måloppnåelse, maksimalt inntil 6 måneders lønn.
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Note 13 Finansiell markedsrisiko

Note 14 Spesifikasjon av finansinntekter og finanskostnader
tNOK

                                         Morselskap           Konsern

2018 2019 Finansinntekter 2019 2018

1 177                                            60                    Valutagevinst 1 918               1 177               

-                                                -                   Avhending aksjer og andre verdipapirer 341                  -                   

1                                                    -                   Andre finansinntekter 2                       1                       

1 178                                            60                    Sum finansinntekter 2 260               1 178               

                                         Morselskap           Konsern

2018 2019 Finanskostnader 2019 2018

(17)                                                (516)                 Valutatap (516)                 (17)                   

(104)                                              (208)                 Andre finanskostnader (240)                 (104)                 

(121)                                              (725)                 Sum finanskostnader (756)                 (121)                 

Note 15 Spesifikasjon av goodwill pr virksomhetskjøp
tNOK

Selskap Oppkjøpstidspunkt Anskaffelseskost Goodwill

Cordel Norge AS 2017 247 388           235 294

Bygglet Holding AB 2018 146 183           89 788

EL-Info i Växjö Holding AB 2019 69 833             67 552

Note 16 Hendelser etter balansedag

Årsregnskapet for 2019 er utarbeidet under forutsetning av en positiv utvikling av markedssituasjonen, og en videre positiv utvikling i 

selskapets omsetning og resultater, basert på de tiltak selskapet har gjennomført og planlegger å gjennomføre. Per avleggelse av regnskapet 

foreligger imidlertid usikkerhet knyttet til konsekvensen av koronaviruset både på selskapet og markedet generelt. Dette vil kunne påvirke 

selskapets omsetning og resultat i 2020 og fremover.  

Konsernet har totalt tNOK 129 235 i gjeld til kredittinstitusjoner som renteberegnes med EURIBOR/NIBOR + margin. EURIBOR-lån har en 

kombinasjon av fast rente og flytende rente, konsernet har ikke inngått ytterligere rentesikringsavtaler. Hele konsernets gjeld forfaller innen 5 

år. 

Konsernets oppkjøp av datterselskaper i Sverige er delvis finansiert med eksterne og interne lån i Euro og Svenske kroner. Konsernet har ikke 

inngått valutasikringsavtaler for lån.

Svenske datterselskapers løpende inntekter mottas og driftskostnader betales i lokal valuta, noe som innebærer at konsernet kun er eksponert 

for valutarisiko på egenkapitalen.
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Til generalforsamlingen i Cordel Norden AS 

Uavhengig revisors beretning 

Uttalelse om revisjonen av årsregnskapet 

Konklusjon 

Vi har revidert Cordel Norden AS' årsregnskap, som består av: 

 selskapsregnskapet, som består av balanse per 31. desember 2019, resultatregnskap og 
kontantstrømoppstilling for regnskapsåret avsluttet per denne datoen og noter til 
årsregnskapet, herunder et sammendrag av viktige regnskapsprinsipper, og 

 konsernregnskapet, som består av balanse per 31. desember 2019, resultatregnskap og 
kontantstrømoppstilling for regnskapsåret avsluttet per denne datoen og noter til 
årsregnskapet, herunder et sammendrag av viktige regnskapsprinsipper. 

Etter vår mening: 

 er årsregnskapet avgitt i samsvar med lov og forskrifter 

 gir det medfølgende selskapsregnskapet et rettvisende bilde av den finansielle stillingen til 
Cordel Norden AS per 31. desember 2019 og av selskapets resultater og kontantstrømmer for 
regnskapsåret som ble avsluttet per denne datoen i samsvar med regnskapslovens regler og 
god regnskapsskikk i Norge. 

 gir det medfølgende konsernregnskapet et rettvisende bilde av den finansielle stillingen til 
konsernet Cordel Norden AS per 31. desember 2019 og av konsernets resultater og 
kontantstrømmer for regnskapsåret som ble avsluttet per denne datoen i samsvar med 
regnskapslovens regler og god regnskapsskikk i Norge. 

Grunnlag for konklusjonen 

Vi har gjennomført revisjonen i samsvar med lov, forskrift og god revisjonsskikk i Norge, herunder de 
internasjonale revisjonsstandardene International Standards on Auditing (ISA-ene). Våre oppgaver og 
plikter i henhold til disse standardene er beskrevet i Revisors oppgaver og plikter ved revisjon av 
årsregnskapet. Vi er uavhengige av selskapet og konsernet slik det kreves i lov og forskrift, og har 
overholdt våre øvrige etiske forpliktelser i samsvar med disse kravene. Etter vår oppfatning er 
innhentet revisjonsbevis tilstrekkelig og hensiktsmessig som grunnlag for vår konklusjon. 

Øvrig informasjon 

Ledelsen er ansvarlig for øvrig informasjon. Øvrig informasjon omfatter informasjon i årsrapporten 
bortsett fra årsregnskapet og den tilhørende revisjonsberetningen.  

Vår uttalelse om revisjonen av årsregnskapet dekker ikke øvrig informasjon, og vi attesterer ikke den 
øvrige informasjonen. 
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I forbindelse med revisjonen av årsregnskapet er det vår oppgave å lese øvrig informasjon med det 
formål å vurdere hvorvidt det foreligger vesentlig inkonsistens mellom øvrig informasjon og 
årsregnskapet, kunnskap vi har opparbeidet oss under revisjonen, eller hvorvidt den tilsynelatende 
inneholder vesentlig feilinformasjon.  

Dersom vi konkluderer med at den øvrige informasjonen inneholder vesentlig feilinformasjon er vi 
pålagt å rapportere det. Vi har ingenting å rapportere i så henseende. 

Styrets og daglig leders ansvar for årsregnskapet 

Styret og daglig leder (ledelsen) er ansvarlig for å utarbeide årsregnskapet i samsvar med lov og 
forskrifter, herunder for at det gir et rettvisende bilde i samsvar med regnskapslovens regler og god 
regnskapsskikk i Norge. Ledelsen er også ansvarlig for slik intern kontroll som den finner nødvendig 
for å kunne utarbeide et årsregnskap som ikke inneholder vesentlig feilinformasjon, verken som følge 
av misligheter eller utilsiktede feil. 

Ved utarbeidelsen av årsregnskapet er ledelsen ansvarlig for å ta standpunkt til selskapets og 
konsernets evne til fortsatt drift, og på tilbørlig måte å opplyse om forhold av betydning for fortsatt 
drift. Forutsetningen om fortsatt drift skal legges til grunn for årsregnskapet så lenge det ikke er 
sannsynlig at virksomheten vil bli avviklet.  

Revisors oppgaver og plikter ved revisjonen av årsregnskapet 

Vårt mål med revisjonen er å oppnå betryggende sikkerhet for at årsregnskapet som helhet ikke 
inneholder vesentlig feilinformasjon, verken som følge av misligheter eller utilsiktede feil, og å avgi en 
revisjonsberetning som inneholder vår konklusjon. Betryggende sikkerhet er en høy grad av sikkerhet, 
men ingen garanti for at en revisjon utført i samsvar med lov, forskrift og god revisjonsskikk i Norge, 
herunder ISA-ene, alltid vil avdekke vesentlig feilinformasjon som eksisterer. Feilinformasjon kan 
oppstå som følge av misligheter eller utilsiktede feil. Feilinformasjon blir vurdert som vesentlig dersom 
den enkeltvis eller samlet med rimelighet kan forventes å påvirke økonomiske beslutninger som 
brukerne foretar basert på årsregnskapet. 

For videre beskrivelse av revisors oppgaver og plikter vises det til: 
https://revisorforeningen.no/revisjonsberetninger 

Uttalelse om andre lovmessige krav 

Konklusjon om årsberetningen 

Basert på vår revisjon av årsregnskapet som beskrevet ovenfor, mener vi at opplysningene i 
årsberetningen om årsregnskapet og forutsetningen om fortsatt drift er konsistente med årsregnskapet 
og i samsvar med lov og forskrifter. 
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Konklusjon om registrering og dokumentasjon 

Basert på vår revisjon av årsregnskapet som beskrevet ovenfor, og kontrollhandlinger vi har funnet 
nødvendig i henhold til internasjonal standard for attestasjonsoppdrag (ISAE) 3000 
«Attestasjonsoppdrag som ikke er revisjon eller forenklet revisorkontroll av historisk finansiell 
informasjon», mener vi at ledelsen har oppfylt sin plikt til å sørge for ordentlig og oversiktlig 
registrering og dokumentasjon av selskapets regnskapsopplysninger i samsvar med lov og god 
bokføringsskikk i Norge. 

 
Oslo, 26. juni 2020  
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS  
 
 
 
Jone Bauge  
Statsautorisert revisor 
(elektronisk signert) 





  

 

 

 

 

 



  

 

 







































 

 
 

APPENDIX C 

INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF SMARTCRAFT ASA FOR THE 
THREE MONTH PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2021 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
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ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

 

The following terms are used by the Group in definitions of APMs: 

• EBITDA: Is defined as operating income before depreciation of tangible and intangible non-current 

assets. 

• Adjusted EBITDA: Is defined as EBITDA adjusted for special operating items that distorts comparison, 

such as acquisition related expenses, listing preparation costs and other items which are special in nature 

compared to ordinary operational income or expenses. 

• Adjusted EBITDA margin (%): Is defined as Adjusted EBITDA divided by sales, expressed as a percentage.  

• Adjusted EBITDA – Capex margin (%): Is defined as Adjusted EBITDA – R&D capex divided by sales, 

expressed as a percentage. 

• Annual Recurring Revenue ("ARR"): Is defined as the yearly subscription value of the Group's customer 

base at the end of the reporting period. The ARR metric only includes fixed price subscriptions. 

• Recurring Revenue (%): Is defined as subscription revenue generated over the historical period divided 

by sales for the same period, expressed as a percentage. Recurring Revenue includes both fixed price and 

transaction-based subscription revenues. 

• Average Revenue Per Customer ("ARPC"): Is defined as the annualized monthly total operating 

revenue divided by the number of customers at the end of the month. 

• Churn Rate (%): Is a measure of loss of ARR on a rolling 12-month basis, expressed as a percentage of 

average monthly ingoing ARR for the same 12-month period. 
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NOTE 1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The interim report for the SmartCraft Group for 1st quarter 2021 has been prepared in accordance with IAS 34 

Interim Financial Reporting. The same accounting policies and methods for computation have been applied as 

in the latest annual statement. For further information on accounting policies see the Annual Report 2020. 

 

NOTE 2 REVENUE FROM CUSTOMERS 

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers 

 

 

The SmartCraft Group does not see any significant seasonal variation in its revenue streams. 

 

NOTE 3 SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The Group recognizes specialized construction and general construction as the operating units that form a 

natural reporting segment. 

• Specialized construction includes the customers which provide specialized services within the 

construction industry, e.g. electricians, plumbers, etc. 

• General construction includes the customers in the construction industry providing services not 

defined as specialized services. 
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NOTE 4 DEVELOPMENT SPENDING  

The SmartCraft Group has continuous expenses related to development of new and existing solutions and 

capitalizes expenses in accordance with IAS 38. 

 

 

NOTE 5 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE  

The Group has a loan facility which bears a hybrid interest rate. The hybrid interest rate is in the money as of 

March 31 2021. The value of the hybrid interest rate in 1st quarter 2021 was TNOK -141. The value of the loan 

facility per March 31 2021 is TNOK -2 287. 
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To the Board of Directors of SmartCraft AS 

 
 
Report on Review of Interim Financial Information 

Introduction 

We have reviewed the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position of SmartCraft AS as 
of 31 March 2021, the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, the consolidated statements 
of changes in equity and the consolidated statements of cash flows for the three-month period then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. Management is 
responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of this interim financial information in 
accordance with IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on 
this interim financial information based on our review. 

Scope of Review 

We conducted our review in accordance with International Standard on Review Engagements 2410, 
Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity. A 
review of interim financial information consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible 
for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is 
substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on 
Auditing (ISAs), and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware 
of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit 
opinion. 

Conclusion 

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the 
accompanying consolidated interim financial information does not present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the entity as at 31 March 2021, and its financial performance and its 
cash flows for the three-month period then ended in accordance with IAS 34 Interim Financial 
Reporting. 

 
 
Oslo, 7 May 2021 
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS 
 
 
 
Jone Bauge 
State Authorised Public Accountant 
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APPLICATION FORM FOR THE RETAIL OFFERING 

General information: The terms and conditions for the Retail Offering are set out in the prospectus dated 14 June 2021 (the "Prospectus"), which has been issued by SmartCraft 
ASA, with business registration number 918 356 649 (the "Company"), in connection with the initial public offering (the "Offering") of new shares to be issued by the Company (the 
"New Shares") and existing shares in the Company (the "Sale Shares") offered by the Company's largest shareholder Valedo Partners III AB and certain other shareholders listed 
in Section 14 "Selling Shareholders" of the Prospectus (collectively, the "Selling Shareholders"), and the listing of the Company's shares on Oslo Børs. The New Shares and the Sale 
Shares are referred to herein as the "Offer Shares". All capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meaning as assigned to them in the Prospectus. 
 
Application procedure: Norwegian applicants in the Retail Offering who are residents of Norway with a Norwegian personal identification number may apply for Offer Shares through 
the VPS online application system by following the link to such online application system on the following websites: www.abgsc.com and www.carnegie.no. Applications in the Retail 
Offering can also be made by using this Retail Application Form. Retail Application Forms must be correctly completed and submitted prior to the expiry of the Application Period to 
one of the following application offices: 
 

ABG Sundal Collier ASA Carnegie AS 
Munkedamsveien 45E Fjordallén 16 
P.O. Box 1444 Vika P.O. Box 684 Sentrum 

Norway Norway 
Tel: +47 22 01 60 00 Tel: +47 22 00 93 60 

E-mail: subscription@abgsc.no 
www.abgsc.com 

Email: subscriptions@carnegie.no 
www.carnegie.no 

 
The applicant is responsible for the correctness of the information filled in on this Retail Application Form. Retail Application Forms that are incomplete or incorrectly completed, 
whether electronically or physically, or which are received after the expiry of the Application Period, and any application that may be unlawful, may be disregarded without further 
notice to the applicant. Subject to any extension of the Application Period, applications made through the VPS online application system must be duly registered by 
16:00 hours (CEST) on 22 June 2021, while applications made on Retail Application Forms must be received by one of the application offices by the same time and 
applications made through the Nordnet webservices must be duly registered within 15:00 hours (CEST) on 22 June 2021. None of the Company, the Selling Shareholders, 
any of the Managers or Nordnet may be held responsible for postal delays, unavailable fax lines, internet lines or servers or any other logistical or technical matters that may result 
in applications not being received on time or at all by any of the application offices. All applications made in the Retail Offering will be irrevocable and binding upon receipt of a duly 
completed Retail Application Form, or in the case of applications through the VPS online application system, upon registration of the application, irrespective of any extension of the 
Application Period, and cannot be withdrawn, cancelled or modified by the applicant after having been received by the application office, or in the case of applications through the 
VPS online application system, upon registration of the application. Applications made through Nordnet can be amended up to the expiry of the Application Period for applications 
made through Nordnet (i.e. 15:00 hours (CEST) on 22 June 2021 unless the Application Period is being extended). Following expiry of the Application Period for applications made 
through Nordnet, all applications received by Nordnet will be irrevocable and binding and cannot be withdrawn, cancelled or modified by the applicant. 
 
Price per Offer Share: NOK 17.80. 
  
Allocation, payment and delivery of Offer Shares: In the Retail Offering, no allocations will be made for a number of Offer Shares representing an aggregate value of less than 
NOK 10,500 per applicant provided, however, that all allocations will be rounded down to the nearest number of whole Offer Shares and the payable amount will hence be adjusted 
accordingly. ABG Sundal Collier ASA ("ABGSC"), acting as settlement agent for the Retail Offering, expects to issue notifications of allocation of Offer Shares in the Retail Offering for 
applications through the VPS online application system or the Retail Application Form on or around 23 June 2021, by issuing allocation notes to the applicants by mail or otherwise. 
Any applicant wishing to know the exact number of Offer Shares allocated to it may contact one of the application offices listed above on or around 23 June 2021 during business 
hours. Applicants who have access to investor services through an institution that operates the applicant's account with the VPS for the registration of holdings of securities ("VPS 
account") should be able to see how many Offer Shares they have been allocated on or around 23 June 2021. Applicants who have applied for Offer Shares through Nordnet should 
be able to see how many Offer Shares they have been allocated at their account in Nordnet on or about 23 June 2021. In registering an application through the VPS online application 
system or completing a Retail Application Form, each applicant in the Retail Offering will authorize the Managers to debit the applicant's Norwegian bank account for the total amount 
due for the Offer Shares allocated to the applicant. The applicant's bank account number must be stipulated on the VPS online application or on this Retail Application Form. Accounts 
will first be debited on or about 24 June 2021 (the "Payment Date"), and there must be sufficient funds in the stated bank account from and including 23 June 2021. Applicants who 
do not have a Norwegian bank account must ensure that payment for the allocated Offer Shares is made on or before the Payment Date (expected to be 24 June 2021). To ensure 
that they do not lose their right to any allotment, applicants in the Retail Offering applying for Offer Shares through Nordnet must have sufficient funds available in their account from 
and including 15:00 hours (CEST) on 22 June 2021 until 08:00 hours (CEST) on the Payment Date, i.e. 24 June 2021. Further details and instructions will be set out in the allocation 
notes to the applicant to be issued on or around 23 June 2021, or can be obtained by contacting the Managers. Should any applicant have insufficient funds on his or her account, or 
should payment be delayed for any reason, or if it is not possible to debit the account, interest will accrue and other terms will apply as set out under the heading "overdue and 
missing payment" below. The Managers reserve the right (but has no obligation) to make up to three debit attempts through 1 July 2021 if there are insufficient funds on the account 
on the Payment Date. Should payment not be made when due, the Offer Shares allocated will not be delivered to the applicant, and the Managers reserve the right, at the risk and 
cost of the applicant, to cancel at any time thereafter the application and to re-allot or, from the third day after the Payment Date, otherwise dispose of or assume ownership to the 
allocated Offer Shares, on such terms and in such manner as the Managers may decide (and the applicant will not be entitled to any profit there from). The original applicant will 
remain liable for payment of the Offer Price for the Offer Shares allocated to the applicant, together with any interest, costs, charges and expenses accrued, and the Company, the 
Selling Shareholders and/or the Managers may enforce payment of any such amount outstanding. Subject to timely payment by the applicant, delivery of the Offer Shares allocated 
in the Retail Offering is expected to take place on or around 28 June 2021 (or such later date upon the successful debit of the relevant account). 
 
 
Guidelines for the applicant: Please refer to the second page of this Retail Application Form for further application guidelines. 
 
Applicant's VPS account (12 digits): I/we apply for Offer Shares for a total of 

NOK (minimum NOK 10,500 and maximum  
NOK 1,999,999): 

 

Applicant's bank account to be debited (11 digits): 

  

I/we hereby irrevocably (i) apply for the number of Offer Shares allocated to me/us, at the Offer Price, up to the aggregate application amount as specified above subject to the terms 
and conditions set out in this Retail Application Form and in the Prospectus, (ii) authorize and instruct each of the Managers (or someone appointed by any of them) acting jointly or 
severally to take all actions required to purchase and/or subscribe the Offer Shares allocated to me/us on my/our behalf, to take all other actions deemed required by them to give 
effect to the transactions contemplated by this Retail Application Form, and to ensure delivery of such Offer Shares to me/us in the VPS, (iii) authorize ABGSC to debit my/our bank 
account as set out in this Retail Application Form for the amount payable for the Offer Shares allocated to me/us, and (iv) confirm and warrant to have read the Prospectus and that 
I/we are aware of the risks associated with an investment in the Offer Shares and that I/we are eligible to apply for and purchase Offer Shares under the terms set forth therein. 

Date and place*: Binding signature**:  

* Must be dated during the Application Period.  
** The applicant must be of legal age. If the Retail Application Form is signed by proxy, documentary evidence of authority to sign must be attached in the form of a power of attorney 
or company registration certificate. 
 

DETAILS OF THE APPLICANT — ALL FIELDS MUST BE COMPLETED 

First name  Surname/Family name/Company name 

Home address (for companies: registered business address) Zip code and town 

Identity number (11 digits) / business registration number (9 digits) Nationality 

Telephone number (daytime) E-mail address 

Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) / National Client Identifier (NCI):   

Please note: if the Retail Application Form is sent to the Managers by e-mail, the e-mail will be unsecured unless the applicant itself takes measures to secure it. The Retail Application 
Form may contain sensitive information, including national identification numbers, and the Managers recommend the applicant to send the Retail Application Form to the Managers in a 
secured e-mail. Please refer to the second page of this Retail Application Form for further information on the Managers' processing of personal data. 
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GUIDELINES FOR THE APPLICANT 

THIS RETAIL APPLICATION FORM IS NOT FOR DISTRIBUTION OR RELEASE, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, IN OR INTO THE UNITED STATES 
OF AMERICA (INCLUDING ITS TERRITORIES AND POSSESSIONS, ANY STATE OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA AND THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA), AUSTRALIA, 
CANADA, THE HONG KONG SPECIAL ADMINISTRATIVE REGION OF THE PEOPLE'S REPUBLIC OF CHINA OR JAPAN, OR ANY OTHER JURISDICTION IN WHICH THE 
DISTRIBUTION OR RELEASE WOULD BE UNLAWFUL. OTHER RESTRICTIONS ARE APPLICABLE. PLEASE SEE "SELLING RESTRICTIONS" BELOW. 

Regulatory issues: Legislation passed throughout the European Economic Area (the "EEA") pursuant to Directive 2014/65/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 
15 May 2014 on markets in financial instruments ("MiFID II") implemented in the Norwegian Securities Trading Act, imposes requirements on intermediaries in securities markets. 
In this respect, the Managers must categorize all new clients in one of three categories: Eligible counterparties, Professional clients and Non-professional clients. All applicants applying 
for Offer Shares in the Offering who/which are not existing clients of one of the Managers will be categorized as Non-professional clients. The applicant can by written request to the 
Managers ask to be categorized as a Professional client if the applicant fulfils the provisions of the Norwegian Securities Trading Act and ancillary regulations. For further information 
about the categorization, the applicant may contact one of the Managers. The applicant represents that it has sufficient knowledge, sophistication and experience in financial and 
business matters to be capable of evaluating the merits and risks of an investment decision to invest in the Company by applying for Offer Shares, and the applicant is able to bear 
the economic risk, and to withstand a complete loss of an investment in the Company. 
 
Execution only: As the Managers are not in the position to determine whether the application for Offer Shares is suitable for the applicant, the Managers will treat the application 
as an execution only instruction from the applicant to apply for Offer Shares in the Offering. Hence, the applicant will not benefit from the corresponding protection of the relevant 
conduct of business rules in accordance with the Norwegian Securities Trading Act. 
 
Information Exchange: The applicant acknowledges that, under the Norwegian Securities Trading Act and the Norwegian Financial Undertakings Act and foreign legislation applicable 
to the Managers there is a duty of secrecy between the different units of the Managers as well as between the Managers and the other entities in the Managers' respective groups. 
This may entail that other employees of the Managers or the Managers' respective groups may have information that may be relevant to the subscriber, but which the Managers will 
not have access to in their capacity as Managers for the Retail Offering. 
 
Information barriers: The Managers are securities firms offering a broad range of investment services. In order to ensure that assignments undertaken in the Managers' corporate 
finance departments are kept confidential, the Managers' other activities, including analysis and stock broking, are separated from their corporate finance departments by information 
barriers known as "Chinese walls". The applicant acknowledges that the Managers' analysis and stock broking activity may act in conflict with the applicant's interests with regard to 
transactions in the Offer Shares as a consequence of such Chinese walls. 
 
VPS account and anti-money laundering procedures: The Retail Offering is subject to applicable anti-money laundering legislation, including the Norwegian Money Laundering 
Act of 1 June 2018 no. 23 and the Norwegian Money Laundering Regulation of 14 September 2018 no. 1324 (collectively, the "Anti-Money Laundering Legislation"). Applicants 
who are not registered as existing customers of the Managers must verify their identity to the Managers with which the order is placed in accordance with the requirements of the 
Anti-Money Laundering Legislation, unless an exemption is available. Applicants who have designated an existing Norwegian bank account and an existing VPS account on the Retail 
Application Form, or when registering an application through the VPS online application system, and applicants who have established a customer relationship with Nordnet and make 
their application through Nordnet are exempted, unless verification of identity is requested by the Managers. Applicants who have not completed the required verification of identity 
prior to the expiry of the Application Period may not be allocated Offer Shares. To participate in the Offering, each applicant must have a VPS account. The VPS account number must 
be stated when registering an application through the VPS online application system or on the Retail Application Form for the Retail Offering. VPS accounts can be established with 
authorized VPS registrars, which can be Norwegian banks, authorized investment firms in Norway and Norwegian branches of credit institutions established within the EEA. Non-
Norwegian investors may use nominee VPS accounts registered in the name of a nominee. The nominee must be authorized by the Norwegian Ministry of Finance. For participation 
in the Retail Offering, applicants can apply for Offer Shares electronically through the Nordnet webservice. In order to apply for Offer Shares through Nordnet, the applicant must 
register as a customer of Nordnet and establish a nominee/depot account for the Retail Offering through Nordnet. In order to establish a customer relationship with Nordnet, the 
applicant should have an online banking ID or a mobile banking ID. If the applicant is unable to establish a customer relationship with Nordnet through his/her online banking ID or 
mobile banking ID, the customer relationship must be established through a manual application, which is time consuming and may not be processed by Nordnet prior to expiry of the 
Application Period. For more information on how to proceed to establish a customer relationship with Nordnet, please contact Nordnet. 
 
Selling restrictions: The Offering is subject to specific legal or regulatory restrictions in certain jurisdictions, see Section 19 "Selling and Transfer Restrictions" in the Prospectus. 
Neither the Company nor the Selling Shareholders assume any responsibility in the event there is a violation by any person of such restrictions. The Offer Shares have not been and 
will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "U.S. Securities Act") or under any securities laws of any state or other jurisdiction of the 
United States and may not be taken up, offered, sold, resold, transferred, delivered or distributed, directly or indirectly, within, into or from the United States except pursuant to an 
applicable exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and in compliance with the securities laws of any state or other 
jurisdiction of the United States. There will be no public offer in the United States. The Offer Shares will, and may, not be offered, sold, resold, transferred, delivered or distributed, 
directly or indirectly, within, into or from any jurisdiction where the offer or sale of the Offer Shares is not permitted, or to, or for the account or benefit of, any person with a 
registered address in, or who is resident or ordinarily resident in, or a citizen of, any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted, except pursuant to an applicable exemption. 
In the Retail Offering, the Offer Shares are being offered and sold to certain persons outside the United States in offshore transactions within the meaning of and in compliance with 
Rule 903 of Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act. 
 
Neither the Company nor the Selling Shareholders have authorized any offer to the public of its securities in any Member State of the EEA other than Norway. With respect to each 
Member State of the EEA other than Norway which has implemented the EU Prospectus Regulation (each, a "Relevant Member State"), no action has been undertaken or will be 
undertaken to make an offer to the public of the Offer Shares requiring a publication of a prospectus in any Relevant Member State. Any offers outside Norway will only be made in 
circumstances where there is no obligation to produce a prospectus. 
 
Stabilization: In connection with the Offering, ABGSC (the "Stabilization Manager"), or its agents, on behalf of the Managers, may, upon exercise of the Borrowing Option, engage 
in transactions that stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the price of the Shares for up 30 days from the first day of Listing. Specifically, the Stabilization Manager may effect 
transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Shares at a level higher than might otherwise prevail, through buying Shares in the open market at prices equal to or 
lower than the Offer Price. There is no obligation on the Stabilization Manager and its agents to conduct stabilization activities and there is no assurance that stabilization activities 
will be undertaken. Such stabilizing activities, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time, and will be brought to an end at the latest 30 calendar days after the first day of the 
Listing.  
 
Personal data: The applicant confirms that it has been provided information regarding the Managers' processing of personal data, and that it is informed that the Managers will 
process the applicant's personal data in order to manage and carry out the Offering and the application from the applicant, and to comply with statutory requirements. 
 
The data controllers who are responsible for the processing of personal data are the Managers. The processing of personal data is necessary in order to fulfil the application and to 
meet legal obligations. The Norwegian Securities Trading Act and the Norwegian Money Laundering Act require that the Managers process and store information about clients and 
trades, and control and document activities. The applicant´s data will be processed confidentially, but if it is necessary in relation to the aforementioned purposes or obligations, the 
personal data may be shared between the Managers, with the company(ies) participating in the Offering, with companies within the Managers’ groups, VPS, stock exchanges and/or 
public authorities. The personal data will be processed as long as necessary for the purposes, and will subsequently be deleted unless there is a statutory duty to keep it.   
 
If the Managers transfer personal data to countries outside the EEA, that have not been approved by the EU Commission, the Managers will make sure the transfer takes place in 
accordance with the legal mechanisms protecting the personal data, for example the EU Standard Contractual Clauses.  
 
As a data subject, the applicants have several legal rights. This includes i.e. the right to access its personal data, and a right to request that incorrect information is corrected. In 
certain instances, the applicants will have the right to impose restrictions on the processing or demand that the information is deleted. The applicants may also complain to a 
supervisory authority if they find that the Managers' processing is in breach of the applicable laws. Supplementary information on processing of personal data and the applicants' 
rights can be found at the Managers' websites. 
 
Investment decisions based on full Prospectus: Investors must neither accept any offer for, nor acquire any Offer Shares, on any other basis than on the complete Prospectus. 
 
Terms and conditions for payment by direct debiting - securities trading: Payment by direct debiting is a service provided by cooperating banks in Norway. In the relationship 
between the payer and the payer's bank the following standard terms and conditions apply: 
 
1. The service "Payment by direct debiting — securities trading" is supplemented by the account agreement between the payer and the payer's bank, in particular Section C of the 
account agreement, General terms and conditions for deposit and payment instructions. 
2. Costs related to the use of "Payment by direct debiting — securities trading" appear from the bank's prevailing price list, account information and/or information is given by other 
appropriate manner. The bank will charge the indicated account for incurred costs. 
3. The authorization for direct debiting is signed by the payer and delivered to the beneficiary. The beneficiary will deliver the instructions to its bank who in turn will charge the 
payer's bank account. 
4. In case of withdrawal of the authorization for direct debiting the payer shall address this issue with the beneficiary. Pursuant to the Financial Contracts Act, the payer's bank shall 
assist if payer withdraws a payment instruction which has not been completed. Such withdrawal may be regarded as a breach of the agreement between the payer and the beneficiary. 
5. The payer cannot authorize for payment a higher amount than the funds available at the payer’s account at the time of payment. The payer's bank will normally perform a 
verification of available funds prior to the account being charged. If the account has been charged with an amount higher than the funds available, the difference shall be covered by 
the payer immediately. 
6. The payer's account will be charged on the indicated date of payment. If the date of payment has not been indicated in the authorization for direct debiting, the account will be 
charged as soon as possible after the beneficiary has delivered the instructions to its bank. The charge will not, however, take place after the authorization has expired as indicated 
above. Payment will normally be credited the beneficiary's account between one and three working days after the indicated date of payment/delivery. 
7. If the payer's account is wrongfully charged after direct debiting, the payer's right to repayment of the charged amount will be governed by the account agreement and the Financial 
Contracts Act. 
 
Overdue and missing payments: Overdue payments will be charged with interest at the applicable rate under the Norwegian Act on Interest on Overdue Payments of 17 December 
1976 no. 100, which at the date of the Prospectus is 8.00% per annum. Should payment not be made when due, the Offer Shares allocated will not be delivered to the applicant, and 
the Managers reserve the right, at the risk and cost of the applicant, to cancel at any time thereafter the application and to re-allot or, from the third day after the Payment Date, 
otherwise dispose of or assume ownership to the allocated Offer Shares, on such terms and in such manner as the Managers may decide (and the applicant will not be entitled to any 
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profit there from). The original applicant will remain liable for payment of the Offer Price for the Offer Shares allocated to the applicant, together with any interest, costs, charges and 
expenses accrued, and the Company, the Selling Shareholders and/or the Managers may enforce payment of any such amount outstanding. 
 
In order to provide for prompt registration of the New Shares with the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises, the Managers are expected to, on behalf of the applicants, pre-
fund payment for the New Shares allocated in the Offering at a total subscription price equal to the Offer Price multiplied by the aggregate number of allocated New Shares. The non-
paying applicants will remain fully liable for payment of the New Shares allocated to them, irrespective of any pre-payment by the Managers. 
 

 



 

 
 

Registered office and advisors 

  

SmartCraft ASA 
Borgundfjordvegen 80 

6017 Ålesund 
Norway 

 

 

Joint Global Coordinators and Joint Bookrunners 

ABG Sundal Collier ASA 
Munkedamsveien 45 Vika Atrium 

N-0260 Oslo 
Norway 

Carnegie AS 
Aker Brygge, Fjordalléen 16  

N-0250 Oslo 
Norway 

 
Joint Bookrunner 

Joh. Berenberg, Gossler & Co. KG  
Neuer Jungfernstieg 20 

 20354 Hamburg 
Germany 

 

Legal counsel to the Company Legal counsel to the Joint Bookrunners 

Advokatfirmaet Thommessen AS  
Haakon VIIs gate 10 

N-0116 Oslo 
Norway 

Advokatfirmaet Schjødt AS 
Ruseløkkveien 14-16 

N-0251 Oslo 
Norway 

 

 

 


	Athena - E-disclaimer prospectus discl.
	Athena - Final prospectus NFSA (incl. appendices) discl.
	Athena - Final draft prospectus NFSA (clean)
	a) it is a "qualified investor" within the meaning of Article 2(e) of the EU Prospectus Regulation; and
	b) in the case of any Offer Shares acquired by it as a financial intermediary, as that term is used in the EU Prospectus Regulation, (i) such Offer Shares acquired by it in the Offering have not been acquired on behalf of, nor have they been acquired ...
	TABLE OF CONTENTS
	1 SUMMARY
	2 Risk factors
	2.1 Risks related to the Group and its business and the industry in which it operates
	2.1.1 The solutions provided by the Group are subject to system failures, defects, errors and failure of interoperability
	2.1.2 The Group outsources certain of its IT functions to third parties and an interruption or cessation of any such services could adversely affect the Group
	2.1.3 The Group relies on a limited number of suppliers for key elements of its operations, and a price inflation, change of contractual terms or cessation of any such services could adversely affect the Group
	2.1.4 Volatile, negative or uncertain economic or political conditions may negatively affect the Group's operations and financial performance, including the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic
	2.1.5 The markets in which the Group competes are competitive, and the Group might not be able to compete effectively
	2.1.6 The Group's success depends upon its management team and highly skilled IT professionals and the Group's ability to hire, attract, motivate, retain and train these persons
	2.1.7 The Group may not be sufficiently prepared to manage cyber threats that have the potential to significantly disrupt the Group's solutions
	2.1.8 Acquisition of other businesses, software solutions and/or technologies may not be successful
	2.1.9 The Group's results of operations could be negatively affected if the Group cannot adapt, expand and develop its services in response to changes in technology or customer demand
	2.1.10 The Group is dependent on intellectual property and its methods of protecting its intellectual property may not be adequate

	2.2 Risks related to laws, regulation and litigation
	2.2.1 The Group's failure to comply with applicable data protection and privacy regulations could have a material adverse effect on the Group's business operations
	2.2.2 The Group is exposed to claims and legal proceedings related to its intellectual property rights

	2.3 Risks related to financing and market risk
	2.3.1 The Group conducts its business in currencies other than its reporting currency, making its results of operations, financial position and future prospect vulnerable for currency fluctuations
	2.3.2 The Group's profitability, operating results and working capital may fluctuate significantly
	2.3.3 Risk related to impairment of intangible assets
	2.3.4 The Group's growth strategy may require additional funding to acquire new businesses which may be difficult to obtain

	2.4 Risks related to the Listing and the Shares
	2.4.1 The price of the Shares could fluctuate significantly, which could cause investors to lose a significant part of their investment
	2.4.2 Future sales, or the possibility of future sales, including by the Selling Shareholders, of a substantial number of Shares may affect the market price of the Shares
	2.4.3 Following the Offering, Valedo Partners III AB will continue to be a large shareholder and may control or otherwise influence important actions the Group takes


	3 Responsibility for the prospectus
	4 General information
	4.1 Other important investor information
	4.2 Presentation of financial and other information
	4.2.1 Introduction
	4.2.2 Historical financial information included in the Prospectus
	4.2.3 Alternative performance measures (APMs)
	4.2.4 Industry and market data
	4.2.5 Other information
	4.2.6 Rounding
	4.2.7 Exchange rates

	4.3 Cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements

	5 Reasons for the offering and the listing
	6 Dividends and dividend policy
	6.1 Dividend policy
	6.2 Legal constraints on the distribution of dividends
	6.3 Manner of dividend payments

	7 Industry and market overview
	7.1 Introduction
	7.2 Total addressable market
	7.3 SmartCraft's current market
	7.4 European expansion opportunity
	7.5 Key drivers and trends
	7.5.1 Productivity challenges
	7.5.2 Quality and safety
	7.5.3 Regulation and technical complexity
	7.5.4 Cloudification
	7.5.5 Sustainability

	7.6 Competitive overview

	8 Business of the Group
	8.1 Introduction to SmartCraft
	 Cordel: One of the market leaders22F  within the Heating, Water and Sanitation segment, also strongly positioned within the electrician segment in Norway;
	 Bygglet: One of the market leaders23F  within the Small and Medium-sized Enterprises ("SME") general construction segment in Sweden;
	 EL-VIS: One of the market leaders24F  within the electrician segment in Sweden; and
	 Congrid: One of the market leaders25F  within the general construction segment in Finland.

	8.2 Competitive strengths
	8.2.1 Overview
	 Mission-critical cloud-based SaaS offering for the construction industry;
	 Market leader in a large market with significant untapped digitalization potential for its customers;
	 Clear strategic plan with multiple attractive levers for future organic growth;
	 Proven ability to drive consolidation and geographic expansion in a highly fragmented market; and
	 Outstanding financial track record underpinned by high sales growth and best-in-class cash generation.

	8.2.2 Mission-critical cloud-based SaaS offering for the construction industry
	8.2.3 Market leader in a large market with significant untapped digitalization potential for its customers
	8.2.4 Clear strategic plan with multiple attractive levers for future organic growth
	8.2.5 Proven ability to drive consolidation and geographic expansion in a highly fragmented market
	8.2.6 Outstanding financial track record underpinned by high sales growth and best-in-class cash generation

	8.3 Strategy
	8.3.1 Continue to capitalize on the market leading position and underpenetrated Nordic market
	8.3.2 Up-sell and price optimization
	8.3.3 Cross-selling
	8.3.4 Deepen and expand presence
	8.3.5 Execute on M&A strategy

	8.4 History and important events
	8.5 The solutions offered by the Group
	8.5.1 Overview
	8.5.2 SmartCraft's solutions to optimize project budgeting
	Planning
	 Tender calculation: A tool that calculates the hours and materials consumed in a project. The tender calculation provides for electronic exchange of tender information to make the calculations. The hours and materials are often calculated based on s...
	 Risk analysis: A tool used to perform risk analysis on any deviations in material costs and hourly costs (tender total) in user-defined steps to determine the different earn-margins.
	 Resource planning: A tool that enables high-level planning of resources based on activities. Resources are calculated based on the number of people, working hours per day and the number of hours calculated in the project during tender calculations.
	 Price enquiry: A tool for making price enquiries to relevant suppliers and producers in order to minimize cost in a project. The tool integrates with the largest distributors and suppliers of materials to the HWS, electrician and construction segmen...

	Contract
	 Generate contract: A tool that generates a complete contract based on the tender contract, which comprises all standard provisions necessary in a contract as well as a detailed description of the scope of work.
	 Integrate CRM: A tool where deadlines and other important dates are implemented into a CRM-system, ensuring that the user has full control as a project moves forward.
	 Follow up contract: A tool for electronic signing of the final contract and an archive where the contract may be filed.
	 Sub-contractors: A tool to manage and contact any subcontractors, ensuring that they are on schedule, ready to perform their work, as and when required.


	8.5.3 SmartCraft's solutions to enhance project execution
	Procurement
	 Invoice management: A tool that enables the user to receive, review and debit incoming invoices correctly, ensuring complete control of the costs in all parts of a project.
	 Inventory control: A tool that gives the user continuous control of its stock, making it easier for the user to purchase the correct quantity of materials required in a project.
	 Ordering: A tool that enables the user to order the correct quantity of materials to a project or a specific part of a project. The tool also includes a mechanism to control any price variance ensuring that the user gets the right price on its order...
	 Purchasing planner: A tool to plan project procurements with set quantities of materials and the timing of the delivery. The tool ensures that the deliveries are labelled correctly upon arrival to the construction site.

	Project management
	 Time & material: A tool that keeps track of, and control with, incurred working hours and material in a project. The solution is based on registrations from workers on site and electronic invoices received in the project. The dataset collected can b...
	 Field management: A tool to manage the staffing of personnel on various work streams during a project, as well as registration of hours, materials and documentation from personnel working on the project. The tool also comprises functions for handlin...
	 Progress plan: A tool to control the progress of the project. The tool gives an assessment of remaining work/deliveries as well as detailed projections on the dates of completion of the project.
	 Invoice plan: A tool for scheduling of project invoicing. The scheduling may be customized, for example to suit the size of the project or the preferences of the client. The tool features the option to add supplementary work and corresponding invoic...


	8.5.4 SmartCraft's solutions to minimize project risk
	Documentation
	 Accounting management: A tool that enables the user to control its customers and corresponding account receivables. The tool may also be integrated with the factoring companies' systems, and may produce payment reminders and calculate interest.
	 Regulatory integration: A tool that integrates with government systems to ease various government-controlled processes such as altinn.no and tax returns. The tool also encompasses integration with governmental electronic channels for the processing ...
	 Check list & QA: A tool for handling and registration of checklists and inspections in connection with the project. The checklists may be completed with written input as well as photos.
	 HR management: A tool for handling of health, safety and environment ("HSE") and personnel deviations as well as staffing on the project and any sub-projects.

	Invoice & analysis
	 eInvoice: A tool for electronic invoicing in accordance with industry-specific standards and any governmental requirements, both with regards to the content and formatting of the invoices.
	 Profitability analysis: A tool that sets out the key figures of a completed project and any subprojects therein. This can be done on a project-by-project basis or across multiple projects.
	 Follow-up analysis: A tool for controlling that the work performed is completed in accordance with the applicable specifications and requirements, ensuring that the customer was satisfied and is a recurring customer.
	 Final document: A tool providing the end-customers with all documentation required in the finalisation of a project, including any operational instructions, drawings, spares, etc. This is also made available digitally for house owners through boligm...



	8.6 Sustainability and social responsibility
	8.7  Research and development
	8.8 Intellectual property rights
	8.9 Material contracts
	8.10 Dependency on contracts, patents and licenses
	8.11 Insurance
	8.12 Property, plant and equipment and right of use assets
	8.13 Regulatory overview
	8.14 IT systems
	8.15 Legal proceedings

	9 Capitalisation and indebtedness
	9.1 Introduction
	9.2 Capitalisation
	9.3 Net financial indebtedness
	9.4 Working capital statement
	9.5 Contingent and indirect indebtedness

	10 Selected Financial and Other Information
	10.1 Presentation of Financial Information
	10.2 Summary of accounting policies and principles
	10.3 Auditor
	10.4 Consolidated statement of comprehensive income (IFRS)
	10.5 Consolidated statement of income (NGAAP)
	10.6 Consolidated statement of financial position (IFRS)
	10.7 Consolidated statement of financial position (NGAAP)
	10.8 Consolidated statement of cash flows (IFRS)
	10.9 Consolidated statement of cash flows (NGAAP)
	10.10 Consolidated statement of changes in equity
	10.11 Segment information
	10.11.1 Introduction
	10.11.2 Segment information
	10.11.3 Geographic information


	11 Operating and financial review
	11.1 Overview
	11.2 Reporting segments
	11.3 Key factors affecting the Group's result of operations and financial performance
	11.4 Recent developments and trends
	11.5 Financial review of the Group's results of operations
	11.5.1 Results of operations for the three months period ended 31 March 2021 compared to the three months period ended 31 March 2020
	11.5.1.1 Total operating revenue
	11.5.1.2 Total operating expenses
	11.5.1.3 Operating profit (loss) before financial items and tax
	11.5.1.4 Net financial expense
	11.5.1.5 Tax expense
	11.5.1.6 Profit (Loss)

	11.5.2 Results of operations for the financial year ended 31 December 2020 compared to the financial year ended 31 December 2019
	11.5.2.1 Total operating revenue
	11.5.2.2 Total operating expenses
	11.5.2.3 Operating profit before financial items and tax
	11.5.2.4 Net financial expense
	11.5.2.5 Tax expense
	11.5.2.6 Profit

	11.5.3 Results of operations for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 compared to the financial year ended 31 December 2018
	11.5.3.1 Total operating revenue
	11.5.3.2 Total operating expenses
	11.5.3.3 Operating profit before financial items and tax
	11.5.3.4 Net financial expense
	11.5.3.5 Tax expense
	11.5.3.6 Profit (Loss)


	11.6 Financial review of the Group's financial position
	11.6.1 Financial position as at 31 March 2021 compared to 31 December 2020
	11.6.1.1 Total non-current assets
	11.6.1.2 Total current assets
	11.6.1.3 Total assets
	11.6.1.4 Total equity
	11.6.1.5 Total non-current liabilities
	11.6.1.6 Total current liabilities
	11.6.1.7 Total liabilities
	11.6.1.8 Total equity and liabilities

	11.6.2 Financial position as at 31 December 2020 compared to 31 December 2019
	11.6.2.1 Total non-current assets
	11.6.2.2 Total current assets
	11.6.2.3 Total assets
	11.6.2.4 Total equity
	11.6.2.5 Total non-current liabilities
	11.6.2.6 Total current liabilities
	11.6.2.7 Total liabilities
	11.6.2.8 Total equity and liabilities

	11.6.3 Financial position as at 31 December 2019 compared to 31 December 2018
	11.6.3.1 Total non-current assets
	11.6.3.2 Total current assets
	11.6.3.3 Total assets
	11.6.3.4 Total equity
	11.6.3.5 Total non-current liabilities
	11.6.3.6 Total current liabilities
	11.6.3.7 Total liabilities
	11.6.3.8 Total equity and liabilities


	11.7 Liquidity and capital resources
	11.7.1 Sources and use of cash
	11.7.2 Cash flows
	11.7.2.1 Three months period ended 31 March 2021 compared to three months period ended 31 March 2020
	11.7.2.2 Financial year ended 31 December 2020 compared to the financial year ended 31 December 2019
	11.7.2.3 Financial year ended 31 December 2019 compared to the financial year ended 31 December 2018


	11.8 Investments
	11.8.1 Principal historical investments
	11.8.2 Principal investments in progress and planned principal investments

	11.9 Borrowings and other contractual obligations
	11.9.1 Overview
	11.9.1.1 Senior facilities
	 A loan facility with an outstanding principal amount of NOK 69,954,736 as of 31 March 2021. The facility falls due on 30 March 2022, and carries an interest rate of NIBOR 3-M plus 2.75% pro annum.
	 A loan facility with an outstanding principal amount of NOK 45,000,000 as of 31 March 2021. The facility falls due on 15 November 2023, and carries an interest rate of NIBOR-3M plus 2.75% pro annum.
	 A loan facility with an outstanding principal amount of NOK 40,000,000 as of 31 March 2021. The facility falls due on 28 June 2021, and carries an interest rate of NIBOR 3-M plus 2.75% pro annum.
	 A loan facility with an outstanding principal amount of NOK 20,000,000 as 31 March 2021. The facility falls due on 15 November 2025, and carries an interest rate of NIBOR 3-M plus 2.75% pro annum.
	11.9.1.2 Junior facility
	11.9.1.3 Credit facility
	The Company has a credit facility with Sparebanken Møre for an amount of NOK 13 million (the "Credit Facility"). The Credit Facility is subject to annual renewal based on the bank's assessment. The Credit Facility carries a quarterly commission of 0,2...
	The Credit Facility and the Senior Facilities are secured by the same security, i.e. first priority share pledges over the shares in Cordel Norge AS and Bygglet Holding AB as well as first priority charges over the trade receivables and operating asse...


	11.9.2 Financial and other covenants
	 Restrictions on incurring new debt, disposing of material assets or pledging assets to anyone else than the bank; and
	 Restrictions on acquisitions and on changing/ceasing the business operations of the Company.
	11.9.3 Re-payment of the loan facilities
	11.9.4 Amended covenants and security under the Credit Facility

	11.10 Off-balance sheet arrangements
	11.11 Financial risk management
	11.12 Significant changes

	12 Board of Directors, Management, Employees and Corporate Governance
	12.1 Introduction
	12.2 The Board of Directors
	12.2.1 Overview of the Board of Directors
	12.2.2 Brief biographies of the Board Members

	12.3 Management
	12.3.1 Overview of the Executive Management
	12.3.2 Brief biographies of the members of the Executive Management

	12.4 Remuneration and benefits
	12.4.1 Remuneration of the Board of Directors
	12.4.2 Remuneration of the Executive Management
	12.4.3 Bonus schemes
	12.4.4 Share incentive schemes

	12.5 Benefits upon termination
	12.6 Loans and guarantees
	12.7 Employees
	12.8 Pension and retirement benefits
	12.9 Audit committee
	12.10 Remuneration committee
	12.11 Nomination committee
	12.12 Corporate governance
	12.13 Conflict of interests etc.

	13 Related party transactions
	14 Selling shareholders
	14.1 Overview
	14.2 Shares offered by the Executive Management
	14.3 Shares offered by major shareholders
	14.4 Shares offered by the other Selling Shareholders

	15 Corporate information and description of the share capital
	15.1 Company corporate information
	15.2 Legal structure
	15.3 Share capital and share capital history
	15.4 Admission to trading
	15.5 Major shareholders
	15.6 Authorisations to acquire treasury shares
	15.7 Authorisation to increase the share capital and to issue Shares
	15.8 Other financial instruments
	15.9 Shareholder rights
	15.10 The Articles of Association
	15.10.1  Objective of the Company
	15.10.2 Registered office
	15.10.3  Share capital and par value
	15.10.4  Board of Directors
	15.10.5  Restrictions on transfer of Shares
	15.10.6  General meetings
	15.10.7 Nomination committee

	15.11 Certain aspects of Norwegian corporate law
	15.12 Shareholders agreement

	16 Securities trading in Norway
	16.1 Introduction
	16.2 Market value of the Shares
	16.3 Trading and settlement
	16.4 Information, control and surveillance
	16.5 The VPS and transfer of Shares
	16.6 Shareholder register – Norwegian law
	16.7 Foreign investment in shares listed in Norway
	16.8 Disclosure obligations
	16.9 Insider trading
	16.10 Mandatory offer requirement
	16.11 Compulsory acquisition
	16.12 Foreign exchange controls

	17 Taxation
	17.1 Norwegian taxation
	17.1.1 Taxation of dividends
	17.1.2 Taxation of capital gains on realization of shares
	17.1.3 Net wealth tax
	17.1.4 VAT and transfer taxes
	17.1.5 Inheritance tax


	18 Terms of the Offering
	18.1 Overview of the Offering
	18.2 Timetable
	18.3 Resolution relating to the Offering and the issue of New Shares
	18.4 The Institutional Offering
	18.4.1 Offer Price and determination of the number of Offer Shares
	18.4.2 Bookbuilding Period
	18.4.3 Minimum application
	18.4.4 Application procedure
	18.4.5 Allocation, payment for and delivery of Offer Shares

	18.5 The Retail Offering
	18.5.1 Offer Price
	18.5.2 Application Period
	18.5.3 Minimum and maximum application
	18.5.4 Application procedures and application offices
	18.5.5 Allocation, payment and delivery of Offer Shares

	18.6 The Employee Offering
	18.6.1 Eligible Employees
	18.6.2 Offer Price
	18.6.3 Application period
	18.6.4 Minimum and maximum application
	18.6.5 Application procedures and application offices
	18.6.6 Allocation, payment and delivery of Offer Shares

	18.7 Mechanism of allocation
	18.8 VPS account and Nordnet account
	18.9 National Client Identifier and Legal Entity Identifier
	18.9.1 Introduction
	18.9.2 NCI code for physical persons
	18.9.3 LEI code for legal entities

	18.10 Product governance
	18.11 Mandatory anti-money laundering
	18.12 Over-allotment and stabilization activities
	18.12.1 Over-allotment of Additional Shares
	18.12.2 Price stabilisation

	18.13 Publication of information in respect of the Offering
	18.14 The rights conferred by the Offer Shares
	18.15 VPS registration
	18.16 Conditions for completion of the Offering – Listing and trading of the Offer Shares
	18.17 Dilution
	18.18 Expenses of the Offering and the Listing
	18.19 Lock-up
	18.19.1 The Company
	18.19.2 The Selling Shareholders
	18.19.3 Board Members, Executive Management and key employees

	18.20 Interest of natural and legal persons involved in the Offering
	18.21 Participation of major existing shareholders and members of the Management, supervisory and administrative bodies in the Offering
	18.22 Governing law and jurisdiction

	19 Selling and transfer restrictions
	19.1 General
	19.2 Selling restrictions
	19.2.1 United States
	19.2.2 United Kingdom
	a) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of Section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 20...
	b) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to the Offer Shares in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

	19.2.3 European Economic Area
	a) to persons who are "qualified investors" within the meaning of Article 2(e) in the EU Prospectus Regulation;
	b) to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the EU Prospectus Regulation) per Relevant Member State, with the prior written consent of the Managers for any such offer; or
	c) in any other circumstances falling under the scope of Article 3(2) of the EU Prospectus Regulation;

	19.2.4 Additional jurisdictions
	19.2.4.1 Switzerland
	19.2.4.2 Canada
	19.2.4.3 Hong Kong
	19.2.4.4 Singapore
	19.2.4.5 Other jurisdictions


	19.3 Transfer restrictions
	19.3.1 United States
	19.3.2 European Economic Area
	a) it is a qualified investor within the meaning of Articles 2I of the EU Prospectus Regulation; and
	b) in the case of any Offer Shares acquired by it as a financial intermediary, as that term is used in Article 1 of the EU Prospectus Regulation, (i) the Offer Shares acquired by it in the offer have not been acquired on behalf of, nor have they been ...



	20 Additional information
	20.1 Auditor and advisors
	20.2 Documents available

	21 Definitions and glossary

	Prospectus Appendices
	Førsteside APPENDIX A
	APPENDIX A - Articles of Association og SmartCraft ASA
	Førsteside APPENDIX B
	APPENDIX B - Financial Statements of SmartCraft ASA for the years ended 31 December 2020, 2019 and 2018
	1. BoD statement 2020
	2. IFRS 2020
	3. Auditors statement 2020
	4. BoD statement 2019
	5. NGAAP 2019
	6. Auditiors statement 2019
	7. BoD statement 2018
	8. NGAAP 2018
	9. Auditors statement 2018

	Førsteside APPENDIX C
	APPENDIX C - Interim Financial Statements of SmartCraft ASA for the three month period ended 31 March 2021
	Interim Financial Statements
	Auditors' review opinion

	Førsteside APPENIDX D
	APPENDIX D

	APPENDIX D - Application Form in the Retail Offering.pdf
	APPLICATION FORM FOR THE RETAIL OFFERING




